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(2021)06ILR A1
APPELLATE JURISDICTION
CRIMINAL SIDE
DATED: ALLAHABAD 05.04.2021

BEFORE

THE HON'BLE SIDDHARTH, J.

Crl. Misc. Ist Anticipatory Bail Application No
2110 of 2021
(u/s 438 Cr.P.C.)
Shivam ...Applicant
Versus
State of U.P. & Anr. ...Opp. Parties
Counsel for the Applicant:
Ajay Sengar

Counsel for the Opp. Parties:
G.A., Lakshman Singh

(a) Criminal Law - Anticipatory Bail -
Code of Criminal Precedure, 1973 -
Section 438 - "appropriate cases" - the
appropriate cases wherein anticipatory
bail can be granted are those where
charge-sheet submitted by the
Investigating Officer and process issued
by the Court after taking cognizance
under Section 204 Cr.P.C. can be
quashed by the High Court in exercise of
its jurisdiction under Section 482 Cr.P.C.
and also some more cases. (Para 40)

The anticipatory bail is given only where there
is an apprehension of arrest. The
apprehension of arrest is possible only when
the person is being haunted by the police or
other authority. In many of the cases such
haunting of a person is possible only after the
issuance of the warrant of a arrest after filing
of the charge-sheet or after the steps under
Section 204 of the Code are taken. At this
juncture a person cannot move the Courts
under Section 437 or under Section 439
because he is not in custody. But he can very
well approach the High Court or the Court of
Session under Section 438 for an appropriate
order. Filling of an application under Section
438 itself does not mean that the applicant

will be entitled to an order thereof. It is only
after examining the each case cautiously and
carefully inasmuch as it is an order converting
a non-bailable offence into a bailable one and
protecting a person for some time from going
to thr custody after the arrest. (Para 13)

Application Rejected. (E-8)

List of Cases cited:-

1. Govind Mishra @ Chhotu Vs St. of U.P.
Criminal Misc. Anticipatory Bail Application U/S
438 Cr.P.C. No. 8072 of 2020

2. Gorige Pentaiah Vs St. of A.P. & ors. 2009
Cri. L.J. 350

3. Adil Vs St. of U.P. Criminal Misc. Anticipatory
Bail Application U/S 438 Cr.P.C. No. 8285 of
2020

4. Sushila Aggarwal Vs State (NCT of Delhi)
2020 SCC Online SC 98

5. St. of Bihar Vs P.P. Sharma 1992 Supp (1)
SCC 222

6. Babubhai Vs St. of Guj. (2010) 12 SCC 254:
(2011) 1 SCC (Cri) 336

7. Inay Tyagi Vs Irshad Ali (2013) 5 SCC 762

8. Amitbhai Anilchnadra Shah Vs CBI (2013) 6
SCC 348: (2014) 1 SCC (Cri) 309

9. Manohar Lal Sharma Vs Principal Secy.,
(2014) 2 SCC 532: (2014) 4 SCC (Cri) 1

10. Dinubhai Boghabhai Solanki Vs St. of Guj.
(2014) 4 SCC 626: (2014) 2 SCC (Cri) 384

11. Rajiv Singh Vs St. of Bihar (2015) 16 SCC
369

12. Suresh Chandra Jana Vs St. of W.B., (2017)
16 SCC 466

13. Nirmal Singh Kahlon Vs St. of Punjab (2009)
1 SCC 441: (20019) 1 SCC (Cri) 523

14. Azija Begum Vs St. of Mah. (2012) 3 SCC
126
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(Delivered by Hon’ble Siddharth, J.)

1) Counter affidavit filed by learned
A.G.A. in the Court today is taken on
record.

2) Heard learned counsel for the
applicant and learned A.G.A. for the State.

3) Order on Criminal Misc.
Exemption Application

This exemption application is allowed.

4) Order on Criminal Misc.
Anticipatory Bail Application

The instant  anticipatory  bail
application has been filed with a prayer to
grant an anticipatory bail to the applicant,
Shivam, in Case Crime No. 16 of 2020,
under Sections- 323, 504, 506 I.P.C. &
Section 3(2)(r)(s) of the Scheduled Castes
and the Scheduled Tribes (Prevention of
Atrocities) Act, 1989, Police Station-
Churkhi, District- Jalaun at post-
cognizance stage.

5) Prior notice of this bail application
was served in the office of Government
Advocate and as per Chapter XVIII, Rule
18 of the Allahabad High Court Rules and
as per direction dated 20.11.2020 of this
Court in Criminal Misc. Anticipatory Bail
Application U/S 438 Cr.P.C. No. 8072 of
2020, Govind Mishra @ Chhotu Versus
State of U.P., hence, this anticipatory bail
application is being heard. Grant of further
time to the learned A.G.A as per Section
438 (3) Cr.P.C. (U.P. Amendment) is not
required.

6) The allegation in the F.LR is that the
informant is a newsman. He noticed that crowd
has collected on the bus stand. He requested the
policemen in Dial 112 vehicle standing nearby
to remove the crowd. The crowd was removed.

Thereafter, some dabanggs of the locality
namely Prashant, son of Shyam Kishore Tiwari
and Shibbi @ Shivam Tiwari (applicant), son of
Mahant Tiwari, came and abused the informant
by using the word "dhed chamaar" etc., and
also abused him in the name of his mother and
sister because they were aware of the caste of
the applicant. They threatened him that if he
will indulge in journalism, he would be killed.

7) Learned counsel for the applicant has
submitted that the applicant has been falsely
implicated in this case. He has next submitted
that no specific role was assigned to the
applicant in the F.ILR. Without collecting any
evidence against the applicant, charge-sheet has
been submitted against him on 12.05.2020 and
cognizance has been taken thereon on
20.11.2020. There is no role assigned to him
regarding intimidation or insult of the informant
in public view and therefore, the implication of
the applicant for offence u/s 3(1)(r)(s) of the
S.C/ST. Act, is without any basis. He has
further submitted that from the material
collected by the Investigating Officer, it is not
proved that the informant was abused by the
applicant and co-accused, knowing that he
belongs to scheduled caste. He has no criminal
history to his credit. The applicant has definite
apprehension that he may be arrested by the
police any time. Learned counsel for the
applicant has relied upon the judgement of the
Apex Court in the case of Gorige Pentaiah v.
State of AP. & Ors,, 2009 Cri.L.J. 350,
which is a case regarding Section 3(1)(x) of
S.C/ST. Act and not Section 3(1)(r)(s) of
S.C./S.T. Act. He has assured that the applicant
will cooperate with the trial and may be
enlarged on anticipatory bail.

8) Learned A.G.A. has opposed the
prayer for anticipatory bail of the applicant.
He has submitted that in view of the
seriousness of the allegations made against
the applicant, he is not entitled to grant of
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anticipatory bail. The apprehension of the
applicant is not founded on any material on
record. Only on the basis of imaginary fear,
anticipatory bail cannot be granted.

9) This Court in the case of Adil Vs.
State of U.P. passed in Criminal Misc.
Anticipatory Bail Application U/S 438
CrP.C. No. 8285 of 2020 dated
08.12.2020, relying upon the judgement of
the Hon'ble Supreme Court in the case of
Sushila Aggarwal vs. State (NCT of
Delhi)- 2020 SCC Online SC 98 held that
anticipatory bail can be granted to an
accused even after submission of charge-
sheet in "appropriate cases". On the basis of
the aforesaid judgement of this Court in the
case of Adil (supra), large number of
anticipatory bail applications are being
filed before this Court on the premise that
after  submission  of  charge-sheet,
anticipatory bail can be granted to every
accused and the counsels are trying to
justify filing of such applications on the
basis of number of submissions arguing
that it is an "appropriate case" for grant of
anticipatory bail even after submission of
charge-sheet.

10) In the case of Adil (supra), this
Court had not defined what are
"appropriate cases" wherein anticipatory
bail can be granted to an accused even after
charge-sheet has been filed by the
Investigating Officer of police against him
before the competent Court.

11) It is true that charge-sheet in a
case is generally filed after finding out a
prima facie case. Similarly, in a complaint
case the learned Magistrate after examining
the witnesses and perusing the documents
produced, issues processes like warrant of
arrest. In both these occasions cognizance
is taken and thereafter, processes are issued

indicating that the learned Magistrate was
prima facie satisfied from the materials on
record as regards the commission of the
offence and thereafter issues appropriate
process for apprehension of the accused
person. It is to be noted that this Court is
not considering a stage when an application
under Section 438 is to be filed since it has
been decided in the case of Adil (supra).
There are cases in which charge-sheets
have been filed by the police after
investigation without the knowledge of the
accused persons showing them as
absconders. Such an accused person after
the submission of the charge-sheet and on
issuance of a warrant of arrest gets the
knowledge of the case and then, only for
the first time, he has reason to believe that
he may be arrested on an accusation of
having committed a non-bailable offence.
In a case of this nature, it cannot be thought
of that the person who was unaware of the
case should be arrested and kept in custody
of the police or of the Court for getting an
opportunity of filing an application under
Section 437 or under Section 438 of the
Code. It is desirable to keep in view the
observations of the Law Commission and
also of the Apex Court as regards the
necessity of passing an order under Section
438 in these days when political vendetta
and other factors rule the realm of police
investigation of a case. This Court is not
unmindful of a situation that in a complaint
case a process can be issued relying on the
statements of the witnesses examined under
Section 200. But the person against whom
those statements were made might be
falsely implicated to satisfy political or
personal vengeance and may be without his
knowledge.

12) It is a settled principle of law that
a man cannot be stated to be guilty unless
his guilt is proved after adducing reliable
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evidence. Sending a person to custody after
finding his guilt is a rule. But before
finding the accused guilty, it is not always
possible or permissible to conclude on the
basis of the charge-sheet or on the basis of
the process issued under Section 204 in a
complaint case that custody of that person
is necessary. The word "bail" has not been
defined in the Code, the literal meaning of
the word "bail" is to set free or liberate a
person on security being given of his
appearance. In Law Lexicon, the word
"pail" is defined "to set at liberty a person
arrested or imprison on security being
taken for his appearance”. So the accepted
meaning of "bail" is to release of a person
from legal custody.

13) Under Section 438, the question
posed before the High Court or the Court of
Session is whether a person if arrested on an
accusation of having committed a non-
bailable offence, can be released on bail. The
apprehension of such an arrest is possible
only when the person is being haunted by the
police or other authority. In many of the cases
such haunting of a person is possible only
after the issuance of the warrant of arrest after
the filing of the charge-sheet or after the steps
under Section 204 of the Code are taken. At
this juncture a person cannot move the Courts
under Section 437 or under Section 439
because he is not in custody. But he can very
well approach the High Court or the Court of
Session under Section 438 for an appropriate
order. The High Court or the Court of Session
in its turn is competent to examine the case of
the person and his suitability to be enlarged
on bail after the arrest and then only an order
under Section 438 is passed. So filing of an
application under Section 438 itself does not
mean that the applicant will be entitled to an
order thereof. It is already settled that an
order under Section 438 can be passed after
examining each case cautiously and carefully

inasmuch as it is an order converting a non-
bailable offence into a bailable one and
protecting a person for some time from going
to the custody after the arrest. This precisely
is the issue in the present case which is
required to be answered. What are the
"appropriate cases" wherein the anticipatory
bail can be filed under Section 438 after the
filing of the charge-sheet or after the issuance
of a process under Section 204 of the Code or
after the issue of warrant of arrest in a
complaint case.

14) Before proceeding further to decide
the issue in hand, the basis of charge-sheet
and the manner of investigation by police in a
case involving cognizable offences needs
consideration.

15) Investigation and chargesheet form
the genesis of the Criminal Trial. Chargesheet
is the outcome of investigation. Under
Section 157 of the Code of Criminal
Procedure, the procedure of investigation in
criminal cases has been incorporated. It
requires the intimation of information to the
police officer on the commission of a crime.
The investigation includes all the procedures
which are done by the police officer under
the Code for the collection of evidence. The
police on registration of FIR shall upon
perusal of the facts of the case decide the line
of investigation i.e whether there is
circumstantial evidence or eyewitnesses.
Circumstantial evidence is the something
which is a chain of circumstances that lead to
the crime for example previous animosity,
threats, last seen theory. It is basically
connection of various circumstances to the
crime. On the other hand, eyewitnesses are
those who have seen the incident take place.

16) The police officer who is pursuing
the investigation is empowered to require
the attendance of the witnesses. The
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witnesses shall be such who are acquainted
with the facts and circumstances of the
case. The powers have been conferred
under Section 160 of the Code. The
provisions of Section 160 of the Code
explicitly mention that no male below
fifteen years or a woman shall be called to
attend at any other place than the place
where she resides.

17) The non-compliance of summons
under Section 160 of the Code is
punishable under Section 174 of the Code.
The person who is required to appear when
served summons does not do so shall be
liable to simple imprisonment up to one
month or with a fine up to INR 500 or both.
The section only requires the attendance of
the witnesses and furnishing of relevant
information about them. The police officer
cannot insist upon the witnesses for the
production of documents before him. The
order which requires the attendance of a
person needs to be in written form.

18) The most crucial part of the
investigation lies in the examination of
witnesses. The statements made by them
can hold a person guilty. The police officer
who is investigating the case has been
empowered to conduct witness
examination. The witnesses are bound to
answer the questions which are related to
the case truly. Section 161 lays down the
procedure for the examination of witnesses
by the police.

19) The investigating officer shall
examine the persons who are acquainted
with the facts of the case. It is the duty of
the investigating officer to record the
statements of the eyewitnesses without any
delay. After examining the witnesses, it is
required by the police officer to write down
the statement made by the witness.There

should be no delay on the part of the police
officer investigating the case in examining
the witnesses. In the event of a delay of the
examination of the witness, the onus lies on
the investigating officer for explaining the
reasons for the delay.

20) When the delay has been properly
explained, it does not have any adverse
impact upon the probable value of a
particular witness. The police officer while
examining the witnesses is not bound to
reduce the statements made into writing. It
is preferred that the statements should be
written or the substance of the whole
examination should be written down at
least. The recorded statements are required
to be noted down in the case diary
maintained under Section 172 of the Code.

21) A police officer or the
investigating officer has been empowered
under section 165 of the Code to search the
premises whenever he feels necessary or
has reasonable grounds to believe the same.
The investigating officer or the officer-in-
charge conducts the search when he
believes that there are sufficient or
reasonable grounds to pursue the same. The
search is conducted when there is an
absolute necessity for the same. Section
93(1) of the Code of Criminal Procedure
provides for the grounds under which a
warrant for search shall be issued.
Moreover, the search has to be recorded in
the diary otherwise it becomes illegal.

22) The investigating officer would
go to the locality where the offence was
committed and get two people called the
"Panchas’. The evidence given by the
Panchas is of paramount importance. They
sign a document called the Panchnama
which contains the evidence collected out
of the search. It is signed by them which
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validates the search and the procedure
adopted during the investigation.

23) Panchnama has not been defined
anywhere in the law. However, it is a
document which holds great value in
criminal cases. The Panchnama states
things which were found at a particular
place and at a particular time. After this, a
memorandum of the search is prepared by
the investigating officer or the officer-in-
charge. It needs to be submitted to the
Magistrate. The police officer-in-charge or
the investigating officer who has a valid
warrant is to be allowed to conduct the
search of a place. Force may be used if he
is not allowed to do so. The search is not
just only of the premises but also of a
person. If it is a female, a female officer
shall search her with utmost decency. The
search of the closed place or of a person
has to be made before two respectable
persons of the society. These respectable
persons are known as the "Panchas’. They
need to sign the document validating the
search. However, the Panchas need not
necessarily be called as witnesses.

24) Under Section 47 of the Code, the
search of a place can be conducted by the
police when they have to arrest a person.
The police can break in and enter if they
are not being allowed in the place. There is
also an allowance for no-knock break-in to
take place: this is done to take the person
by surprise. The basic objective of
conducting a search is to find evidence
which may help in solving the case.

25) Section 91 of the Code of Criminal
Procedure states that whenever a Court or the
officer-in-charge of a police station feels that
a document or some other thing is necessary
for the purpose of the investigation, such
Court may issue summon or the officer may

in writing, order the person in whose
possession the document is to be produced.
The document shall be produced at the date
and time specified in the summons served to
the person. This section does not apply to a
person who is accused and on trial.

26) The Court cannot issue a summons
for the production of a document or a thing
by the accused. This is because it will
become self-incrimination under Article
20(3) of the Constitution of India.

27) Under section 92 of the Code, if a
document or other thing or a parcel is in the
custody of a postal or telegraph authority, and
the Magistrate whether Judicial or Executive,
any of the Courts wanted that that document
for the purpose of investigation, such
Magistrate or the Court may order the
authority to produce the document before
them.

28) Section 173 of the Code requires
the investigating officer to file a report before
the Magistrate after the collection of evidence
and examination of witnesses are done with.
This section requires that each and every
investigation shall be completed without any
unnecessary delay.

29) The report under Section 169 of
the Code can be referred to as the Closure
Report. Closure report is the one in which it
is stated that there is not enough evidence
to prove that the offence has been
committed by the accused. Once the
closure report is filed before the Magistrate,
he may accept and the report the case as
closed, direct a further investigation into
the case, issue a notice to the first
informant as he is the only person who can
challenge the report or he may directly
reject the closure and take cognizance of
the case.
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30) A charge sheet is a final report
prepared by the investigation or law
enforcement agencies for proving the
accusation of a crime in a criminal court of
law. The report is basically submitted by
the police officer in order to prove that the
accused is connected with any offence or
has committed any offence punishable
under any penal statute having effect in
India. The report entails and embodies all
the stringent records right from the
commencement of investigation procedure
of lodging an FIR to till the completion of
investigation and preparation of final
report. Section 173 of the Code of Criminal
Procedure, 1973 provides for report of the
police officer. Filing of the Charge-Sheet
indicates the end of investigation.

31) The purpose of a charge-sheet is
to notify a person of criminal charges being
issued against them. After the charge-sheet
is filed, the person against whom the
charge-sheet has been filed comes to be
known as an accused. The filing of charge-
sheet with the magistrate indicates
commencement of criminal proceedings.

32) The U.P. Police Regulation 107
and 108 detail the procedure required to be
followed by the Investigating Officer as
follows :-

107. An Investigating Officer is
not to regard himself as a mere clerk for the
recording of statements. It is his duty to
observe and to infer. In every case, he must
use his own exprt observations of the scene
of the offence and of the general
circumstances to check the evidence of
witnesses, and in cases in which the
culprits are unknown to determine the
direction in which he shall look for them.
He must study the methods of local
offenders who are known to the police with

a view to recognizing their handiwork, and
he must be on his guard against accepting
the suspicions of witness and complaints
when they conflict with obvious inferences
from facts. He must remember that it his
duty to find out the truth and not merely to
obtain  convictions. He must not
prematurely commit himself to any view of
the facts for or against any person and
though he need not go out of his way to
hunt up evidence for the defence in a case
in which he has satisfactory grounds for
believing that an accused person is guilty,
he must always give accused perons an
opportunity of producting defence evidence
before him, and must consider such
evidence carefully if produced. Burglary
investigations should be conducted in
accordance with the special orders on the
subject.

108. The first step of the
Investigating Officer should be to note in
the case diary prescribed by Section 172 of
the Code of Criminal Procedure the time
and place at which he has received the
information on which he acts and to make
in the diary a copy of the first information
report. When beginning his investigation,
he must note in the diary the time and place
at which he begins. He should then inspect
the scene of the alleged offence and
guestion the complainant and any other
person who may be able to throw light on
the circumstances. At an early stage of the
investigation, he should consult the village
crime note-book to learn of any matter
recorded there which may have a bearing
on the case.

33) A perusal of the aforesaid
regulations shows that for the Investigating
Officer, the accused and the complainant
are equal at the time of conducting
investigation. He has to consider the case
of both the parties and thereafter, arrive at a
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fair conclusion regarding the investigation
into the allegations made against the
accused. He is not required to simply prove
that the allegations in the F.I.R are correct
and should necessarily collect evidence to
implicate the accused, justifying his
implication.

34) What is fair investigation has
been considered by the Hon'ble Supreme
Court in number of judgements, considered
hereinbelow :-

1) State of Bihar v. P.P. Sharma, 1992
Supp (1) SCC 222, at page 258 :

48. From this perspective, the
function of the judiciary in the course of
investigation by the police should be
complementary and full freedom should be
accorded to the investigator to collect the
evidence connecting the chain of events
leading to the discovery of the truth, viz., the
proof of the commission of the crime,. Often
individual liberty of a witness or an accused
person are involved and inconvenience is
inescapable  and unavoidable. The
investigating officer would conduct indepth
investigation to discover truth while keeping
in view the individual liberty with due
observance of law. At the same time he has a
duty to enforce criminal law as an integral
process. No criminal justice system deserves
respect if its wheels are turned by ignorance.
It is never his business to fabricate the
evidence to connect the suspect with the
commission of the crime. Trustworthiness of
the police is the primary insurance.
Reputation for investigative competence and
individual honesty of the investigator are
necessary to enthuse public confidence. Total
support of the public also is necessary.

2) Babubhai v. State of Gujarat,

(2010) 12 SCC 254 : (2011) 1 SCC (Cri)
336, at page 268 :

32. The investigation into a
criminal offence must be free from
objectionable features or infirmities which
may legitimately lead to a grievance on the
part of the accused that investigation was
unfair and carried out with an ulterior
motive. It is also the duty of the
Investigating Officer to conduct the
investigation avoiding any kind of mischief
and harassment to any of the accused. The
Investigating Officer should be fair and
conscious so as to rule out any
possibility of fabrication of evidence and
his impartial conduct must dispel any
suspicion as to its genuineness. The
Investigating Officer "is not to bolster up a
prosecution case with such evidence as
may enable the court to record conviction
but to bring out the real unvarnished truth".
(Vide R.P. Kapur Vs. State of Punjab AIR
1960 SC 866; Jamuna Chaudhary & Ofrs.
Vs. State of Bihar AIR 1974 SC 1822; and
Mahmood Vs. State of U.P. AIR 1976 SC
69).

3) Vinay Tyagi v. Irshad Ali, (2013)
5 SCC 762, at page 792 :

48. What ultimately is the aim or
significance of the expression "fair and
proper investigation' in criminal
jurisprudence? It has a twin purpose.
Firstly, the investigation must be unbiased,
honest, just and in accordance with law.
Secondly, the entire emphasis on a fair
investigation has to be to bring out the truth
of the case before the court of competent
jurisdiction. Once these twin paradigms of
fair investigation are satisfied, there will be
the least requirement for the court of law to
interfere with the investigation, much less
quash the same, or transfer it to another
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agency. Bringing out the truth by fair and
investigative means in accordance with law
would essentially repel the very basis of an
unfair, tainted investigation or cases of
false implication. Thus, it is inevitable for a
court of law to pass a specific order as to
the fate of the investigation, which in its
opinion is unfair, tainted and in violation of
the settled principles of investigative
canons.

4) Amitbhai Anilchandra Shah v.
CBI, (2013) 6 SCC 348 : (2014) 1 SCC
(Cri) 309, at page 383 :

58.9.  Administering  criminal
justice is a two-end process, where guarding
the ensured rights of the accused under
Constitution is as imperative as ensuring
justice to the victim. It is definitely a daunting
task but equally a compelling responsibility
vested on the court of law to protect and
shield the rights of both. Thus, a just balance
between the fundamental rights of the
accused guaranteed under the Constitution
and the expansive power of the police to
investigate a cognizable offence has to be
struck by the court. Accordingly, the
sweeping power of investigation does not
warrant subjecting a citizen each time to fresh
investigation by the police in respect of the
same incident, giving rise to one or more
cognizable offences. As a consequence, in
our view this is a fit case for quashing the
second F.I.R to meet the ends of justice.

58.10. The investigating officers
are the Kingpins in the criminal justice
system. Their reliable investigation is the
leading step towards affirming complete
justice to the victims of the case. Hence they
are bestowed with dual duties ie. to
investigate the matter exhaustively and
subsequently collect reliable evidences to
establish the same.

5) Manohar Lal Sharma v. Prinicipal
Secy., (2014) 2 SCC 532 : (2014) 4 SCC
(Cri) 1, at page 553 :

26. One of the responsibilities of the
police is protection of life, liberty and
property of citizens. The investigation of
offences is one of the important duties the
police has to perform. The aim of
investigation is ultimately to search for
truth and bring the offender to book.

27. Section 2(h) of the Code of
Criminal Procedure (for short "the Code™)
defines investigation to include all the
proceedings under the Code for collection
of evidence conducted by a police officer
or by any person (other than a Magistrate)
who is authorized by the Magistrate in this
behalf.

28. In H.N. Rishbud, this Court
explained that the investigation generally
consists of the following steps : (AIR p.
201, para b)

(1) Proceeding to the spot;

(2) ascertainment of the facts and
circumstances of the case;  (3) discovery
and arrest of the suspected offender;

(4) collection of evidence relating to
the commission of the offence which may
consist of the examination of :

(a) various persons (including the
accused) and the reduction of statement
into writing, if the officer thinks fit;

(b) the search of places and seizure of
things, considered necessary for the
investigation and to be produced at the
trial;

(5) formation of the opinion as to
whether on the materials collected, there is
a case to place the accused before a
Magistrate for trial, if so, take the necessary
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steps for the same for filing necessary
charge-sheet under Section 173 Cr.P.C.

6) Dinubhai Boghabhai Solanki v.
State of Gujarat, (2014) 4 SCC 626 :
(2014) 2 SCC (Cri) 384, at page 643 :

48. Undoubtedly, the essence of
criminal justice system is to reach the truth.
The underlying principle is that whilst the
guilty must not escape punishment; no
innocent person shall be punished unless
the gquilt of the suspect/accused is
established in accordance with law. All
suspects/accused are presumed to be
innocent till their guilt is proved beyond
reasonable doubt in a trial conducted
according to the procedure prescribed
under law. Fair, unbiased and transparent
investigation is a sine quo non for
protecting the accused. Being dissatisfied
with the manner in which the investigation
was being conducted, the father of the
victim filed the petition seeking an
impartial investigation.

7) Rajiv Singh v. State of Bihar,
(2015) 16 SCC 369, at page 397 :-

79. The investigating agency as
the empowered mechanism of the law
enforcing institution of the State is
entrusted with the solemn responsibility of
securing the safety and security of the
citizens and in the process, act as the
protector of human rights. The police force
with the power and resources at its disposal
is a pivotal cog in the constitutional wheel
of the democratic polity to guarantee the
sustenance of an orderly society. It is
usually the first refuge of one in distress
and violated in his legal rights to seek
redress. The police force, thus is bestowed
with a sacrosanct duty and is undisputedly
required to be impartial, committed and

relentless in their operations to unravel the
truth and in the case of a crime committed,
make the offender subject to the process of
law. The investigating agency, thus in the
case of a probe into any offence has to
maintain a delicate balance of the
competing rights of the offenders and the
victim as constitutionally ordained but by
no means can be casual, incautious,
indiscreet in its approach and application.
A devoted and resolved intervention of the
police force is thus an assurance against
increasingly pernicious trend of escalating
crimes and outrages of law in the current
actuality.

80. As a criminal offence is a
crime against the society, the investigating
agency has a sanctified, legal and social
obligation to exhaust all its resources,
experience and expertise to ferret out the
truth and bring the culprit to book. The
manifest defects in the investigation in the
case demonstrate an inexcusable failure of
the authorities concerned to abide by this
paramount imperative.

81. This Court, amongst others, in
Amitbhai Anilchandra Shah vs. Central
Bureau of Investigation and another
(2013) 6 SCC 348, while underlining the
essentiality of a fair, in-depth and fructuous
investigation had observed that
investigating officers are the kingpins in
the criminal justice system and reliable
investigation is a leading step towards
affirming complete justice to the victims of
the case. It was ruled that administering
criminal justice is a two-end process, where
guarding the ensured rights of the accused
under the Constitution is as imperative as
ensuring justice to the victim. It was held
that the daunting task, though a compelling
responsibility, is vested on the court of law
to protect and shield the rights of both. That
a just balance between the fundamental
rights of the accused guaranteed under the
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Constitution and the expansive power of
the police to investigate a cognizable
offence has to be struck by the Court was
emphatically underlined. We are left
appalled by the incomprehensible
omissions of the investigating agency in the
instant case and we would expect and
require that the authorities in-charge of
ensuring fair, competent and effective
investigation of criminal offences in
particular would take note of this serious
concern of the Court and unfailingly take
necessary remedial steps so much so that
these observations need not be reiterated in
future entailing punitive consequences.

8) Suresh Chandra Jana v. State of
W.B., (2017) 16 SCC 466, at page 480 :-

34. The last aspect is regarding
the defective investigation and prosecution.
If a negligent investigation or omissions or
lapses, due to perfunctory investigation, are
not effectively rectified, the faith and
confidence of the people in the law
enforcing agency would be shaken.
Therefore the police have to demonstrate
utmost  diligence,  seriousness  and
promptness. [refer Ram Bihari Yadav v.
State of Bihar & Ors., (1998) 4 SCC 517].

35. The basic requirement that a
trial must be fair is crucial for any civilized
criminal justice system. It is essential in a
Reportable society which recognizes
human rights and is based on values such
as freedoms, the rule of law, democracy
and openness. The whole purpose of the
trial is to convict the guilty and at the same
time to protect the innocent. In this process
courts should always be in search of the
truth and should come to the conclusion,
based on the facts and circumstances of
each case, without defeating the very
purpose of justice.

35) The Hon'ble Supreme Court has
held in number of cases that fair
investigation, which precedes filing of
charge-sheet, is a fundamental right under
Article 21 of the Constitution of India.
Therefore, it must be fair, transparent and
judicious. A  tainted and  biased
investigation leads to filing of a charge-
sheet which is infact based on no
investigation and therefore, the charge-
sheet filed in pursuance of such an
investigation cannot be held to be legal and
in accordance with law. Some of such
observations are as follows :-

1) Nirmal Singh Kahlon v. State of
Punjab, (2009) 1 SCC 441 : (2009) 1 SCC
(Cri) 523, at page 455 :

28. An accused is entitled to a fair
investigation. Fair investigation and fair
trial are concomitant to preservation of
fundamental right of an accused under
Article 21 of the Constitution of India. But
the State has a larger obligation i.e. to
maintain law and order, public order and
preservation of peace and harmony in the
society. A victim of a crime, thus, is
equally entitled to a fair investigation.
When serious allegations were made
against a former Minister of the State, save
and except the cases of political revenge
amounting to malice, it is for the State to
entrust one or the other agency for the
purpose of investigating into the matter.
The State for achieving the said object at
any point of time may consider handing
over of investigation to any other agency
including a central agency which has
acquired specialization in such cases.

2) Babubhai v. State of Gujarat,
(2010) 12 SCC 254 : (2011) 1 SCC (Cri)
336, at page 272 :
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45. Not only fair trial but fair
investigation is also part of constitutional
rights guaranteed under Articles 20 and 21
of the Constitution of India. Therefore,
investigation must be fair, transparent and
judicious as it is the minimum requirement
of rule of law. The investigating agency
cannot be permitted to conduct an
investigation in a tainted and biased
manner. Where non-interference of the
court would ultimately result in failure of
justice, the court must interfere. In such a
situation, it may be in the interest of justice
that independent agency chosen by the
High Court makes a fresh investigation.

3) Azija Begum v. State of
Maharashtra, (2012) 3 SCC 126, at page
128 :

12. In the facts and circumstances
of this case, we find that every citizen of
this country has a right to get his or her
complaint properly investigated. The legal
framework of investigation provided under
our laws cannot be made selectively
available only to some persons and denied
to others. This is a question of equal
protection of laws and is covered by the
guarantee under Article 14 of the
Constitution.

13. The issue is akin to ensuring
an equal access to justice. A fair and proper
investigation is always conducive to the
ends of justice and for establishing rule of
law and maintaining proper balance in law
and order. These are very vital issues in a
democratic set up which must be taken care
of by the Courts.

36) This country has inherited the
present police system from the British
Government. The main objective of British
rule was to maintain status quo by using the
police force as effective weapon to put

down any challenge to its authority by iron
hand. The police had to take repressive
measures on account of the directions of
the British Government. The investigation
was accordingly carried out keeping in
view the direction of the government and
their object of ruling this country. Charge-
sheets were submitted accordingly which
were not the result of free and fair
investigation. The fundamental rights of the
people of the country were not in existence
and the Criminal Procedure Code was
designed in a manner which was not in the
interest of the people of this country before
independence.

37) After India became independent,
it became a welfare state from the police
state of the Britishers. The legislations
which were framed after independence
were in conformity with the fundamental
rights of the people of this country. In the
welfare state, the role of the police became
more difficult in view of deteriorating law
and order situation, communal riots,
political turmoil, student unrest, terrorist
activities, increase in white-collar crimes,
etc. The police force, in addition to the
aforesaid new challenges, came under
stress and strain. Long hours of duty in
connection with law and order situation,
V.1.P duty, etc., left the police with lesser
time to investigate the cases. Under the
pressure of work, they started mechanical
investigation into the crimes given to them
for free and fair investigation. The
Investigating Officer is subjected to
pressure by the influential persons of
society to give report as per their
command. The influence of money in
conducting investigation is quite evident
and it is a very big hurdle in the free and
fair investigation of a case. It was
suggested by number of Law Commission
Reports that the investigation wing of the
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police should be separated from the law
and order wing but it has not materialized
as yet.

38) Therefore, it is clear that the
Court has to be cautious in considering the
anticipatory bail applications filed by the
accused after submission of charge-sheet.
There are number of impediments in the
way of Investigating Officer in submission
of charge-sheet after free and fair
investigation as considered hereinabove.

39) Right to liberty is sacrosanct and
guaranteed under Article 21 of the
Constitution of India. Under Article 14 of
the Constitution of India, there is equal
protection of law to  everyone,
informant/complainant and accused, alike.
During investigation stage or during trial
stage, "presumption of innocence of
accused™" is intact and it is so till he is
convicted either under Section 255 Cr.P.C.
(summons case), Section 248 Cr.P.C.
(warrant case) or under Section 335 Cr.P.C.
(sessions case). Only when he is convicted,
presumption of innocence gets replaced by
a judgement of conviction.

40) After consideration of the above
legal  provisions with  regard to
investigation and submission of charge-
sheet and also the judgements of the Apex
Court in this regard, this Court finds that
the "appropriate cases" wherein
anticipatory bail can be granted are those
cases where charge-sheet submitted by the
Investigating Officer and process issued by
the Court after taking cognizance under
Section 204 Cr.P.C. can be quashed by the
High Court in exercise of its jurisdiction
under Section 482 Cr.P.C. and also some
more cases. Therefore, non-grant of
anticipatory bail to an accused only on the
ground that charge-sheet has been

submitted by the Investigating Officer or
cognizance has been taken by the Court
against him wu/s 204 Cr.P.C. without
considering the prima facie veracity of the
same, will not be in the larger interest of
justice.

41) The following can be considered
as 'appropriate cases" for grant of
anticipatory bail to an accused
apprehending  arrest, even  after
submission of charge-sheet against the
accused by the Investigating Officer of
the police/after taking cognizance of
offence against accused under Section
204 Cr.P.C. by the Court :-

1) Where the charge-sheet has been
submitted by the Investigating
Officer/cognizance has been taken by the
Court, but the merits of the F.I.R/complaint
that has been lodged by the
informant/complainant are such that it
cannot be proved against the accused in the
Court;

2) Where there exists a civil remedy
and resort has been made to criminal
remedy. This has been done because either
the civil remedy has become barred by law
of limitation or involves time-consuming
procedural formalities or involves payment
of heavy court fee, like in recovery suits.

The distinction between civil wrong
and criminal wrong is quite distinct and the
courts should not permit a person to be
harassed by surrendering and obtaining bail
when no case for taking cognizance of the
alleged offences has been made out against
him since wrong alleged is a civil wrong
only.

When the allegations make out a civil
and criminal wrong both against an accused,
the remedy of anticipatory bail should be
considered favourably, in case the
implication in civil wrong provides for
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opportunity of hearing before being
implicated and punished/penalized. The
criminal remedy, in most of the cases, entails
curtailment of right to liberty without any
opportunity of hearing after lodging of
complaint and F.I.R under the provisions of
Cr.P.C. which is pre-independence law and
disregards Article 14 and 21 of the
Constitution of India. Therefore, in such
cases where civil and criminal remedy both
were available to the informant/complainant,
and he has chosen criminal remedy only,
anticipatory bail should be favourably
considered in such cases.

3) When the F.1.R/complaint has clearly
been lodged by way of counterblast to an
earlier F.I.LR lodged/complaint filed by the
accused against the informant/complainant in
near proximity of time. The motive of
lodging the false F.I.R/complaint is apparent
and from the material collected by the
Investigating Officer or from the statements
of witnesses in complaint case, there is no
consideration of the earlier F.IR
lodged/complaint filed by the accused against
the informant/complainant;

4) Where the allegations made in the
F.I.R/complaint or in the statement of the
witnesses recorded in support of the same,
taken at their face value, do not make out any
case against the accused or the
F.I.R/complaint does not discloses the
essential ingredients of the offences alleged;

5) Where the allegations made in the
F.I.LR/complaint are patently absurd and
inherently improbable so that no prudent
person can ever reach such conclusion that
there is sufficient ground for proceeding
against the accused;

6) Where charge-sheet has been
submitted on the basis of evidence or
materials which are wholly irrelevant or
inadmissible;

7) Where charge-sheet has been
submitted/complaint has been filed but on

account of some legal defect, like want of
sanction, filing of complaint/F.I.R by legally
incompetent authority, it cannot proceed;

8) Where the allegation in the
F.1.R/complaint do not consitute cognizable
offence but constitute only a non-cognizable
offence and investigation has been done by
police without order of Magistrate u/s 155(2)
Cr.P.C;

9) Where the part of charge in the
charge-sheet regarding major offence
alleged is not found to be proved and only
minor offence has been found to be proved
by the Investigating Officer, from the
material collected by him during the
investigation, the Court can consider
granting anticipatory bail to an accused.
Since after investigation and submission of
charge-sheet the prosecution allegations in
the F.I.R have not been found to be fully
correct by the Investigating Officer and
only part of the charges are found to be
proved,;

10) Where the investigation has been
conducted by the Investigating Officer but
the statement of the accused persons have
not been recorded by the Investigating
Officer and charge-sheet has been
submitted only by relying upon the
witnesses of the prosecution side. Such a
charge-sheet cannot be considered to be in
accordance with law since the Investigating
Officer is required to consider the case of
both sides before submitting charge-sheet
before the Court. Therefore, in such cases,
anticipatory bail can be granted to an
accused provided the accused has
cooperated with the investigation. However
this cannot be an inflexible rule since in
most of the cases the accused do not
cooperate with the investigation and it is
not easy for Investigating Officer to record
their statements. Therefore, what prejudice
has been caused to an accused by non-
recording of his version in the case diary of
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the police has to be demonstrated before
the Court. Merely on the technical ground
of omission on the part of the Investigating
Officer to record the statement of the
accused would not constitute a ground for
grant of anticipatory bail; and

11) Where there is statutory bar
regarding filing of F.I.R and only
complaint can be filed, charge-sheet
submitted against an accused in such cases
would entitle him to apply for anticipatory
bail after submission of charge-sheet by the
Investigating Officer.

42) The above instances are not
exhaustive and in more "appropriate cases",
the Court can consider grant of anticipatory
bail to an accused after considering the
entirety of the facts and circumstances of
the case and the material collected by the
Investigating Officer/statement of
witnesses recorded in support of complaint
case.

43) However, in the following cases,
anticipatory bail cannot be granted to an
accused after submission of charge-sheet

1) Where the Investigating Officer has
submitted charge-sheet but it is argued that
the statements of the witnesses recorded are
not truthful. Truthfulness or otherwise of
the statements of the witnesses recorded by
investigating  officer in  support of
complaint case are to be tested during trial
and not at the stage of consideration of
anticipatory bail application;

2) Where the F.I.R/complaint
discloses the alleged offences and the
Investigating Officer has collected material
which supports the same, without any
contradiction, even after considering the
statements/material  provided by the
accused side;

3) Where there are cross cases
registered by both the parties against each
other and the offences alleged is fully
proved and charge-sheet has been
submitted. Since the incident, as alleged,
has been found to have taken place and
both the parties admit such an occurrence,
hence, there is no doubt about the incident
taking place;

4) Where charge-sheet has been
submitted after compliance of the legal
formalities like sanction for prosecution
and the F.1.R/complaint has been lodged by
the competent authority and there is
supporting evidence;

5) Where the counterblast implication
is alleged that earlier incident took place
much before with the incident in dispute
and there is no proximity of the second
incident in terms of time with the second
incident;

6) Where there exists a civil remedy
but on the same set of allegations, civil
wrong and criminal wrong both are made
out and charge-sheet has been submitted
only regarding the criminal wrong;

7) Where the Investigating Officer has
approached the accused for recording of his
statement during investigation and he has
refused to give his statement to the
Investigating Officer in his defence and
charge-sheet has been submitted against
him;

8) Where the accused has
unsuccessfully challenged the charge-sheet
before this Court or any proceedings are
pending before this Court regarding the
charge-sheet submitted against the accused,

9) Where the offence alleged is serious
in nature, the accused is habitual in
criminality, tendency of abscondance, has
violated the conditions of bail granted to
him earlier, etc.; and

10) Where the accused is avoiding
appearance before the Court after the



16 INDIAN LAW REPORTS ALLAHABAD SERIES

cognizance of offence has been taken by
the Court on a police report or in a
complaint and coercive processes have
been repeatedly issued against him and
there is no valid explanation given by the
accused for his non-appearance before the
Court.

44) These instances are not
exhaustive and there may be some
unforeseen situations which the Court
would consider as per the facts and
circumstances of the particular case.

45) When the anticipatory bail is
sought by an accused after submission of
charge-sheet against him, the following
particulars are required to be given in
the anticipatory bail application to
arrive at correct conclusion whether the
charge-sheet submitted against the
accused can withstand the requirements
of law of investigation as considered
above and also the consideration made
by the Apex Court in various
judgements in this regard :-

(i) The charge-sheet along with the
entire  material  collected by the
Investigating Officer should be made part
of the anticipatory bail application;

(if) Clear pleading with reference to
the material on record should be made
stating under which sub-paragraph of
paragraph 41 stated hereinabove, the case
of the applicant is covered;

(iii) Clear pleading should also be
made that the case of the applicant is not
barred by paragraph 43 mentioned
aforesaid;

(iv) There should be clear averment in
the affidavit in support of the anticipatory
bail application that the applicant has not
challenged the charge-sheet before this
Court in any proceeding;

(v) In case the applicant has
approached this Court by way of any other
proceedings after submission of charge-
sheet and has obtained any order in any
proceedings, the same shall be disclosed in
the anticipatory bail application; and

(vi) Clear pleading should be made in
the anticipatory bail application that after
submission of charge-sheet, the applicant
has not approached any court and no such
proceeding is pending.

46) In the present case, from the perusal
of the statement recorded by the Investigating
Officer, this Court finds that the incident in
dispute took place on 04.04.2020 when the
first corona wave was sweeping the country
and the informant has stated that being a
journalist, he got the crowd removed with the
help of police since there were chances of
spread of infection. Thereafter, the applicant
and co-accused persons threatened him not to
become a big journalist and he was subjected
to caste related abuses and his mother and
sister were subjected to abuses. When he
tried to speak, they used the word "chamaar"
etc., and he was beaten by legs and fists.
When he raised alarm, Kamlesh and Rajbir
Singh came and saved him. Thereafter, the
accused persons left the scene, threatening
him of life. Both the accused persons are
habitual of mishehaving with the people of
locality. The statements of other witnesses
recorded by the Investigating Officer also
proves the above allegations.

47) From the statements of witnesses
recorded by the Investigating Officer, the
allegation of intimidation with intent to
humiliate a member of scheduled caste in
public view by taking his caste name is fully
proved.

48) Therefore, in view of the
conditions laid down in paragraph 43 sub-
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clause 2 of this judgement, this
anticipatory bail application deserves to
be rejected.

49) It is accordingly, rejected.

(2021)06ILR A17
APPELLATE JURISDICTION
CRIMINAL SIDE
DATED: ALLAHABAD 10.06.2021

BEFORE

THE HON'BLE SHAMIM AHMED, J.
Crl. Misc. Bail Application No. 12961 of 2021

Rahul ...Applicant
Versus

State of U.P. ...Opp. Party

Counsel for the Applicant:
Sri Dhiraj Kumar Pandey

Counsel for the Opp. Party:
A.G.A., Sri Shailesh Kumar Shukla

(a) Bail - In view of the nature of evidence,
the period of detention already undergone,
the unlikelihood of early conclusion of trial
and also the absence of any convincing
material to indicate the possibility of
tampering with the evidence, the applicant
may be enlarged on bail. (Para 8)

Application Allowed. (E-8)
List of Cases cited:-

1. Dataram Singh Vs St.of U.P. & anr. (2018) 3
SCC 22

(Delivered by Hon’ble Shamim Ahmed, J.)

1. The Court convened through video
conferencing.

2. Heard learned counsel for the
applicant, learned A.G.A. appearing for the
State and perused the record.

3. Applicant has moved the present bail
application seeking bail in Case Crime No.
560 of 2019 under sections 147, 148, 149,
294, 307, 323, 324, 504, 506 I.P.C., police
station Deoband, District Saharanpur.

4. Itis submitted by the learned counsel
for the applicant that the applicant is an
innocent person. He has been falsely
implicated in the present case. It is further
submitted that there are cross version of
incident registered by both the parties. No
specific allegation has been assigned against
the applicant. In the incident both sides have
received injuries and at this stage it cannot be
ascertain which party was the aggressor.

5. Learned counsel for the applicant
further submits that co-accused Vinod
Kumar, Ramesh, Ravindra @ Binder and
Vipin have already been granted bail by this
Court vide orders dated 27.09.2019,
18.12.2020, 11.01.2021 and 25.03.2021
passed in Criminal Misc. Bail Application
Nos. 38960 of 2019, 47066 of 2020, 47328 of
2020 and 13.110 of 2021 respectively.
Submission is that the case of the applicant is
not on worse footing than that of co-accused
who has already been released on bail, and
therefore, on principles of parity also the
applicant should be released on bail.

6. Several other submissions in order
to demonstrate the falsity of the allegations
made against the applicant have also been
placed forth before the Court. The
circumstances which, according to the
counsel, led to the false implication of the
accused have also been touched upon at
length. It has been assured on behalf of the
applicant that he is ready to cooperate with
the process of law and shall faithfully make
himself available before the court whenever
required and is also ready to accept all the
conditions which the Court may deem fit to
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impose upon him. It has also been pointed
out that the accused is not having any
criminal history and he is in jail since
03.02.2021 and that in the wake of heavy
pendency of cases in the Court, there is no
likelihood of any early conclusion of trial.

7. Learned A.G.A. opposed the prayer
for bail.

8. After perusing the record in the
light of the submissions made at the bar
and after taking an overall view of all the
facts and circumstances of this case, the
nature of evidence, the period of detention
already undergone, the unlikelihood of
early conclusion of trial and also the
absence of any convincing material to
indicate the possibility of tampering with
the evidence and larger mandate of the
Article 21 of the Constitution of India and
the law laid down by the Hon'ble Apex
Court in the case of Dataram Singh vs.
State of UP and another, reported in
(2018) 3 SCC 22, this Court is of the view
that the applicant may be enlarged on bail.

9. The prayer for bail is granted. The
application is allowed.

10. Let the applicant Rahul involved
in Case Crime No. 560 of 2019 under
sections 147, 148, 149, 294, 307, 323, 324,
504, 506 1.P.C., police station Deoband,
District Saharanpur be released on bail on
his executing a personal bond and two
sureties each in the like amount to the
satisfaction of the court concerned on the
following conditions :-

(1) The applicant will not make any
attempt to tamper with the prosecution
evidence in any manner whatsoever.

(2) The applicant will personally
appear on each and every date fixed in the

court below and his personal presence shall
not be exempted unless the court itself
deems it fit to do so in the interest of
justice.

(3) The applicant shall cooperate in
the trial sincerely without seeking any
adjournment.

(4) The applicant shall not indulge in
any criminal activity or commission of any
crime after being released on bail.

(5)The party shall file computer
generated copy of such order downloaded
from the official website of High Court
Allahabad or certified copy issued from the
Registry of the High Court, Allahabad.

(6) The concerned
Court/Authority/Official shall verify the
authenticity of such computerized copy of
the order from the official website of High
Court Allahabad and shall make a
declaration of such verification in writing

11. It may be observed that in the
event of any breach of the aforesaid
conditions, the court below shall be at
liberty to proceed for the cancellation of
applicant’s bail.

12. It is clarified that the observations, if
any, made in this order are strictly confined to
the disposal of the bail application and must not
be construed to have any reflection on the
ultimate merits of the case.

(2021)06ILR A18
APPELLATE JURISDICTION
CRIMINAL SIDE
DATED: ALLAHABAD 19.03.2021

BEFORE

THE HON'BLE RAHUL CHATURVEDI, J.

Crl. Misc. Bail Application No 14323 of 2021
With Crl. Misc. Bail Appl. Nos. 15138 of 2021,
15101 of 2021 & 15110 of 2021
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Nishant @ Nishu
Versus

...Applicant

State of U.P. ...Opp. Party

Counsel for the Applicant:
Sri Anil Kumar Shukla

Counsel for the Opp. Party:
A.G.A.

(a) Bail - Gang Chart - U.P. Gangster and
Anti-Social Activities (Prevention) Act,
1986

The Court has observed that due to no rules or
procedure for the Act, an incomplete and half
baked gang charts were prepared by the
informants of different applications which were
later on mechanically approved by the
responsible higher police authorities of the
district, against that Gang. It is not the
discretion of the prosecution to add or subtract
the number of cases from his gang chart
according to their sweet will and at the time of
consideration of their bail applications, serve out
those cases which are not in the chart. In order
to curb this malpractice, the Court directed to
frame proper Rules of the present enactment
pursuant to the provisions contained in Section
27 of the U.P. Act. (Para 35)

Application Allowed. (E-8)
(Delivered by Hon’ble Rahul Chaturvedi, J.)

[1] Heard the submissions of respective
learned counsels for the different applicants
of their respective bail applications, learned
A.G.A and perused the records of the case.

[2] Since all these above mentioned bail
applications suffers from same vice of law i.e
‘incomplete and defective gang chart' which
does not indicate the accused's complete past
credentials, giving ample room for
miscarriage of justice, resultantly, the
accused-applicant tends to be bailed out
easily. Additionally, this court purposes to
decide all the four bail applications on merits
by a common order.

[3] The present order is in two parts, in
the earlier part, all the four bail applications
are decided on merits and in the later part,
there is discussion/judgment on defective
gang-chart and its adverse impact on bail as
well as trial of the accused concern.

Before deciding the cases on merits, it
is imperative to give factual narration of the
issue of the respective bail applications :-

FACTUAL INTRODUCTION OF
BAIL APPLICATIONS:-

[4] Applicant Nishant @ Nishu is
behind the bars since 29.9.2020 in
connection with Case Crime No. 433/2020
U/s 2/3 of U.P. Gangsters and Anti-Social
Activities (Prevention) Act, 1986 Police
Station Civil Lines, District Muzaffar
Nagar.

[5] Learned Counsel states that the
gang chart annexed as Annexure No. 2 to
the affidavit shows that Usman @ Sheru is
its gang leader and the applicant has been
shown as its active member of that gang.
Only ONE case is shown in the gang chart
to the credit of the applicant at Police
Station Civil Lines, District Muzaffar
Nagar.

[6] On this, it has been contended by
learned counsel that since only one case is
shown in the gang chart, having Case
Crime No. 306/2020 on which the applicant
is on bail. The copy of the bail order is
annexed as Annexure No.3 to the affidavit.
Thus on the above factual premises, it has
been argued that, on account of singular
case in which the applicant has already
been bailed out and have never misused the
liberty of bail. Besides this, it is further
submitted that there is no justifiable reason
for the prosecution to implicate the



20 INDIAN LAW REPORTS ALLAHABAD SERIES

applicant in U.P. Gangsters Act by
imposing stringent condition and branding
the applicant as its gang member. Thus
applicant deserves to be bailed out.

[7] Similarly the accused of Bail
Application No. 15138/2021, is Amit, the
applicant  facing incarceration  since
16.8.2020 in connection with Case Crime
No. 274/2020 U/s 2/3 of U.P. Gangsters
and Anti-Social Activities (Prevention)
Act, 1986, P.S. Madrak District Aligarh.

[8] Submission advanced by learned
Counsel for the applicant, after drawing
attention of the court, the gang chart
(Annexure No.2) which shows that he is
member of a alleged gang and only TWO
cases are shown in the chart to his credit.
Argued by the counsel for the applicant that
he is enjoying his freedom by way of bail
in both the cases and has never misused the
liberty so granted to him. The bail orders
are annexed as Annexure No.3 to the
affidavit, and thus, submitted that the
applicant deserves to be bailed out in the
instant case too.

[9] In this series, yet another case on
behalf of KASHISH SRIVASTAV, who is
behind the bars since 5.8.2020 in relation to
Case Crime No. 290/2020 U/s 2/3 of U.P.
Gangsters and  Anti-Social ~ Activities
(Prevention) Act, 1986, P.S. Cantt, District
Prayagraj (Allahabad). After showing the
gang chart (Annexure No.2), contention
advanced by the learned counsel for the
applicant that only FOUR cases are shown
in the chart. The applicant is on bail in all
the four cases by different courts. Bail
orders are annexed as Annexure No.3 to the
affidavit. Learned Counsel has toed same
lines of arguments as his predecessors and
tried to impress upon the court that the
applicant too is entitled for bail.

[10] Last case in this chain is on
behalf of NAUSHAD, the
accused/applicant,  who is  facing
prosecution by way of Case Crime No.
590/2020 U/s 2/3 of U.P. Gangsters and
Anti-Social Activities (Prevention) Act,
1986, P.S. Fatehpur, District Saharanpur.

[11] The gang-chart annexed as
Annexure No.2 to the affidavit clearly
indicates that there are only TWO cases to
the credit of the applicant and on different
occasions in both these cases he was
granted bail. The bail orders are annexed as
Annexure No. 3 and 4 to the affidavit. Thus
argued by the counsel that he has not
misused the liberty of bail and as such, he
is entitled for bail in the instant case too.

[12] Thus from the above, it is clear
that in all the four bail applications, the
gang-chart which were annexed clearly
indicates that less than five cases are to the
credit of respective accused applicants and
in all those cases the applicants were on
bail but the informants of respective FIRs
after clubbing few of the previous cases(not
mentioned in the gang chart) allegedly
branded the  accused/applicants as
member/or the leader of a particular gang,
who are indulge in committing heinous
offences, through their illegal organization,
against innocent persons of the society.
They all are as per habit commit serious
and heinous offences of different types and
shades. It has been argued by the learned
counsels for the applicants that informants
of these FIRs are police personnels(mostly
SHOs of the police station), after over-
stapping their powers vested in them and
with motive to saddle the applicants with
additional criminal liability, have illegally
fasten more stringent prosecution by way
of U.P. Gangsters and Anti-Social
Activities (Prevention) Act, 1986. It is
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argued that instant prosecution is nothing
but gross misuse of powers vested in them
(informant), which was later on blindly
supported and approved by the local police
and administrative superior authorities
while approving the gang chart.

[13] Per contra, learned A.G.A.
vehemently opposed the prayer for bail of
the respective accused/applicants, after
putting the record straight. It has been
contended by learned A.G.A. that
submissions advanced by various counsels
for the applicants are factually incorrect
and wrong. All the applicants are harden
and habitual offenders, involved in an
organized criminal activities posing serious
threat to the society. It has been contended
that :-

() The applicant Nishant @ Nishu in
addition to the cases shown in the gang
chart, he has got 15 other cases to his
credit, which is clear from his bail rejection
order. A person who is involved in 15+
cases, deserves no sympathy from the
Court.

(b) The applicant Amit too is involved
in two other cases, in addition to the cases
shown in his gang chart.

(c) Accused Kashish Srivastav, the
third applicant is involved in three other
cases in addition to the cases shown in his
gang chart. Thus in total the number of
cases swelled from four to seven cases.

(d) And at the end, the applicant
Naushad in all, there are EIGHT cases to
his credit, though the gang-chart has shown

only SIX cases.

[14] Indeed, in opinion of the Court, it
is a cabbalistic and mysterious situation
where the applicants at the stage of their
bail before this Court are taken by surprise
by the State. This is beyond the settled

tenets of fair play and equality. No accused
shall be taken by surprise. The Court is
failed to appreciate the alleged impediment
in preparing full and complete gang chart
of that bunch of alleged outlawed persons.
The prosecution has to stick upon the stand
taken by them from the day one.

[15] It is not the discretion of the
prosecution to add or substract the number of
cases from his gang chart according to their
sweet will and at the time of consideration of
their bail applications, serve out those cases
which are not in the chart. The Court is at loss
to appreciate this practice by the prosecution.
Learned A.G.A. too has failed to solve this
puzzle and lift the veil from this uncanny
situation. The Court records its deep anguish,
resentment to such type of hide and seek
practice by none other than the State
(Prosecutor) itself. The Court takes it like that,
the prosecutor are hiding the cards in their
sleeves so as to poison and bias the judicial
mind of the Court against the applicant and
succeeds in getting their bail applications
rejected showing and swelling the number of
cases against the applicant. This is explicitly a
malpractice on the part of the prosecution, who
instead of giving holistic view regarding
criminal antecedents of the concern person, has
given only a piecemeal and incomplete picture
in their respective gang chart. The Court does
not want to become a party to such type of
underhand dealing and short coming on the part
of prosecutor. After assessing the facts of the
case and the antecedents of accused persons,
this court is of the considered opinion that all
the applicants namely; (i)Amit, (ii)Kashish
Srivastav_and (iii)Naushad be released on
bail. The bail applications of above named
accused/applicants stands allowed.

[16] Let the applicants, Amit,
Kashish Srivastav and Naushad, who are
involved in the aforesaid sections of U.P.
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Gangsters Act, 1986 be released on bail on
their furnishing a personal bond and two
sureties each in the like amount to the
satisfaction of the court concerned subject
to following conditions. Further, before
issuing the release order, the sureties be
verified.

(i) THE APPLICANT SHALL FILE
AN UNDERTAKING TO THE EFFECT
THAT SHE SHALL NOT SEEK ANY
ADJOURNMENT ON THE DATE FIXED
FOR EVIDENCE WHEN THE
WITNESSES ARE PRESENT IN COURT.
IN CASE OF DEFAULT OF THIS
CONDITION, IT SHALL BE OPEN FOR
THE TRIAL COURT TO TREAT IT AS
ABUSE OF LIBERTY OF BAIL AND
PASS ORDERS IN ACCORDANCE
WITH LAW.

(i) THE APPLICANT SHALL
REMAIN PRESENT BEFORE THE
TRIAL COURT ON EACH DATE
FIXED, EITHER PERSONALLY OR
THROUGH HER COUNSEL. IN CASE
OF HER ABSENCE, WITHOUT
SUFFICIENT CAUSE, THE TRIAL
COURT MAY PROCEED AGAINST
HER UNDER SECTION 229-A IPC.

(i) IN CASE, THE APPLICANT
MISUSES THE LIBERTY OF BAIL
DURING TRIAL AND IN ORDER TO
SECURE HER PRESENCE
PROCLAMATION UNDER SECTION 82
CR.P.C., MAY BE ISSUED AND IF
APPLICANT FAILS TO APPEAR
BEFORE THE COURT ON THE DATE
FIXED IN SUCH PROCLAMATION,
THEN, THE TRIAL COURT SHALL
INITIATE PROCEEDINGS AGAINST
HER, IN ACCORDANCE WITH LAW,
UNDER SECTION 174-A IPC.

(iv) THE APPLICANT SHALL
REMAIN PRESENT, IN PERSON,
BEFORE THE TRIAL COURT ON

DATES FIXED FOR (1) OPENING OF
THE CASE, (2) FRAMING OF CHARGE
AND (3) RECORDING OF STATEMENT
UNDER SECTION 313 CR.P.C. IF IN
THE OPINION OF THE TRIAL COURT
ABSENCE OF THE APPLICANT IS
DELIBERATE OR WITHOUT
SUFFICIENT CAUSE, THEN IT SHALL
BE OPEN FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO
TREAT SUCH DEFAULT AS ABUSE OF
LIBERTY OF BAIL AND PROCEED
AGAINST HER IN ACCORDANCE

WITH LAW.
(v) THE TRIAL COURT MAY
MAKE ALL POSSIBLE

EFFORTS/ENDEAVOUR AND TRY TO
CONCLUDE THE TRIAL WITHIN A
PERIOD OF ONE YEAR AFTER THE
RELEASE OF THE APPLICANT.

In case of breach of any of the above
conditions, it shall be a ground for
cancellation of bail.

It is made clear that observations made
in granting bail to the applicant shall not in
any way affect the learned trial Judge in
forming his independent opinion based on
the testimony of the witnesses.

Since the bail application has been
decided under extra-ordinary circumstances
under prevailing COVID pandemic, thus in
the interest of justice following additional
conditions are being imposed just to
facilitate the applicant to be released on
bail forthwith. Needless to mention that
these additional conditions are imposed to
cope with emergent condition-:

1. The applicant shall be enlarged on
bail on execution of personal bond without
sureties till normal functioning of the
courts is restored. The accused will furnish
sureties to the satisfaction of the court
below within a month after normal
functioning of the courts are restored.
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2. The party shall file computer
generated copy of such order downloaded
from the official website of High Court
Allahabad.

3. The computer generated copy of
such order shall be self attested by the
counsel of the party concerned.

4. The concerned
Court/Authority/Official shall verify the
authenticity of such computerized copy of
the order from the official website of High
Court Allahabad and shall make a
declaration of such verification in writing.

[17] So far as the applicant
Nishant@Nishu is concerned, since there
are 15+ cases are shown in the bail
rejection order, this court cannot shut its
eyes having long criminal history. Thus
learned counsel for the applicant is
directed to file a supplementary affidavit
explaining the antecedents of applicant
Nishant @ Nishu after annexing relevant
bail orders/trial judgments and the stage
of the different trials, within four weeks.
Learned A.G.A. may also file counter
affidavit within same period with revised
gang chart with full details. List this bail
application of Nishant @ Nishu only in
the second week of July, 2021 before
appropriate Court for consideration of his
bail.

(1) Now the Court intends to decide
the second part of the issue :-

[18] After deciding the above
mentioned bail applications, the Court is
saddled with more important question of
law, which indeed is boggling to the Court,
that is to say, incomplete and half backed
gang-chart of individual accused by which
the accused/applicant takes out the benefit
from the same and gets easily bailed out.
The said gang-chart is prepared by concern
informant (mostly SHOs of the police

station), which was later on affirmed and
approved by higher police as well as
administrative authorities of the district
branding that individual as 'Gangster".

[19] The basic aim and objective of
Uttar Pradesh Gangsters and Anti Social
Activities (Prevention) Act, 1986, is to
make special provisions by giving sharp
teeth to the police to curb and cope with
"gangsters and their anti-social activities"”
and for matters connected therewith or
incidental thereto. The State legislature
brought into force the above mentioned
legislation on 15th January, 1986 with a
view to handle the menace of "Organized
Crime' in the State in more effective way.
The Act is exhaustive and defines
gangsterism and gangsters therein. Section
23 of the above Act, U.P. Act No. 7 of
1986 empowers the State Government may,
by notification make RULES for carrying
out the purposes and object of the
enactment in more uniform and definite
manner, ruling out any grain of
arbitrariness in the procedure.

[20] Learned counsels for the rival
parties are not at variance in informing the
Court that no RULES have been framed
even after lapse of 35 years of the said
enactment by the State Government giving
a ample space to the police authorities to
misuse the powers and harass innocents
according to their whims and capricious.
The Court has experienced that these police
authorities have fasten plural numbers of
proceedings under the aforesaid Act,
without waiting the final outcome from the
law courts with regard to the earlier
proceedings.

[21] Taking the advantage of this void
when there are no rules or procedure for the
present Act, only, an incomplete and half
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backed gang-charts were prepared by the
informants of different bail applications which
were later on mechanically approved by the
responsible higher police authorities of the
district, against that Gang. Accordingly, the
named accused are fasten with additional
criminal liability by way of lodging of the FIR
under the U.P. Gangsters Act, 1986. This Court
is of considered opinion that without being
tested in the cruciable of its trial before the
competent law court, it would not serve the
objective and purpose of present enactment
merely by adding the numbers of proceedings
under present Act or other ancillary enactments.

[22] As mentioned above, since the
features are in fluid stage, different benches of
this Court since 2003 while deciding various
proceedings, have cautioned the police and
executive time and again, that no case of false
implication shall recur either by any malpractice
or motivated prosecution by the police
authorities. In response to these directions of
this Court, Principal Secretary, Home and the
then D.G. Police vide his letter dated
24.10.2003 wrote following letter: -

Srolt gRY= Fa1—27 /2003

Fododio AR

JTS0T0TH0

i HeTaeld IR U<,

1,fcTpHaT, e |

f3AiPp— 3racas, 24, 2003

[ERIGHEUS

3090 A ruxel), ruRIfRNY, RIS <,
Y IATBR AR PR Alel AN, FETS
e feur wamml 7 Hoaw afmal )
FRI0T G deIT Sa] Afafaferal uR aiger
IR @ B IGa A Uow H Jo¥o IUS
=7 arferfa 1970 vd Sovo fRIE < ©d
et faREl far dama (frawmon)  arferfrs
1986 BT YTALN 2 |

g9 ofdfdl &1 SUA dad U
Ffdqdl & faog € 8 T sHdl gHUAT T 8,
sofery 39 v w® v i W fawga e
SR {5 T 2, T "o ST <RIy 9T $9
T @ el H B T Y6_vl 31 €, o

Jg W BT © b 39 ARl @1 gwudn
b & fog s grT o feen—fader o fa
T § ST Sfd

A0 ST AARTAT 4 Re afaer dear
6249 /2003 3T §d F9T9 00 ST U
gy H Soyo wATST faxiely fopar—wamy &fix
iRl g= AfIfm @& gHUTIT TR FuF=Tdl
wgq fear g den gy fader fear 8 f&
SRIFT BT HUANT HA arel ARTHIRTT W
Yy arefgue AT S Gdhdl & |

aqd:  SWIed g orfafyaEr @
fearaws & @ 7 fy=fafed
feem—fder O fFd ST R B | SITY Q1eREn
JauTas giafaa &, sl g8 ol gEd
foar wrar 2 fo afy wfesw & w1 v
JHRUT FE A ATar & frwd gg gdfid '@
fo 9 faden &1 Soofuq fear war 2 AT
YHROT B fITAVOr ¥ VAT Wee B8 fh
I D fH el R g1 SITqEIaR,
AaraRarel a1 Ffegef ameRvr & FRUT fH
fader wfeg @ fowg SwWied afafaaar «
=i PprdareEr @1 T ® oar qrey erefier
gfes sfHgl & sfaRed aus fawg HolR
SUSTH® HTAATE! &1 ST |

So%0 wH faRief fhar sag Ud fRis
T AT 1986 B I=ITa PRIATE—

1— Sovo fRIE w5 erffw wd e
e fopar warg (Fraron) sifdfaw 1986 @
=T BRIATE BRI B AU SoW0TeTEA B
YURARY |- 3216 /8—9—1986 faid 23
S, 1986, NINEIES] & 3352/
©-40—9—1997 f&Td 10 IfdcaR, 1997 ENRI
foega feem fader o fedr @ 2 | fosly o
RIS Ygfcd & o & [dwg PrIaATe! HI
A qd I8 giiea & 5 s=fua afa saq
sftrfgs & e drdarel Ry o @ forg
qE 2 |

2— & ff fiRle © fovg wrddae &=
3 fou S9e fowg ®Ia S8 AW @I
ot g wftafera @ @mfiy 54
el # gfem g™ fa9wr & S
IART—TF URT &1 S gabl 2 T TSI §IRT
R & SURI AMNGa B e fHar o
P &, SH oNMRIee faaver H wfwfera A
foaT < |

3— 9 9@l & MR 9 S0W0 AT
foRiely foor oy vd fRe 9w iffam &
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IR BRIAEl @ T T SW ™R WG
HRIAE 7 B SR i i ke & fOeg Sovo
AT R fhar deu vd fRE g i &
T PRIEE] BRI S I8 Pl 7T RMD P
TBT H AN WR & Sov0 AT fORE R pem &
I BRIATE! B S |

4— fF0 iRE & fog PO UR®T &
& foru amrmy gRT AR & oMuNifie faavor &t
Ieeig FRA Y AIC (R HAT SR Tor A B
JfaRRad fRE & Far el @1 faaror < gu o=
iRE & fFa-fra afdl & fIog dRAERT fdhar
SEI WA B, SHBl W Il B gY
ufides Uga fBar SRR ST &=1fEaNy qor TR
gferd srlles @ W W @ gie aRS o
3flercs / gforR areflerds Dl IR fham SIRATT |

5— dRw  gferd  efiere /gfors  areflerds
TR Y WR R IRE & 9al & SMuRIf®
faaxor e S fShar waral 1 il |y uRieTor
B SR AR & dref faarR—fawel axa
A BY AfaH wY UG BN |

6— Uladad T I AC W IRS gfer™d
Jefer / gferd srefietes vd RTeerdr & orgarad
P SURI STIH HrAAET B SRAT |

7— 39 AMRFEH & =i Usiigd wAmt
* fagar srffadd: a1 WY g§RT @ S
=MRY |

8— 39 AMIFIH & Sr=id Uoligd Afvmit
P fAdeT & F] IRO-UFA Wod q qd
TefErer & A=A u &R ofl SIREf |

9— fadamT & Ay F Ho SoardH =TT
P RO WNAT 99 SI0THO T Ud =g H UIRe
ol fasi 13 afia, 2002 @1 1 SrguTer BT
SR |

[23] Here, it is pertinent to mention
here that above letters were issued by the
D.G. Police and thereafter G.O. Dated
02.01.2004, pursuant to the direction given
by this Court while deciding Writ Petition
No. 6249/2003 Inre: Amar Nath Dubey Vs.
State of U.P.

[24] Noticing the above letter, and the
direction contained in the order of Division
Bench of this Court, Principal Secretary
(Homes) issued yet another set of
procedure/instruction mentioning therein
the manner in which gang chart in relation

to offences under the Gangsters Act has to
be prepared. These were all ad hoc
practices adopted by higher bureaucracy
just to make a stop gap arrangement and an
effort to plug the void, in place of formal
Rules as contemplated by Section 23 of the
Act. Clause 2 of these instructions would
indicate the details of information that has
to be contained therein. The said instruction
issued by Principal Secretary Homes, in the
shape of Government Order is extracted
herein below: -

“degr 137 90%0 / 6—90—11—2003—58

et ReReT),
SUe AR gferd  arefiets / gferd
IR G |

T (Gfem) -1 das e 2

ST 2004
ARGy,

arefierap,

A0 STd ORI, $ENlE & Rl Re
AIFYHT HEAT 6249 /2003 IFRATY Gd G F0Y0
T TG I H S0¥0 FRIEee d HHATSIERE)
fopaT Fema farer e & geuanT R R
[IT P 2| HO ST AT H So%0 FRIgE—<
ffarer - s Sodo  quer  af¥fE Ud

e gd # IR fd T ¥ weg T w8
2 f& g7 oiRfmdl &1 gewrT e & fon
WM /Gferd HETeerd, SoWo gRT W faem
fder 9N 5 T g, @ e A SruTa
e far <1 <@ B oMU weEd Bn f6 MRl g
R afdaal @& fOeg 391 sfafgHl @ eravfa
A M IRER &1 EUART Fo JRHERAT g’
P S & SR A U gfor 3T @1 sfa
W Gfrdpel T TS 2
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3 39 ARy | g FEfaiad faem e
f o =2 2, e ®erg & gt ghfeEa
[ERIRSIDE

1— IR A GIR, SFTEERI, TR gfers
sreflerep aRes gferd sreflers / gford sreflafs, vl
SUE vd RTefPer s afRftm § iy
WAL=l BT 31U oRb SOBl Jeil 9y 9=t
W | 39 Bg U8 WM o @ b SFue 'R W
Uh RIS ARSI BT ol S oad |l

FHl T A I R AR & SR
JWGHR BT IAHFE fPAr ST FHT T SA
RIS faaxvr # affafera 1 fdar Sy |

6— KT AWMl @ MR WX S0W0 HANS
el fear domu v FREs< sfRfas @
I BRAE @ T E, Sl MR WY
HRIGE T B SR | g fedl RE @ fowg
Sovo S fRIEN fohar weu ud fiRigsTe
arféﬁm?ﬁawfﬁaﬂﬂaﬁma%aﬁaﬁéw

JRFRAT & T oHUe b e IR
AVTRIT— BloeN Td UG Ao BT
g ) 3wy SuRed | afe faly ey
P Bl WR w39 R & faef wifdemw &
IR ¥ fHfl yeR B PSS AhT B A1 39
HTILTAT H ST RTHROT BT foram S |
2— g IfSfEl & we W e,
b & AHE H 59 AR & AYH A
faa feen fder smuer R o1 w B @uan
gIdT Bely A U giHAed Rl —
3090 fiREd—< ud 9ars fajiel fapam wotma

IS FI S 39 IRAEE & wfder @
gREr # &, wete H M WO S0W0 I
faRIE b Berta & i PRI B S |

7— 39 SIANEH & If=a Usiigd AR
B fagr Jf Rl SR o™ & TR gRT @l
ST @Ry |

8— 39 AMRFTH & =TI Yol SFART
P e & ac aRs gfery aeflers / gfe
JefleTs UM STgAIGT UK B’ $ ST 8l
TR Y= ~gRITerd Ui foram S |

- fREe= affw & omwfa gaoe

(Faren)  sRfem & w6 STEW
PR/ TRUAN A & e H e frde—

Goilapd B & SURI [AdadT & yeard IRmerd

AR T SR e B SR & & 9 AR

1— 39 IRFRE & I=Fd PRIARE! Bdd

gfer arefletsr / gfors arefletss oamy &1 well sifd

T AW & faeg & O, e muRifes
wfafafd g9 sy § o ) wifey= &1 aRRY
P T I = |

2— frell fiRiE & fowg AR URRT &R
% foq o g gRT ARIE & SoRiferes faamor
P Ieeld B Y dC TAR fHAT SRR qeI
7 9 AIfaRed fRE @ A ot &1 AR

Jqee 81 o =Ry b aved H AHen kg
Srfafag & aRfY & ardr 2 srerdr Ag |

10— Igt I8 N e fhar o © 5 afe
ot Sue # s afafam § Ry 1 wifdemt
B G F e iR e gRT euH
HIT Tl BT SUETT BRT 1qdT U IfTBR BT
TOWN BT Pl AHCT YHT H T g

W g @ ARE & 5 57 afldal & fawg

TR T TR U ST 9 T JIfPER &

HRIATE fHar STHT IRAIfAd 8, SHBT W ool
FRA Y AT WA B SRAA, ST SATReR
qAqT IR Yferd Siefieled B W | P qI
aRs  gferd  srEfes /gfors areflerd g @l
TR DI A |

3— IRs yferw  srEflerd /gferd  sreflerd
TR 309 WR R R & 9ew & TRIfS®
faaxor dom 9@ fhaT Hadl w1 well I
ReT & S ey & arer foer faqst
TR A A B AfTH T UGN BT |

4—%%6&1%%@%%
Jefletas / gfors sreflets UMl Ud Rt &
AR & SO IR FHrfarEl & SR |

5— fefl ff iRE & foog oRIaE &9 &
o Saa fowg daa S8 Al B ORI D
& # |fafera A @1y, e Ame 5 gfos
ERT oo @& SuRI=a IRIY 9 UR¥d fdHar o
a1 21 R amel § aifga Rad afya ar o

JA@r SEUe @ gk gfed  arefiers /gfe
Jrefletds g AT STRERIT A1 SIRIAT |

XXX XXXX XXX XXX XXXX XX
XXX

BIGIREENE

1— =9 -l & agurem ghleEa
IRE B HER SFUs b aRs gfo™
s1efieras / gfor sreflerss TMRY @Y 2 |

2— IR N SHue # g7 ol @
TEUANT B M &1 B AW TS H A,
ar foeel off TR R <t aifdaRat / wanRa wr
g BT YA T HA GR, R IW R0
PRI BY TORAT H AN & [Aeg BRI @
S |

3— 39 JEFREl & smwa I W
UTfAE=l &1 gEUART {5y S &1 afe Brg Jmer
o gIT WEl U™l O Al §REud o &
AT Qd 3 QI AR gferd Sl BT o
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I BT oA 9 G IR | Sl dRIdR SID
foeg SUSIcA® HRETE @ SR |

4— JIH e Rrenf¥er vd aRs gfes
JrefleTes / gford refletds, TMIRY STUAl AT TS
¥ g9 ey & Aegq ¥ oy o w fwn—fadw
@ T & Rl # off Jrgsravt fhar ¥ |

5— ¥ BT I8 We fhar orar § & e
3fordT gferd WEIeere SoU0 & |e ¥ Al BIg
VAT HHT 3faT & & fedl amel § g9 arfSfermt
F UM fFY 9F & SIFeR aks gfow
refieras / gfors a1eflerds UIRY T B9 @ ufdend +f
ffed uer &1 = 98 fRarn T rar
AR, FHAN & Ovg IIT HRARE! TE B
T8, A W AMdl H gRs gferd
3referds / gforst atefietes TR fRTFeR A1 SIRiT |

aady,
(e AR)

ugy
=T e foie qqd

gfcrfer—f=feifad @1 smawged  BRidre!
-

1— Gferd #EIQed, SoMo |

2— i HeTi+e e, SAHATST, S0o |

3— R Yferd FeTfaw®, A 4 A g 9,
3090 |

4— IR Yo AR, YeTdSl, 3090

| vd faid daq

gfafi—fr=feiRea @1 argures gfaa
PR B

1— HHXT HUS] SHATYd, 3090 |

2— AR Yo HeTRierd, SiE 300 |

3— WA IREE IUHETRIETd, S0M0 |

TS 9,

@ grTe)

IENLERSIEE]

[25] | have perused the above
Government communications in  this

regard. Its paragraph nos. 2,4,5 and 6 are
relevant for the present purpose. From this
communications, it is clear that for the
purposes of additional prosecution under
U.P. Gangsters Act, only with regard to

those cases against the individual, in which
charge-sheet has been submitted by the
police. Those cases which have ended into
acquittal or Final Report has been
submitted shall be discounted from the
gang chart. Para 3 of the above letter states,
that after clubbing all the previous criminal
cases/additional criminal case under the
present Act a gang chart may be prepared
by the police. Pending earlier proceeding
under the present Gangsters Act, if
subsequent or successive proceedings
under the present Act is proposed, then
earlier cases shall not be included in
succeeding gang chart. In para 4 of the
letter, the concern S.H.O. of the Police
Station is given responsibility to prepare
the gang-chart of the concern individual.
After the preparation said chart would be
produced before the C.O./Addl. S.P. for its
approval and thereafter, S.P./S.S.P. of the
District shall give final shape to the gang
chart. The concern S.P./S.S.P. would look
into the proposed gang chart and after due
modification (if at all is needed) give a
final shape to the said gang-chart. So far as
the successive prosecution under present
Act is concerned, as mentioned above,
while preparing the earlier gang chart, the
cases shown in it shall be discounted in the
second/successive gang chart.

TEST CASE :-

[26] At this juncture, this court
proposes to mention the facts of Criminal
Misc. Bail Application no 14323 of 2021
in re: Nishant @ Nishu Vs. State of U.P.
as a sample. Table hereinbelow is extracted
from his bail rejection order of the accused-
applicant shows that there are as many as
15 cases are shown to his credit, which
relates to the year 2018 and 2020. The list
shows that he or the gang was mostly
operational in different police stations of
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Muzzafarnagar and only one case at police
station Ranipur, Haridwar. In the year
2018, the police has instituted one case,
having case crime No0.1203 of 2018 u/s 2/3
U.P. Gangster Act at Police Station
Kotwali Nagar, Muzzafarnagar against
accused Nishant@Nishu with regard to
above case-crime, the applicant approached
this Court, seeking bail. In the years 2019,
bail order of Criminal Misc. Bail
application No.36841 of 2019 dated
18.09.2019 (annexure 16) shows that while
allowing the above bail application, this
Court has opined that gang chart in above
case has indicated only 5 cases to the credit
of applicant and that is why he has been
bailed out. However, in the rejection order
table of criminal cases of Nishant @ Nishu
spells out the long criminal history of the
applicant, is as follows :-

SI.No | Case Under Police
Crime | Sections | Station and

No. of I.LP.C. | District.

1. 846/18 | 392/411 | Kotwali
IPC Nagar,

Muzaffar

Nagar.

2. 872/18 | 307 IPC | Kotwali
Nagar,

Muzaffar

Nagar.

3. 873/18 | 25 Arms | Kotwali
Act. Nagar,

Muzaffar

Nagar.

4, 211/18 | 393 IPC | Chapaaz,
Muzaffar

Nagar.

5. 358/18 | 392 IPC | Shahpur,
Muzaffar

Nagar.
6. 258/18 | 307/427 | Manoorpur
IPC , Muzaffar

Nagar.

7. 611/18 | 392 IPC | Nai Mandi,
Muzaffar
Nagar
8 621/18 | 392 IPC | Nai Mandi,
Muzaffar
Nagar.
9, 437/18 | 302, Ranipur,
120B Haridwar.
IPC
10. 811/18 | 302 IPC | Kotwali
Nagar,
Muzaffar
Nagar.
11. 346/18 | 414 IPC | Civil
Lines,
Muzaffar
Nagar
12. 1203/1 | 2/3 of | Kotwali
8 U.P. Nagar,
Gangster | Muzaffar
s Act. Nagar.
13. 306/20 | 392/411 | Civil
IPC Lines,
Muzaffar
Nagar.
14, 433/20 | 2/3 U.P. | Civil
Gangster | Lines,
s Act. Muzaffar
Nagar.
15. 347/20 | 2/25 Civil
Arms Lines,
Act. Muzaffar
Nagar.

[27] Thus, from above it is clear that
there are two cases engaging U.P. Gangster
Act () Case Crime No. 1203 of 2018 u/s
2/3 U.P. Gangsters Act, Police Station
Kotwali Nagar, Muzzafarnagar; (II) Case
Crime No. 433 of 2020 u/s 2/3 of U.P.
Gangsters Act Police station Civil Lines,
Muzafarnagar (instant case). From the
records, it is born out, that in the earlier
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case gang chart of five cases were shown to
the credit of the applicant and that is why,
he has been bailed out by the bench of this
Court on 18.09.2019(Annexure-16). In
subsequent case, a gang chart showing only
one case ( Case Crime No. 306 of 2020 u/s
392/411 IPC Police Station Civil Lines,
Muzzafarnagar to the credit of the applicant
and thus, as mentioned above, learned
counsel for the applicant hammered his
submission, relying upon only one case.

[28] These short-comings are
sufficient to point out the alleged loopholes
in execution of above G.O. dated
24.10.2003 and the G.O. dated 02.01.2004.
Clubbing the number of cases of accused-
applicant of above two gang charts is
5+1=6 cases in all are to the credit of
applicant. Then, from where these numbers
were swelled to 15 cases which finds
mention in the bail rejection order? There is
no proper or satisfactory and explanation to
bridge this gap of 15 cases. Why all these
cases were not shown in one gang chart in
one go? Now, at the stage of bail, the state
in_order to poison the judicial mind and
prejudice the court are giving the details of
all these 15 cases. This is the precise
guestion for which this court is extremely
bothered and conscious. It is on the part of
the alleged laxity by the author of the gang
chart and thereafter a blind approval by the
higher administrative and police authorities
of the District, the harden accused persons,
succeeds in getting the bail from the law
court.

[29] As mentioned above, the
underline idea and objective of U.P.
Gangsters Act is to crub the menace of
organized crime with iron hands. The
provisions of the enactment is targeted
against that individual who either singly or
by way of a gang is in habit of committing

crime listed in sub section 2(b) of the Act.
He is dreaded criminal and an incurable
disease to the society. By applying the
provisions of present enactment, the
individual is not prosecuted or punished for
those offences which he has committed but
he is charged for being habitual, dreaded
and harden criminal who commits these
offences in much more planned and
organized way. It is highly risky to permit
such persons to roam around freely in the
open society and the innocent persons of
society remain on the tentacle hooks so
long as the said accused is a free man and
posing serious threat to the orderly society.
Thus, after applying the stringent
provisions of this Act, State has got right to
screw such persons, put them behind the
bars and attach their ill-gotten money.

[30] Now, reverting back to the facts
of the test case. As mentioned above, that
two different cases under Gangster Act
were fasten against the accused individual,
though from two different Police stations of
district Muzzafarnagar. In the Gang chart
of 2018, five cases were shown and in the
instant Gang Chart only one case to his
credit but, it is born out from rejection
order that he has got 15 cases on his back.
In the bail application, the applicant has
annexed 13 bail orders granted to him by
different law courts on different occasion
with his tacit addmission about his
involvement but the benevolent informants
of both these cases have shown 5+1 cases
only. The D.O. Letter of D.G.P. dated
23.10.2003 and G.O. 02.01.2004 indicates
that gang chart would indicate only those
cases where the charge sheet have been
submitted by the police. The said chart
would be prepared by concerned S.H.O. of
the Police Station and approved by C.O.
and, thereafter, S.P./S.S.P. of the concerned
district. There is a rider in the said
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Government communication that those
cases in which earlier gang chart was
prepared, shall be discounted in subsequent
gang chart. Both the proceedings under
U.P. Gangster Act is yet to see its final
verdict. As pointed out earlier, that both
these gang charts are incomplete and give
only partial picture of the facts of the case.
This would give rise to a room to the
S.H.O./Police Personnels to misuse their
power by initiating number of proceedings
under above Act time and again. This Court
is often experienced such type of lapses and
short falls in preparation of the gang chart
which contains bare skelton of the cases
and their respective numbers on which the
gang chart is prepared is in most casual
way and thereafter proceedings under U.P.
Gangsters Act were initiated by the State.

[31] In the instant case, from the gang
chart it is evident that the gang of which the
applicant is its active member is mostly
operating in district Muzzafarnagar. In the
age of internet, computers and other helpful
software etc. where information of entire
world is on one's finger tips with the
additional platforms in the shape of
D.C.R.B./S.C.R.B./N.C.R.B./C.C.T.N.S. its
operation is very convenient to prepare
one's gang chart in extensive way. The
callous and careless approach in preparing
the gang chart would not only adversely
affect the prospects of criminal prosecution
against that individual, who are harden
criminals but also the very object of the
enactment would also go haywire. The
accused would have an easy access of the
bails from the law courts. Usually, the
Court admits on bail either on solitary or
lesser number of cases against that accused
applicant in his gang chart. In the absence
of full and comprehensive information
regarding criminal credentials of the
individual, it creates extremely ackward

situation for the prosecutors even in the law
courts but also consume valuable time of
the courts while holding archeaological
exercise to explore one's criminal
antecedents. This is totally unacceptable
situation. The Court requires entire
"criminal horescope™ of the individual of
the past who has been charged under the
U.P. Gangsters Act .

[32] Such type of incomplete or half
backed gang charts is reflective of
informant's attitude and, his professional
incompetence. Any material lapse in
preparing the exhaustive gang chart should
be plugged at the earliest and not the stage
of bail. Presently, it seems that the
informant either does not want to prepare
the complete gang chart for any 'particular
reason' or 'motive’ or he has got lack of
information regarding antecedents of
particular individual and his modes-
operandi. It is true that there shall not be
repetition of case crime numbers as it may
attract the vice of double jeopardy, but
there is no restriction if any "addenda" is
added to the gang chart spelling out his
previous criminal antecedents. That would
be easy for the law courts to fathom the
depth and gravity of the individual seeking
bail after having holistic and
comprehensive picture of the criminal
history. The Court expects that the gang
chart must give a concrete information not
only the crimes committed by him in his
individual capacity but also as member of
that gang. Besides this, the area of
operation i.e. within the district or touching
the other districts or even gone beyond the
limits of the State. While considering the
bail application of that accused, the Courts
are also curious to know the stage of trial of
other cases in which that individual is
enjoying bail. The said gang chart must
indicate that as to whether he has misused
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his liberty of bail by indulging any other
offence after coming out of jail.

[33] The alleged gang is having any
expertise in committing any particular type
of offence or they are indulged in assorted
crimes, their family background, social and
financial status including his ill-gotten
properties and their reputation in the
locality where he normally resides. All
these are material particulars, helpful while
adjudicating the bail application and also
during the trial.

[34] Thus, in nutshell, the Court
completely discard the gang chart of
accused/applicant Nishant@Nishu with the
direction to the S.P. Muzaffar Nagar and
informant to re-cast the fresh gang chart,
mentioning above details in it, within four
weeks and produce them before the Court
on the next date in the second week of July,
2021 by way of supplementary affidavit.

[35] Principal Secretary(Homes)
Lucknow and the Director General of
Police, Lucknow are hereby directed to :-

1). Start exercise to frame proper
Rules of the present enactment pursuant to
the provisions contained in Section 27 of
the U.P. Act 7 of 1986 latest by 31st
December, 2021 positively.

2). Meanwhile, issue proper circular to
all the SSP/SPs of the District to appoint
any officer at least C.O. Rank, be placed in
the office of S.P. , either exclusively or
with additional charge to become authority
concern and author of gang chart of the
individual, under the U.P. Gangster Act,
1986 who shall act as Nodal Officer of all
the police stations within the District. The
alleged gang chart of individual shall be
elaborative, comprehensive on giving all
the necessary details of that accused viz (i)

name, sex, permanent address (ii) Number
of total cases to his credit either in his
individual capacity or as member of the
gang. (iii) If there are successive
prosecution under the U.P. Gangster Act,
then details of previous cases in the form of
"Addenda" (iv) Stage of trial of those cases
before the trial court. (v) Family
background, his social, financial status of
that accused including his ill-gotten wealth.
(vi) Whether he has misused the liberty of
bail granted to him earlier by the law courts
and have indulged in subsequent offences.
(vii) Area of operation of that gang within
the district alone or in the adjoining
districts or has gone beyond the limits of
State and lastly types of cases, meaning
thereby the gang is having expertise in
committing particular type of offence or
assorted crimes and lastly his general
reputation in the locality. The Court
requires a complete, extensive criminal
dossier of that individual, with above
mentioned particular.

[36] The S.P/S.S.P of the district after
making in depth probe and cross-check,
regarding authenticity of the gang chart
shall approve it after putting his signatures.
Any laxity by the authority concern in
preparing the gang chart would warrant
serious consequences on his own shoulders.

[37] The Special Judge(Gangster Act)
which are operational in every Sessions
Divisions in the State are also directed to
speed up the trial and make all necessary
endeavour to conclude the same within a
year of submission of its charge sheet. The
proceeding under the U.P. Gangster Act
shall be given priority over any other trial.

[38] Normally, the Court shuns and
avoid to give any advice to the State
agency for the initiation of successive
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proceedings under the U.P. Gangster Act. It
may suffer from the vice of double
jeopardy, but in a given and changed
circumstances, they may lodge subsequent
FIR under the aforesaid Act of 1986.

[39] The Court expects that concern
responsible authorities would take the
matter on highest priority and frame the
rules as expected within time frame.

[40] Let the copy of this order be
handed over to learned Registrar General,
High Court of Judicature at Allahabad who
shall transmit its copies to Principal
Secretary(Homes), Director General of
Police, Lucknow, all the S.P/S.S.Ps of the
District as well as learned Sessions Judge
of every Sessions Division to ensure its
compliance in letter and spirit within time
bound period. All the pending gang chart
shall be amended accordingly.

(2021)06ILR A32
APPELLATE JURISDICTION
CRIMINAL SIDE
DATED: ALLAHABAD 09.06.2021

BEFORE

THE HON'BLE SHAMIM AHMED, J.
Crl. Misc. Bail Application No. 16767 of 2021
Rinkaj Yadav ...Applicant
Versus
State of U.P. ...Opp. Party
Counsel for the Applicant:

Sri Ramesh Kumar Shukla, Sri Rohit Nandan
Shukla

Counsel for the Opp. Party:
A.G.A.

(a) Bail - In view of the nature of evidence, the
period of detention already undergone, the
unlikelihood of early conclusion of trial and also

the absence of any convincing material to
indicate the possibility of tampering with the
evidence, the applicant may be enlarged on bail.
(Para 8)

Application Allowed. (E-8)

List of Cases cited:-

1. Dataram Singh Vs St. of U.P. & anr. (2018) 3
SCC 22

(Delivered by Hon’ble Shamim Ahmed, J.)

1. Heard learned counsel for the applicant
as well as learned A.G.A. appearing for the
State and perused the record.

2. This application has been filed seeking
the release of the applicant on bail in Case
Crime No. 19 of 2021, under Section 3(1) of
U.P. Gangster and Anti Social Activities
(Prevention) Act, 1986, Police Station Ahraula,
District Azamgarh.

3. The chief plank of the submissions
made on behalf of accused is that in all cases
which have been made the basis to impose the
provisions of Gangster Act against the accused,
he has already been granted bail by the Court.
Contention is that the provisions of the Act
have been ill-used by the Police in order to
perpetuate the detention of the applicant in jail
anyhow even though the offence under the
aforesaid Act is not made out. Submission is
that the applicant is not a gangster and has never
acted or conducted himself as such. Counsel for
the applicant has also tried to demonstrate that
the alleged previous offences which are said to
have been committed by the applicant can at the
most be said to be stray incident of breach of
law having no nexus with the definition of a
gangster as has been provided in the Act.

4. Further submission is that as it has
been mentioned in paragraph 4 of the
affidavit filed in support of the bail
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application that the applicant has already
been released on bail in Case Crime No.
184 of 2020 on the basis of which the
provisions of the Act were imposed, it shall
not be much justified to continue the
incarceration of the applicant. Submission
is also that the applicant is not guilty of
having committed any offence under the
Gangster Act. It has also been pointed out
that the accused is in jail since 08.01.2021
and that in the wake of heavy pendency of
cases in the Court, there is no likelihood of
any early conclusion of trial.

5. Learned A.G.A. has opposed the
prayer for bail but could not dispute the
fact of applicant having been released on
bail in all the criminal cases which have
been shown to be the basis of imposing the
provisions of the Act.

6. After perusing the record in the
light of the submissions made at the bar
and after taking an overall view of all the
facts and circumstances of this case, the
nature of evidence, the period of
detention  already  undergone, the
unlikelihood of early conclusion of trial
and also in the absence of any convincing
material to indicate the possibility of
tampering with the evidence and larger
mandate of the Article 21 of the
Constitution of India and the law laid
down by the Hon'ble Apex Court in the
case of Dataram Singh vs. State of UP
and another, (2018) 3 SCC 22, this Court
is of the view that the applicant may be
enlarged on bail.

7. Let the applicant- Rinkaj Yadav,
involved in Case Crime No. 19 of 2021,
under Section 3(1) of U.P. Gangster and
Anti Social Activities (Prevention) Act,
1986, Police Station Ahraula, District
Azamgarh, be released on bail on his

executing a personal bond and two
sureties each in the like amount to the
satisfaction of the court concerned on the
following conditions :-

(1) The applicant will not make any
attempt to tamper with the prosecution
evidence in any manner whatsoever.

(2) The applicant will personally
appear on each and every date fixed in
the court below and his personal presence
shall not be exempted unless the court
itself deems it fit to do so in the interest
of justice.

(3) The applicant shall cooperate in
the trial sincerely without seeking any
adjournment.

(4) The applicant shall not indulge in
any criminal activity or commission of any
crime after being released on bail.

(5)The party shall file computer
generated copy of such order downloaded
from the official website of High Court
Allahabad or certified copy issued from the
Registry of the High Court, Allahabad.

(6) The concerned Court /Authority
/Official shall verify the authenticity of such
computerized copy of the order from the
official website of High Court Allahabad
and shall make a declaration of such
verification in writing

8. It may be observed that in the
event of any breach of the aforesaid
conditions, the court below shall be at
liberty to proceed for the cancellation of
applicant's bail.

9. ltis clarified that the observations,
if any, made in this order are strictly
confined to the disposal of the bail
application and must not be construed to
have any reflection on the ultimate merits
of the case.
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BEFORE

THE HON'BLE BACHCHOO LAL, J.
THE HON'BLE SANJAY KUMAR PACHORI, J.
Criminal Appeal No. 100 of 2014
Jakir Ali & Anr. ..Appellants
Versus
State of U.P. ...Opp. Party
Counsel for the Appellants:

Sri Rashtrapati Khare, Sri Dharmendra Kumar
Singh, Sri Y.C. Yadav

Counsel for the Opp. Party:
A.G.A., Sri Anirudh Upadhyay

(A) Criminal Law - Indian Penal Code,
1860 - Section 302 read with Section 34 -
Code of Criminal Procedure, 1973 -
Section 161, 162 (2), Section 313 - Indian
Evidence Act, 1872 - Section 32(1) -
Conviction - Dying declaration - Illicit
relations - Burn injury - Where the dying
declaration is found truthful and
voluntary, it is not necessary to
corroborate the dying declaration by any
other evidence. (Para - 16)

Appellants together set fire to deceased by
sprinkling kerosene oil, her neck was also tied
by a rope - 80% of burn injury - guilty for
offence punishable under Section 302 read with
Section 34 I.P.C. . - Conviction and sentence
awarded to the appellants by trial court.

HELD:- The trial court rightly found the dying
declaration , truthful and trustworthy and the
circumstances surrounding the dying declaration
are clear and convincing, it can be acted upon
without corroboration to hold the prosecution
successfully proved the charge under Section
302 read with Section 34 I.P.C. against the
appellants . The findings of the trial court are
based on proper appreciation of the evidence.
The injuries on the body of the deceased fully

support the prosecution case. Trial court did not
commit any error in convicting the
appellants.(Para — 102)

Criminal Appeal dismissed. (E-6)
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1. This appeal has been preferred by
appellants, namely Jakir Ali, Kutti @
Alimunnisha against the judgment and order
passed by Additional Sessions Judge, Court
No. 1 Sidharthnagar, respectively on
11.12.2013 and 12.12.2013 in Sessions Trial
No. 182 of 2011 arising out of case Crime
No. 444 of 2011, police station Golhaura,
District ~ Sidharthnagar, ~ whereby  the

appellants have been convicted under section
302 read with section 34 Indian Penal Code
(in short "I.P.C.") and sentenced to undergo
imprisonment for life and a fine of Rs.
10,000/- each with default sentence of two
months.

PROSECUTION CASE

2. The prosecution case in brief as per
first information reportl (Ex.Ka.-5), which
was lodged on 17.7.2011 at 4:30 a.m. at PS
Golhaura, District Sidharthnagar by Mohd.
Umar (PW-1) is that his sister Zahida
(deceased) was married to Jakir in the year
1992, and out of this wedlock, 6 children
were born. Her eldest daughter is about 15-16
years old. About three months prior to the
incident, Jakir had kept Kutti as his wife.
Jakir used to beat Zahida when she protested
about his illicit relations. On the intervening
night of 16/17.7.2011, Jakir and Kutti
together set fire to Zahida by sprinkling
kerosene oil, her neck was also tied by a rope.
Anwar Ali (not examined) and Mohd. Salim
(PW-2) and many other people had come on
the spot upon hearing the cries of his sister
and after saving her, informed him about the
incident. He took Zahida to Etwa Hospital
with the help of the other villagers, then she
was referred to  District  Hospital
Siddharthnagar for treatment, his sister was
undergoing treatment.

3. The informant (PW-1) on receiving
information, reached on the spot and
brought the injured to C.H.C2. Etwa, for
treatment at 2:00 a.m. on 16/17.7.2011. Dr.
V. K. Vaid (PW-4) examined the injured
and prepared a medical report (Ex.Ka.-4).
He found two injuries on her body, first; a
ligature mark all around on the neck,
second; superficial to deep burn wound was
present on the whole of the back, both
thighs, right leg, both upper arms and
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forearms, both hands, and some part of the
chest, the upper part of the abdomen, 80%
of burn injury. A smell of kerosene oil was
present on her body. He informed the
police and after giving first aid, referred the
injured to the District  Hospital
Siddharthanagar for further treatment,
wherein a dying declaration of injured Smt.
Zahida was recorded by Guru Saran Lal
(PW-T7), Executive Magistrate/Naib
Tehsildar, between 1:50 p.m. to 2:00 p.m.
on 17.7.2011 in the presence of Emergency
Medical Officer3 (not examined).

4. The FIR dated 17.7.2011 (Ex.Ka-5)
was registered as case Crime no. 444 of
2011 under section 307 I.P.C. against the
appellants at PS Golhaura, District
Sidharthnagar at 16:30 hours by CP-233
Ram Sumer Yadav (PW-5), on the basis of
a written complaint (Ex.Ka-1) of Mohd.
Umar (PW-1). The distance between the
place of occurrence and the Police Station
is about 12 Km.

5. On 18.7.2011, S.I. Satanand
Panday (PW-8/investigating  officer4)
arrested the appellant Jakir Ali, and on
19.7.2011, after inspecting the place of the
occurrence, as pointed out by the informant
(PW-1) and his relatives, he prepared a site
map (Ex.Ka-10) of the place of the
incident. He also recovered an empty bottle
of kerosene oil, burnt clothes of the injured
Smt. Zahida on 19.7.2011 and prepared a
seizure memo (Ex.Ka-16).

6. The proceeding of the inquest
was conducted at 1:30 p.m. on 23.7.2011
by S.I. Bhawani Prasad Upadhyay (not
examined) on the basis of information of
death received through ward boy
Surendra Gaur (not examined) at PS-
Kotwali Nagar, District Sidharthnagar,
which had been endorsed at G.D. Report

no. 20 time 11.20 a.m. on 23.7.2011, at
the Mortuary of District Hospital
Sidharthnagar, an inquest report (Ex.Ka-
3) was prepared. S.I. Bhawani Prasad
Upadhyay also prepared other police
papers (Ex.Ka-12 to Ex.Ka-15) for
getting conducted a post-mortem of the
body of the deceased.

7. PW-6 Dr. R.K. Verma conducted
the post-mortem examination of the body
of the deceased on 23.7.2013 at 3:30 p.m.
The post-mortem report (Ex.Ka.-8)
disclosed the presence of the following
ante-mortem injuries on the corpse of
Smt. Zahida (aged about 38 years). These
are as under:

A- Superficial to deep burn grade |
and Il injuries present on whole back,
below the chest whole abdomen, whole
right lower limb from thigh to foot sole,
whole left limb (front and back) above
knee total burn injury is 60%.

B- Puss was present here and there.

C- Redness in the shape of lines is
present.

The doctor opined that he conducted
the post-mortem of the dead body of Smt.
Zahida Khatoon, which was brought in a
very critical condition. The deceased was
a simple height saddle, aged about 38
years, her mouth and eyes were half-
opened, rigor mortis was present on all
four limbs. The right chamber of heart
was full and the left chamber was empty,
100 gms undigested food was found in
the abdomen, the cause of death was
septicemia and shock, which was caused
due to burning and infection.

8. During the treatment, Zahida died
on 23.7.2011 due to the burn injuries
received in the incident. On 24.7.2011,
after receiving the written information
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(Ex.Ka.-2) of the death of Smt. Zahida by
the informant (PW-1), Section 302 I.P.C
was added.

9. On 27.7.2011, during the
investigation, PW-8 S.I. Satanand Pandey
received the medical report of the deceased
and information regarding the surrender of
appellant Kutti @ Alimunnisha before the
court.  After  completion of the
investigation, he submitted a charge sheet
(Ex.Ka-11) against the appellants under
Sections 302 I.P.C. on 10.8.2011. The court
took cognizance of the same. On
committal, the trial court framed charges
against the appellants under Sections 302
read with Section 34 1.P.C. The appellants
denied the charges and claimed trial.

10. To prove the charges against the
appellants, the prosecution examined as
many as 8 witnesses. PW-1 Mohd. Umar,
informant/brother of the deceased, who had
arrived on the spot after receiving the
information of the incident through mobile
call and took the injured Zahida to C.H.C.
Etwa; PW-2 Mohd. Salim, neighbour of the
deceased who had reached the place of
occurrence immediately after hearing the
cries of the injured; PW-3 Amirullah,
witness of the inquest report; PW-4 Dr. V.
K. Vaid, who examined the injured Zahida
on 17.7.2011 at 2:00 a.m.; PW-5 CP 233
Ram Sumer Yadav (scribe); PW-6 Dr. R.
K. Verma, who conducted the post-
mortem; PW-7 Guru Saran Lal, Executive
Magistrate/Naib Tehsildar, who recorded
the dying declaration of the deceased and
PW-8 S.I. Satanand Pandey (I.0.) to prove
the exhibited documents. The inquest
report (Ex.Ka.-3) and other police papers
(Ex.Ka-12 to Ex.Ka-15) were prepared by
S.1. Bhawani Prasad Upadhyay, which have
been proved by PW-8 S.1. Satanand Pandey
as secondary evidence.

11. After taking the evidence of the
prosecution witnesses, as per the Section
313 of Code of Criminal Procedure, 1973
(in short 'Cr. PC.) the appellants were
questioned about the evidence led against
them by the prosecution, wherein they
denied the incriminating evidence put to
them and stated that they had been falsely
implicated on account of enmity. The
appellant Jakir Ali stated that he got
married to Kutti after the consent of Zahida
and before the incident, he had transferred
his share of the ancestral property to the
children of Zahida. The appellant Kutti
stated that on Zahida's consent, she used to
live with Jakir and due to this reason, she
had been implicated in this case. The
appellants examined DW-1 Juber Ali (son
of the deceased) in their defence.

12. Before the trial court, the
appellants argued that PW-4 Dr. V. K. Vaid
examined the injured as accidental injury
and endorsed in ‘Accidental Register’
because the deceased had received the
injuries in an accident; the FIR has been
lodged after a 16 hours' unexplained delay;
the dying declaration was not recorded in
question-answer form and words spoken by
the deceased, and the doctor, who was
present at the time of recording the dying
declaration, had not been examined;
children of the deceased, who were
sleeping on the adjacent cot to the
deceased, had not been examined.

FINDINGS OF THE TRIAL
COURT

13. The trial court found that PW-2
Mohd. Salim witnessed the incident
because he reached the spot immediately
after hearing the hue and cry. He saw
accused persons Jakir and Kutti running
away from the place of the incident after
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the occurrence and Zahida told him that
Jakir and Kutti set her to fire after tying her
neck with a rope, set her on fire by
sprinkling kerosene oil on her body. The
medical report also corroborates the
prosecution case.

14. The trial court observed that though
there is a discrepancy between the medical
report and the post-mortem report of the
deceased about the presence of a ligature
mark over the neck of the deceased, there is a
possibility that after 7 days of her treatment,
ligature mark would have faded on the neck
of the deceased.

15. The trial court further found that the
smell of kerosene oil was present on the body
of the injured Zahida during her medical
examination, immediately after the incident
and a bottle of kerosene oil was recovered
from the spot. This is an admitted fact that,
before the occurrence, there was a dispute
between Jakir and the deceased, due to Jakir's
illicit relation with Kutti.

16. The trial court further found that the
credibility of the dying declaration is not
affected by not examining the doctor, who
was present at the time of recording the dying
declaration of the deceased, as a witness
because PW-7 Gur Saran Lal stated that the
doctor was present at the time of recording
the statement of the deceased. It is settled by
the Apex Court that where the dying
declaration is found truthful and voluntary, it
is not necessary to corroborate the dying
declaration by any other evidence. The trial
court concluded that the prosecution
successfully proved the charges against the
appellants under Section 302 read with
Section 34 1.P.C., on the basis of the dying
declaration beyond reasonable doubt and
thereby convicted and sentenced the
appellants as above.

17. Being aggrieved by the trial
court's judgment and order, the appellants
have preferred this appeal.

SUBMISSIONS BEFORE THIS
COURT

18. We have heard Sri Dharmendra
Kumar Singh, learned counsel for the
appellants; Sri  Ratan Singh, learned
A.G.A., for the State; and Sri Anirudh
Upadhyay, learned counsel for the
informant and have perused the record.

19. Learned counsel for the appellants
vehemently urged that Firstly; the dying
declaration of the deceased was a result of
tutoring and prompting because of PW-1
Mohd. Umar and his two other sisters were
present in the hospital before recording the
dying declaration. It is submitted that the
possibility of tutoring the injured Zahida so
as to make statement against the appellants
cannot be ruled out. The dying declaration
was not free, truthful and voluntary.
Secondly; the prosecution failed to prove
that the injured was in a fit state of mind
and condition at the time of recording the
dying declaration because the doctor, who
gave the certificate about the fit condition
of the deceased, has not been examined and
even PW-7 Guru Saran Lal had not asked
any guestion to the injured whether she was
in a fit state of mind and having a good
mental condition. The credibility of the
dying declaration is affected because it was
not recorded in a question-answer form and
in the word spoken by the deceased.
Thirdly; there are inconsistencies between
the oral statements of the deceased as stated
to PW-1 Mohd. Umar, PW-2 Mohd. Salim
and PW-8 S.I. Satanand Pandey (1.0.)
purported oral dying declarations, one hand
and written dying declaration of the
deceased recorded by PW-7 Guru Saran
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Lal, on the other hand; the first set
attributed the active role to both the
appellants in the incident, whereas, as per
the written dying declaration, the active
role has been assigned only to the appellant
Jakir Ali. Fourthly; Zahida received burn
injuries in an accident because PW-1
Mohd. Umar told Dr. V.K. Vaid (PW-4) at
2:00 a.m., and for this reason, the medical
report (Ex.Ka.-4) had been endorsed in the
'‘Accidental Register' and not in the
'Medico-Legal Register'. At the time of the
medical examination, injured Zahida was
conscious, crying and having the
opportunity to tell the doctor about the
incident but she did not give any statement.
Fifthly; PW-1 lodged the FIR after 15
hours of an unexplained and unreasoned
delay. The appellants have been falsely
implicated due to the enmity of the second
marriage of the appellant no. 1 Jakir Ali.
Sixthly; The dying declaration has been
appreciated by the learned trial court
without any corroboration, therefore, the
prosecution has failed to prove the case
against the appellants beyond all reasonable
doubts. Hence, the impugned judgment and
order are liable to be set aside.

20. Per Contra; learned A.G.A.
submitted that PW-7 Guru Saran Lal,
Executive  Magistrate/Naib  Tehsildar
recorded the dying declaration of the
deceased in presence of a doctor after
obtaining a certificate with regard to the fit
state of mind and condition of the
deceased. There is no inconsistency
between the oral dying declarations and the
written dying declaration of the deceased.
Both the appellants carried out the incident
in a planned manner when the deceased
was sleeping with her two young children
on the roof of the house. To stop the
deceased from making a noise, her neck
was tied with a rope, then kerosene oil was

poured over her body, burnt her while she
was asleep and the appellants fled away.
PW-2 Mohd. Salim as neighbour and an
independent witness, who reached at the
spot within a minute of the incident, saw
the appellants running away from the spot.
Learned trial court has rightly held the
appellants guilty; the findings recorded by
the trial court are on appreciation of the
evidence, which is neither perverse nor
contrary to the evidence on record; the
charges levelled against the appellants had
been proved beyond reasonable doubts.
Thus, their conviction and sentence do not
warrant any interference. The judgment and
order of the trial court is liable to be
affirmed. A prayer was, therefore, made to
dismiss the appeal.

21. Learned counsel for the informant
Sri Anirudh Upadhyay adopted the
submissions made by learned A.G.A.

ANALYSIS OF
PROSECUTION EVIDENCE:

THE

22. Before we proceed to consider the
respective submissions, it would be
appropriate to notice the arguments on
behalf of the appellants in detail. The
appellants' arguments are: Firstly; the
deceased received injuries in an accident,
after concealing this fact, the FIR has been
lodged after recording the dying declaration
with consultation and deliberation after
about 15 hours an unexplained delay of the
incident by PW-1 Mohd. Umar, which
emerges from the following circumstances:

(a) Medical report (Ex.Ka.-4) of the
injured was endorsed in the accidental
register by PW-4 Dr. V.K. Vaid, on the
instance of PW-1 Mohd. Umar, who
brought the injured for treatment at C.H.C.
Etwa at 2:00 a.m. on 17.7.2011 and PW-4
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Dr. V. K. Vaid examined the injured. At
that time the injured was conscious and
crying, but deceased did not tell anything to
the doctor (PW-4) regarding the incident.

(b) The theory of strangulation is
failed because as per medical report
(Ex.Ka.-4) injury No. 1 is found as a
ligature mark around the neck of the
deceased but this ligature mark was not
found at the time of the post-mortem.

(c) Two children Rehana (aged about
18 years) and Babbu (aged about 14 years),
who were sleeping adjacent to the deceased
on another cot and saved the deceased after
the incident, were not questioned by the
investigating officer and have also not been
examined by the prosecution.

(d) The mattress on which the injured
was sleeping at the time of the incident and
rope by which it was alleged that the
appellant Jakir had tied the neck of the
deceased, were not recovered during the
investigation.

(e) The FIR of the instant case was
registered at 16:30 hours on 17.7.2011; The
investigating officer PW-8 inspected the
spot on 19.7.2011 and recovered a bottle of
kerosene oil from the spot, the investigation
of the present case was not started
promptly, and incriminating articles were
recovered on the third day of the incident,
alleged recovery loses its importance on
account of the delay.

Secondly; there is a discrepancy with
regard to the involvement of the appellant
Kutti in the incident between the oral
statements of the injured as told to PW-1
Mohd. Umar, PW-2 Mohd. Salim and PW-
8 S.I. Satanand Pandey (1.0.) on one hand
and dying declaration (Ex.Ka.-7) recorded
by PW-7 Guru Saran Lal, on the other
hand. In support thereof, it has been
pointed out that:

(@ PW-1 Mohd. Umar and PW-2
Mohd. Salim have attributed the active role
to both the appellants Jakir Ali and Kutti in
the incident as they stated that Jakir and
Kutti together set fire to Zahida by
sprinkling kerosene oil on her body and her
neck was also tied by a rope; whereas, as
per the dying declaration (Ex.Ka.-7), the
appellant Kutti has not attributed any role
in the incident. According to the dying
declaration, her husband came to the roof
and poured kerosene oil on her body, after
which he tried to kill her by tying a rope
around her neck, then he lit a matchstick
and set fire on her clothes.

Thirdly; The injured was not in a fit
state of mind and condition at the time of
recording the dying declaration recorded by
PW-7 Gur Saran Lal because:

(@ The doctor, who gave the
certificate about the fit condition of the
deceased at the time of recording the dying
declaration was not examined,

(b) PW-7 Guru Saran Lal did not ask
any question to the injured at the time of
recording her statement as to whether she
was in a fit state of mind and had a good
mental condition.

Fourthly; The dying declaration was a
result of tutoring, prompting and
imagination and was not free, truthful and
voluntary. The credibility of the dying
declaration is affected because:

(@ The dying declaration was
recorded after a delay of 12 hours to the
incident.

(b) The dying declaration was not
recorded in question-answer form and the
word spoken by the deceased.

(c) The informant and his two other
sisters were already present in the hospital
on 17.7.2011 with the injured before
recording the dying declaration.
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23. Before we proceed to dwell upon
the merit of the contentions raised before
us, it will be apposite to have close scrutiny
of the entire ocular evidence, which is as
follows:-

24. PW-1 Mohd. Umar (aged about
46 years) stated in his examination-in-chief
that Zahida was his real sister, she was
married to Zakir in 1992, out of this
wedlock 6 children were born. About three
months ago, Jakir had kept Kutti as his
wife. Whenever his sister protested, Jakir
used to beat Zahida. For this reason, on
yesterday night 16/17.7.2011, both Jakir
and Kutti together tried to kill her by tying
a rope around Zahida's neck, then setting
her ablazed by pouring kerosene oil. Many
people had witnessed the incident and
informed him about the same. On getting
the information, he reached the spot and
saw his sister excessively burnt. He took

Zahida to Etwa Hospital then to
Siddarthanagar Hospital for treatment.
During the treatment, the Magistrate

recorded Zahida's statement. Zahida died in
the hospital.

25. PW-1 further stated in his
statement-in-chief that before this incident,
Jakir had threatened several times to Kill his
sister. On 7.6.2011 and 14.7.2011, Zahida
gave information to the police about the
danger to her life. Even 10 days before the
incident in question, Jakir had beaten
Zahida, her father-in-law had informed the
police on 25.6.2011 about the incident. In
this regard, a written compromise was
prepared. His sister had given all the
documents to him before her death.

26. PW-1 Mohd. Umar in his cross-
examination stated that his village is 1 Km
away from village-Bahuti. The call for
information about the incident was received

by his wife so he could not tell as to who
had informed him about the incident. This
information was received at night, it is not
known at what time the information was
received. He reached the spot at night.
Abdul Mannan went with him. When he
reached the spot, the whole village was
gathered. At that time, his sister was
standing in the verandah (Oasara), people
were supporting her. He did not ask his
sister about the burning and neither did
anyone tell him. Zahida had told him about
her burning, this fact has not been written
in the report. He had told the investigating
officer, if it is not written in his statement,
he cannot disclose the reason.

27. He further stated in his cross-
examination that he first took Zahida by car
to Etwa Hospital, she was crying and
cursing. She stayed in the Etwa Hospital
for about an hour and was then referred to
district  hospital ~ Siddharthnagar  for
treatment. He reached the district hospital
along with the injured early in the morning.
During her admission to the district
hospital, he stayed there, sometimes, he
used to go to home. He does not remember
after how many days, he left the hospital
for the first time. On the day, his sister was
admitted to the hospital, he had also gone
to the police station leaving Zahida under
the supervision of his two other sisters.

28. PW-1 stated further in his cross-
examination that the eldest daughter of his
sister is sixteen years old and the youngest
child must be five years old. He could not
see the children at the place of the
occurrence because there were many
people present. At that time, he did not find
the children.

29. The following suggestions have
been asked from this witness.
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It is wrong to say that there was no
love affair between Jakir and Kutti. It is
wrong to say that he had told the doctor
that his sister was accidentally burnt. It is
wrong to say that Zahida is accidentally
burnt. It is wrong to say that for this reason,
the report was written late. It is wrong to
say that he wants to marry his son to the
daughter of Jakir and he had attempted
many times. It is wrong to say that he and
his two sisters had put pressure on Zahida,
saying that if she does not give statements
according to them, they would not provide
treatment to her. It is wrong to say that
because of the above reasons, he and his
two sisters had pressurized Zahida for
giving a false statement. It is wrong to say
that no application has been given before
the incident.

30. It is noteworthy that on behalf of
the appellants, no question was put to the
witness about how the accident took place.
This fact is not disputed that the deceased
told the witness about the incident. No
suggestion was asked about the oral dying
declaration made by the deceased to this
witness. These facts that Jakir had beaten
Zahida 10 days before the incident, and he
had threatened several times to kill Zahida,
are also not disputed. It is significant that
without disputing the fact of tutoring by
PW-1, the suggestion of tutoring to the
deceased was asked to the witness. On
behalf of the appellants, neither the time of
the incident was disputed nor any
suggestion on this fact was made. There is
no dispute regarding the source of light to
identify the appellants at the time of the
incident by the deceased.

It is noticeable that the appellants did
not contradict the fact that the deceased had
told PW-1 about her burning, whereas PW-
8 S.I. Satanand Pandey (I.0.) stated that

PW-1 Mohd. Umar told him about the
deceased's oral statement regarding the
incident.

31. PW-2 Mohd. Salim (aged about
33 years) stated in his statement-in-chief
that Kutti is the daughter of Hussaini of the
village, Jakir had an illicit relation with
Kutti. Zahida was unhappy about this and
for this reason, he used to beat her up.
Panchayat was also held regarding their
illicit relation.

32. PW-2 Mohd. Salim stated further
in his examination-in-chief that the incident
took place at midnight, about one and half
years ago. At that time he was lying on his
roof. After hearing the cries of Zahida, he
rushed to the spot, and at that time, other
people were also present there. He saw
Jakir and Kutti running away. Zahida was
burning, he pulled the burning clothes of
Zahida and covered her body with a
bedsheet. At that time, Zahida told him that
Jakir and Kutti tied a rope around her neck
and poured kerosene oil on her, and set her
ablaze. He informed Zahida's brother about
the incident from his mobile.

33. PW-2 Mohd. Salim in his cross-
examination stated that Jakir used to live
with Kutti, in Kutti's house, which is
situated outskirts of the village, about five
hundred steps away from Jakir's house.
There was a dispute between Jakir and
Zahida due to his illicit relation with Kutti,
which had been going on for five to six
years. Zahida was living in Jakir's house
and her father-in-law was maintaining her
house.

34. PW-2 Mohd. Salim in his cross-
examination further stated that the place of
incident is ten steps away from his house,
there is no other house situated between his
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house and the place of incident. It would
have taken him about half a minute to reach
on the spot after hearing the cries. He was
not aware whether the main door of
Zahida's house was open or not at that time.
Zahida was sleeping on the roof of a two-
storeyed house. When she was coming
downstairs and only two steps were left to
come down, the fire was visible on her
body. He put a bedsheet over her. Zahida's
hands and feet were burnt. He was not
aware as to what other parts of her body
had been burnt. The mattress on which, she
slept was burnt. Zahida's brother reached
the spot within ten minutes after the
incident. The village Bagulhawa is less
than one Km from the spot. Zahida's
brother took her to the hospital.

35. He further stated in his cross-
examination that Zahida's two children,
Rehana (aged about 18 years) and Babbu
(aged about 14-15 years) were crying and
screaming after seeing their mother.
Rehana and Babbu were present on the
spot before he arrived. The other four
children were sleeping outside in the
Sahan. He does not know whether
Zahida's children, who were sleeping in a
Sahan (front courtyard) had any woman
or man sleeping there. He is Jakir's
neighbour. Jakir had contested the
election of village Pradhan. He does not
know that after Jakir's marriage with
Kutti what did his father do about the
property of Jakir. Jakir had a licensed
weapon.

36. On behalf of the appellants, only
one suggestion was asked from this
witness that it is wrong to say that he has
given false evidence due to the enmity of
the village election, without disputing the
fact of aforesaid enmity.

37. It is important to note that the
appellants have not disputed the material
facts of his testimony: firstly; the incident
took place at midnight on 17.7.2011, he had
reached the spot within a minute after the
incident and at that time there were many
other villagers present, secondly; he had
saved the deceased after the incident and the
deceased had told him about the incident,
thirdly; he had seen the appellants running
away from the place of the incident, fourthly;
Jakir had illicit relations with Kutti and a
Panchayat was held about the illicit relations
between the appellants, sixthly; he informed
Zahida's brother about the incident from his
mobile. Significantly, there is no dispute
regarding the source of light to identify the
appellants at the time of the incident by the
deceased.

38. PW-3 Ameerullah (witness of the
inquest report) in his examination-in-chief
stated that Zahida was his maternal sister and
the inquest report was prepared in his
presence. He stated in his cross-examination
that the body was sealed so, he could not see
the dead body.

It would be appropriate to notice that
there is no dispute with regard to the
identification of the body of the deceased in
the instant case.

39. PW-4 Dr. V. K. Vaid stated in his
examination-in-chief that he had examined
the injuries on Zahida's (aged about 37
years) body on 17.7.2011 at 2:00 a.m.,
whom his brother Mohd. Umar had brought
to the hospital. The following injuries were
present on her body.

(1) A ligature mark around the neck
about 1 cm breadth x 30 cm all around on
the neck, red in colour, glistering present
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from the occipital bone on the back and in
front hyoid cartilage involved circular.

(2) Superficial to deep burn of the
whole of the back, both thigh, right leg,
both upper arms and forearms, both hands,
and some part of the chest, the upper part
of the abdomen.

A smell of kerosene oil was present.
Face, head, left leg, some part of the chest,
and perineum not involved.

40. PW-4 Dr. V.K. Vaid further stated
in his examination-in-chief that injury no. 1
(strangulation) was dangerous to life, red in
colour and fresh, and injury no. 2 was a
flame burn about 80%. He had informed
the police. The injured was referred to the
District Hospital Siddharthnagar for further
treatment after giving first aid.

41. PW-4 Dr. R. K. Vaid in his cross-
examination stated that the medical report
has been endorsed in the accidental
register. Mohd. Umar said that she was
burnt. He did not ask Zahida as to how she
was burnt, he had also not asked about her
burning. At that time she was groaning and
screaming. The ligature mark was present
on the lower part of the occipital bone.

42. It is noteworthy that the injured
was brought to C.H.C. Etwa immediately
after the incident, at that time the injured
was groaning and screaming. A ligature
mark was found all around the neck of the
injured and 80% of burn injures were found
on the body of the injured. Significantly,
the appellants have not disputed the above
injuries found on the body of the injured
and it has also not been disputed that why
he informed the police while he endorsed
the injuries in the 'Accidental Register'. The
question has not been asked to this witness
if a ligature mark on the neck and 80%

burn injuries could occur in the accident. It
would be appropriate to highlight the fact
that PW-1 Mohd. Omar had only told PW-
4 about the burn and had not disclosed as to
how she received the burn injuries.

43. PW-5 CP 233 Ram Sumer Yadav
(scribe) in his statement-in-chief stated that
he had registered the FIR as Case Crime
no. 44 of 2011 under Section 307 IPC at PS
Golhaura District Sidharthnagar on the
basis of the informant's written complaint
and endorsed it in G.D. Report No. 20 at
16.30 hours.

44. PW-5 CP Ram Sumer Yadav in
his cross-examination stated that the time
of the incident in Chik FIR is written
according to the complaint. Time has not
been disclosed in the written complaint of
the informant.

45. At this stage, it would be
appropriate to highlight that as per the
complaint (Ex.Ka.-5), the incident took
place on the intervening night of
16/17.7.2011 on the roof of the two-
storeyed house of the appellant Jakir Ali. It
is noteworthy that the appellants have not
disputed the timing of the incident to
Mohd. Umar (PW-1).

46. PW-6 Dr. R. K. Verma, who
conducted post-mortem in his examination-
in-chief stated that on 23.7.2011 at 3:30
p.m. he conducted the post-mortem of the
dead body of Zahida Khatoon, which was
brought in a wvery critical condition.
Deceased was simple height saddle, aged
about 38 years, mouth and eyes were half-
open, rigor mortis was present on all four
limbs. He found the following injuries:

A- Superficial to deep burn grade |
and Il injuries present on whole back,
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below the chest whole abdomen, whole
right lower limb from thigh to foot sole,
whole left limb (front and back) above knee
total burn injury is 60%.

B- Puss was present here and there.

C- Redness in the shape of lines is
present.

PW-6 stated in his cross-examination
that no sign of strangulation was found on
the body of the deceased.

47. It is noteworthy that in the
medical report (Ex.Ka.-4) prepared at 2:00
a.m. on 17.7.2011, wherein a ligature mark
was found all around the neck of the
deceased. The post-mortem was conducted
on 23.7.2011 at 3:30 p.m. after 6 days 13
hours and 30 minutes after the medical
examination. The appellants have not put
any question on the above opinion about
the nature of the ligature mark.

48. PW-7 Guru Saran Lal (Naib
Tehsildar/who recorded dying declaration)
in his examination-in-chief stated that he
recorded the dying declaration of Zahida
(aged about 37 years) on 17.7.2011 at
District Hospital Sidharthnagar. Before
taking the statement, he had taken a
certificate from the doctor to the effect that
Zahida was able to give her statement. He
had written whatever Zahida told him.
Zahida had put her thumb impression after
reading and listening her statement. After
taking the statement, he took another
certificate from the doctor about the mental
condition of the injured during and after the
statement.

49. PW-7 Guru Saran Lal in his cross-
examination stated that the place where the
statement was written, is not mentioned in
the statement. He did not ask the injured
about her name and her mental condition.
At that time, there was no one present

besides the doctor and the injured. He had
taken the thumb impression of the injured.

It was suggested that it is wrong to say
that he has not recorded any statement of
the deceased, he prepared the statement on
the direction of the informant.

50. It is noteworthy that the appellants
have not disputed the facts: firstly; this
witness recorded the dying declaration of
Zahida after obtaining the certificate of the
doctor, secondly; the doctor endorsed that
the injured was in a fit state of mind after
and during recording the statement, thirdly;
at the time of recording the dying
declaration, only three persons i.e. this
witness, injured and the doctor were
present there, fourthly; the mode of the
recording of the dying declaration, fifthly;
about the statement as stated by the
deceased and her mental condition at the
time of recording her statement.

It is also significant that no suggestion
was asked to this witness about the
narration of the incident as stated by the
injured and the mental condition of the
injured.

51. PW-8 S.I. Santanand Pandey
(1.0.) deposed that he started the
investigation of Case Crime No. 444 of
2011 on 17.7.2011, he arrested Jakir on
18.7.2011. On 19.7.2011, he recorded the
statement of the injured Zahida, informant
Mohd. Umar, Anwar, Mohd. Salim and he
prepared the site plan after inspecting the
incident place on the instance of the
informant and his relatives. After the death
of Zahida, on 24.7.2011, Section 302 I.P.C.
was added by S.I. Shiv Charan Yadav, on
that day he was on leave. He received the
inquest report of Zahida on 27.7.2011 and
was informed about the surrender of Kutti
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on the same day. He received the post-
mortem report on 31.7.2011 and submitted
the charge sheet before the court on
10.8.2011. He proved the inquest report and
other police papers, which have been
prepared by S.l. Bhawani Prasad Upadhyay,
as secondary evidence respectively as
Ex.Ka.-3, Ex.Ka.-12, Ex.Ka.-13, Ex.Ka.-14,
Ex.Ka.-15.

52. PW-8 S.I. Santanand Pandey in his
cross-examination stated that he did not
guestion the children of Zahida. Her children
were indeed residing with her. The children
of the deceased were sleeping there at the
time of the incident but no inquiries were
made to the children regarding the incident
because they were young. He had questioned
the eldest daughter of the deceased but did
not record her statement. It is true that
Rehana the eldest daughter of the deceased
was about thirteen years old.

53. He further in his cross-examination
stated that during the investigation, he found
some signs of burning at the place of the
incident. He depicted the point ‘A" in the site
plan, where the burning mattress and clothes
were found. There was blackening on the
adjoining wall of the place of incident, which
resulted from the smoke, but it has not been
shown in the site plan. He questioned Abul
Haleem, Nur Mohd., who lived near the place
of the incident, he did not take Rahish's
statement, because he was not present there.
Mohd. Umar told him that his sister told him
about her burning when he reached the spot.
He knew during the investigation that Jakir
used to come to the house of the deceased
and also that he resided in some other place.

It is suggested by the appellants that it
is not correct to say that he had not
recorded the statement of children because
they knew the real facts.

54. It is noteworthy that the appellants
have not disputed the oral statement of the
injured Zahida, which has been recorded
during the investigation on 19.7.2011 under
section 161 of Cr. PC. There is no dispute
about the fact that Mohd. Umar (PW-1)
told that his sister told him about her
burning. It is noticeable that this witness
has not stated anything in his examination-
in-chief about the incident as recorded
under Section 161 Cr. PC.

55. At this stage, It would be
appropriate to mention the dying
declaration of the Smt. Zahida was
recorded by PW-7 Gur Saran Lal between
1:50 p.m. to 2:00 p.m. on 17.7.2011, reads
as under:

"Patient is sound mental condition for
statement

Sd-

17.7.11

1:50 p.m.
(E.M.O.5)
Distt. Hospital
Sidharthnagar
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Patient was in sound mental condition
during and after statement.

Sd-

17.7.11

2:10 p.m.
(E.M.0.)
Distt. Hospital
Sidharthnagar

56. The translated version of the dying
declaration is as follows:

"l Zahida Khatoon wife of Zakir Ali, aged
about 37 years Muslim (Manihar) village
Bahuti police station, Golhaura, said on
oath that tonight at 1:30 a.m., she slept on
the roof of the two-storied house two
children were sleeping on the adjacent cot,
four children slept on the ground floor. My
husband came to the roof at that time and
poured kerosene oil on my body and
tightened my neck with a rope around my
neck and tried to kill me by tying the rope
and set fire to my clothes by burning
matchstick. | started burning. After upon
making hue and cry by me, my husband
Jakir and his other woman Kutti daughter
of Hussaini resident of Bahuti fled away
leaving me alone, after that my children
and people of the village saved me, and on
call, my brother who came and admitted
me to the hospital. My husband Jakir son of
Abdullah and another woman Kutti carried
out this incident, both of them are guilty.

57. DW-1 Juber Ali (aged about 15
years, son of the deceased) stated in his
examination-in-chief that on the night of

the incident, he and his sister Rubina slept
on the roof with his mother. His eldest
sister and the other three sisters were
sleeping on the ground floor. The night
before the incident, after asking his mother,
he went to the toilet, which is located on
the ground floor and he slept there. After
half an hour, he heard cries of his mother
"Bachao Bachao" and she came down
screaming. After that, the people of the
vicinity had come. He had not seen anyone
on the roof of the house. His father got
married to a girl from the village, whose
house is situated in the village. His father
lived in Bombay and when he came, used
to live with his second wife. His mother
and his sister lived with him in the house.

58. DW-1 Juber Ali in his statement-
in-chief stated further that his maternal
uncle had brought his mother to a hospital
with a cloth. He went to the hospital with
his grandmother and grandfather 2 or 3
days later. He saw his maternal uncle and
his mother were talking but could not hear
properly. He did not hear his maternal
uncle telling his mother that if she did not
say as told, he would not get her treated.

59. DW-1 Juber Ali stated in his
cross-examination that his father kept
Kutti. It is right to say that due to Kutti,
there was a dispute between his parents. He
did not see how the mother caught fire. But
he woke up soon after the mother was set
on fire. He is studying in class 8th.

60. It is noteworthy that DW-1 Juber
Ali did not say anything about the injuries
sustained by the deceased in the accident;
the tutoring and prompting by the near
relatives of the deceased before the dying
declaration, and also about the presence of
the appellants in the house of the incident
before the occurrence. Inspite of that, it is
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disputed on behalf of the appellants that the
children have not been deliberately
included in the investigation and trial.

61. Now we shall weigh the argument of
learned counsel for the appellants that the
prosecution has failed to prove the fit state
of mind of the deceased at the time of the
recording of her dying declaration. The
dying declaration (Ex.Ka.-7) was not
recorded in a question-answer form and in
the words spoken by the deceased. It was a
result of tutoring, prompting and
imagination and should not be acted
without its corroboration.

It is noticeable that it was suggested to
PW-1 Mohd. Umar that there was no love
affair between Jakir and Kutti; whereas, to
the contrary, DW-1 stated in his
examination-in-chief that his father got
married to Kutti, and his father used to live
with his second wife.

62. Before we analyse the prosecution
evidence it would be important to note
certain case laws with regard to the
importance, acceptability, reliability, and
admissibility of a dying declaration. The
law on the subject has been clearly and
explicitly enunciated by the Apex Court in
various judgments. In Khushal Rao v.
State of Bombay AIR 1958 SC 22 where
His lordship B.P. Sinha J., observed as:
(AIR, p. 28-29, para 16 and 17)

"16. On a review of the relevant
provisions of the Evidence Act and of the
decided cases in the different High Courts
in India and in this Court, we have come to
the conclusion, in agreement with the
opinion of the Full Bench of the Madras
High Court, aforesaid, (1) that it cannot be
laid down as an absolute rule of law that a
dying declaration cannot form the sole

basis of conviction unless it is
corroborated; (2) that each case must be
determined on its own facts keeping in view
the circumstances in which the dying
declaration was made; (3) that it cannot be
laid down as a general proposition that a
dying declaration is a weaker kind of
evidence than other pieces of evidence; (4)
that a dying declaration stands on the same
footing as another piece of evidence and
has to be judged in the light of surrounding
circumstances and with reference to the
principles governing the weighing of
evidence; (5) that a dying declaration
which has been recorded by a competent
magistrate in the proper manner, that is to
say, in the form of questions and answers,
and, as far as practicable, in the words of
the maker of the declaration, stands on a
much higher footing than a dying
declaration which depends upon oral
testimony which may suffer from all the
infirmities of human, memory and human
character, and (6) that in order to test the
reliability of a dying declaration, the Court
has to keep in view the circumstances like
the opportunity of the dying man for
observation, for example, whether there
was sufficient light if the crime was
committed at night; whether the capacity of
the man to remember the facts stated, had
not been impaired at the time he was
making the statement, by circumstances
beyond his control; that the statement has
been consistent throughout if he had
several opportunities of making a dying
declaration apart from the official record
of it; and that the statement had been made
at the earliest opportunity and was not the
result of tutoring by interested parties.

17. Hence, in order to pass the test of
reliability, a dying declaration has to be
subjected to a very close scrutiny, keeping
in view the fact that the statement has been
made in the absence of the accused who
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had no opportunity of testing the veracity of
the statement by cross-examination. But
once, the Court has come to the conclusion
that the dying declaration was the truthful
version as to the circumstances of the death
and the assailants of the victim, there is no
question of further corroboration.

If on the other hand, the Court, after
examining the dying declaration in all its
aspects, and testing its veracity, has come
to the conclusion that it is not reliable by
itself, and that it suffers from an infirmity,
then, without corroboration it cannot form
the basis of a conviction. Thus, the
necessity for corroboration arises not from
any inherent weakness of a dying
declaration as a piece of evidence, as held
in some of the reported cases, but from the
fact that the Court, in a given case, has
come to the conclusion that that particular
dying declaration was not free from the
infirmities, referred to above or from such
other infirmities as may be disclosed in
evidence in that case."

63. The above observations made by
the Apex Court were duly endorsed in
Harbans Singh v. State of Punjab6
(Constitution Bench) and Tapinder Singh
v. State of Punjab7.

64. In Laxman v. State of
Mahrashtra (2002) 6 SCC 710
(Constitution Bench), the Apex Court
observed as under: (SCC p.713-14, para 3)

"3. The juristic theory regarding
acceptability of a dying declaration is that
such declaration is made in extremity,
when the party is at the point of death and
when every hope of this world is gone,
when every motive to falsehood is silenced,
and the man is induced by the most
powerful consideration to speak only the
truth. Notwithstanding the same, great

caution must be exercised in considering
the weight to be given to this species of
evidence on account of the existence of
many circumstances which may affect their
truth. The situation in which a man is on
the deathbed is so solemn and serene, is the
reason in law to accept the veracity of his
statement. It is for this reason the
requirements of oath and cross-
examination are dispensed with. Since the
accused has no power of cross-
examination, the courts insist that the dying
declaration should be of such a nature as
to inspire full confidence of the court in its
truthfulness and correctness. The court,
however, has always to be on guard to see
that the statement of the deceased was not
as a result of either tutoring or prompting
or a product of imagination. The court also
must further decide that the deceased was
in a fit state of mind and had the
opportunity to observe and identify the
assailant. Normally, therefore, the court in
order to satisfy whether the deceased was
in a fit mental condition to make the dying
declaration look up to the medical opinion.
But where the eyewitnesses state that the
deceased was in a fit and conscious state to
make the declaration, the medical opinion
will not prevail, nor can it be said that
since there is no certification of the doctor
as to the fitness of the mind of the
declarant, the dying declaration is not
acceptable. A dying declaration can be oral
or _in writing and any adequate method of
communication whether by words or by
signs or otherwise will suffice provided the
indication is positive and definite. In most
cases, however, such statements are made
orally before death ensues and is reduced
to writing by someone like a Magistrate or
a doctor, or a police officer. When it is
recorded, no oath is necessary nor is the
presence of a Magistrate absolutely
necessary, although to assure authenticity
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it is usual to call a Magistrate, if available
for recording the statement of a man about
to die. There is no requirement of law that
a_dying declaration must necessarily be
made to a Magistrate and when such
statement is recorded by a Magistrate there
is no specified statutory form for such
recording. Consequently, what evidential
value or weight has to be attached to such
statement necessarily depends on the facts
and circumstances of each particular case.
What is essentially required is that the
person who records a dying declaration
must be satisfied that the deceased was in a
fit state of mind. Where it is proved by the
testimony of the Magistrate that the
declarant was fit to make the statement
even without examination by the doctor the
declaration can be acted upon provided the
court ultimately holds the same to be
voluntary and truthful. A certification by
the doctor is essentially a rule of caution
and therefore the voluntary and truthful
nature of the declaration can be
established otherwise."

(Emphasis Add)

65. In Paniben v. State of Gujarat,
(1992) 2 SCC 474, the Apex Court
observed as under: (SCC p. 480-81, para
18)

"18. Though a dying declaration is
entitled to great weight, it is worthwhile to
note that the accused has no power of
cross-examination. Such a power is
essential for eliciting the truth as an
obligation of oath could be. This is the
reason the Court also insists that the dying
declaration should be of such a nature as
to inspire full confidence of the Court in its
correctness. The Court has to be on guard
that the statement of the deceased was not
as a result of either tutoring, prompting or
a product of imagination. The Court must

be further satisfied that the deceased was in
a fit state of mind after a clear opportunity
to observe and identify the assailants. Once
the Court is satisfied that the declaration
was true and voluntary, undoubtedly, it can
base its conviction without any further
corroboration. It cannot be laid down as an
absolute rule of law that the dying
declaration cannot form the sole basis of
conviction unless it is corroborated. The
rule requiring corroboration is merely a
rule of prudence. This Court has laid down
in several judgments the principles
governing dying declaration, which could
be summed up as under:

(i) There is neither rule of law nor of
prudence that the dying declaration cannot
be acted upon without corroboration.
[Munnu Raja v. State of M.P. (1976) 3 SCC
104]

(if) If the Court is satisfied that the
dying declaration is true and voluntary it
can base conviction on it, without
corroboration. (State of M. P v. Ram Sagar
Yadav, (1985) 1 SCC 552: AIR 1985 SC
416, Ramawati Devi v. State of Bihar,
(1983) 1 SCC 211: AIR 1983 SC 164)

(iif) This Court has to scrutinise the
dying declaration carefully and must
ensure that the declaration is not the result
of tutoring, prompting or imagination. The
deceased had opportunity to observe and
identify the assailants and was in a fit state
to make the declaration. (K. Ramchandra
Reddy v. Public Prosecutor, (1976) 3 SCC
618: AIR 1976 SC 1994)

(iv) Where dying declaration is
suspicious it should not be acted upon
without corroborative evidence. [Rasheed
Beg v. State of Madhya Pradesh (1974) 4
SCC 264]

(v) Where the deceased was
unconscious and could never make any
dying declaration the evidence with regard
to it is to be rejected. (Kake Singh v. State
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of M. P., 1981 Supp SCC 25: AIR 1982 SC
1021)

(vi) A dying declaration which suffers
from infirmity cannot form the basis of
conviction. [Ram Manorath v. State of U.
P. (1981) 2 SCC 654]

(vii) Merely because a dying
declaration does not contain the details as
to the occurrence, it is not to be rejected.
(State of Maharashtra v. Krishnamurthi
Laxmipati Naidu, 1980 Supp SCC 455: AIR
1981 SC 617)

(viii) Equally, merely because it is a
brief statement, it is not be discarded. On
the contrary, the shortness of the statement
itself guarantees truth. (Surajdeo Oza v.
State of Bihar, 1980 Supp SCC 769 : AIR
1979 SC 1505)

(ix) Normally the court in order to
satisfy whether deceased was in a fit mental
condition to make the dying declaration
look up to the medical opinion. But where
the eye-witness has said that the deceased
was in a fit and conscious state to make this
dying declaration, the medical opinion
cannot prevail. (Nanahau Ram v. State of
M.P., 1988 Supp SCC 152: AIR 1988 SC
912)

(x) Where the prosecution version
differs from the version as given in the
dying declaration, the said declaration
cannot be acted upon. (State of U. P. v.
Madan Mohan, (1989) 3 SCC 390: AIR
1989 SC 1519)

66. It has been emphasised in various
judgments by the Apex Court that Section
32(1) of the Evidence Act attaches special
sanctity to a dying declaration and unless
such dying declaration can be shown to be
unreliable, it will not affect its
admissibility. It was further held that
although a dying declaration has to be
closely scrutinised, once the court comes to
the conclusion that it is true, no question of

corroboration arises. (Vide: Khushal Rao
v. State of Bombay8, Harbans Singh v.
State of Punjab9, Gopal Singh v. State of
M.P.10, Ram Bihari Yadav v. State of
Biharll, Ramilaben  Hasmukhbhai
Khristi v. State of Gujaratl2, Bhajju v.
State of M.P.13 and Suresh Chandra
Janav. State of W.B.14).

67. There is not even a rule of
prudence which has hardened into a rule of
law that a dying declaration cannot be acted
upon unless it is corroborated. The Primary
effort of the court has to be to find out
whether the dying declaration is true. If it
is, no question of corroboration arises. It is
only if the circumstances surrounding the
dying declaration are not clear or
convincing that the court may, for its
assurance, look the corroboration to the
dying declaration. (Vide: State of U.P. v.
Ram Sagar Yadav1s)

The above settled legal position was
followed in Madan @ Madhu Patekar v.
State of Mahrashtral6.

68. A mechanical approach in relying
upon a dying declaration just because it is
there is extremely dangerous. The court has
to examine a dying declaration
scrupulously with a microscopic eye to find
out whether the dying declaration is
voluntary, truthful, made in a conscious
state of mind and without being influenced
by the relatives present or by the
investigating agency who may be interested
in the success of investigation or which
may be negligent while recording the dying
declaration. (Vide: Puran Chand v. State
of Haryanal?7). The intrinsic worth and
reliability of a dying declaration can
generally be judged from its tenor and
contents themselves. (Vide: State of
Rajasthan v. Ganwaral8)
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69. Law relating to appreciation of
evidence in the form of more than one
dying declaration is well settled. If there is
more than one dying declaration, then the
court also has to scrutinise all the dying
declarations to find out if each one of these
passes the test of being trustworthy. The
Court must further find out whether the
different dying declarations are consistent
with each other in material particulars
before accepting and relying upon the
same. (Vide: Kundula Bala
Subrahmanyam v State of A.P.19) If
some inconsistencies are noticed between
one dying declaration and the other, the
court has to examine the nature of the
inconsistencies, namely, whether they are
material or not. While scrutinising the court
has to examine the same in the light of the
various surrounding facts and
circumstances. (Vide: Amol Singh v. State
of M.P.20)

70. A bare perusal of the provisions of
Section 161, 162 (2) of Cr.PC read with
Section 32 of the Evidence Act would
reveal that a statement of a person recorded
under Section 161 Cr.PC would be treated
as a dying declaration after his death and
had evidentiary value. (Vide: Mukeshbhai
Gopalbhai Barot v. State of Gujarat2l).
A similar view has been expressed by the
Apex Court in Sri Bhagwan v. State of
U.P.22 and further observed that it is quite
clear that such statement would be relevant
even if the person who made statement was
or was not at the time when he made it was
under the expectation of death but has
cautioned as to the extreme care and
caution to be taken while relying upon such
evidence recorded as a dying declaration.
The above view has been followed by the
Apex Court in Pradeep Bisnoi v. State of
Orissa23.

71. The law does not provide that a
dying declaration should be made in any
prescribed manner or in the form of
guestions and answers. The dying
declaration need not be in the form of
guestions and answers. (Vide: Ram Bihari
Yadav v. State of Bihar and Others24)
Merely because a dying declaration was not
in question-answer form, the sanctity
attached to a dying declaration as it comes
from the mouth of a dying person cannot be
brushed aside and its reliability cannot be
doubted. (Vide: Prem Kumar Gulati v.
State of Haryana25) Where the Executive
Magistrate before recording the dying
declaration had obtained the certificate of
the doctor that the deceased was in a fit
mental state to make the statement, the
doctor again testified before the Court that
she was fully conscious and was in a
position to give her statement, the dying
declaration recorded by the Executive
Magistrate was not rejected merely because
it was not recorded in questions and
answers form. (Vide: Satish Chandra v.
State of M.P26.) Merely because the
parents and other relatives of the deceased
were present in the Hospital, when the
statement of the deceased was recorded it
cannot be said that the said statement was a
tutored one. It is quite natural that when
such an incident happens, the parents and
other relatives try to reach the hospital
immediately. Merely because they were in
the hospital, the same is no ground to
disbelieve the dying declaration, recorded
by the Magistrate, who examined as PW-
16." (Vide: Satpal v. State of Haryana27)

72. It is a settled principle of law that
the prosecution has to prove its case
beyond any reasonable doubt while the
defence has to prove its case on the
touchstone  of  preponderance  and
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probabilities. (Vide: Shudhakar v. State of
M.P. 28)

73. Having noticed the above settled
position of law, now we shall deal with the
contention made on behalf of the appellants
that the dying declaration is the result of
tutoring, prompting, or imagination and the
deceased had no opportunity to observe and
identity and was not in a fit state of mind to
make the dying declaration.

74. 1t is an undisputed fact that the
dying declaration was recorded by PW-7
Gur Saran Lal within 12 hours of the
incident after taking the certificate of the
doctor (E.M.Q.). The doctor certified that
the declarant was in a fit state of mind and
at that time, PW-7 Gur Saran Lal,
Executive Magistrate/Naib Tehsildar, the
doctor, and the declarant were present
there.  After recording the dying
declaration, the doctor recertified that the
declarant was in a fit mental condition
during and after the statement.

75. Upon close scrutiny of the entire
prosecution ocular evidence, we observed
that the appellants did not put any questions
or suggestions to the witnesses on the
following material facts:

(i) There was a dispute between the
deceased and the appellant Jakir Ali, due to
Jakir's illicit relations with the appellant
Kutti. A Panchayat was held regarding the
above dispute.

(i1) Jakir had threatened several times to
kill Zahida and she gave information to the
police on 7.6.2011 and 14.7.2011 about the
danger to her life.

(iii) The incident took place at 1:30 a.m.
on the roof of the two-storeyed house of the
appellant Jakir Ali, the deceased slept there
and her two children were sleeping on an

adjacent cot and her 4 children were sleeping
in the Sahan (front courtyard) of the house.

(iv) PW-2 Mohd. Salim as neighbour of
the deceased had reached on the spot within a
minute and rescued her after hearing the cries
of the injured. He saw both the appellants
Jakir Ali and Kutti running away from the
place of the incident.

(v) The deceased told PW-2 Mohd.
Salim that Jakir and Kutti tied a rope around
her neck, poured kerosene oil on her body,
and set her on fire.

(vi) PW-1 Mohd. Umar arrived at the
spot after receiving the information from
PW-2 Mohd. Salim, within 10 minutes of the
incident and he brought the injured to C.H.C.
Etwa. The deceased also told PW-1 that Jakir
and Kutti tied a rope around her neck, poured
kerosene oil on her body, and set her ablaze.

(vii) A ligature mark was found all
around the neck size 1 cm x 30 cm injury
colour was red and 80% of burn injures were
found on the body of the injured at the time
of medical examination conducted by PW-4
Dr. V. K. Vaid at 2:00 a.m. on 17.7.2011.

(viii) PW-4 Dr. V. K. Vaid after
examination of the injured at 2:00 a.m.,
informed the police.

(ix) PW-7 Gur Saran Lal recorded the
dying declaration on 17.7.2011 in presence
of the doctor (E.M.O.) after taking the
certificate of the doctor regarding the fit
state of mind and condition of the injured.
The doctor recertified her sound mental
condition during and after the statement.

(x) At the time of recording the dying
declaration, PW-7 Gur Saran Lal, the
doctor (E.M.O.), and the declarant were
present.

76. In the instant case, the dying
declaration has been properly proved by
PW-7 Gur Saran Lal. It is significant to
note that in the course of cross-examination
of PW-7 proving the dying declaration, no
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guestions were put as to the state of health
of the deceased, and no suggestion was
asked as to whether the deceased was not in
a fit state of mind to make any such
statement. As per the dying declaration
(Ex.Ka.-7) of the deceased, she has given a
clear and vivid account of the incident as
her husband came at 1:30 a.m. when she
was sleeping on the roof of the two-
storeyed house, her two children were
sleeping on the adjacent cot and four other
children slept on the ground floor. Her
husband poured kerosene oil over her body
and setting her to clothes by lighting a
matchstick, after trying to kill her by tying
her neck with a rope. Her husband Jakir,
and Kutti carried out the incident and both
of them are guilty. Upon making her cries,
both of them fled away leaving her alone.
Her children and other villagers came and
saved her.

77. We have noticed, that on the night
of the incident, only 7 persons were
sleeping in the house. Out of which, the
deceased and her two children were
sleeping on the roof of the house and four
children were sleeping in the Sahan (front
courtyard). DW-1 Juber Ali (son of the
deceased) corroborated the above fact and
stated in his examination-in-chief that he
and his sister Rubina slept on the roof with
his mother. The eldest sister and the other
three sisters were sleeping on the ground
floor.

78. PW-2 Mohd. Salim in his cross-
examination stated that Jakir used to live
with Kutti, in Kutti's house, which is
situated about five hundred steps away
from Jakir's house in the outskirts of the
village. The place of the incident is ten
steps away from his house. He would have
taken half a minute to reach the spot after
hearing the cries. DW-1 Juber Ali stated in

his examination-in-chief that his father
lived in Bombay. When he came, he lived
with his second wife.

79. The appellants have examined the
son of the deceased as DW-1 Juber Alj,
who slept on the roof at the time of the
incident as per the prosecution case. It is a
surprising fact that the appellants have
examined DW-1 only for proving that the
dying declaration is a result of tutoring, but
interestingly, he stated that he had gone to
the hospital to see his mother after 2 or 3
days after the incident. Admittedly, the
dying declaration was recorded on
17.7.2011 i.e. within 12 hours of the
incident. The appellants have not claimed
that on the night of the incident they were
sleeping in the house. They have also not
claimed that Zahida has received the
injuries in an accident.

80. Interestingly, it has also not been
claimed by the appellants that Rehana and
Babbu (the son), who were admittedly
sleeping on the roof adjacent to the
deceased had seen the incident because
according to DW-1 Juber Ali (as the only
son of the deceased), he after asking his
mother went to the toilet located at the
ground floor of the house and slept there
and the incident took place after half an
hour. Inspite of that it was submitted that
Rehana and Babbu, who were sleeping
adjacent to the deceased on another cot
were not questioned by the investigating
officer.

81. The doctor (E.M.O.) was present
at the time when PW-7 Gur Saran Lal
recorded the statement and he also made an
endorsement on the dying declaration about
the fit mental condition of the injured. PW-
7 recorded the dying declaration after
satisfying himself that the declarant was in
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a fit mental condition. The mere fact that
the doctor in whose presence dying
declaration had been recorded, was not
examined does not affect the evidentiary
value to be attached to the dying
declaration. Therefore, it cannot be said
that Zahida was not in a fit state of mind
while making her statement. We have
noticed that insistence for certification by
the doctor is only a rule of prudence to be
applied based on the facts and
circumstances of the case. The real test is
as to whether the dying declaration is
truthful and voluntary.

82. We have noticed above, that at the
time of recording the dying declaration, PW-
7 Gur Saran Lal, the doctor, and the declarant
were present. The appellants did not dispute
the fact of tutoring the deceased by PW-1
Mohd. Umar. The suggestion of tutoring to
the deceased was asked to PW-1 Mohd.
Umar.

83. It is not a case of defence that when
she made her statement, she was surrounded
by any of her close relatives who could have
prompted her to make an incorrect or false
statement. There is no material to show that
the dying declaration was a result of the
product of imagination, tutoring, or
prompting. Mere presence of PW-1 Mohd.
Umar and his other two sisters in the hospital
is no ground to dishelieve the dying
declaration because their presence is quite
natural after the incident. On the contrary, the
same appears to have been made by the
deceased voluntarily. In the absence of the
same so far as the voluntariness of the
statement is concerned, there can be no doubt
because the deceased was free from external
influences or pressure.

84. Keeping in mind, the settled
position of law and surrounding

circumstances of the case, we are of the
considered view that there is no reason why
the dying declaration which is otherwise
found to be true, voluntary, and correct
should be rejected only because the doctor
who was present at the time of recording
the dying declaration was not examined by
the prosecution to support his certification
of fitness of the deceased. It may also be
noticed that PW-7 Gur Saran Lal, who
recorded the statement could be attributed
with any kind of ill-feeling against the
appellants. We do not find any material on
record on the basis of which the testimony
of PW-7 Gur Saran Lal can be disbelieved.

85. After examining the entire
surrounding  circumstances and  with
reference to the principles governing the
weighing of evidence, we are unhesitatingly
of the opinion that at the time of, when PW-7
Gur Saran Lal was recording the dying
declaration, the declarant was in a conscious
state of mind and she was in a fit mental
condition to make her statement. It is not a
result of tutoring, prompting, or a product of
imagination. The dying declaration (Ex.Ka.-
7) was free from tutoring, prompting and
imagination. The dying declaration is thus,
voluntary and truthful.

86. Now, we shall proceed to examine
the argument of the learned counsel for the
appellants that there is a discrepancy
between the oral statements of the deceased
as told to PW-1 Mohd. Umar, PW-2 Mohd.
Salim and PW-8 S.I. Satanand Pandey
(1.0.) on one hand and dying declaration
(Ex.Ka.-7) recorded by PW-7 Guru Saran
Lal, on the other hand. The prosecution
converted the case of an accidental burn
into the case of a homicidal burn.

87. Learned counsel for the appellants
vehemently argued that according to the
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oral statements of the deceased, the active
role attributed to both the appellants but the
contrary by the written dying declaration,
the active role is assigned only to the
appellant no. 1 Jakir Ali. Due to the above
inconsistency, it is not safe to act upon the
dying declaration (Ex.Ka.-7) without
corroboration.

88. We have noticed above that on the
night of the incident 7 persons were
sleeping in the house. The deceased and her
two children were sleeping on the roof of
the two-storeyed house, and four other
children were sleeping in the Sahan of the
house. No other persons were present
before the incident in the house. It is not
disputed on behalf of the appellants that
PW-2 Mohd. Salim saw the appellants
running away from the incident
immediately  after  the  occurrence.
According to the written dying declaration
recorded by PW-7, the deceased clearly
stated that "I started burning. After making
noise, my husband Jakir and Kutti fled
away leaving me alone.’

89. It is also not disputed that a
ligature mark was found all around the
neck size 1 cm x 30 cm injury colour was
red in colour and 80% burn injuries were
found on the body of the deceased
immediately after the incident. However,
on behalf of the appellants, it was
submitted that the ligature mark had not
been found at the time of post-mortem.

90. In this regard, it would be useful
to extract a passage from Modi's Medical
Jurisprudence and Toxicology (24th Edn. at
page 446, 451, and 455):

"Ligature Mark: ligature mark
depends on the nature and position of the
ligature used. The mark varies according to

the nature of the material used as a
ligature and period of suspension of the
body after death. If the ligature is soft, and
the body be cut down from the ligature
immediately after death, there may be no
mark. Again, the intervention of a thick and
long beard or clothes on the neck may lead
to the formation of a slight mark."

at page 451,

"If the windpipe is compressed so
suddenly as to occlude the passage of air
altogether, the individual is rendered
powerless to call for assistance, becomes
insensible, and may die instantly."

at page 455,

It must be borne in mind that
strangulation may be committed without
any noise or disturbance; even if other
persons are in close vicinity, they may not
be aware of the act. This may happen in
garrotting, where a victim is suddenly
overpowered from behind, by using a rope,
dhoti or the hands."

91. From the extract of Modi's
Medical Jurisprudence, it appears that the
presence of marks of resistance would
depend on a variety of factors, including
the method and manner of execution of the
act of strangulation by the culprits; and
mere want of such marks cannot be
decisive of the matter. The learned trial
court concluded that after 7 days of the
incident this ligature mark can fade.
Significantly, the appellants have not asked
any question of opinion to PW-4 Dr. V. K.
Vaid and PW-6 Dr. R. K. Verma, about the
ligature mark found all around the neck of
the deceased at 2:00 a.m. on 17.7.2011, and
whether it can fade within 7 days.

92. Apart from this, It has been
noticed above as per the prosecution case,
in the intervening night 16/17.7.2011, only
7 persons were sleeping in the house, the
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appellants have not come with the case that
they were sleeping or living in the house,
soon before the incident. PW-2 Mohd.
Salim stated in his cross-examination that
Jakir, along with Kutti, lived in Kutti's
house, which is situated in the outskirts of
the village, about 500 steps from Jakir's
house. DW-1 Juber Ali (son of the
deceased) also corroborated the above fact
and stated in his examination-in-chief that
his father got married to a girl, whose
house is situated in the same village, and
his father used to live with her. His mother
and sisters live in the house. There is no
evidence on record as to whether Jakir
married Kutti and appellant no. 2 Kutti
lived in the house of appellant no. 1 Jakir
Ali at the time of the incident.

93. As per the prosecution case, first
oral dying declaration was made by the
deceased to PW-2 Mohd. Salim, to whom
the deceased had narrated the incident
immediately after the occurrence. PW-1
Mohd. Umar, on the basis of the oral dying
declaration of the deceased, lodged the
FIR. The third dying declaration was
recorded by PW-7 Gur Saran Yadav,
Executive Magistrate, and PW-8 S.I.
Satanand Pandey has also recorded the
statement of the injured on 19.7.2011 under
Section 161 Cr. PC. The appellants have
neither disputed the oral statements of the
deceased nor the dying declaration
recorded by PW-7.

94. The Apex court in various
judgments laid down the settled position of
law that Section 34 IPC embodies the
principle of joint liability in doing the
criminal act based on a common intention
and the totality of circumstances must be
taken into consideration in arriving at the
conclusion whether the accused had
common intention to commit an offence of

which they could be convicted. (Vide:
Noor Mohammad Mohd. Yusuf Momin
v. State of Maharashtra29. Criminal act
mentioned in Section 34 IPC is the result of
the concerted action of more than one
person and if the said result was reached in
furtherance of common intention, each
person is liable for the offence as if he has
committed the offence by himself. (Vide:
Balvir Singh v. State of M.P.30) The
totality of the circumstances must be taken
into consideration in arriving at a
conclusion whether the accused had a
common intention to commit an offence for
which they can be convicted. The facts and
circumstances of cases vary and each case
has to be decided keeping in view the facts
involved. (Vide: Magsoodan v. State of
U.P.31)

95. By taking the advantage of
endorsement of medical injuries in the
'‘Accidental Register' by PW-4, Dr. V. K.
Vaid, it was submitted that Zahida received
burn injuries in an accident. Due to this
reason, the FIR of the case has been lodged
after about 15 hours of explained delay. It
was feebly contented on behalf of the
appellants that the prosecution lodged the
FIR after consultation and deliberation.
However, the appellants came out with a
false case of an accident, which, as such is
not supported by any evidence. The
evidence speaks contrary to the contention.

96. It is an undisputed fact that the
deceased received the injuries (ligature
mark on her whole neck and the 80% burn
injuries) in the incident. On behalf of the
appellants, no question was put to PW-1
Mohd. Umar and PW-2 Mohd. Salim about
the incident asking as to how the incident
took place, and without disputing the
factum of the incident, it was suggested
that PW-1 told the doctor about the injuries
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received by the deceased in an accident.
Nothing has been urged to suggest that the
doctor (PW-4) was in any way interested in
the outcome of the case. It is rare to find in
a criminal case that the description of the
incident and injury described in the dying
declaration gets full corroboration from the
medical evidence contained in the injury
report and post-mortem report. But in the
instant case, two different types of injuries
found by PW-4 Dr. V. K. Vaid speak the
complete truth of the incident.

97. Apart from this, the testimony of
DW-1 Juber Ali, also indicated the
circumstances with regard to the incident.
He stated in his examination-in-chief that
the night before the incident, after asking
his mother, he went to the toilet, which is
located on the ground floor and he slept
there. After half an hour, he heard cries of
his mother "Bachao Bachao" and she came
down screaming after that person of the
vicinity had come.

98. Keeping in mind, the settled
position of law and after considering all
surrounding circumstances as discussed
above, we are of the considered view that
the dying declaration made by Zahida to
PW-7 is straight-forward, rational,
consistent, and coherent. There appears to
be a ring of truth in the statement made by
Zahida about the involvement of the
appellant Kutti. There is no inconsistency
between the oral dying declarations and the
written dying declaration. It is a case of
homicidal death.

99. It was also submitted that during
the investigation the mattress and rope have
not been recovered. As we have held that
the dying declaration of the deceased is
voluntary and truthful, therefore, defect in
the investigation has no consequences since

it is well settled that if the police records
become  suspect and  investigation
perfunctory, it becomes the duty of the
Court to see if the evidence given in Court
should be relied upon and such lapses
ignored. (Vide: Sathi Prasad v. The State
of U.P.32). If primacy is given to such
designed or negligent investigation, to the
omission or lapses by perfunctory
investigation or omissions, the faith and
confidence of the people would be shaken
not only in the law enforcement agency but
also in the administration of justice. (Vide:
Ram Bihari Yadav and Ors. v. State of
Bihar and Ors.33)

SUMMARY OF OUR ANALYSIS
AND THE CONCLUSIONS DERIVED
THEREFROM

100. After evaluating the evidence,
circumstances analysed above and keeping
in mind the settled position of law, we are
unhesitatingly of the opinion that the
statement of the deceased (Ex.Ka.-7) is
truthful and voluntary and the deceased had
the opportunity to observe and identify. We
have arrived at this conclusion on the basis
of the following circumstances:

(a) The appellants without disputing
the fact that PW-1 Mohd. Umar and his two
other sisters tutored the injured, it is
suggested that PW-1 and his two other
sisters who were present in the hospital,
tutored the injured.

(b) On behalf of the appellants, it is
not disputed that the injured was not in a fit
state of mind at the time of recording the
dying declaration but claimed that the
prosecution has failed to prove the above
fact because the doctor is not examined.

(c) The appellants asked the
suggestion to PW-2 Mohd. Salim that he
has given false evidence due to the enmity
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of village election without disputing the
facts of the incident as told by the deceased
to PW-2 for the first time and PW-2 had
seen the appellants running away from the
place of the incident.

(d) The appellants asked a suggestion
to PW-1 Mohd. Umar that he had told the
doctor (PW-4 Dr. V. K. Vaid) that his sister
was accidentally burnt without disputing
the facts of the incident as told by the
deceased to PW-1.

() PW-4 stated in his cross-
examination that Mohd. Umar told him that
she was burnt. Apart from this, on behalf of
the appellants, it is not disputed and
suggested to PW-4 Dr. V.K. Vaid that the
medical report (Ex.Ka.-4) was registered in
the 'Accidental Register' because PW-1
Mohd. Umar told him about the accidental
injuries of Zahida.

(f) The appellants did not ask any
question to PW-4 Dr. V. K. Vaid regarding
the injuries sustained by the injured they
even did not ask the same as a question of
opinion that if a ligature mark on the whole
neck and 80% burn injuries could occur in
the same incident. It is also not disputed
that PW-4 informed the police after
conducting the medical examination.

(9) The deceased having 6 children (5
daughters and one son), DW-1 Juber Ali,
also known as Babbu, did not say anything
about the injuries sustained by the
deceased; the tutoring and prompting by
the near relatives of the deceased, and he
also did not say about sleeping or living of
the appellants in the house soon before the
occurrence.

101. Following aspects emerge from
the discussion of the prosecution evidence:

() The appellant Jakir wanted to keep
the appellant Kutti as his wife in his house,
but the deceased was an obstacle in his

way. There was a dispute between the
deceased and Jakir regarding the above
illicit relationship.

(b) The husband of the deceased,
Jakir, and the appellant Kutti together
reached the spot i.e. on the roof of the two-
storeyed house, with a common intention
under a preconcert plan to commit the
murder of Zahida. The appellants had
deliberately chosen after midnight for
committing the murder when the deceased
and her children were sleeping.

(c) The appellants stealthily entered
the premises in question and reached the
roof of the house by taking the open
staircase.

(d) Ligature mark on the whole neck
and burn injuries which were found on the
whole of the back, both thighs and arms of
the deceased in the medical report clearly
show that the appellants firstly tied her
neck for restraining her from making a
noise, then poured kerosene oil on her body
and set her ablaze. The above two acts,
tying her whole neck and setting her on fire
after pouring kerosene oil on her body
cannot be executed by one accused
appellant at a time.

102. In view of the foregoing analysis
and conclusions, we are of the considered
view that the trial court rightly found the
dying declaration (Ex.Ka.-7), truthful and
trustworthy and the  circumstances
surrounding the dying declaration are clear
and convincing, it can be acted upon
without  corroboration to hold the
prosecution successfully proved the charge
under Section 302 read with Section 34
I.P.C. against the appellants Jakir Ali and
Kutti @ Alimunnisha. The findings of the
trial court are based on proper appreciation
of the evidence. The injuries on the body of
the deceased fully support the prosecution
case. The statement made by the deceased
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on 17.7.2011, thus, finds corroboration from
the injuries on the body of the deceased and
the sequences of the events and manner of
incidents as claimed by the prosecution. PW-
1, the informant and PW-2 neighbour of the
deceased have fully supported the
prosecution case. We are fully satisfied that
the trial court did not commit any error in
convicting the appellants. Therefore, we
affirm the conviction and sentence awarded
to the appellants and hold them guilty for
offence punishable under Section 302 read
with Section 34 1.P.C. We, thus, do not find
any merit in this appeal. The criminal appeal
is dismissed accordingly. The appellants are
in jail.

Let a certified copy of this judgment
with record be sent to the trial court for
information forthwith. The office is directed
to provide the certified copy of the judgment
separately to the appellants promptly.
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(A) Criminal Law - Code of Criminal
Procedure, 1973 - Section 374 - Section
366 - Death Reference - Indian Penal
Code, 1860 - Sections 302 376 & 201
I.P.C. - Indian Evidence Act, 1872 -
Section 25,26,27 - Section 27 only
becomes applicable when the confession
St. ment leads to the discovery of a new
fact -Appeals from conviction ,
circumstantial evidence - All links in the
chain of circumstances must be prove
beyond reasonable doubt - proved
circumstances must be consistent only
with the hypothesis of guilt of the accused
alone and none else, as also inconsistent
with his innocence.(Para - 42,51)

(B) Constitution of India - Article 20(3) -
no accused of an offence shall be
compelled into being a witness against
himself - confession made by any person
to a police officer is inadmissible as
evidence, except for the singular cases
where such St. ment results in a
consequent discovery of fact. (Para - 46,47)

(C) Practice and Procedure - presumption of
certain facts by the Courts in the absence
of direct evidence of an offence has been
an accepted practice - presumption must
be an inference of fact drawn from
another proved fact that is likely to flow
as a common course of natural events,
human conduct and public/private
business vis-avis the facts - Courts in
drawing such presumption must look at
the facts from an angle of common sense
and common experience of man. (Para - 54)

In the present case, 12 years' old girl has been
sexually assaulted and done to death by
throttling - fact remains -whether it was the
accused-appellant who has committed the
alleged crime appears to be doubtful .

HELD:- The prosecution failed to prove its case
beyond reasonable doubt. The incident does not
appear to have happened in the manner in
which the prosecution want the Court to believe
it bad happened. Therefore, the accused-
appellant becomes entitle for the benefit of
doubt and the appeal deserves to be allowed.
(Para -71)



6 All. Ubhan Yadav @ Abhai Kumar Yadav Vs. State of U.P. 61

Criminal Appeal allowed. (E-6)
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(Delivered by Hon’ble Rajeev Singh, J.)

(1) The criminal appeal filed by the
accused-appellant namely Ubhan Yadav @
Abhai Kumar Yadav under Section 374 (2)
Cr.P.C. and the Death Reference under
Section 366 Cr.P.C., are decided by way of
common judgment.

(2) Heard Shri Santosh Kumar
Kanaujiya and Shri Arvind Kumar Verma,
learned counsels for the accused-appellant
(Ubhan Yadav @ Abhai Kumar Yadav) as
well as Shri Vimal Kumar Srivastava,
learned Government Advocate assisted by
Shri Chandra Shekhar Pandey, learned
counsel for the State and perused the lower
court record.

(3) As in the case in hand, the
accused-appellant namely Ubhan Yadav @

Abhay Kumar Yadav was tried by the trial
court and convicted under Sections 302 376
& 201 I.P.C. whereby he was sentenced to
be hanged, by the neck, till death for
offence under Section 302 I.P.C., sentenced
for life imprisonment and with a fine of
Rs.6,000/- for the offence under Section
376(2)(F), in case of non payment of fine,
additional one  year of  Simple
Imprisonment, and sentenced for five years
of Rigorous Imprisonment with a fine of
Rs.4,000/- for the offence under Section
201 1.P.C., in case of non payment of fine,
additional four months of S.1.

(4) After convicting the accused-
appellant for sentence of death, reference
was made by the trial court, which was
registered as Capital Sentence No0.06 of
2014, and the same is lying before us for
confirmation of such sentence and death.
The accused-appellant has challenged the
judgment and order dated 29.08.2014
passed by Shri Satya Prakash Naik,
Additional Sessions Judge, Court No.l1,
Barabanki in S.T. N0.266 of 2013 arising
out of Case Crime No0.101 of 2013, under
Sections 302, 201 & 376 I.P.C., P.S. Dewa,
District Barabanki, in Criminal Appeal
N0.1202 of 2014 (Ubhan Yadav @ Abhay
Kumar Yadav Vs. State of U.P.).

(5) As per the prosecution case, on
30.03.2013 at 21:10 hours, Prem Nath
Singh came to the Police Station Dewa,
District Barabanki along with Tung Nath
Singh S/o Late Raj Bahadur Singh, Bal
Govind Yadav & Bechu Singh, and given a
written complaint with the allegation that
his younger daughter, aged about 12 years,
went out from her home on 30.03.2013 at
02:00 p.m. but she did not come back, then
due to worry the family members started
searching her in the neighbour houses, but
no one has responded, thereafter, the family
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members and other villagers also started
searching her in the adjoining forest & field
situated in the north side of the village, then
her body was found under black berry
(Jamun) tree of the grove of Pratap Singh
and some visible signs of injury was found
on the neck on the body and some nail
scratches were also seen on her hand, her
pair of leggings was not found on her body
and it seems that with intention to outrage
her modesty, she was killed.

(6) On the basis of aforesaid
complaint of Prem Nath Singh (informant),
F.LR. as Case Crime No0.101 of 2013,
under Sections 302 |.P.C., P.S. Dewa,
District Barabanki was lodged on
30.03.2013 at 21:10 hours in which the
time of incident is shown as 14:00 hours
(02:00 p.m.) dated 30.03.2013. Chick F.1.R.
was prepared and the incident was also
entered into General Diary as G.D. No.41
at 21:10 hours for registering the F.I.R. The
S.H.O. concerned along with his team
reached on the spot and started the inquest
of body of the deceased on 30.03.2013 at
22:15 hours and concluded the same at
23:55 hours in the light of seven Petromax
and head light of one tractor, and the body
was sent for postmortem along with
requisite papers. The postmortem of the
body of deceased was conducted on
31.03.2013 at 02:00 p.m., in which seven
ante-mortem injuries were found on the
body of the deceased, and the cause of
death opined by the team of doctors is
Asphyxia, as a result of ante-mortem
throttling.

(7) The Investigating Officer prepared
Parcha No.1 on 30.03.2013 by copying the
Chick F.ILR. in the Case Diary and
recorded the statement of Head Constable
Ramraj (Chick F.L.LR. writer), and also
mentioned that the inquest of the body of

the deceased was conducted in the proper
light of seven petromax and head light of
one tractor, as the place of incident was
protected, therefore, the proceeding was
deferred for next date. On 31.03.2013,
Parcha No.2 of Case Diary was prepared by
the Investigating Oficer by copying the
contents of the inquest and also recorded
the statement of the witnesses of the
inquest, inspected the place of incident and
prepared the site plan on the pointing out of
the informant as well as witnesses of the
inquest, and also prepared a recovery
memo of the sleepers, under garments and
leggings of the deceased; he also recorded
the statement of witnesses of recovery
memo and the statements under Section
161 Cr.P.C. of Smt. Siyavati (mother of the
deceased), Uday Pratap Singh (brother of
the deceased) and Kumari Anjali Singh
(sister of the deceased), and the statement
of witnesses of last seen namely Mohd.
Khaleel, Shri Pawan Kumar Singh and Shri
Vinay Prakash Singh were also recorded. In
the statements of Mohd. Khaleel, Pawan
Kumar Singh and Vinay Prakash Singh, the
evidence of last seen of accused, near the
place of incident, was found. On
01.04.2013, Parcha No.3 was prepared by
the Investigating Officer, in which the
arrest of accused-appellant is shown and
his confessional statement under Section
161 Cr.P.C. was also recorded by the
Investigating Officer; on pointing out of the
accused, one notebook was recovered from
the place of the incident and the recovery
memo of the notebook was prepared, and
the Investigating Officer also prepared the
site plan in relation to the recovery of the
notebook. On 02.04.2013, accused-
appellant was medically examined and his
pubic hair, nails and Penile Wash were
taken into possession, and this fact was
mentioned in the Parcha No.4 of the Case
Diary dated 02.04.2013. Parcha No.5 was
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prepared by the Investigating Officer on
03.04.2013. On 04.04.2013, Parcha No.6
was prepared by the Investigating Officer
and he recorded the statement of Shiv
Bahal Yadav, Shri Balram Singh and Shri
Guddu under Section 161 Cr.P.C. On
07.04.2013, Parcha No.8 was prepared by
the Investigating Officer, by which the
charge sheet was prepared and forwarded
to the court concerned.

(8) Learned Chief Judicial Magistrate,
Barabanki committed the case, vide order
dated 17.05.2013, to the court of session.
Thereafter, the case was registered as S.T.
No0.266 of 2013 (State vs. Ubhan Yadav @
Abhay Kumar Yadav) arising out of Case
Crime No0.101 of 2013, under Sections 302,
201, 376A 1P.C., P.S. Dewa Kotwali,
District Barabanki.

(9) As itis evident from the order sheet
that during the course of trial, the accused-
appellant was not in a position to engage the
counsel to defend him, then the order was
passed on 16.07.2013, by the trial court, for
appointing the Amicus Curiae/counsel for the
accused-appellant and the order sheet reveals
that on 30.07.2013, Mr. Yugal Kishore
Srivastava, Advocate was informed that he
has been appointed as Amicus Curiae to
pursue the case of accused-appellant. On the
same day, charges were framed by the court
below.

(10) The prosecution relied on the oral
testimony of PW-1 Prem Nath Singh
(informant), PW-2 Vinay Prakash (witness of
last seen), PW-3 Mohd. Khaleel (witness of
last seen), PW-4 Dr. Brijesh Kumar
Srivastava (conducted medical of the
accused-appellant and postmortem of the
body of the deceased), PW-5 Dr. Shipra
Singh (member of the postmortem team),
PW-6 Constable Ramraj, PW-7 Smt.

Siyawati (mother of the deceased) and PW-8
M.S. Khan (Investigating Officer).

It is also evident from the record that the
pubic hair, nails and Penile Wash (fluid
spilled by washing the genital part) of the
accused-appellant and pubic hair, nails &
under garments of the deceased were sent to
Forensic ~ Science  Laboratory  U.P.,
Mahanagar, Lucknow  for  chemical
examination and report of the aforesaid
articles. After examination, report was
submitted by Deputy Director FSL, Lucknow
on 03.02.2014, which is available on record,
but the same was not proved by the
prosecution.

(11) The prosecution also relied on
sixteen documentary evidences i.e. written
complaint of the informant (Ext. Ka-1),
inquest of the body of the deceased (Ext.
Ka-2), postmortem of the body of the
deceased (Ext. Ka-3), medico-legal report
of the accused-appellant (Ext. Ka-4), F.l.R.
of the incident (Ext. Ka-5), General Diary
in relation to the registration of F.I.R. of the
incident (Ext. Ka-6), Report of Chief
Medical Superintendent, District Hospital
Barabanki for postmortem of the body of
the deceased and for providing the
postmortem report of the deceased, her
clothes etc. (Ext. Ka-7), police form No.13
(Ext. Ka-8), challan last photo (Ext. Ka-9),
sample seal (Ext. Ka-10), letter to Reserve
Inspector of Police Line Barabanki (Ext.
Ka-11), Site plan prepared on 31.03.2013
(Ext. Ka-12), recovery memo in relation to
under garments, leggings and sleepers of
the deceased dated 31.03.2013 (Ext. Ka-
13), recovery memo in relation to the
notebook of the accused-appellant dated
01.04.2013 (Ext. Ka-14), site plan related
to recovery of notebook of the accused-
appellant (Ext. Ka-15) and charge sheet
dated 07.04.2013 (Ext. Ka-16).
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(12) The statement of accused under
Section 313 Cr.P.C. was recorded by the
trial court and after hearing the arguments
of the parties, the judgment and order dated
29.08.2014, which is under challenge, was
passed by the trial court.

(13) Learned counsel for the accused-
appellant has submitted that he has been
falsely implicated in the present case. He
further submitted that learned trial court
failed to appreciate the evidence in correct
perspective. He further submitted that as
per the prosecution case, the deceased went
out from her home on 30.03.2013 at 02:00
p.m., which was categorically stated by
PW-7 Smt. Siyavati (mother of the
deceased) and she also stated that when the
deceased did not come back till 04:00 -
05:00 p.m., then they started searching for
her and she also informed to her husband
who was working in the spinning mill and
came to home within half an hour and
thereafter, he along with others also started
searching, then the body of deceased was
found in the grove of Pratap Singh under
the black berry tree.

(14) Learned counsel for the accused-
appellant has further submitted that Vinay
Prakash (PW-2) was produced before the trial
court, who categorically stated before the
court below that the incident was of
30.03.2013 and on the said date when he was
coming back after watching his agricultural
field in between 02:00 - 02:30 p.m., he saw
that co-villager Ubhan Yadav @ Abhay
Kumar Yadav (accused-appellant) was
coming out from the grove of Pratap Singh
and going towards the village from the west
side of Khaliyan, and when the accused saw
the witness (Vinay Prakash), he moved fast
but the witness did not notice his activity and
went to his home; and when on the same day
at 08:00 p.m., body of the deceased was

found in the grove of Pratap Singh, then he
believed that the incident was caused by the
accused-appellant; he also stated in
examination-in-chief that the aforesaid fact
was brought into the notice of family
members of the deceased as well as
Investigating Officer and also stated that the
accused-appellant does not have good
character. He further submitted that the
witness Vinay Prakash (PW-2) was also
cross-examined in which he stated that he
was also searching for the girl (deceased) and
he also met with the informant where the
dead body of the deceased was found, but he
did not speak to him about the activities of
accused-appellant. He further deposed that no
any article was found near the body of the
deceased, and the prosecution case is
improbable on the ground that when the
deceased girl left her house at 02:00 p.m. and
the accused appellant was leaving the grove
in between 02:00 - 02:30 p.m., then when and
how the said incident was taken place.

(15) Learned counsel for the accused-
appellant has further submitted that Mohd.
Khaleel (PW-3) was also examined before
the trial court and in his examination-in-chief
he stated that on the date of incident in
between 01:30 - 02:00 p.m., the accused-
appellant passed nearby the agricultural field
in which he was working and went to the
grove of Pratap Singh; and he also deposed
that the distance of the grove is 150 mt. from
his field in which he had worked since 09:00
a.m. to 05:30 p.m. and when the body of the
girl was found then he also went to the place
of incident, but he did not speak to her family
members, and on the next date, he told to the
concerned Sub Inspector.

(16) Learned counsel for the accused-
appellant has further submitted that the
statements of Smt. Siyavati (PW-7), Vinay
Prakash (PW-2) and Mohd. Khaleel (PW-
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3) are contradictory as PW-7 Smt. Siyavati
(mother of the deceased) has categorically
stated that girl went out at 02:00 p.m. from
her home, but Vinay Prakash (PW-2) stated
that on the date of incident, accused-
appellant was going towards village in
between 02:00-02:30 p.m. from grove of
Pratap Singh and Mohd. Khaleel (PW-3)
stated that on the date of incident, he saw
the accused-appellant passing nearby the
agricultural filed at about 01:30 - 02:00
p.m., in which he was working since 09:00
a.m. to 05:30 p.m., and when the body of
the girl was found, then he also went there,
but he did not speak to the family members
of the deceased, and on the next date he
told the same to the Sub Inspector. In such
circumstances, the prosecution story is
highly doubtful.

(17) Learned counsel for the accused-
appellant has further submitted that Dr.
Brijesh Kumar Srivastava (PW-4) was
examined before the trial court, who
conducted the postmortem of the body of
the deceased along with the Dr. Shipra
Singh (PW-5). He further submitted that in
the postmortem report, seven ante-mortem
injuries were found on the body of the
deceased and doctor has opined that the
cause of death is Asphyxia due to ante-
mortem throttling. He further submitted
that the prosecution failed to send the
finger print to FSL for examination and in
the postmortem report, PW-5 Dr. Shipra
Singh has opined that rape was committed
with the deceased, her hymen is torned and
admits two finger.

The ante-mortem injuries of the
deceased are as under:-

1. Contusion over inner surface of
upper and lower lip in an area of 2.5 cm x
1.0cm.

2. Multiple abrasion 0.5 cm x 0.3 cm
(18-12 in no.) present over out aspect of
Neck in an area of 10 cm x 7 cm.

3. Abrasion over left forearm, outer
aspect, 3 cm x 0.2 cm, just below to left
elbow.

4. Abrasion 4 cm x 0.2 cm over outer
aspect of left forearm, 3 cm below to injury
No. 3.

5. Multiple abrasion (5-6 in no.)
ranging from 2 cm x 0.2 cmto 5 cm x 0.2
cm, in area of 7 cm x 7 c¢cm present over
antero lateral aspect of left forearm, 3 cm
above to left wrist.

6. Multiple abrasion (4-5 in no.) on
posterior aspect of left hand ranging from 3
cm x 0.2 cm to 6 cm x 0.2 cm, in area of 6
cm X 6 cm.

7. Multiple abrasions on postero
lateral on (Rt.) arm (18 to 20 in no.) present
in area of 20 cm x 7 cm ranging from 2 cm
x0.2cmto5cmx 0.5 cm.

(18) Learned counsel for the
accused-appellant has further submitted
that the accused was medically examined
after his arrest and his genital part was
also examined. He further submitted that
in general examination of accused, no any
obvious swelling or mark of external
injury was found and in the examination
of genital i.e. a) Prepuse (on retracton):
smegma present with abrasion 1 cm x 0.5
cm on inner aspect of prepuce on ventral
surface, just below the corona of Glans,
color of abrasion is bluish black; b)
Frenulum: torn, fibrosed; c) Glans:
Abraded contusion involving whole
periphery of glans i.e. just - anterior to
corona, bluish black in colour; and Pubic
hair as well as nail of all fingers and
Penile Wash of accused-appellant were
also taken into custody and sent to FSL
for examination along with the pubic hair
and other articles of the deceased.
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The medico-legal examination of the
accused-appellant is as under:-

A. General Exam :-

a. Average built body.

b. Height 145 cm

¢. Weight 50 kg

d. No any obivious swelling or mark
of external injury visible.

B. Local Exam of Genitalia:

a. Pepuce (on retraction) - Smegma
present with abrasion 1 cm x 0.5 cm on
inner aspect of prepuce on ventral surface,
just below the corona of glans, colour of
abrasion is bluish black.

b. Frenulum - Torn, fibrosed.

c. Glans - Abraded contusions
involving whole periphery of Glans i.e. just
anterior to corona, bluish black in colour.

C. Pubic Hair Shave/Nails
cut/wrapped in plain paper and sealed in
separate envelops and handed over to CP
concerned.

D. Penile wash done with normal
saline, sealed in a beaker and handed over
to CP concerned for further
Forensic/Pathological examn.

Opinion - KUO/caused by friction.

Duration - About 2%2-3 days.

One sealed envelop containing Pubic
Hair, Sealed envelop contains nails of all
fingers, sealed beaker containing penile
wash are handed over to CP concerned for
further Forensic/Pathological examn, and
(3) Sample of the seal handed over to CP
concerned.

(19) Learned counsel for the accused-
appellant has further submitted that the
presence of the smegma reveals that
accused appellant has not cleaned his
genitals since last 2-3 days. He further

submitted that in case, alleged abrasion on
the genital of the accused-appellant are due
to friction during the course of rape with
the deceased having narrow vagina, colour
of abrasion was to be red at the glans but in
the present case, it is said that abrasion is
bluish black in colour and if vagina was
narrow then the deceased must have injury
on her genital as in the Postmortem Report
shows that two fingers admits in vagina. In
such circumstances, the story of the
prosecution is highly improbable.

(20) Learned counsel for the accused-
appellant has further submitted that
fibrosed found on frenulum reveals that the
accused-appellant has not cleaned his
genitals properly since last 2-3 days.
Therefore, it was obligatory on the part of
the prosecution to get the DNA test to bring
out the truth. He further submitted that
prior to year 2006, there was no provisions
for DNA test, but by way of amendment by
Act No.25 of 2005 an explanation clause
was added in Section 53 of Cr.P.C., which
provides that an examination of the person
arrested as is reasonable/necessary in order
to ascertain the facts which may support
such evidence, examination is defined in
the explanation clause includes the
examination of blood, blood stain, semen,
swab in case of sexual offence, sputum and
swab hair samples and finger nails clipping
by the use of thorough and scientific
techniques including DNA profiling and
such others tests which the medical
practitioners  thinks necessary in a
particular case. He further submitted that in
the present case, the Articles were sent to
FSL and the report was also sent by Deputy
Director FSL, Lucknow, vide letter No.
190-BIO-13 dated 03.02.2014 addressed to
Chief Judicial Magistrate, Barabanki, in
which no semen or sperm was found on the
Pubic hair or slide prepared by the doctors.
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He further submitted that the aforesaid
report was taken on record by the learned
trial court on 14.03.2014 but the
prosecution, deliberately, has not proved
this report because this report denies the
prosecution story, but it was the bounden
duty of the trial court to look into the same.

(21) Learned counsel for the accused-
appellant has further submitted that learned
trial court also acted very negligently as the
order sheet reveals that on 30.07.2013,
Amicus Curiae was informed about his
engagement as counsel for the accused and
on the same date charges were framed,
meaning thereby, no opportunity was given
to the Amicus Curiae for accused appellant
to prepare for his submissions at the stage
of framing of charge. He further submitted
that the legal aid provided to the accused-
appellant was not competent enough, which
is very much evident from the manner in
which ~ the  cross-examination  was
conducted by him as well as from his
assistance given to the accused-appellant
for giving reply regarding his statement
under Section 313 Cr.P.C., as Articles 22,
39A of the Constitution of India and
Sections 303/304 r/w Rule 37 of General
Rules (Criminal), 1977 framed by
Allahabad High Court, which provides that
the legal aid provided by the Amicus
Curiae is not to be an eye wash, but it
should be real and effective. He also relied
on the decision of Hon'ble Supereme
Court in the case of Anokhilal Vs. State of
Madhya Pradesh reported in 2019 SCC
OnLine SC 1637 and the case of Shadaan
Ansari Vs. State of U.P. and others
reported in 2020 SCC OnLine All 19.

(22) Learned counsel for the accused-
appellant has further submitted that three
tests ought to be satisfied where a decision
rests solely on circumstantial evidence -

firstly, all circumstances from which
inference of guilt is drawn must be
cogently and firmly established; secondly,
the circumstances must unerringly inclined
towards the guilt of the accused; and
thirdly, the circumstances taken together
must form a chain so complete that it
becomes incapable of explanation on any
reasonable hypothesis except for the guilt
of the accused, and relied on the decision of
Hon'ble Supreme Court in the cases of
Gargi vs. State of Haryana (2019) 9 SCC
738, Chandmal vs. State of Rajasthan
(1976) 1 SCC 621, State of U.P. vs. Hari
Mohan (2000) 18 SCC 598, Raj Kumar
Singh vs. State of Rajasthan (2013) 5 SCC
722, Ganpat Singh Vs. State of M.P.
(2017) 16 SCC 353, Baiju Kumar Soni vs.
State of Jharkhand (2019) 7 SCC 773 and
Rajendra vs. State (NCT of Delhi) (2019)
10 SCC 623.

(23) Learned counsel for the accused-
appellant has further submitted that all
circumstances concerned must establish the
circumstances of a conclusive nature and
tendency and relied on the decision of
Hon'ble Supreme Court in the cases of
Hanumant Govind Nargundkar vs. State
of M.P. AIR 1952 SC 343, Shivaji
Shahabrao Bobade vs. State of
Maharastra (1973) 2 SCC 793, CBI vs.
Mahender Singh Dahiya (2011) 3 SCC
109, Ramesh Harijan vs. State of U.P.
(2012) 5 SCC 777, Sujit Biswas vs. State
of Assam (2013) 12 SCC 406, Anjan
Kumar Sarma vs. State of Assam (2017)
14 SCC 359.

(24) Learned counsel for the accused-
appellant has further submitted that in
criminal justice system, if two views are
possible on the evidence adduced in the
case, one pointing to the quilt of the
accused and other to his innocence, the
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view which is favourable to the accused
should be adopted and relied on the
decision of Hon'ble Supreme Court in the
case of Kali Ram vs. State of Himachal
Pradesh (1973) 2 SCC 808.

(25) Learned counsel for the accused-
appellant has further submitted that while
appreciating circumstantial evidence, the
trial court must adopt a very cautious
approach and great caution must be taken
to evaluate circumstantial evidence, and he
also relied on the decision of Hon'ble
Supreme Court in the cases of Hanumant
Govid Nargundkar vs. State of M.P. AIR
1952 SC 343, Gurpreet Singh vs. State of
Haryana (2002) 8 SCC 18, Ram Singh vs.
Sonia (2007) 3 SCC 1, Musheer Khan vs.
State of M.P. (2010) 2 SCC 748.

(26) Learned counsel for the accused-
appellant has further submitted that it is
trite law that in criminal cases, the burden
of proof on the prosecution is one of proof
beyond reasonable doubt as opposed to a
preponderance of possibilities, but in the
present case, the prosecution failed to
establish its case. As per the prosecution
case, the deceased went out from her house
at 02:00 p.m., and as per the statement of
Vinay Prakash (PW-2) (question No.2
framed under Section 313 Cr.P.C. by the
trial court), he has seen that in between
02:00 - 02:30 p.m. accused was coming out
from the grove of Pratap Singh and going
towards the village and as per the statement
of Mohd. Khaleel (PW-3) that he was
working in the field since 09:00 a.m. to
05:30 p.m. and the distance of the grove is
150 m from the filed he was working, but
he did not notice any incident. In such
circumstances, the prosecution story is
highly improbable. He also relied on the
decisions of Hon'ble Supreme Court in the
case of Shivaji Sahabrao Bobade vs. State

of Maharastra (1973) 2 SCC 793, State of
Karnataka vs. J. Jayalalitha (2017) 6 SCC
263, Ashok Debbarma Ram Vs. State of
Tripura (2014) 4 SCC 747.

(27) Learned counsel for the accused-
appellant has further submitted that the
prosecution  relied on  confessional
statement of the accused-appellant given to
the police and on his pointing out, the
notebook was recovered, but the same was
not sent for expert opinion in relation to
hand writing found in the notebook. He
further submitted that the PW-8 M.S. Khan
(Investigating Officer) has categorically
mentioned in the inquest report and also
deposed before the trial court that there was
sufficient light of seven petromax and head
light of one tractor in which the inquest of
the body of the deceased was conducted,
but in the inquest report no article is
mentioned which was found near to the
body of the deceased, and on the next day
i.e. 31.03.2013, recovery of under
garments, leggings and sleepers of the
deceased was done from the same place
and the same were taken into custody. On
01.04.2013, on pointing out of the accused-
appellant, the notebook was recovered from
the place where the leggings and under
garments and sleepers of the deceased were
recovered

(28) Learned counsel for the accused-
appellant has further submitted that if the
requirement of Section 27 of Indian
Evidence Act are met with i.e. 1) fact is
discovered; 2) discovery is in consequence
of the confessional statement, then the part
of the statement that relates to the fact
discovered becomes admissible in the
evidence, and the fact discovered envisaged
in the section embraces the place from
which the object was produced, the
knowledge of the accused as to it, but the
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information given must relate distinctly to
the effect, and he has also relied on the
decision of Hon'ble Supreme Court in the
cases of State of U.P. vs. Deoman
Upadhyay AIR 1960 11 SCC 1125 and
Bodhraj @ Bodha vs. State of Jammu &
Kashmir (2002) 8 SCC 45.

(29) Learned counsel for the accused-
appellant has further submitted that
constitutional safeguard provided under
Article 20(3) of Constitution of India clearly
states that no accused of an offence shall be
compelled to be a witness against himself. He
further submitted that the provisions of
Section 25, 26 & 27 of Indian Evidence Act,
1872 riw Article 20(3) of Constitution of
India make it clear that a confession made by
any person to a police officer is inadmissible
as an evidence, except for the singular cases
where such statement results in a consequent
discovery of fact, and also relied on the
decision of Hon'ble Supreme Court in the
cases of Aghnoo Nagesia vs. State of Bihar
AIR 1966 SC 119, Vasanta Sampat Dupare
vs. State of Maharastra (2015) 1 SCC 253,
Ishwari Lal Yadav vs. State of Chattisgarh
(2019) 10 SCC 437.

(30) Learned counsel for the accused-
appellant has further submitted that in
absence of direct evidence of an offence,
presumption must be an inference of the
fact drawn from another proved fact that is
likely to flow as a common course for
natural events, human conduct and
public/private business vis-a-vis facts, and
also relied on the decision of Hon'ble
Supreme Court in the cases of Limbaji vs.
State of Maharastra (2001) 10 SCC 340
and State of Andhra Pradesh vs. Vasudeva
Rao (2004) 9 SCC 319.

(31) Learned counsel for the accused-
appellant has further submitted that

decision of trial court suffers from an error
in appreciation of principles of evidentiary
law, and relied on the decision of Ram
Chander vs. State of Haryana (1981) 3
SCC 191.

(32) Learned counsel for the accused-
appellant has further submitted that judicial
approach must be cautious, circumspect
and careful and the court must exercise
prudence and each court from the Session
court to the Supreme Court must pursue
and analyse facts of the case at hand and
reach an independent conclusion.

(33) Learned counsel for the accused-
appellant has further submitted that learned
trial court observed that the accused-
appellant was aged about 35 years without
any evidence, but the medico legal report
reveals that he was aged about 27 years at
the time of incident.

(34) Learned Government Advocate
has submitted that learned trial court has
rightly appreciated the evidence deposed
before the trial court. He also submitted
that in the present case, modesty of twelve
year's old girl was outraged by the
appellant and thereafter, she was
strangulated to death. He also submitted
that involvement of the accused-appellant
was found during the course of
investigation and he was arrested on
01.04.2013. Thereafter, the accused was
medically examined and some injuries were
found on his genital parts which was
caused due to physical relation with the
deceased (minor). He also submitted that
on pointing out of the accused, his
notebook was recovered from the place of
incident which was duly proved by M.S.
Khan (PW-8). He also submitted that Vinay
Prakash (PW-2) and Mohd. Khaleel (PW-
3) deposed before the trial court that they
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had seen the accused appellant near the
grove of Pratap Singh. He also submitted
that Dr. Brijesh Kumar Srivastava (PW-4)
and Dr. Shipra Singh (PW-5) deposed
before the court below that the deceased
was killed after rape, and her pubic hair and
vaginal smear were sent to FSL along with
the nails and pubic hair of the accused-
appellant for forensic and pathological
examination. He also submitted that
postmortem of the body of the deceased
was conducted and seven anti-mortem
injuries is found on the body of the
deceased.

(35) Learned Government Advocate
has also submitted that the accused-
appellant was medically examined and
smegma was present on his genital part and
the abrasion was also found and the colour
of the abrasion is bluish black due to force
penetration. He also submitted that the
deceased was mentally retarded and the
offence comes into the category of rarest of
the rare cases as the twelve year's old
mentally retarded girl was raped and
thereafter, murdered. He also relied on the
decision of Hon'ble Supreme Court in the
case of Laxman Naik Vs. State of Orissa
reported in (1994) 3 SCC 381, Dhananjoy
Chatterjee @ Dhana vs. State of West
Bengal reported in (1994) 2 SCC 220 and
Shivaji @ Dadya Shankar Alhat Vs. State
of Maharastra reported in (2008) 15 SCC
269.

(36) Considering the arguments of the
learned counsel for the appellants as well as
learned Government Advocate and going
through the records, it is evident that the
proseuction examined four sets of eight
witnesses, which are given as under:-

1. Relation of the deceased and
witnesses of facts: Prem Nath Singh

(father of the deceased) PW-1 and Smt.
Siyavati (mother of the deceased) PW-7.

2. Last seen witnesses: Vinay Prakash
(PW-2) and Mohd. Khaleel (PW-3).

3. Experts who conducted medical
and postmortem of the deceased: Dr.
Brijesh Kumar Srivastava (PW-4) and Dr.
Shipra Singh (PW-5).

4. Police officers who conducted the
investigation and prepared Chick F.I.R.:
Constable Ram Raj (PW-6) and M.S. Khan
(Investigating Officer) PW-8.

(37) It is evident that as per the
prosecution case, F.I.R. was lodged on the
written complaint of PW-1 Prem Nath
Singh (father of the deceased), in which he
categorically mentioned that his younger
daughter went out from her home at 02:00
p.m., but she did not come back, as a result,
search was started and later on, her dead
body was found under the black berry tree
in the grove of Pratap Singh situated in the
southern side of the village; thereafter, the
F.I.LR. was lodged on 30.03.2013 and the
written complaint was proved by him as
Ext. Ka-1. Later on, inquest of the body of
the deceased was conducted by M.S. Khan
(PW-8) and the inquest report was prepared
as Ext. Ka-2, and in the inquest report no
article has been mentioned which was
found near the body of the deceased, as in
the inquest report it is mentioned that the
inquest was conducted in the light of seven
petromax and head light of one tractor in
the night, but neither the leggings, under
garments and sleepers of the deceased nor
notebook of the accused was recovered. On
the next date, site plan was prepared by the
Investigating Officer and he found
leggings, under garments and sleepers of
the deceased from the place of incident and
thereafter, the statement of Vinay Prakash
(PW-2) and Mohd. Khaleel (PW-3) was
recorded by the Investigating Officer under
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Section 161 Cr.P.C., in which they stated
that the accused-appellant was seen by
them near the grove of Pratap Singh. The
accused-appellant was taken into custody
on 01.04.2013 and he confessed the crime
as deposed in the statement deposed before
the trial court that on his call, the deceased
came in the grove where he raped her and
when she told him that she will inform
about the incident to her family members,
then he strangulated her throat and dragged
her body under the black berry tree with the
intention to hide, and he also stated that
during the course of incident, his notebook
fell down at the place of incident and
suggested PW-8 that the same could be
recovered from the place of incident, then
the recovery of notebook was made; but the
notebook was not sent to the forensic
laboratory for verifying the handwriting
found in the notebook.

(38) It is also evident that PW-7 Smt.
Siyavati (mother of the deceased) has
categorically stated in her statement that
the deceased went out at 02:00 p.m. from
her house, and Vinay Prakash (PW-2) has
categorically stated in his statement that on
30.03.2013, he was coming back after
watching his agricultural field in between
02:00-02:30 p.m. then he saw that accused-
appellant was coming out from the grove of
Pratap Singh and going towards the village
and after seeing him, the accused started
moving fast, but he did not notice his
activities and went to his home; and he also
stated that the body of the deceased was
found in the grove of Pratap Singh at 08:00
p.m., then he believed that there is a
possibility for committing the crime by the
accused-appellant and this fact was also
told to the family members of the deceased
as well as Sub Inspector. The relevant part
of the statement of PW-2 is being
reproduced as under:-

ay,
:
o
5
o

ST BIR 3f&Terd ST
I I1ed o fBar B @ H S9 91d &1 Gerran
ST & ERATAl I T AR H fAr oar) R TE
T HY SR S AW FART &1

H 396 uRIR &1 781 § A1 ggo § T B AnT
| g M gg W I 99 oo g3 & @y A
T @ 8 AT ASHER A @7 T YT 9
AT TSP B g3 Y@ | W FIaNT §Heal &
T @ IR W qored g off | Sa §Hg W
YT B SHY P Al H B IR H A8
AT | O R T G99 999 @ SN H 9arr o |
I I G 3 et @ 9 gafery gamr Sfud
qE TS| AT B M U gferarar df W
AT Pl A% ARG T8l GAT oI | H <R el
AT o | TS & Fds SN Sl 3 | &R
SIS W1 gA o T o1 | SRR S @ Jrerar 9
BT T ATl §Td HT UHATT DY gary o |

(39) It is also evident that Mohd.
Khaleel (PW-3) also stated before the trial
court that on the date of incident, he was
working in the agricultural field of Pawan
Kumar along with the children since 09:00
a.m. to 05:30 p.m. and in between 01:30 -
02:00 p.m., accused-appellant passed
nearby the field in which he was working
and went in the grove of Pratap Singh; and
he also stated that the grove of Pratap
Singh is situated 150 mt away from the
field in which he was working and when
the body of the deceased was found, then
he also went to the place of incident but he
did not speak to the informant about the
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aforesaid incident. On the next date he
stated to the Investigating Officer that
Ubhan Yadav was going towards the grove
of Pratap Singh. The relevant para of the
statement of PW-3 is reproduced as under:-

IS ST ST ATE U @ a1 B H
AU gl & W YA FAR B W H AGG W
e oFm X' o | S T W9y T S
To o & SS9 @9 W ¥R W Mg B SUA

, T

# oy a7 o1 HY 91T @ ERATl DI A8l gadrm
of f& e fell &1 ¥ g & <_im St &1
garar o fb H9 ST I1ST BT ST <@ 97|

(40) As in the present case, PW-1
Prem Nath Singh and PW-7 Smt Siyawati
(parents of the deceased) have categorically
deposed that at 02:00 p.m., deceased went
out to play; and Vinay Prakash (PW-2)
deposed that on the date of incident at

02:00 - 02:30 p.m. when he was coming
back after watching his agricultural field,
he saw that accused-appellant was coming
out from the grove of Pratap Singh and
going towards village; and Mohd. Khaleel
(PW-3) deposed that he was working in the
agricultural filed of Pawan Kumar along
with his children and planting the
peppermint then he saw that in between
01:30 - 02:00 p.m. accused-appellant was
going towards the grove of Pratap Singh,
and he also stated that he was working in
the filed since 09:00 a.m. to 05:30 p.m., but
he has not stated that he heard any noise or
crying of the deceased, and he also stated
that the grove of Pratap Singh is situated
150 m away from the field in which he was
working.

(41) In such circumstances, the
prosecution story is contradictory from the
statement of PW-2 Vinay Prakash, as when
PW-2 admitted that accused-appellant was
going towards the village in between 02:00
- 02:30 p.m. then there is no probability of
involvement of the accused-appellant in the
alleged incident; and the learned court
below failed to deal the statement of PW-1,
PW-2, PW-3 and PW-7 as the statements of
PW-1, PW-2, PW-3 and PW-7 are
discussed by the learned trial court at page
16-17, in which it is mentioned that the
deceased went out from her house at 02:00
p.m. and at 02:00 - 02:30 p.m., the accused
was seen by PW-2 when he was coming
back to village from the grove of Pratap
Singh, but this issue was not dealt and
decided by the trial court. The relevant part
of the findings of the court below in
relation to Vinay Prakash (PW-2), Mohd.
Khaleel (PW-3) and Smt. Siyavati (PW-7)
are being reproduced as under:-

"R 39 9l & 9Rg R Iga S
qEd B FMI FAR IGd BT Qg dol fad H
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yag Rig @ 91 9 e sxmad B uf¥Ed
Hfered ¥ AR Mg P TRE S T @
Hple a<g fhar S 9o | el rier aRaer &
B I1e € e gRT HEl W 7 fh 99 9Hd
P W H w4l 98 off |yt @n queR #
U= Wt H R @ fow S g1 Al @
e yrpfae vd fawaea g

e A0 Welldl WoSejo—3 o 37U Aed H
HET 2 5 TS & T AT ATE Ugel U+ qedt
% AT Y9 FAR b Wd H Avgy TR UmRAT
T G AT| 99 & ¥y WS¢ &1 9ol faT

el 5 Pl & 6 S qH P OER AWT Al ATal
P ASH! B A B DI TR fHell TAT Ao—ATS
313 T9 TSDI BT ¥@ Uard R &I a1 F WM
B3| 41C H 39 AIEll & THeT gard UeT ¥ UHIGA
R gRT I GG @ T 7 6 98 9l @

2 R el & g & &7 uad R & @a
AUTRAT o T Se—al dol T § 99 Wd
A BIPR SHAURT I AT FAR D Pl IR
garg Rig & a7 # 9 R IE fear S 9|
9 A & weg f uefas, uEiie 9 Safis
2| el grier aRkder &1 e arell § | Heigd
ot Ifad 2| Al o1 ey fvawg g

(42) It is well settled by the Hon’ble
Supreme Court in the cases ofGargi vs.
State of Haryana (supra), Chandmal vs.
State ofRajasthan (supra), State of U.P.
vs. Hari Mohan (supra), Rajkumar Singh
vs. State of Rajasthan (supra), Ganpat
Singh Vs.State of M.P. (supra), Baiju
Kumar Soni VS. State of
Jharkhand(supra), Rajendra vs. State
(NCT of Delhi) (supra), HanumantGovid
Nargundkar vs. State of M.P. (supra),
Shivaji SahabraoBobade vs. State of
Maharastra (supra), CBI vs. Mahender
SinghDahiya (supra), Ramesh Harijan vs.
State of U.P. (supra), SujitBiswas vs. State

of Assam (supra), Anjan Kumar Sarma vs.
Stateof Assam (supra) and Kali Ram vs.
State of Himanchal Pradesh(supra) that to
prove the commission of offence beyond
reasonabledoubt based on circumstantial
evidence an unbroken chain
ofcircumstances pointing to the guilt of the
accused alone has to beestablished and
when there is no direct or ocular evidence
of crime,the guilt can be proved by the
circumstantial evidence, but
then,circumstances from which conclusion
of guilt must be drawn mustbe fully proved
and be conclusive in nature to fully connect
theaccused with the crimes. All links in the
chain of circumstancesmust be prove
beyond reasonable doubt and the
provedcircumstances must be consistent
only with the hypothesis of guiltof the
accused alone and none else, as also
inconsistent  with  hisinnocence. The
relevant para of the judgment of Hon'ble
SupremeCourt in the case Kali Ram Vs.
State of Himachal Pradesh(supra) is being
reproduced as under:-

"25. Another golden thread which
runs through the web of the administration
of justice in criminal cases is that if two
views are possible on the evidence adduced
in the case, one pointing to the guilt of the
accused and the other to his innocence, the
view which is favourable to the accused
should be adopted. This principle has a
special relevance in cases wherein the guilt
of the accused is sought to be established
by circumstantial evidence."

(43) As it is evident that the
postmortem of the deceased was
conductedby Dr. Brijesh Kumar Srivastava
(PW-4) and Dr. Shipra Singh(PW-5) and
seven ante-mortem injuries were found on
the body ofthe deceased, and it is also
evident from the postmortem report(Ext.



6 All. Ubhan Yadav @ Abhai Kumar Yadav Vs. State of U.P. 75

Ka-3) that no ante-mortem injury was
found on the genitalparts of the deceased as
the hymen was torned and Vagina
admitstwo finger; and PW-4 deposed that
no injury was found either onthe thigh or in
the genital part of the deceased; PW-4 also
statedthat accused was medically examined
and smegma was foundpresent with
abrasion in blue and black color over the
glans and heopined that there is a
possibility that due to intercourse with
aminor such injury may occur on the
genital part of the accused dueto friction
and that the above injury was two and a
half to threedays' old, but on the other side
PW-5 Dr. Shipra Singh opined thathymen
was torn and two fingers admit in vagina,
therefore, it showsthat abrasion found on
the Genital of the accused-appellant do
notsupport the prosecution case, in case
vagina of the deceased wasnarrow then
injuries must be also there.

(44) Report of the Forensic Science
laboratory was discussed by the trial court
at page 20-21 of the judgment and
mentioned that neither any semen nor any
spermatozoa was found. As it is evident
from the medico-legal report of the
accused-appellant that smegma was
present, therefore, in case, the offence was
committed by the appellant then the
spermatozoa was to be found in the FSL
report, but the same was not found; and
with regard to the matching of the semen,
we find it from Taylor's Principles and
Practice of Medical Jurisprudence, 2nd
Edition (1965) as observed by the Hon'ble
Supreme Court in the case of Krishan
Kumar Malik vs. State of Haryana (2011)
7 SCC 130 that spermatozoa may retain
vitality (or free motion) in the body of a
woman for a long period, and movement
should always be looked for in wet
specimens. The actual time that

spermatozoa may remain alive after
ejaculation cannot be precisely defined, but
is usually a matter of hours. Seymour
claimed to have seen movement in a fluid
as much as 5 days old. The detection of
dead spermatozoa in stains may be made at
long periods after emission, when the fluid
has been allowed to dry. Sharpe found
identifiable spermatozoa often after 12
months and once after a period of 5 years.
Non-motile spermatozoa were found in the
vagina after a lapse of time which must
have been 3 and could have been 4 months.
Had such a procedure been adopted by the
prosecution, then it would have been a
foolproof case for it and against the
accused-appellant and the Hon'ble Supreme
Court also observed in the aforesaid
decision that after incorporation of Section
53-A in Cr.P.C. w.ef. 23.06.2020, it
becomes necessary for the prosecution to
go in for DNA test in rape cases,
facilitating the prosecution to prove its case
against the accused, but in the present case,
neither DNA test was examined by the
prosecution nor the report of FSL support
the prosecution case. The relevant part of
the judgment delivered by the Hon'ble
Supreme Court in the case of Krishan
Kumar Malik vs. State of Haryana (supra)
is reproduced as under:-

"43. With regard to the matching of
the semen, we find it from Taylor's
Principles and Practice of Medical
Jurisprudence, 2nd Edn. (1965) as under:

"Spermatozoa may retain vitality (or
free motion) in the body of a woman for a
long period, and movement should always
be looked for in wet specimens. The actual
time that spermatozoa may remain alive
after ejaculation cannot be precisely
defined, but is usually a matter of hours.
Seymour claimed to have seen movement in
a fluid as much as 5 days old. The detection
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of dead spermatozoa in stains may be made
at long periods after emission, when the
fluid has been allowed to dry. Sharpe found
identifiable spermatozoa often after 12
months and once after a period of 5 years.
Non- motile spermatozoa were found in the
vagina after a lapse of time which must
have been 3 and could have been 4
months."

Had such a procedure been adopted by
the prosecution, then it would have been a
foolproof case for it and against the accused-
appellant.”

"44. Now, after the incorporation of
Section 53-A in the Criminal Procedure Code
w.e.f. 23-6-2006, brought to our notice by the
learned counsel for the respondent State, it
has become necessary for the prosecution to
go in for DNA test in such type of cases,
facilitating the prosecution to prove its case
against the accused. Prior to 2006, even
without the aforesaid specific provision in
CrPC the prosecution could have still
resorted to this procedure of getting the DNA
test or analysis and matching of semen of the
appellant  with that found on the
undergarments of the prosecutrix to make it a
foolproof case, but they did not do so, thus
they must face the consequences.”

(45) The Investigating Officer placed
before the trial court the confessional
statement of the accused-appellant and also
alleged recovery of notebook. In this regard,
we find that Section 25, 26 & 27 of Indian
Evidence Act, 1872, provides the law on
admissibility of confession statements under
Indian law. They provide as follows:-

"25. Confession to police-officer not to
be proved. - No confession made to a police
officer, shall be proved as against a person
accused of any offence.

26. Confession by accused while in
custody of police not to be proved against

him. -- No confession made by any person
whilst he is in the custody of a police-
officer, unless it be made in the immediate
presence of a Magistrate, shall be proved
as against such person.

27. How much of information
received from accused may be proved. --
Provided that, when any fact is deposed
to as discovered in consequence of
information received from a person
accused of any offence, in the custody of
a police- officer, so much of such
information, whether it amounts to a
confession or not, as relates distinctly to
the fact thereby discovered, may be
proved."

(46) These provisions reflect the
constitutional safeguards provided under
Article 20(3) of the Constitution of India,
which states that no accused of an
offence shall be compelled into being a
witness against himself.

(47) The Sections, read with article
20(3) of the Constitution of India make it
amply clear that a confession made by any
person to a police officer is inadmissible as
evidence, except for the singular cases
where such statement results in a
consequent discovery of fact. It is also not
res integra that confessional statements
made to the police by the accused cannot
be a basis to prove the guilt of the accused.
[Aghnoo Nagesia v. State of Bihar, AIR
1966 SC 119, Vsanta Sampat Dupare v.
State of Maharashtra, (2015) 1 SCC 253,
Ishwari Lal Yadav v. State of
Chhattisgarh, (2019) 10 SCC 437].

(48) In the case of State of UP v.
Deoman Upadhyay, AIR 1960 SC 1125, a
constitution bench of the Hon'ble Apex
Court explained the idea behind Sections
24-27 of the Act:



6 All. Ubhan Yadav @ Abhai Kumar Yadav Vs. State of U.P. 77

"17. Section 25 and 26 are manifestly
intended to hit at an evil, viz., to guard
against the danger of receiving in evidence
testimony from tainted sources about
statements made by persons accused of
offences. But these sections form part of a
statute which codifies the law relating to
the relevancy of evidence and proof of facts
in judicial proceedings. The State is as
much concerned with punishing offenders
who may be proved guilty of committing
offences as it is concerned with protecting
persons who may be compelled to give
confessional statements. If s. 27 renders
information admissible on the ground that
the discovery of a fact pursuant to a
statement made by a person in custody is a
guarantee of the truth of the statement
made by him, and the legislature has
chosen to make on that ground an
exception to the rule prohibiting proof of
such statement, that rule is not to be
deemed unconstitutional, because of the
possibility of abnormal instances to which
the legislature might have, but has not
extended the rule.”" (emphasis supplied)

(49) On interpretation of Section 27
of the Indian Evidence Act, the Hon'ble
Apex Court in Bodhraj alias Bodha v.
State of Jammu and Kashmir, (2002) 8
SCC 45 has observed that:-

"18. ..The words "so much of such
information" as relates distinctly to the fact
thereby discovered, are very important and
the whole force of the section concentrates
on them. Clearly the extent of the
information admissible must depend on the
exact nature of the fact discovered to which
such information is required to relate. The
ban as imposed by the preceding sections
was presumably inspired by the fear of the
Legislature that a person under police
influence might be induced to confess by

the exercise of undue pressure. If all that is
required to lift the ban be the inclusion in
the confession of information relating to an
object subsequently produced, it seems
reasonable to suppose that the persuasive
powers of the police will prove equal to the
occasion, and that in practice the ban will
lose its effect. The object of the provision
i.e. Section 27 was to provide for the
admission of evidence which but for the
existence of the section could not in
consequences of the preceding sections, be
admitted in evidence. It would appear that
under Section 27 as it stands in order to
render the evidence leading to discovery of
any fact admissible, the information must
come from any accused in custody of the
police.... The basic idea embedded in
Section 27 of the Evidence Act is the
doctrine of confirmation by subsequent
events. The doctrine is founded on the
principle that if any fact is discovered as a
search made on the strength of any
information obtained from a prisoner, such
a discovery is a quarantee that the
information supplied by the prisoner is
true. The information might be confessional
or non-inculpatory in nature but if it results
in discovery of a fact, it becomes a reliable
information." (emphasis supplied)

(50) Therefore, it is clear that in the
event that the requirement of Section 27 of
the Act are met with i.e. (1) a fact is
discovered (2) discovery is in consequence
of the confession statement, then the part of
the statement that relates to the fact
discovered  becomes admissible in
evidence.

(51) It also fairly settled that
interpretation that the "fact discovered”
envisaged in the section embraces the place
from which the object was produced, the
knowledge of the accused as to it, but the
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information given must relate distinctly to
that effect. [State of Maharashtra v.
Damu, (2000) 6 SCC 269, State of Punjab
v. Gurnam Kaur, (2009) 11 SCC 225,
Bhagwan Dass v. State (NCT) of Delhi,
(2011) 6 SCC 396, Rumi Bora Dutta v.
State of Assam, (2013) 7 SCC 417]

(52) It is also settled position that
Section 27 only becomes applicable when
the confession statement leads to the
discovery of a new fact. In Madhu v. State
of Kerala, (2012) 2 SCC 399, the Hon'ble
Apex Court clarified that:

"47. ...The exception postulated under

information received from an Accused
person in police custody. Thus, there must
be a discovery of fact not within the
knowledge of police officer as a
consequence of information received. Of
course, it is axiomatic that the information
or disclosure should be free from any
element of compulsion. The next component
of Section 27 relates to the nature and
extent of information that can be proved. It
is only so much of the information as
relates distinctly to the fact thereby
discovered that can be proved and nothing
more. ...The rationale behind this provision
is that, if a fact is actually discovered in
consequence of the information supplied, it

Section 27 of the Indian Evidence Act is

affords some  quarantee  that the

applicable only if the confessional

information is true and can therefore be

statement leads to the discovery of some

safely allowed to be admitted in evidence

new fact. The relevance under the
exception postulated by Section 27
aforesaid, is limited "...as it relates

distinctly to the fact thereby discovered....".
The rationale behind Section 27 of the
Indian Evidence Act is, that the facts in
guestion would have remained unknown
but for the disclosure of the same by the

as_an incriminating factor against the
accused....

60. This Court has restated the legal
position that the facts need not be self-
probatory and the word "fact" as
contemplated by Section 27 is not limited to
"actual physical material object". It further
noted that the discovery of fact arises by

accused."

(53) In Charandas Swami v. State of
Guijarat, (2017) 7 SCC 177, the Hon'ble
Apex Court summarized the principles
under Section 27:

"59. In our view, the decision in the
case of Navjot Sandhu (Supra) [State (NCT
of Delhi) v. Navjot Sandhu alias Afsan
Guru, (2005) 11 SCC 600] has adverted to
all the previous decisions and restated the
legal position.

"121. The first requisite condition for
utilising Section 27 in_support of the
prosecution case is that the investigating
police officer should depose that he
discovered a fact in consequence of the

reason of the fact that the information
given by the Accused exhibited the
knowledge or the mental awareness of the
informant as to its existence at a particular
place. In paragraph 128, the Court noted
the statement of law in Udai Bhan (Supra)
[Udai Bhan v. State of UP, 1962 Supp (2)
SCR 830] that, "A discovery of a fact
includes the object found, the place from
which it is produced and the knowledge of
the Accused as to its existence." (emphasis
supplied)

(54) The presumption of certain facts
by the Courts in the absence of direct
evidence of an offence has been an
accepted  practice. However certain
principles guide such exercise of such
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presumption. The presumption must be an
inference of fact drawn from another
proved fact that is likely to flow as a
common course of natural events, human
conduct and public/private business vis-
avis the facts. The Courts in drawing such
presumption must look at the facts from an
angle of common sense and common
experience of man.

(55) The Hon'ble Apex Court in
Limbaji v. State of Maharashtra, (2001)
10 SCC 340 observed that:

"9. ...A presumption of fact is a type of
circumstantial evidence which in the
absence of direct evidence becomes a
valuable tool in the hands of the Court to
reach the truth without unduly diluting the
presumption in favour of the innocence of
the accused which is the foundation of our
Criminal Law. It is an inference of fact
drawn from another proved fact taking due
note of common experience and common
course of events. Holmes J. in Greer v. US
[245 USR 559] remarked "a presumption
upon a matter of fact, when it is not merely
a disguise for some other principle, means
that common experience shows the fact to
be so generally true that courts may notice
the truth". Section 114 enjoins:"the
Court may presume the existence of any
fact which it thinks likely to have happened,
regard being had to the common course of
natural events, human conduct and public
and private business, in their relation to
facts of the particular case." Having due
regard to the germane considerations set
out in the Section, certain presumptions
which the Court can draw are illustratively
set out. It is obvious that they are not
exhaustive  or  comprehensive.  The
presumption under Section 114 is, of
course, rebuttable. When once the
presumption is drawn, the duty of

producing evidence to the contra so as to
rebut the presumption is cast on the party
who is subjected to the rigour of that
presumption. Before  drawing  the
presumption as to the existence of a fact on
which there is no direct evidence, the facts
of the particular case should remain
uppermost in the mind of the Judge. These
facts should be looked into from the angle
of common _sense, common_experience of
men and matters and then a conscious
decision _has to be arrived at whether to
draw the presumption or not." (emphasis

supplied)

(56) In State of A.P. v. Vasudeva
Rao, (2004) 9 SCC 319, reiterating the
principles for presumption, noted a word of
caution in the judicial exercise of
presumption, holding that:

"17. ...Law gives absolute discretion to
the Court to presume the existence of any
fact which it thinks likely to have happened.
In that process the Court may have regard
to common course of natural events, human
conduct, public or private business vis-a-
vis the facts of the particular case. The
discretion is clearly envisaged in Section
114 of the Evidence Act. 18. ..While
inferring the existence of a fact from
another, the Court is only applying a
process of intelligent reasoning which the
mind of a prudent man would do under
similar_circumstances. Presumption is not
the final conclusion to be drawn from other
facts. But it could as well be final if it
remains undisturbed later. 19. ...Unless the
presumption is disproved or dispelled or
rebutted the Court can treat the
presumption as tantamounting to proof.
However, as a caution of prudence we have
to observe that it may be unsafe to use that
presumption to draw yet another
discretionary presumption unless there is a
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statutory compulsion. This Court has
indicated so in Suresh Budharmal Kalani v.
State of Maharashtra, (1998) 7 SCC 337 "A
presumption can be drawn only from facts
and not from other presumptions by a

process of probable and logical
reasoning"." (emphasis supplied)
(57) Applying the aforesaid

principles, can it be said that the
confessional statement led to discovery of
any new fact. Well, there is nothing on
record to establish the same as the FSL
Report does not support the prosecution
case.

(58) The decision of the trial court
suffers from an error in appreciation of
principles of evidentiary law. In Ram
Chander v. State of Haryana, (1981) 3
SCC 191, the Hon'ble Apex Court put to
itself, the question of the role of a judge
trying a criminal case. The Court observed
that:

"2. ..If a criminal court is to be an
effective instrument in dispensing justice,
the presiding judge must cease to be a
spectator and a mere recording machine.
He must become a participant in the trial
by evincing intelligent active interest by
putting questions to witnesses in order to
ascertain the truth."”

(59) This was the reason for giving
wide powers to explore very avenue and
discover the truth to the presiding judge.
The Court further observed that the Court
therefore had to actively participate in the
trial to elicit the truth and to protect the
weak and the innocent, at the same time
balancing the fact that it must not assume
the role of the prosecutor. Using Lord
Dennings' words, the Court in the
preceding decision held:

"4. ... The Court, the prosecution and
the defence must work as a team whose
goal is justice, a team whose captain is the
judge. The judge, like the conductor of a
choir, must, by force of personality, induce
his team to work in harmony; subdue the
raucous, encourage the timid, conspire
with the young, flatter and old."

(60) This has been reiterated in State
of Rajasthan v. ANI, (1997) 6 SCC 162,
where the Hon'ble Apex Court yet again
held that it was the power and duty of the
trial court to put any question to the
witnesses and the parties at any point in
order to ascertain the and discover the
relevant facts. The power given under
Section 165 of the Evidence Act was
intended to be an unbridled power to the
courts only for the reason that necessity for
eliciting the truth is primary in a criminal
trial.

"As upheld by the Hon'ble Apex Court,
the role of the higher courts is also to point
out errors in law and to lay down
jurisprudence to guide the decision-making
of the lower courts. Keeping this in mind
we have reiterated the principles that ought
to have been followed by judicial officers in
their decisions, more so in their capital
punishment sentencing. A decision without
appreciation of principles of law and facts
leads to a travesty of justice. We hope and
expect these principles are taken
cognizance in all decisions of the courts."

(61) As we find that the charges were
framed by the trial court on 30.07.2013 and
on the same day, the learned Amicus
Curiae was appointed to defend the
accused-appellant, which reveals that at the
time of framing of charges, learned Amicus
Curiae was not in position to place his
submissions, as no time was given to him
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by the court below as provided under
Section 227 of Cr.P.C. It also reveals from
the record that learned Amicus Curiae did
not make any request for time for placing
his submissions, therefore, the legal aid
provided to the accused-appellant by the
trial court was not real and effective. As it
is held by the Hon'ble Apex Court in the
case of Anokhilal Vs. State of Madhya
Pradesh (supra) that the legal aid provided
to the accused person through Amicus
Curiae must be real and effective.

(62) As we also find that the
prosecution tried to develop a case that the
abrasions found on the Prepuce and Glans
(Genitals) of the accused-appellant is due
to intercourse with the child having very
narrow vagina; in case, the prosecution
case is admitted that the injury on the
genital part of the accused-appellant is
caused due to rape with the minor having
small vagina, then as per the Modi's
Medical Jurisprudence & Toxicology,
22nd Edition, an abrasion or laceration
may be discovered on the Prepuce or Glans
penis, but more often on the fraenum, due
to forcible introduction of the organ into
the narrow vagina of a virgin, especially of
a child, but it is not necessary that there
should always be marks of injuries on the
penis in such cases; bruising and laceration
of the external genitals may be present with
redness, tender swelling and inflammation;
in nubile virgins, the hymen, as a result of
completed sexual intercourse, is usually
lacerated, having one or more radiate tears,
(more so in posterior half) the edges of
which are red, swollen and painful, and
bleed on touching, if examined within a
day or two after the act. These tears heal
within five or six days and after eight to ten
days, become shrunken and look like small
tags of tissue. But in the present case, no
such injury is found on the genital parts of

the deceased rather PW-5 Dr. Shipra Singh
opined two finger admits in vagina of the
deceased, therefore, the prosecution story is
doubtful.

(63) The other point that the
prosecution relied are the statements of
circumstantial witnesses namely Prem Nath
Singh (PW-1), Vinay Prakash (PW-2),
Mohd. Khaleel (PW-3) and Smt. Siyavati
(PW-7) that the victim, on the date of
incident, went out from her house at 02:00
p.m. and it is undisputed that Vinay
Prakash (PW-2) has seen the accused-
appellant, on the date of incident, in
between 02:00 - 02:30 p.m., coming back
from the grove of Pratap Singh; and Mohd.
Khaleel (PW-3) has admitted that he was in
the agricultural filed which is 150 mt away
from the place of incident since 09:00 a.m.
to 05:30 p.m., but he has not deposed
before the trial court that either he saw the
deceased or heard her crying. Therefore,
the prosecution story is also doubtful.

(64) As after amendment in the year
2006, under Section 53 A of Cr.P.C. it is
obligatory on the part of the prosecution to
get the DNA test to nab the actual culprit,
but in the present case, the pubic hair and
nails of the accused-appellant and two
slides of vaginal smear of the deceased
along with her pubic hair were also sent for
pathological examination but the DNA test
was not requested by the Investigating
Officer.

(65) It is also relevant to mention here
that the Forensic/Pathological examination
of VVaginal smear of the deceased was done
by the FSL, Lucknow who in turn sent a
report which was taken into record by the
trial court on 14.03.2014 and on this report,
number B31/2 was introduced but it was
not exhibited; even then the trial court
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considered in the judgment and observed
that even no semen or spermatozoa was
found, but in the injury alleged, abrasion
was found on the genital part of the
accused; and the accused-appellant was
also seen by the Mohd. Khaleel (PW-3) in
between 02:00 - 02:30 p.m. at the place of
incident, when he was going towards the
village from the place of incident,
therefore, the accused-appellant is guilty;
but the learned trial court failed to consider
the fact that in case, no spermatozoa is
found in the FSL examination of slides of
vaginal smear then it was obligatory to
conduct the DNA test; and the
Investigating Agency also failed to comply
the mandatory provisions of Section 53A of
Cr.P.C. (amended in year 2006) as held by
the Hon'ble Supreme Court in the case of
Krishan Kumar Malik vs. State of
Haryana (supra), therefore, the
prosecution story is not reliable in relation
to the manner in which alleged offence has
been committed.

(66) As in the case of minor
discrepancies found in the investigation,
Appellate Court does not interfere in the
judgment of trial court but in such a
heinous offence, the investigation was done
in very casual manner as on the date of
incident, the inquest was done in the night
in the light of seven petromax and head
light of one tractor, and in the inquest
report nothing is mentioned in the box that
whether any article/item was found at the
place of incident, near the body of the
deceased, but on the next date, the site plan
was prepared and the recovery of pair of
leggings, under garments and sleepers of
the deceased was shown and on the next
date, after arrest of the accused-appellant,
recovery of notebook of the accused is
shown on the basis of his confessional
statement, but the same was not sent to FSL

for examination of hand writing of the
accused-appellant; and the Investigating
Officer also committed blunder by not
requesting the DNA test as prescribed by
Section 53A of Cr.P.C. (amended in the
year 2006) are major lapses. In the case of
Sunil Kundu and Another vs. State of
Jharkhand reported in 2013 (4) SCC 422,
the Hon'ble Supreme Court held that on
the grant of minor lapses or irregularities in
investigation acquittal is not permitted but
major lapses those impact on the case of
the trial cannot be ignored. The relevant
para of Sunil Kundu and Another vs. State
of Jharkhand (supra) is as under :-

""29.We began by commenting on the
unhappy conduct of the investigating
agency. We conclude by reaffirming our
view. We are distressed at the way in which
the investigation of this case was carried
out. It is true that acquitting the accused
merely on the ground of lapses or
irregularities in the investigation of a case
would amount to putting premium on the
deprecable conduct of an incompetent
investigating agency at the cost of the
victims which may lead to encouraging
perpetrators of crimes. This Court has laid
down that the lapses or irregularities in the
investigation could be ignored subject to a
rider. They can be ignored only if despite
their existence, the evidence on record
bears out the case of the prosecution and
the evidence is of sterling quality. If the
lapses or irregularities do not go to the
root of the matter, if they do not dislodge
the substratum of the prosecution case, they
can be ignored. In this case, the lapses are
very serious. PW 5 Jaldhari Yadav is a
pancha to the seizure panchnama under
which weapons and other articles were
seized from the scene of offence and also to
the inquest panchnama. Independent
panchas have not been examined. The



6 All. Ubhan Yadav @ Abhai Kumar Yadav Vs. State of U.P. 83

investigating officer has stated in his
evidence that the seized articles were not
sent to the court along with the charge-
sheet. They were kept in the malkhana of
the police station. He has admitted that the
seized articles were not sent to the forensic
science laboratory. No explanation is
offered by him about the missing sanha
entries. His evidence on that aspect is
evasive. Clothes of the deceased were not
sent to the forensic science laboratory. The
investigating officer admitted that no
seizure list of the clothes of the deceased
was made. Blood group of the deceased
was not ascertained. No link is established
between the blood found on the seized
articles and the blood of the deceased. It is
difficult to make allowance for such gross
lapses. Besides, the evidence of
eyewitnesses does not inspire confidence.
Undoubtedly, a grave suspicion is created
about the involvement of the accused in the
offence of murder. It is well settled that
suspicion, however strong, cannot take the
place of proof. In such a case, benefit of
doubt must go to the accused. In the
circumstances, we quash and set aside the
impugned judgment and order [Sunil
Kundu v. State of Jharkhand, Criminal
Appeal No. 1762 of 2004, decided on 20-8-
2007 (Jhar)] . The appellant-accused are in
jail. We direct that the appellants A-1 Sunil
Kundu, A-2 Bablu Kundu, A-3 Nageshwar
Prasad Sah and A-4 Hira Lal Yadav be
released  forthwith  unless  otherwise
required in any other case."

As the Hon'ble High Court in
Criminal (Capital) Appeal N0.5298 of
2015 (Vinod and Another vs. The State of
U.P.), vide its judgment and order dated
17.02.2017 issued a direction to the State to
make investigation of criminal case more
effective, reliable and flawless. The
relevant part of the judgment in the case of

Vinod and Another vs. The State of U.P.
(supra) is reproduced as under:-

"192. In view of the above, as our
humble contribution, in order to make
investigation of Criminal cases more
effective, reliable and flawless We are
passing following directions:

(1) All the Investigating Officers shall
endeavor/make their best efforts to record
the statements of informant, victim/injured
and other important witnesses of fact, of
the case as far as possible at the earliest
and If it is not possible to do so within 24
hours from the registration of First
Information Report, they shall furnish
separate explanation for late recording of
the statement of each witness alongwith
statement of the witness concerned.

(I With a view to curtail delay in
recording the statements of
informant/victim and witnesses, to curb the
growing tendency of the witnesses to
disown their earlier statements recorded
under Section 161 Cr.P.C. and turning
hostile and to ensure their reliability, the
Investigating Officer and State Government
shall without fail inform the informant and
all the witnesses that they may submit their
evidence by e- mail/speed post or
registered post on affidavit, sworn before
the Oath Commissioner or Public Notary.
If such affidavits are filed by the informant
and the witnesses, same will be received,
taken into consideration and needful will
be done in respect of those by the 1.O. In
such cases, 1.0. will also be at liberty to
make  further  queries  with  the
informant/witnesses if need arises to do so.

(1) Copies of statements recorded
under Section 161 Cr.P.C. shall be
simultaneously provided by the
Investigating Officer to the first informant
and witnesses with intimation that if they
have any objection in respect of their
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statement or any discrepancy is found in
the same, it shall be brought to the notice
of the 1.0. at the earliest, preferably within
a week alongwith supporting evidence. An
endorsement to this effect shall also be
made by the 1.O. in the case diary.

(IV) The above directions (1), (11) and
(1) will also apply in respect of recording
statements of accused and defence
witnesses.

(V) All the Investigating Officers will
collect each and every material and piece
of evidence available at the place of
incident and at the earliest and if not done
so within 24 hours, they will furnish their
explanation to that effect.

(V1) 1.O. will prepare site plan of each
and every place connected with the crime
showing all the necessary details thereof
like distance of witness/injured/aggressor
etc.

VIl) As directed by Hon'ble Apex
Court in Prakash Vs. State of Karnataka
(supra), the prosecution must lay stress on
scientific collection and analysis of
evidence, particularly since there are
enough methods of arriving at clear
conclusions based on evidence gathered. In
view of above, all relevant material and
evidence collected from the site, shall be
sent for Hand Writing Expert, Ballistic
Expert, Forensic Science Laboratory,
Finger Print Expert, D.N.A. Expert etc. as
the case may be, by the 1.O. for obtaining
expert opinion/report in respect to such
articles collected from the place of
incident.

(VII) Where ever it is possible and
necessary the 1.0O. will collect 'Call Details
Record' (C.D.R.) of Mobile Phones/Land
Line phones of the
victim/witnesses/accused as the case may
be, footage of C.C.TV cameras available on
the spot/near by locations and put phone
numbers/mobile numbers of suspected

persons likely to be involved in the offence
concerned on surveillance, without any
undue delay.

(1X) In all cases 1.O. will adhere strict
compliance of various provisions of
Cr.P.C., Police Act and the Regulations
related to the 'investigation'.

(X) Superior Police Authorities shall
develop effective monitoring system to
ensure strict compliance of relevant rules,
provisions and above directions by the
Investigating Officers during investigation.
In the cases of willful and intentional
violation of the aforesaid by the
Investigating Officer concerned same shall
be cured at the earliest and appropriate
action may be taken against the erring
Investigating Officer.

(XI) The State Government shall
ensure vide publicity of these directions by
its publication in the news papers,
electronic media and display on notice
boards at the offices of superior Police
Officers.

(XI1) A copy of this order shall be sent
to Chief Secretary and Secretary (Home),
Government of Uttar Pradesh for
compliance of this order. They will submit
their compliance report on affidavit within
3 months from the date of receipt of this
order, to this Court.

(XI) The Registrar General of this
Court is directed to send a copy of this
order to the Chairmen of all the District
Legal Services Authority and the State
Legal Services Authority for vide publicity
of above directions.”

(67) As it is also evident that the
statement of the accused-appellant under
Section 313 Cr.P.C. was taken by the trial
court by framing eleven questions on
08.08.2014, but prosecution evidence
available on record was not put to the
accused-appellant properly; as in Question
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No.1, it is not mentioned that the deceased
went out from her home at 02:00 p.m on
the date of incident, in Question No.2 it is
mentioned that on the date of incident at
about 02:30 p.m., PW-2 Vinay Prakash
has seent the accused-appellant coming
out from the grove in question and in the
Question No.3, in relation to the
deposition of PW-3 Mohd. Khaleel, in
which time is not explained properly and it
is also not stated that he was working in
the agricultural field since 09:00 a.m. to
05:30 p.m., and in question no. 3 this fact
was not mentioned which is most relevant
in the identical manner, and other
questions based on deposition of other
witnesses are having major lapses. The
contents of statement of accused-appellant
recorded under Section 313 Cr.P.C.
prepared by the trial court and the reply of
the  accused-appellant, who  was
represented by the Amicus Curiae, in
relation to them is as under:-
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08.08.2014

(68) As the accused-appellant
categorically mentioned that due to enmity
in between the family members of the
deceased and him in relation to water
drainage, he has been falsely implicated in
the present case by the police only to work
out the case to avoid their responsibilities.
The circumstances on  which  the
prosecution relied upon has not been put
under Section 313 Cr.P.C. to the accused-
appellant which prejudice his right to lead
effective defence and a fair trial which has
caused miscarriage of justice. As it is well
settled by the Hon'ble Supreme Court in
the case of Mahesh Tigga vs. State of
Jharkhand (2020) 10 SCC 108 that in
criminal trial under Section 313 Cr.P.C., it
is obligatory on the trial court to explain
incriminating evidence against him in
question to furnish evidence against his
defence. but in the present case, in very
casual manner, questions are framed. The
Hon'ble Supreme Court in Criminal
Appeal No0.1735-1736 of 2010 (Satbir
Singh & Another vs. State of Haryana)
vide judgment and order dated 28.05.2021
again reiterated the aforesaid principles.
The relevant paras of judgment of

Maheswar Tigga vs. State of Jharkhand
(supra) and Satbir Singh & Another vs.
State of Haryana (supra) are reproduced
as under:-

Maheswar _Tigga vs. State of
Jharkhand (supra)

"9. This Court, time and again, has
emphasised the importance of putting all
relevant questions to an accused under
Section 313 CrPC. In Naval Kishore Singh
v. State of Bihar [Naval Kishore Singh v.
State of Bihar, (2004) 7 SCC 502 : 2004
SCC (Cri) 1967], it was held to be an
essential part of a fair trial observing as
follows: (SCC p. 504, para 5)

"5. The questioning of the accused
under Section 313 CrPC was done in the
most unsatisfactory manner. Under Section
313 CrPC the accused should have been
given opportunity to explain any of the
circumstances appearing in the evidence
against him. At least, the various items of
evidence, which had been produced by the
prosecution, should have been put to the
accused in the form of questions and he
should have been given opportunity to give
his explanation. No such opportunity was
given to the accused in the instant case. We
deprecate the practice of putting the entire
evidence against the accused put together
in a single question and giving an
opportunity to explain the same, as the
accused may not be in a position to give a
rational and intelligent explanation. The
trial Judge should have kept in mind the
importance of giving an opportunity to the
accused to explain the adverse
circumstances in the evidence and the
Section 313 examination shall not be
carried out as an empty formality. It is only
after the entire evidence is unfurled the
accused would be in a position to articulate
his defence and to give explanation to the
circumstances appearing in evidence
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against him. Such an opportunity being
given to the accused is part of a fair trial
and if it is done in a slipshod manner, it
may result in imperfect appreciation of
evidence.""

Satbir Singh & Another vs. State of
Haryana (supra)

"22. It is a matter of grave concern
that, often, Trial Courts record the
statement of an accused under Section 313,
CrPC in a very casual and cursory manner,
without  specifically  questioning the
accused as to his defense. It ought to be
noted that the examination of an accused
under Section 313, CrPC cannot be treated
as a mere procedural formality, as it is
based on the fundamental principle of
fairness. This provision incorporates the
valuable principle of natural justice- "audi
alteram partem”, as it enables the accused
to offer an explanation for the
incriminatory material appearing against
him. Therefore, it imposes an obligation on
the part of the Court to question the
accused fairly, with care and caution. The
Court must put incriminating
circumstances before the accused and seek
his response. A duty is also cast on the
counsel of the accused to prepare his
defense, since the inception of the trial,
with due caution...”

(69) Learned trial court has also
observed that the deceased was mentally
retarded and the accused-appellant is having a
bad character but there are no evidence
available on record in these regard.

(70) As the Hon'ble Supreme Court in
the Case of Reena Hazarika vs. State of
Assam (2019) 13 SCC 289 that unlike
prosecution, accused is not required to
establish defence beyond all reasonable doubt

- accused has only to raised doubts on a
preponderance of probability. The relevant of
the aforesaid judgment is reproduced as
under:-

""22.The entirety of the discussion, in the
facts and circumstances of the case, the
nature of evidence available coupled with the
manner of its consideration, leaves us
satisfied that the links in the chain of
circumstances in a case of circumstantial
evidence, cannot be said to have been
established leading to the inescapable
conclusion that the appellant was the
assailant of the deceased, incompatible with
any possibility of innocence of the appellant.
The possibility that the occurrence may have
taken place in some other manner cannot be
completely ruled out. The appellant is
therefore held entitled to acquittal on the
benefit of doubt. We accordingly order the
acquittal and release of the appellant from
custody forthwith, unless wanted in any other
case."

(71) The Court is conscious of the fact
that in the present case, 12 years' old girl has
been sexually assaulted and done to death by
throttling, but the fact remains that whether it
was the accused-appellant who has committed
the alleged crime appears to be doubtful. In
such circumstances, the Court comes to the
conclusion that the manner in which the
prosecution tried to establish the execution of
crime is doubtful. Hence, the prosecution failed
to prove its case beyond reasonable doubt. The
incident does not appear to have happened in
the manner in which the prosecution want the
Court to believe it had happened. Therefore, the
accused-appellant becomes entitle for the
benefit of doubt and the appeal deserves to be
allowed.

(72) For all the aforesaid reasons, we
allow the Criminal Appeal No. 1202 of 2014
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filed by accused-appellant Ubhan Yadav @
Abhai Kumar Yadav and set aside the
judgment of conviction dated 29.08.2014
passed by Shri Satya Prakash Naik,
Additional Sessions Judge, Court No.1,
Barabanki in S.T. No.266 of 2013 arising out
of Case Crime No0.101 of 2013, under
Sections 302, 201 & 376 I.P.C., P.S. Dewa,
District Barabanki, in Criminal Appeal
No0.1202 of 2014 (Ubhan Yadav @ Abhay
Kumar Yadav Vs. State of U.P.).

(73) The Death reference made by the
trial court with respect to the accused-appellant
- Ubhan Yadav @ Abhai Kumar Yadav - is
also set aside.

(74) The accused-appellant - Ubhan
Yadav @ Abhai Kumar Yadav - is in jail. Let
the accused-appellant be released forthwith
unless required in any other case.

(75) Itis further directed that the appellant
namely Ubhan Yadav @ Abhai Kumar Yadav
shall furnish bail bond with sureties to the
satisfaction of the court concerned in terms of
the provision of Section 437-A Cr.P.C.

(76) Let the lower court record along with
the present order be transmitted to the trial court
concerned for necessary information and
compliance forthwith.

(77)  The party shall file computer
generated copy of order downloaded from the
official website of High Court Allahabad, self
attested by it alongwith a self attested identity
proof of the said person(s) (preferably Aadhar
Card) mentioning the mobile number(s) to
which the said Aadhar Card is linked, before
the concerned Court /Authority /Official.

(78) The concerned
Court/Authority/Official shall verify the
authenticity of the computerized copy of the

order from the official website of High Court
Allahabad and shall make a declaration of
such verification in writing.

(2021)06ILR A88
APPELLATE JURISDICTION
CRIMINAL SIDE
DATED: ALLAHABAD 23.06.2021

BEFORE

THE HON'BLE MUNISHWAR NATH
BHANDARI, J.
THE HON'BLE SHAMIM AHMED, J.

Criminal Appeal No. 7507 of 2018
and
Criminal Appeal No. 7755 of 2018

Piyush Kumar Verma
Versus

...Appellant

State of U.P. ...Respondent
Counsel for the Appellant:
Sri Sarvesh, Sri Kamlesh Singh, Sri S.K. Verma

Counsel for the Respondent:
A.G.A., Sri Lal Mani Singh, Sri Raghuvir Sharan
Singh

(A) Criminal Law - Code of Criminal
Procedure, 1973 - Section 374 - Appeals
from conviction - Scheduled
Castes/Scheduled Tribes (Prevention from
Atrocities) Act,1989 - circumstantial
evidence - surmises and conjectures.

(B) Criminal Law - Indian Penal Code,
1860 - Section 302 - murder , Section 377
- Unnatural offence - Trial Court made
reference of Section 300 I.P.C - whether a
case under Section 302 Indian Penal Code is
made out - offence under Section 377 Indian
Penal Code was committed by the accused
(Piyush kumar Verma ) - on a girl at the age of
11 years when she was not fully grown - injuries
to the deceased have been recorded in the post
mortem report - cause of death was due to
excessive bleeding and shock - evidence on
record proved commission of offence of Section
302 Indian Penal Code by accused - held - No
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illegality in the finding recorded by the
trial Court.(Para - 57)

(C) Criminal Law - Indian Penal Code,
1860 - Section 304A - Causing death by
negligence , Section 201 - Causing
disappearance of evidence of offence , or
giving false information to screen offender
- Section 202 - Intentional ommission to
give information of offence by person
bound - negligence of the accused would
not make out a case under Section 202
Indian Penal Code unless their legal
obligation is proved - appellants (Sudhir
Kumar Verma @ Mukesh Verma and Santosh
Kumar Singh) convicted and sentenced for
offence under Section 304A and 202 IPC -
acquitted under Section 201 and Section 304
IPC - prosecution failed to lead evidence to
prove that those two appellants suppressed or
disappeared the evidence - trial Court recorded
finding about negligence and not for their legal
duty - evidence produced by the prosecution
does not prove offence under Section 304A IPC
by the appellants - Held - conviction for the
offence under Section 304A and 202 IPC cannot
sustain rather they are acquitted for the offence
- impugned judgment of trial Court is set
aside.(Para - 58,60,61,64)

Criminal appeal (accused-appellant Piyush
Kumar Verma) dismissed.

Criminal appeal (Sudhir Kumar Verma @
Mukesh Verma and Santosh Kumar Singh)
allowed. (E-6)

List of Cases cited:-

Dalvir Singh Vs St. of U.P., (2004) 5 SCC 334

(Delivered by Hon’ble Munishwar Nath
Bhandari, J.)

1. These two appeals have been
preferred under Section 374(2) Code of
Criminal Procedure against the judgment
dated 05.12.2018 passed by Additional
Sessions Judge/Special Judge, Scheduled
Castes/Scheduled Tribes (Prevention from
Atrocities) Act, Kanpur Nagar.

2. The appellant Piyush Kumar
Verma has been convicted for the offence
under Section 302 and 377 Indian Penal
Code while in the connected appeal,
appellants  Sudhir Kumar Verma @
Mukesh Verma and Santosh Kumar Singh
have been convicted for the offence under
Section 304A and 202 Indian Penal Code.
The appellant Piyush Kumar Verma has
been sentenced to life imprisonment with
penalty of Rs. 50,000/- for the offence
under Section 302 Indian Penal Code and
in case of default in payment of penalty, to
undergo 03 months additional
imprisonment. He has been sentenced to 10
years rigorous imprisonment with penalty
of Rs. 25,000/- for the offence under
Section 377 Indian Penal Code and in case
of default in payment of penalty, to
undergo additional sentence of 01 month.

3. The appellants Sudhir Kumar
Verma @ Mukesh Verma and Santosh
Kumar Singh have been sentenced to 01
year rigorous imprisonment with penalty of
Rs. 20,000/- for the offence under Section
304A Indian Penal Code and in case of
default in payment of penalty, to undergo
15 days additional imprisonment. They
have been further sentenced to 03 months
imprisonment with penalty of Rs. 1000/-
for the offence under Section 202 Indian
Penal Code and in case of default in
payment of penalty, to undergo 15 days
additional imprisonment. The sentence
have been ordered to run concurrently.

4. Learned counsel for the appellants
submitted that a first information report
bearing No. 1029 of 2010 was registered on
a written report of Sandeep Tiwari resident
of Shastri Nagar, Kanpur at the instance of
Sonu Bhadauria. It was stated that Sonu
Bhadauria W/o Hamir Singh is resident of
Roshan Nagar. She dropped her daughter
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Divya (the deceased) at 07:30 A.M. on
27.09.2010 in the school. The daughter (the
deceased) was dropped at her residence at
around 01:00 P.M. on 27.09.2010 by the
female attendant of the school in critical
condition. When the owner of the house in
which Sonu Bhadauria was a tenant asked
about the condition of the girl, attendant
did not disclose any fact. The daughter was
undress. Her bloodstained dress was found
in the bag and in her private part, cotton
and cloth were inserted. The girl was not
conscious. Her body turned pale due to
excess bleeding from the private part. The
daughter was immediately taken to the
hospital where she was declared dead and
death said to have taken place almost an
hour back.

5. On the basis of written report
Exhibit A-1, the first information report
was registered on the same date, i.e.,
27.09.2010 at around 05:45 P.M. for the
offence under Section 376, 302 Indian
Penal Code against the unknown person.
The report (Exhibit A-3) was prepared by
Head Constable Pancham Lal and it has
been disclosed in "Nakal Rapat" and,
accordingly, "Rojnamcha™ was prepared.

6.  After registration of the first
information report, post mortem was
conducted, of which a video was prepared.
The post mortem of the deceased aged
about 11 years was conducted by the Board
consists of four doctors. It was on
28.09.2010. The post mortem report was
prepared by Dr. Sandeep Srivastava. In the
post mortem report, five injuries were
reported, out of which, injury no. 4 was
old. The hymen of the deceased girl was
found intact. No injury was found on
vagina, however, her rectum was found
lacerated and perforated size 2 x 1.5 cm. It
was upto sigmoid colon.

7. The investigation was initially
conducted by PW-30 Anil Kumar Singh
and, later on, it was transferred to CBCID.
After recording statements of the witnesses
and collection of the evidence, the charge-
sheet for the offence under Section 377,
302, 376(2F), 511 Indian Penal Code was
submitted against the accused Piyush
Kumar Verma while other accused Chandra
Pal Verma, Sudhir Kumar Verma @
Mukesh Verma were charge-sheeted for the
offence under Section 201, 202 Indian
Penal Code apart from other charges.

8. After receipt of the charge-sheet,
cognizance of the offence was taken by the
Court of Special C.J.M., Kanpur Nagar.
The case was remitted to the Court of
Sessions on 09.03.2011 for trial. The trial
Court framed the charges against accused
Piyush Kumar Verma for the offence under
Section 377, 376(2F), 302, 201 Indian
Penal Code while charges for the offences
under Section 304/34, 109, 201, 202 Indian
Penal Code were framed against accused
Chandra Pal Verma, Sudhir Kumar Verma
@ Mukesh Verma and Santosh Kumar
Singh. The trial then commenced, in which,
prosecution produced 32 witnesses. 40
documents were exhibited to prove their
case. Four Court witnesses were examined.
After completion of the prosecution
evidence, the statements of the accused
were recorded under Section 313 Code of
Criminal Procedure. The accused produced
two witnesses in defence apart from one
document to prove their innocence. After
completion of the trial, the accused-
appellant Piyush Kumar Verma was
convicted for the offences under Section
302, 377 Indian Penal Code while other
two appellants, namely, Sudhir Kumar
Verma @ Mukesh Verma and Santosh
Kumar Singh were convicted for the
offences under Section 304A, 202 Indian
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Penal Code and sentenced, as mentioned
earlier. Chandra Pal Verma was acquitted
of the offences.

9. Aggrieved by the judgment of the
trial Court, these appeals have been
preferred.

10. Learned counsel for the appellants
submitted that accused Piyush Kumar
Verma was having excellent academic
record. He did his Post Graduation in
Science with first division. He was not
having past history of crime. He has been
made victim of unfavourable
circumstances. He has been convicted and
sentenced for the offence under Section
302, 377 Indian Penal Code without having
any evidence against him. The judgment of
the trial Court is based on surmises and
conjectures. It was a case of circumstantial
evidence and without there being a chain of
circumstances, the appellants have been
convicted.

11. Learned counsel submitted that
the appellant Piyush Kumar Verma was not
knowing the deceased Divya. He had no
interaction with her at any point of time.
Therefore, there was no enmity or motive
or even intention of the appellant Piyush
Kumar Verma for murder of deceased
Divya. The appellant Piyush Kumar Verma
has still been convicted for the offence
under Section 302 Indian Penal Code.
Learned trial Court ignored even the
definition of "murder" punishable under
Section 302 Indian Penal Code.

12. It is further submitted that the
appellant Piyush Kumar Verma was
running a separate school, different than the
school in which incident said to have taken
place. His presence at the place of the
incident could not be proved by the

prosecution for the offence under Section
377, 302 Indian Penal Code yet he has been
convicted for those offences by misreading
evidence produced by the prosecution.

13. The appellants were falsely
implicated due to the political and social
rivalry between his father Chandra Pal Verma
and Sri Dharamvir Bhadauria, a B.S.P.
Leader and brother-in-law of the informant
Sonu Bhadauria. Due to political reasons, the
Investigating Officer was pressurized to
falsely implicate the appellants and, therefore,
the entire investigation was manipulated. It is
prima-facie proved from the fact that in the
recovery memo (Exhibit A-5), two lines were
added by manipulating to show the recovery
of underwear of the deceased from the place
of occurrence. The recovery memo (Exhibit
A-5) was signed by Anamika Kushwaha and
Mohita Srivastava but they did not endorse
last two lines. Thereby, the recovery of the
underwear of the deceased from the place of
occurrence becomes doubtful yet relied by
the trial Court to connect accused Piyush
Kumar Verma with the crime.

14. Learned counsel further submitted
that the deceased Divya was unwell yet
dropped by complainant PW-3 Sonu
Bhadauria at the school. The fact about ill-
health of the deceased was proved by the
statement of prosecution witness Smt. Vimla
Devi (PW-4) yet it was ignored by the trial
Court. It was also stated that no sperm or
semen was found on the skirt of the deceased
yet the trial Court has recorded finding about
availability of sperm or semen on the skirt
ignoring Exhibit A-12 report No. 272 Bio 10.
Thus, the finding of learned trial Court is
perverse.

15. It is further stated that act of
Forensic Science Laboratory, Lucknow was
also fraudulent. After collection of blood for
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DNA, under the order of the Court, they
approached CDFD, Hyderabad for test report
without any justified reason and against the
Memorandum of Understanding (M.O.U.)
with CDFD, Hyderabad. The M.O.U. entered
between Forensic Science Laboratory,
Lucknow and CDFD, Hyderabad was only
for training purposes and, therefore, only the
M.O.U. make a mention about collection of
300 blood samples of the population of Uttar
Pradesh on random basis. The copy of the
M.O.U. was produced but has been ignored
by the trial Court rather it relied on the report
of CDFD, Hyderabad to connect the accused
with the crime. The finding was recorded by
misreading of the statement of PW-23 Rajiv
Paliwal, Scientist of Forensic Science
Laboratory, Lucknow. He deposed that high
techniques for Y-STR like power plex
R.T.P.C., contifiler were not available at
Forensic Science Laboratory, Lucknow,
therefore, had gone to CDFD, Hyderabad.
DNA test was conducted at CDFD,
Hyderabad in the presence of PW-23 Rajiv
Paliwal. The statement of PW-23 Rajiv
Paliwal has been relied by the trial Court in
ignorance of the letter dated 24.12.2012
obtained by the appellant under Right to
Information Act, 2005. CDFD, Hyderabad
informed that no case was registered at the
laboratory out of the First Information Report
No. 1029 of 2010 registered at Police Station
Kalyanpur, Kanpur Nagar.

16. In view of the above, a fraudulent
report was prepared and produced by the
prosecution and relied by the trial Court to
show that semen found on the underwear
and skirt of the deceased was matched to
DNA blood group of the accused Piyush
Kumar Verma whereas no semen was
found on the skirt.

17. The trial Court for it even ignored
that as per the order, the blood sample of

Piyush Kumar Verma was collected on
22.12.2010 while the Scientist PW-23
Rajiv Paliwal had gone to CDFD,
Hyderabad before it, i.e., on 16.12.2010,
therefore, there was no possibility of
carrying blood sample of accused-appellant
Piyush Kumar Verma. His blood sample
was not taken on 09.11.2010. The trial
Court yet recorded its finding that blood
sample of 13 donors was taken by CW-3
Dr. Satish Chandra Verma in the Court of
C.M.M., Kanpur Nagar on 09.11.2010. The
trial Court has ignored the statement of the
accused-appellant under Section 313 Code
of Criminal Procedure in regard to the date
of collection of blood sample only on the
ground that no evidence has been produced
in defence to prove that blood sample of
Piyush Kumar Verma was taken on
22.12.2010 and thereby, relied on the
statement of CW-3 Dr. Satish Chandra
Verma.

18. Learned counsel further submitted
that the alleged blood samples of the donors
including accused Piyush Kumar Verma,
Sudhir Kumar Verma @ Mukesh Verma and
Chandra Pal Verma were said to be
containing the case crime number as per the
statement of PW-19 Dr. Ashok Kumar Jatav
and PW-26 Ravi Chaturvedi. The other
witness Dr. Archana Tripathi (PW-22),
however, deposed that the sample received
by Forensic Science Laboratory, Lucknow
was not bearing the case crime number. The
fact aforesaid was ignored by the trial Court
though sufficient to prove that samples
received by Forensic Science Laboratory
were different than the sample collected by
CW-3 Dr. Satish Chandra Verma. Learned
trial Court should not have relied on the test
reports for that reason also.

19. Learned trial Court even ignored
the statement of PW-25 Dr. Alka Shukla
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who examined anal and vaginal smear of
the deceased Divya and did not find any
semen in it. The reference of Exhibits A-14
and A-15 was given for it. The aforesaid
was sufficient to show that the offence
under Section 377 Indian Penal Code was
not committed by the accused Piyush
Kumar Verma otherwise the presence of
semen would have been found in the anal
or vaginal smear of the deceased.

20. It is further submitted that to
falsely implicate the appellant Piyush
Kumar Verma, the prosecution introduced
unknown mobile number. The mobile
number 9451771705 was belonging to one
Ravi Kumar. The prosecution could not
bring any evidence about use of said
mobile number by the accused Piyush
Kumar Verma yet the trial Court recorded
finding regarding use of said mobile
number by the accused Piyush Kumar
Verma and based on CDR, connected the
accused Piyush Kumar Verma with the
crime. The presence of the accused Piyush
Kumar Verma was found nearby school at
the time of incident as CDR was showing
many phone calls from the aforesaid phone
number to his father Chandra Pal Verma
and co-accused Sudhir Kumar Verma @
Mukesh Verma and Santosh Kumar Singh
and Principal of the school. The trial Court
drawn inference to connect accused Piyush
Kumar Verma with the crime based on the
CDR of the phone number 9451771705 as
Ravi Kumar was not found at the address
disclosed for obtaining SIM Card. Even his
whereabouts were not found despite
sending summons and even by the Process
Server. It was presuming that an unknown
person would not frequently talk to the
father and brother of the accused Piyush
Kumar Verma apart from the staff at the
time of incident. The trial Court could not
have recorded finding based on

presumption rather it should have been
based on the evidence proving the case
beyond doubt.

21. Learned counsel further submitted
that the trial Court misread the DNA report
(Exhibit A-13) as the last line of the said
report discloses that no firm opinion can be
given regarding DNA. The trial Court yet
recorded finding that semen/sperm on the
skirt and underwear of the deceased was
matching to the DNA of Piyush Kumar
Verma. It is despite the fact that PW-22 Dr.
Archana Tripathi did not specifically stated
that sperm/semen was matching to DNA of
the accused Piyush Kumar Verma. In view
of aforesaid, this Court should interfere in
the finding recorded by the trial Court as it
is based on surmises and conjectures rather
a perverse finding has been recorded by the
trial Court. The accused should not have
been convicted in absence of the evidence
to prove the case beyond doubt. The trial
Court was in fact annoyed with the
accused-appellant. It is reflected from the
fact that a stamped application of the
accused Piyush Kumar Verma was torn off
and thereby, the trial Court passed the
judgment with bias.

22. It is further submitted that so far
as conviction and sentence of other accused
Sudhir Kumar Verma @ Mukesh Verma
and Santosh Kumar Singh are concerned,
again no evidence exists against them for
the offence under Section 304A, 202 Indian
Penal Code. They have been convicted
despite the fact that even no charge for the
offence under Section 304A Indian Penal
Code was framed against them. The prayer
is accordingly to allow both the appeals.

23. The appeal is seriously contested
by learned Additional Government
Advocate. Learned Additional Government
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Advocate has made reference of the
evidence led by the prosecution to prove its
case beyond doubt and contested all the
arguments raised by learned counsel for the
appellants. To save repetition, all those
arguments would be considered while
discussing the arguments of learned
counsel for the appellants.

Discussion and finding of the Court

24. 1t is a case of circumstantial
evidence. To find out whether the chain of
circumstances has been brought by the
prosecution to connect the accused with the
crime, we would discuss the evidence led
by both the parties by framing the subjects
to find out whether prosecution could prove
its case beyond doubt by making out a
chain of circumstances.

Place of occurrence :

25. The first circumstance relevant for
finding chain is the place of occurrence.
The first information report and the
evidence available on record shows that on
27.09.2010 at around 07:30 A.M., the
deceased Divya was dropped by her mother
at the school. She was pursuing her studies
in Class VIth. The prosecution witnesses
have proved availability of deceased Divya
in the school on 27.09.2010 and she was
sent back to her residence with school
female attendant Parveen and Maya. They
dropped the deceased at her residence at
around 01:00 P.M. on the date of
occurrence, i.e., 27.09.2010. The fact
aforesaid has been proved by PW-3 Smt.
Sonu Bhadauria apart from PW-8 Parveen,
PW-9 Maya, PW-10 Rama Dave, PW-11
Sunita Mishra, PW-12 Anamika
Kushwaha, PW-14 Sakshi Vishwakarma
and PW-16 Ekta Yadav. PW-8 to PW-14

and PW-16 are the staff members or the
student of the school belonging to the
accused family. PW-4 Vimla Devi is the
landlady of the house in which Sonu
Bhadauria and her family were residing.
She stated that on the day of occurrence,
the deceased was taken to the school by her
mother and was dropped back by the
female attendant of the school at around
01:00 P.M. She was not knowing the names
of those female attendant. The deceased
was unwell on the day of occurrence yet
mother dropped her at the school in the
morning.

26. PW-8 Parveen stated that she was
Female Attendant in the school which was
opening at around 07:45 A.M. On the day
of occurrence, she got information from the
ma'am that one child is having vomit
sensation. She later on was having
toilet/motion. She went upstairs where
deceased was found sitting in an
uncomfortable position. She lifted the
deceased and found that clotted blood is
coming out from her vagina. It was giving
foul smell. The blood spread on the skirt
and school bag. She took the girl to
bathroom and cleaned her with the water.
The blood was still coming. She was asked
to inform the deceased's mother. She
visited her house but girl's mother Sonu
Bhadauria was not found available. When
the blood was not stopped, a cloth was
inserted in vagina by Rama Ma'am. The
child was then taken to her residence by her
as well as PW-9 Maya. The landlady was
available and on her instruction, the child
was left on a cot.

27. The statement of PW-8 Parveen
has been corroborated by PW-9 Maya
regarding availability of the deceased
Divya in school on the day of occurrence,
i.e.,, 27.09.2010. She further stated about
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bleeding and dropping of the deceased at
her residence accompanying another
female attendant PW-8 Parveen. She has
described the condition of the deceased. It
is stated that she alongwith PW-8 Parveen
had placed the socks, shoe and clothes of
the child in the school bag and dropped her
at her residence in an auto.

28. PW-10 Rama Dave has also stated
about presence of the deceased in the
school on 27.09.2010. She came around
07:30 A.M. The condition of the deceased
was also described. She further stated that
after taking the classes, saw deceased
sitting in the class in an uncomfortable
condition. She asked about her health and
thereupon went on 4th floor to take lunch.
When she came back after lunch, seen
deceased lying in the classroom where
Sunita Mishra, Anamika and Mohita apart
from the female attendant Maya and
Parveen were present. On inquiry, it came
out that the girl at the age of 11 years
suffered menses, therefore, need to be
given first aid. She immediately went to her
house to bring the cloth and the pad. The
pad was placed on the vagina from where
blood clots having foul smell were coming
out. Looking to the condition, the deceased
was sent to her residence alongwith female
attendant PW-8 Parveen and PW-9 Maya.
The aforesaid witnesses have supported the
statement of other witnesses for presence of
the deceased in the school on 27.09.2010
till she was dropped at her residence at
around 01:00 P.M. The fact aforesaid has
been corroborated by PW-11 Sunita
Mishra, PW-12 Anamika Kushwaha, PW-
13 Mohita Srivastava, PW-14 Sakshi
Vishwakarma and PW-16 Ekta Yadav. The
statement of those witnesses could prove
the presence of the deceased in the school
on the day of occurrence till 01:00 P.M. All
the witnesses other than PW-4 Vimla Devi

are none-else but the staff members, the
employee and the student of Bharti Gyan
Sthali School run by Chandra Pal Verma,
i.e., accused Piyush Kumar Verma and
Sudhir Kumar Verma @ Mukesh Verma's
father. Thus, presence of the deceased in
the school on the day of occurrence was
proved by the prosecution. The fact
aforesaid has not been contested by the
appellant during the course of the
argument.

Whether occurrence took place in
the school :

29. The another chain relevant would
be as to whether any occurrence took place
in the school on 27.09.2010. For the
aforesaid, reference of the statements of
PW-8 to PW-14 are relevant. Those
witnesses have described condition of the
deceased but did not state about
commission of the offence of Section 377
Indian Penal Code. The medical condition
of the girl was shown to be poor and said to
have suffered first menses, thus, excessive
bleeding. To prove offence under Section
377 Indian penal Code, the prosecution
produced PW-15 Govind Singh Yadav
though he was declared hostile. The post
mortem conducted by the team of four
doctors. They have shown five injuries to
the deceased, out of which, injury no. 4 was
old. Her rectum was found ruptured and
perforated size 2 x 1.5 cm. The post
mortem was conducted on 28.09.2010. No
injury was found on the vagina and hymen
of deceased was found intact. No blood
was reported to be out of vagina rather it
was out of rectum. The post mortem was
conducted of which a video was prepared
followed by a report at Exhibit A-11. The
post mortem report was prepared by Dr.
Sandeep Srivastava in his writing. PW-30
Anil Kumar Singh had initially conducted
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the investigation and collected blood from
the floor of the school and even prepared
recovery memo Exhibit A-5 in the presence
of Anamika Kushwaha and Mohita
Srivastava.

30.  Whether the occurrence took
place in the school is to be seen in
reference of the prosecution witness PW-9
Maya. She has stated that after entry of the
students in the school, the doors are closed
and nobody can enter the school thereupon.
The fact aforesaid is relevant because
defence tried to implicate one Munna to
cause occurrence. Said Munna is shown to
be residing near the residence of the
deceased said to have caused occurrence.
The Court did not find any involvement of
Munna in the occurrence because till the
deceased was taken to her home by PW-8
Parveen and PW-9 Maya at around 01:00
P.M., she was in the school and no outsider
was permitted to enter the school without
the permission. Thus, the effort of the
defence to implicate Munna could not get
result in the light of the statements of the
witnesses produced by the prosecution. The
evidence on record shows that the deceased
was immediately, i.e., at 01:30 P.M. taken
to the hospital by PW-15 Govind Singh
Yadav where she was declared dead. The
death said to have occurred one hour
before.

31. Learned trial Court analysed the
case to find out the possibility of causing of
injury on the rectum after the deceased was
brought to her residence at around 01:00
P.M. The evidence on record shows that
PW-15 Govind Singh Yadav took the girl
immediately to the hospital after she was
dropped by female attendant of the school
at her residence. It was on the request of
the ladies residing in the vicinity and in
absence of her mother. The deceased was

taken to the emergency wing of the hospital
where doctor declared her to be dead. The
said witness was declared hostile but his
statement can be relied to the extent it is
corroborated by other evidence. Learned
trial Court has recorded its finding that
after death, the body becomes stiff and
even the parts shrink thus, no possibility
remain to cause injury on the rectum
thereupon. The fact aforesaid is otherwise
relevant for the reason that even the
defence could not bring evidence to show
that injury on the rectum was caused
subsequently so as to ignore post mortem
report showing it to be ante mortem injury.
In view of the aforesaid, injury on the
rectum came in the school thereby
occurrence took place in the school.

32. The case of the defence is that
deceased suffered excess bleeding out of
vagina due to menses or she was pregnant.
The pregnancy has been eliminated by the
trial Court as hymen of the deceased was
found intact and otherwise there was no
medical evidence to prove pregnancy rather
her ovary was found empty. So far as
suffering from the menses and excessive
bleeding out of vagina is concerned, the
opinion aforesaid has not been reflected in
the post mortem report. It is otherwise a
fact that if the girl suffered from excess
bleeding due to menses, the natural action
of the school authority should have been to
immediate take her to the hospital. The
evidence rather shows abnormal conduct
for the reason that even when deceased was
dropped at her residence, no information
about it was given rather she was left on a
cot without any information about
excessive bleeding.

Whether accused-appellant Piyush
Kumar Verma was present at the place
of occurrence :




6 Al Piyush Kumar Verma Vs. State of U.P. 97

33. To have chain of circumstances,
another issue relevant is as to whether
accused-appellant Piyush Kumar Verma
was present in the school when the
occurrence took place. This has also been
proved by the prosecution by their
evidence. The accused-appellant has
alleged it to be case of false implication of
Piyush Kumar Verma due to political and
social rivalries. In the defence and the
statement under Section 313 Code of
Criminal Procedure, it has been stated by
the accused Piyush Kumar Verma that he
was not looking after the school in which
occurrence took place. It was looked after
by his ailing father Chandra Pal Verma. He
was managing another school at the
distance of 3-4 Kms. from the place of
occurrence and was available in that school
at the time of occurrence.

34. The prosecution produced CDR of
Mobile No. 9451771705 and 9336126404
apart from Mobile Nos. 9839540378,
9453041928, 9793969328 and
9794776870. As per the CDR, location of
Sudhir Kumar Verma @ Mukesh Verma
was found in Unnao between 11:00 A.M.
till evening. The statement of Deepak
Kumar Sinha (PW-27), Aditya (PW-28)
and Rajiv Singh Sengar (PW-29) has
proved the CDRs produced by the
prosecution.

35. PW-27 Deepak Kumar Sinha has
stated that CDR of Mobile No. 9451771705
was prepared on 23.02.2011 by Vinod
Kumar Arora, retired Divisional Engineer
(Exhibit A-31). With regard to another
mobile no. 9453041928 belonging to
Laxmi Niwas Mishra, the husband of Smt.
Sunita Mishra was also prepared by Vinod
Kumar Arora on 23.02.2011. The CDR of
aforesaid mobile was exhibited. There were
29 calls from Mobile No. 9451771705.

36. PW-28 Aditya made statement
regarding  Mobile No. 9336126404
belonging to Sudhir Kumar S/o Chandra
Pal Verma. The CDR was prepared by
Madhu Balbhu and the said CDR was
proved in evidence. Mobile No.
9389540378 was belonging to Shailendra
Mishra whose CDR was generated from
Mumbai Headquarter. PW-29 Rajeev Singh
Sengar proved CDR of Mobile No.
9794776870 and  9793969328. The
prosecution came with the case that Mobile
No. 9451771705 was used by the accused
Piyush Kumar Verma. The said mobile was
used to call Chandra Pal Verma, co-
accused Sudhir Kumar Verma @ Mukesh
Verma, Santosh Kumar Singh and Sunita
Mishra on the day of occurrence and at the
relevant time. The conversation from the
mobile number used by Piyush Kumar
Verma was frequently and is proved by the
CDRs.

37. The argument of the defence is
that mobile no. 9451771705 was not
belonging to the accused Piyush Kumar
Verma rather Sim Card was issued in the
name of one Ravi Kumar. According to
defence, the involvement of aforesaid
mobile number was only to make false
implication of the accused Piyush Kumar
Verma.

38. The trial Court did not accept the
aforesaid for the following reasons. As per
the statement of CW-1 Punam Rajput and
CW-2 Ajai Kumar, Ravi Kumar was not
residing on the address given for obtaining
Sim Card. CW-1 Punam Rajput is Parshad
of Ward No. 44. She stated that Ravi
Kumar was not residing in the area or
nearby. She further stated that a Constable
came to trace out Ravi Kumar but he was
not found on the address and thereby, a
report was submitted. CW-2 Ajai Kumar
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has stated that he went to execute the
summon issued by the Court on Ravi
Kumar. He visited the place given in the ID
proof and other document. He had even
carried photograph of Ravi Kumar. He was
not found at the address and nearby.
Nobody was knowing him even after seen
the photograph. None could recognise Ravi
Kumar rather stated that the person in the
photograph never resided in the area. The
prosecution could prove that though Sim
Card was issued in the name of Ravi
Kumar but the address of document and
other documents could not be verified as
Ravi Kumar was not found on the address
rather never resided. Thereby, Piyush
Kumar Verma had obtained the Sim Card
in the name of Ravi Kumar and was using
it. The inference was drawn though was not
required as the statement made by the
accused under Section 313 Code of
Criminal Procedure and more particularly
Chandra Pal Verma and Sudhir Kumar
Verma @ Mukesh Verma could not give
reason of phone calls and regular
conversation with unknown number that
too on the day of occurrence. The CDR is
showing frequent conversation between
four mobile numbers referred to above and
that too at the time of occurrence.

39. The trial Court found that mobile
number was obtained in the name of Ravi
Kumar and used by the accused Piyush
Kumar Verma. The CDR of mobile no.
9451771705 shows frequent conversation
with other accused Chandra Pal VVerma and
Sudhir Kumar Verma @ Mukesh Verma
apart from Sunita Mishra at the time of
occurrence and location of the mobile no.
9451771705 was found near the school in
which occurrence took place and thereby,
the prosecution could prove the presence of
the accused Piyush Kumar Verma at the
time of occurrence.

40. It is further relevant to note that
as per the statement of PW-9 Maya, no
outsider could enter in the school after
closing the gates after entry of the
students in the morning. Thereby,
occurrence in the school could have been
by a person having access in the school.
It was a girls school and the statement of
witnesses produced by the prosecution
could show presence of mainly female
staff members while offence under
Section 377 Indian penal Code took
place.

41. The argument of learned counsel
for the appellants cannot be accepted that
prosecution could not connect Piyush
Kumar Verma with mobile no.
9451771705. The argument of learned
counsel that witnesses produced by the
prosecution did not state about
conversation ignoring that the CDR
produced by the prosecution shows
conversation with the accused each other
and Sunita Mishra on their mobile
numbers. There were 29 calls made
during the relevant time. The statements
of PW-27 Deepak Kumar Sinha, PW-28
Aditya and PW-29 Rajiv Singh Sengar
have proved CDRs produced in evidence.
Those CDRs show frequent conversation
between those mobiles. The fact
regarding frequent conversation on those
mobile was not required to be stated time
and again as otherwise stated by PW-27
Deepak Kumar Sinha. The statement was
corroborated by the CDRs proved in the
evidence. The argument that there was no
conversation between those mobile
numbers is an argument in ignorance of
the CDR available on record showing
frequent conversation. In view of the
above, we find that another relevant
circumstances to connect the accused
could be proved by the prosecution.
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Whether prosecution could bring
other evidence to prove the case :

42. The learned counsel for the
appellant vehemently argued that the
prosecution could not bring any evidence to
show involvement of the accused Piyush
Kumar Verma in the occurrence. We have
recorded our finding that presence of the
accused Piyush Kumar Verma at the place
of occurrence could be proved by the
prosecution. The prosecution produced
other evidence to connect accused Piyush
Kumar Verma with the crime. The material
evidence to prove prosecution case is FSL
report also which has been contested by
learned counsel for the appellants. The
contest has been made not only alleging
preparation of fraudulent FSL report by
PW-23 Dr. Rajiv Paliwal but the recovery
memo (Exhibit A-5). We would first refer
to recovery memo (Exhibit A-5) showing
recovery of underwear of the deceased.

43. Learned counsel for the appellant
has alleged addition of two lines at the end
of the recovery memo to show recovery of
the underwear. The recovery memo shows
recovery of underwear of the deceased and
the relevance of the underwear is due to
DNA test report. The semen found on the
underwear matched to the DNA of the
accused and thereby it became relevant
connecting evidence. PW-12 Anamika
Kushwaha and PW-13 Mohita Srivastava
have admitted signature on the recovery
memo (Exhibit A-5) but stated that last two
lines were not existing at the time of
signing the recovery memo. The trial Court
has dealt with the aforesaid facts in
reference of the statement of other
witnesses who stated that in the school bag,
shirt, skirt, tie, belt and shoes of the
deceased were kept after wrapping it in
"Yellow Dhoti". The underwear was not

found in the school bag of the deceased.
Therefore, the recovery of the underwear of
the deceased was found proved by the trial
Court.

44. The dispute about recovery of the
underwear is mainly for the reason that
DNA report was showing human semen
matching to the DNA group of the accused.
It is a fact that no allegation have been
imputed against the officer who prepared
the recovery memo and proved it. The
argument has not been raised against the
officer in particular to show recovery of
underwear and addition of the lines by
fraudulent means. It could not have been
even for the reason that after recovery of
articles, it was sent for FSL report and there
the underwear of the deceased has been
shown to be one of the article sent for the
FSL report. If the underwear would not
have been recovered from the place of
occurrence and was not available in the
school bag then how it was sent for FSL
report, could not be explained by learned
counsel for the appellants.

45. The further fact relevant is the
presence of human semen on the underwear
of the deceased matching to the DNA of
the accused. The appellant has not come
with the case that semen of the accused was
taken forcibly and was put on the
underwear of the deceased to obtain FSL
report. Thus, taking note of all the aspects,
recovery of the underwear cannot be
doubted only for the reason that FSL report
is adverse to the appellant.

46. The other aspect relevant to the
case and vehemently argued by learned
counsel for the appellant is about
FSL/DNA report. The argument was raised
in reference of the statement of PW-23
Rajiv Paliwal and the documents produced
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in defence. It is for obtaining report from
CDFD, Hyderabad without an M.O.U.
between FSL, Lucknow and CDFD,
Hyderabad. PW-23 Rajiv Paliwal, Scientist
of FSL, Lucknow stated that techniques for
Y-STR like power plex R.T.P.C., contifiler
were not available at FSL, Lucknow,
therefore, he had gone to CDFD,
Hyderabad to conduct the test and to get
the report. The aforesaid statement has
been questioned by learned counsel for the
appellant in reference to M.O.U. as well as
document  obtained  from CDFD,
Hyderabad under Right to Information Act,
2005. It is stated that there exist no M.O.U.
between CDFD, Hyderabad and FSL,
Lucknow to conduct the test in the manner
it has been done in the present case. It is
further stated that CDFD, Hyderabad was
not having record for the test.

47. The issue aforesaid has been
considered by the trial Court in detail. It
was found that the M.O.U. was existing
between FSL, Lucknow and CDFD,
Hyderabad for conducting the test. It may
be for the training purposes but it does not
preclude the Scientist of FSL, Lucknow to
get a report from CDFD, Hyderabad when
required techniques were available at FSL,
Lucknow. PW-23 Rajiv Paliwal was
declared hostile but his statement for
conducting the test and obtaining report
from CDFD, Hyderabad corroborated by
the test report thus can be read. The
allegation of political and social rivalry has
been made by learned counsel for the
appellant but no evidence was placed to
prove those allegations. The statement of
PW-23 Rajiv Paliwal shows that he himself
went to CDFD, Hyderabad to conduct the
test and to prepare the report. In view of the
aforesaid, if the case crime number was not
recorded in the register, the report of
CDFD, Hyderabad cannot be discarded.

The information was sought by the
appellant under Right to Information Act,
2005 is not of the nature which can discard
the test report of CDFD, Hyderabad. The
test report otherwise is relevant and crucial
for the reason that DNA of the accused
could match to the semen found on the
underwear of the deceased to connect
Piyush Kumar Verma with the crime.

48. At this stage, learned counsel for
the appellant submitted that even the DNA
report does not conclude with the finding
that semen on the underwear was matching
to the DNA of Piyush Kumar Verma rather
it was shown to be human semen matching
to the DNA of accused who are more than
one. The Court erroneously recorded
finding against accused Piyush Kumar
Verma going contrary to the evidence.

49. We have considered aforesaid
aspect also. The statements of PW-22 Dr.
Archana Tripathi and PW-23 Dr. Rajeev
Paliwal are relevant for it. PW-22 Dr.
Archana Tripathi has proved Exhibit A-13
(the test report). PW-23 Dr. Rajeev Paliwal
was declared hostile witness but he has also
admitted the report and the fact that the test
was conducted at CDFD, Hyderabad. The
report was considered by the trial Court
having evidence against the accused. It was
then taken against appellant Piyush Kumar
Verma present in the school at the time of
occurrence.

50. The argument has been raised in
reference to the statement of PW-25 Dr.
Alka Shukla who examined anal and
vaginal smear of the deceased Divya. She
did not find semen in it. A reference of
Exhibits A-14 and A-15 was given. The
argument has been raised that when semen
was not found in the anal and vaginal
smear, an offence under Section 377 Indian
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Penal Code cannot be said to have been
committed. The argument aforesaid has
been considered by the trial Court. It has
discussed not only in reference to the
evidence but the circumstance which may
not show presence of semen in the anal and
vaginal smear in the given case. In the
present matter, the rectum of the deceased
was found lacerated and perforated size 2 x
1.5 cm upto sigmoid colon. Learned trial
Court found that offence under Section 377
Indian Penal Code has been committed by a
boy aged 24-25 years. The erection can be
kept or take place outside. It is otherwise a
case where semen was found on the
underwear of the deceased matching to the
DNA of the accused. Thus, the argument
made in reference to statement of PW-25
Dr. Alka Shukla cannot be accepted.

51. The other aspect is the date of
taking of blood sample of accused Piyush
Kumar Verma. It is said to be on
22.12.2010 while as per the statement of
CW-3 Dr. Satish Chandra Verma, the blood
samples were taken on 09.11.2010 on the
direction of C.M.M., Kanpur Nagar. CW-3
has stated about collection of 13 blood
samples of different donors on 09.11.2010.
He was accompanied by Dr. V.P.
Chaturvedi. The samples were properly
sealed and sent to FSL, Lucknow in the
manner required. He was not cross-
examined by the accused in regard to the
date of collection of samples. Even no
guestion was raised in reference to alleged
date of taking sample on 22.12.2010. The
date aforesaid was introduced by the
accused Piyush Kumar Verma in the
statement under Section 313 Code of
Criminal Procedure for the first time. If the
sample would have been taken on
22.12.2010, then there was no reason for
the appellant Piyush Kumar Verma not to
cross-examine CW-3 Dr. Satish Chandra

Verma on that issue. Exhibit A-13 on
record shows the date of the sample. It is
not 22.12.2010 rather of 09.11.2010. The
appellant has tried to cook-up new story
subsequently without any evidence to prove
collection of sample of Piyush Kumar
Verma on 22.12.2010. Thus, the date
aforesaid for collection of sample was not
accepted. The witness was not even cross-
examined regarding different dates for
collection of blood samples of 13 persons
pursuant to the order of the Court. The
reference of the date of sample is otherwise
given in Exhibit A-13 and is of 09.11.2010.
Thus, the argument of learned counsel for
the appellant in reference to the date of
collection of blood sample cannot be
accepted.

52. It is then urged that as per the
statement of PW-23 Rajiv Paliwal, the
samples were packed and the case crime
number was also indicated. The statement
aforesaid has not been corroborated by
PW-22 Dr. Archana Tripathi who stated
that the case crime number on the sample
was not mentioned. It is alleged by the
appellant that a different sample was used
for lab test.

53. Learned trial Court has considered
the aforesaid argument also and found that
the witness may not exactly state about a
fact pertaining to an event took place 5 to 8
years back. PW-22 Dr. Archana Tripathi
has stated about receipt of the blood
samples and E.D.T. vial was containing
names of the donors. It was received in a
sealed bundle with required details. She
was not cross-examined in reference to
case crime number despite the fact that she
had proved the document regarding receipt
of 13 samples with names and the test
report of the accused. The document
Exhibit A-13 proved receipt of samples
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collected on 09.11.2010 of 13 donors and
case crime number. Looking to the
aforesaid, we do not find any reason to
cause interference in the findings of the
trial Court. The witness PW-22 Dr.
Archana Tripathi was not even asked about
alleged fraudulent preparation of report of
blood sample.

54. Learned counsel for the appellant
submitted that even Exhibit A-13 does not
record a conclusive finding at the end. The
argument aforesaid has been raised
ignoring the report. Only one part of the
report has been referred while earlier part
give conclusive evidence.

55. In the light of the aforesaid, while
we are unable to accept any of the
argument raised by learned counsel for the
appellant, find that prosecution could bring
evidence to connect the accused Piyush
Kumar Verma with crime beyond doubt for
commission of offence under Section 377
Indian Penal Code. The finding in regard to
the commission of offence under Section
377 Indian Penal Code has been recorded at
the first instance. The learned trial Court
further found commission of offence under
Section 302 Indian Penal Code by the
appellant and for that, reference of Section
299, 300 Indian Penal Code apart from 302
India Penal Code has been given with
interpretation in reference of the judgment
of the Supreme Court.

56. Learned counsel for the appellant
submitted that there was no intention or
motive on the part of the appellant Piyush
Kumar Verma to commit offence under
Section 302 Indian Penal Code, however,
while raising the said argument, the finding
recorded by the trial Court was not
questioned other than to the interpretation
to the definition of "murder" punishable

under Section 302 Indian Penal Code.
Finding of the trial Court in regard to the
commission of offence under Section 302
Indian Penal Code by the accused Piyush
Kumar Verma is quoted hereunder :
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57. We find that learned trial Court
has made a reference of Section 300 Indian
Penal Code to find out whether a case
under Section 302 Indian Penal Code is
made out. The offence under Section 377
Indian Penal Code was committed by the
accused Piyush Kumar Verma on a girl at
the age of 11 years when she was not fully
grown. The injuries to the deceased have
been recorded in the post mortem report.
The cause of death was due to excessive
bleeding and shock. The learned trial Court
has discussed about commission of offence
by the accused Piyush Kumar Verma. It has
not been questioned in argument other than
the interpretation of the definition of
"murder”. The evidence on record has
proved commission of offence of Section
302 Indian Penal Code by accused Piyush
Kumar Verma. We do not find any
illegality in the finding recorded by the trial
Court. Thereby, we maintain the judgment
of the trial Court, vis-a-vis, the appellant-
accused Piyush Kumar Verma as none of
the arguments of learned counsel for the
accused-appellant Piyush Kumar Verma
could be accepted by this Court.

The appeal of accused-appellant
Piyush Kumar Verma is, accordingly,
dismissed.

58. The appellants Sudhir Kumar
Verma @ Mukesh Verma and Santosh
Kumar Singh have been convicted and
sentenced for offence under Section 304A

and 202 Indian Penal Code. They were,
however, acquitted of the offence under
Section 201 Indian Penal Code as the
prosecution failed to lead evidence to prove
that those two appellants suppressed or
disappeared the evidence. They were even
acquitted from the offence under Section
304 Indian Penal Code. The appellants,
however, convicted for the offence under
Section 202 and 304A Indian Penal Code.

59. The conviction for offence under
Section 202 Indian Penal Code has been
made in reference to the statement of PW-
28 Aditya and Exhibit A-35, i.e., CDR
report of Mobile Nos. 9336126404 and
9389540378. It is true that both the mobiles
were used for frequent conversation with
main accused Piyush Kumar Verma. The
conversation was made during the relevant
time on the day of occurrence but merely
for that reason, it cannot be said that
offence under Section 202 Indian Penal
Code is proved.

60. The offence under Section 202
Indian Penal Code found proved mainly in
reference to inaction of accused for sending
the victim/deceased to the hospital. The
trial Court ignored that no evidence was
produced that Sudhir Kumar Verma @
Mukesh Verma was administrating the
educational institution where occurrence
took place and was under legal duty. The
Principal of the school was otherwise
Sunita Mishra and has not been made an
accused. The conviction for the offence
under Section 202 Indian Penal Code has
been made alleging negligence of the
accused ignoring that offence under Section
202 Indian Penal Code would be made out
when the accused is under a legal
obligation to convey the information about
commission of offence but failed to do so.
The finding of the trial Court does not
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show even an allegation against the
accused-appellants Sudhir Kumar Verma
@ Mukesh Verma and Santosh Kumar
Singh about their legal obligation to inform
about the crime and their failure to do so.
The learned trial Court has recorded
finding about negligence and not for their
legal duty. The finding of the trial Court in
regard to the offence under Section 202
Indian Penal Code cannot be accepted as
even the ingredients of the aforesaid
provision could not be proved by the
prosecution by leading evidence. Section
202 Indian Penal Code is quoted hereunder
for ready reference :

""202. Intentional omission to give
information of offence by person bound to
inform.--Whoever, knowing or having
reason to believe that an offence has been
committed, intentionally omits to give any
information respecting that offence which
he is legally bound to give, shall be
punished with imprisonment of either
description for a term which may extend to
six months, or with fine, or with both."

61. The trial Court has not recorded
finding about legal obligation of the
accused to make out a case for offence
under Section 202 Indian Penal Code. The
negligence of the accused would not make
out a case under Section 202 Indian Penal
Code wunless their legal obligation is
proved.

62. The conviction for the offence
under Section 304A Indian Penal Code is
another issue. The impugned judgment
shows that a charge for the offence under
Section 304A Indian Penal Code was not
framed rather it was for Section 304 Indian
Penal Code. The finding has been,
however, recorded that even if the charges
were not framed then as per the judgment

of Apex Court in the case of Dalvir Singh
Versus State of Uttar Pradesh reported in
(2004) 5 SCC 334, the conviction for the
offence having lesser punishment can be
made.

63. So far as the accused Sudhir
Kumar Verma @ Mukesh Verma is
concerned, the evidence on record shows
that he was not available at the place of
occurrence rather was at Unnao. The
conviction for the offence under Section
304A Indian Penal Code can be made when
act of negligence or ignorance in
performance of work resulting in death not
amounting to culpable homicide is proved.
We do not find that prosecution could
produce any evidence of that nature to
make out an offence under Section 304A
Indian Penal Code against the appellant
Sudhir Kumar Verma @ Mukesh Verma
and Santosh Kumar Singh. Section 304A
Indian Penal Code is quoted hereunder for
ready reference :

"304A. Causing death by
negligence.--Whoever causes the death of
any person by doing any rash or negligent
act not amounting to culpable homicide,
shall be punished with imprisonment of
either description for a term which may
extend to two years, or with fine, or with
both."

64. The evidence produced by the
prosecution does not prove offence under
Section 304A Indian Penal Code by the
appellants  Sudhir Kumar Verma @
Mukesh Verma or Santosh Kumar Singh.
Accordingly, their conviction for the
offence under Section 304A and 202 Indian
Penal Code cannot sustain rather they are
acquitted for the offence and, accordingly,
their conviction and sentence is interfered
and to that extent, the impugned judgment
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of the trial Court is set aside. Their bail
bonds are discharged as both of them are
on bail.

65. The appeal of Sudhir Kumar
Verma @ Mukesh Verma and Santosh
Kumar Singh is allowed.
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1. Heard Shri Pankaj Agarwal,
learned counsel for the appellant (wife) and
Ms. Utkarshni Singh, learned counsel for
second respondent (husband).

2. The exemption application is
allowed. Let the appeal be given regular
number.

3.  Present first appeal has been
preferred assailing the validity of order
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dated 12.1.2021 passed by Incharge
Principal Judge, Family Court, Gautam
Budh Nagar in Divorce Petition No. 592 of
2020 Smt. Priyanka Chauhan v. Saurabh
Chauhan, by which application 17/C has
been rejected by learned Family Court
without assigning any reason. The
application 17/C has been filed by the
appellant and second respondent supported
with a joint affidavit 18/C for waiving six
months statutory period for second motion
before granting a decree for mutual
divorce.

4. The question, which arises for
consideration in the instant appeal under
Section 19 of the Family Courts Act is
whether the minimum period of six months
stipulated under Section 13-B(2) of The
Hindu Marriage Act, 19551 for motion of
passing of decree of divorce on the basis of
mutual consent may be relaxed in any
exceptional situation.

5. The brief facts leading to the
present appeal are that, a Divorce Petition
for a decree of dissolution of marriage by
mutual consent, was filed by the appellant
and second respondent under Section 14 of
the Act which was initially registered as
Miscellaneous Case No. 89 of 2020, after
expiry of one year from the date of
marriage, registered as Original Suit. A
joint application 17/C under sub-section (2)
of Section 13-B the Act, along with joint
affidavit 18/C has been filed by the parties
stating that the marriage of appellant and
second respondent was solemnized on
11.12.2019 with Hindu rites and rituals.
The appellant is resident of Rohini, Delhi,
whereas the second respondent is resident
of Noida, Gautam Budh Nagar. It is
contended that from the date of marriage
the appellant lived only four days at her
matrimonial house and from 16.12.2019 the

appellant started residing at her parental
house at New Delhi. On account of
temperamental and ideological differences
the marriage could not be consummated
and both are residing separately from
16.12.2019. It is contended that various
efforts were made by the family members
of both the parties and their well wishers
but they could not arrived at settlement to
live together a happy married life. When all
the efforts for reconciliation stands failed,
they ultimately arrived into a settlement in
writing dated 24.7.2020 for taking mutual
divorce. In view, thereof, the details of
articles mentioned in Schedule-A of the
mutual settlement dated 24.7.2020 was
handed over to the appellant in presence of
all the well-wishers. Through mutual
settlement dated 24.7.2020 it was further
agreed that the articles mentioned in
Schedule-B of the agreement shall be put
into custody of one Sudhir Kumar son of
Sri Jhanda Singh being closed relative and
well-wisher of both the parties, which shall
be handed over to the appellant after the
second motion of divorce petition and
recording of statement of appellant in
divorce petition to be filed by mutual
consent. It is being claimed that without
there being any undue influence, threat or
coercion the couple decided to dissolve
their marriage by a decree of divorce.

6. The Family Court by the impunged
order rejected the application 17/C on the
ground that till date no effort has been
made by the court for reconciliation and
mediation between the parties, without
considering the peculiar facts of the case.
While they pleaded that marriage could not
be consummated due to temperamental and
ideological differences and both are
residing separately from 16.12.2019 i.e.
more than one year from the marriage; all
the efforts for reconciliation stands failed,;
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they arrived into a settlement in writing for
taking a mutual divorce, articles mentioned
in Schedule-A of the mutual settlement
dated 24.07.2020 was handedover to the
appellant and the articles of both the parties
as mentioned in Schedule-B of the
settlement put into the custody of one
Sudhir Kumar; the parties have genuinely
settled their differences including alimony
and the statutory period of one year of
separation of parties is already over.

7. Section 23 of the Act also provides
the procedure regarding the effort to make
endeavour to bring about a reconciliation
between the parties. Sub-section (1) (bb) of
Section 23 of the Act provides that before
proceeding to grant any relief under this
Act, the court is to be satisfied that a
divorce is sought on the ground of mutual
consent, such consent has not been
obtained by force, fraud or undue
influence.

8. Hon'ble the Supreme Court has
consistently taken the view that recording
of reasons is an essential feature of
dispensation of justice. A litigant who
approaches the Court with any grievance in
accordance with law is entitled to know the
reasons for grant or rejection of his prayer.
Reasons are the soul of orders. Non-
recording of reasons could lead to dual
infirmities; firstly, it may cause prejudice to
the affected party and secondly, more
particularly, hamper the proper
administration of justice. These principles
are not only applicable to administrative or
executive actions, but they apply with equal
force and, in fact, with a greater degree of
precision to judicial pronouncements. A
judgment without reasons causes prejudice
to the person against whom it is
pronounced, as that litigant is unable to
know the ground which weighed with the

Court in rejecting his claim and also causes
impediments in his taking adequate and
appropriate grounds before the higher
Court in the event of challenge to that
judgment.

9. Itis well settled position of law that
failure to give reasons amounts to denial of
justice. Reasons are live links between the
mind of the decision taker to the
controversy in question and the decision or
conclusion arrived at. Reasons substitute
subjectivity by objectivity. The emphasis
on recording reasons is that if the decision
reveals the "inscrutable face of the sphinx",
it can, by its silence, render it virtually
impossible for the Courts to perform their
appellate function or exercise the power of
judicial review in adjudging the validity of
the decision. Right to reason is an
indispensable part of a sound judicial
system; reasons at least sufficient to
indicate an application of mind to the
matter before Court. Another rationale is
that the affected party can know why the
decision has gone against him. One of the
salutary requirements of natural justice is
spelling out reasons for the order made; in
other words, a speaking out. The
"inscrutable face of a sphinx" is ordinarily
incongruous with a judicial or quasi-
judicial performance.

10. The parties have sought waiver of
a period of six months for the second
motion on the ground that they have been
living separately for last more than one
year and there is no possibility of their
reunion. Any further delay will affect
chances of their resettlement in life.

11. Learned counsel for the appellant
has submitted that there is no chance of
reconciliation between the parties due to
their  temperamental and ideological
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differences. The marriage has not been
consummated and just after four days of
marriages both are living separately.

12. Learned counsel for the appellant
further submitted that the object of the
cooling off the period was to safeguard
against a hurried decision if there was,
otherwise, possibility of differences being
reconciled. The object was not to
perpetuate a purposeless marriage or to
prolong the agony of the parties when there
is no chance of reconciliation.

13. Learned counsel for the second
respondent has also supported the
arguments so raised by learned counsel for
the appellant. She has also submitted that
there is no chances of reconciliation and for
the interest of the parties this Court may
rescue and reprieve the parties.

14. On the matter being taken up on
29.1.2021, on the request of learned counsel
for the appellant the matter was adjourned
and posted for hearing on 2.2.2021. Ms.
Utkarshni Singh, learned counsel has entered
appearance on behalf of second respondent.
The appellant and the second respondent are
also present in the Court. Both the parties
made a categorical statement before the Court
that there is no chance of reconciliation. It has
also been informed that the appellant has
completed her C.A. Intermediate. The second
respondent is working in IT company. It is
submitted that both are educated and
consciously they have taken decision to move
on independently. Parties have also made
statement that there is no chance of
reconciliation and their families are also of
the same opinion.

15. We have heard rival submissions,
perused the record and also considered the
statement so given by the parties.

16. The Hindu Marriage Act, 1955 is
a special Act dealing with the provisions
relating to marriages, restitution of
conjugal rights and judicial separation as
also nullity of marriage and divorce. (vide:
Jagraj Singh v. Birpal Kaur2) Under
section 13 of the Act marriage can be
dissolved by decree of divorce on the
various grounds enumerated therein and the
same has been further qualified by Section
14 that no petition for divorce to be
presented within one year of the marriage.
However, an exception has been carved out
by inserting a proviso in Section 14, with
an intention to mollify the effect of the one
year's limit in very exceptional cases as the
proviso to Section 14 of the Act engrafts a
very important qualification on the general
rule laid down in the section that no
petition for dissolution of marriage by a
decree of divorce can be entertained by the
court before the statutory period expires. It
enables the court in the exercise of its
discretion to grant leave to present such
petition before the expiry of the one year's
limit in a case of 'exceptional hardship' or
‘exceptional depravity' to the appellant.

17. In catena of cases relating to
matrimonial dispute, Hon'ble the Apex
court has observed that matrimonial
disputes have to be decided by Courts in a
pragmatic manner keeping in view the
ground realities. The fact which pricked the
conscience of the Court is that even though
the marriage was solemnized on
11.12.2019, the appellant stayed in her
matrimonial house only for four days and
from 16.12.2019 started living in her
parental house. The marriage has not been
consummated and they are voluntarily
inclined to withdraw from the relationship
due to temperamental and ideological
differences, which is stated to be not
compromised, and they could not enjoy
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their happy married life. In such situation,
continuance of litigation will cause mental
and physical harassment to them
unnecessarily, when both of them are not
inclined to continue with the relationship at
all. We have been principally impressed by
the consideration that once the marriage
has broken down beyond repair, it would
be unrealistic for the law not to take notice
of that fact, and it would be harmful to
society and injurious to the interests of the
parties. Where there has been a long period
of continuous separation, it may fairly be
surmised that the matrimonial bond is
beyond repair. The marriage becomes a
fiction, though supported by a legal tie. By
refusing to sever that tie the law in such
cases does not serve the sanctity of
marriage; on the contrary, it shows scant
regard for the feelings and emotions of the
parties. Under the traditional Hindu Law,
as it stood prior to the statutory law on the
point, marriage is a sacrament and cannot
be dissolved by consent. The Act enabled
the court to dissolve marriage on statutory
grounds. By way of amendment in the year
1976, the concept of divorce by mutual
consent was introduced. However, Section
13-B(2) contains a bar to divorce being
granted before six months of time elapsing
after filing of the divorce petition by
mutual consent. The said period was laid
down to enable the parties to have a rethink
so that the court grants divorce by mutual
consent only if there is no chance for
reconciliation. The object of the provision
is to enable the parties to dissolve a
marriage by consent if the marriage has
irretrievably broken down and to enable
them to rehabilitate them as per available
options. The amendment was inspired by
the thought that forcible perpetuation of
status of matrimony between unwilling
partners did not serve any purpose. The
object of the cooling off the period was to

safeguard against a hurried decision if there
was, otherwise, possibility of differences
being reconciled. The object was not to
perpetuate a purposeless marriage or to
prolong the agony of the parties when there
was no chance of reconciliation.

18. So far as determining the
question, whether, the said period is
mandatory or directory, the said aspect has
been considered by Hon'ble the Apex Court
in Amardeep Singh v. Harveen Kaur3.
The relevant portion of the said judgment is
quoted as under:-

"6. This Court noted that power under
Article 142 had been exercised in cases
where the Court found the marriage to be
totally unworkable, emotionally dead,
beyond salvage and broken down
irretrievably. This power was also
exercised to put quietus to all litigations
and to save the parties from further
agony4. This view was reiterated in
Poonam versus Sumit Tanwar5

14. The learned amicus submitted that
waiting period enshrined under Section 13-
B(2) of the Act is directory and can be
waived by the court where proceedings are
pending, in exceptional situations. This
view is supported by judgments of the
Andhra Pradesh High Court in K.
Omprakash vs. K. Nalini6, Karnataka High
Court in Roopa Reddy vs. Prabhakar
Reddy7, Delhi High Court in Dhanjit
Vadra vs. Smt. Beena Vadra8, and Madhya
Pradesh High Court in Dinesh Kumar
Shukla vs. Smt. Neeta9. Contrary view has
been taken by Kerala High Court in M.
Krishna  Preetha vs. Dr. Jayan
Moorkkanatt10. It was submitted that
Section 13-B(1) relates to jurisdiction of
the Court and the petition is maintainable
only if the parties are living separately for
a period of one year or more and if they
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have not been able to live together and
have agreed that the marriage be dissolved.
Section 13-B(2) is procedural. He
submitted that the discretion to waive the
period is a guided discretion by
consideration of interest of justice where
there is no chance of reconciliation and
parties were already separated for a longer
period or contesting proceedings for a
period longer than the period mentioned in
Section 13-B(2). Thus, the Court should
consider the questions:

(i) How long parties have been
married?

(if) How long litigation is pending?

(iii) How long they have been staying
apart?

(iv) Are there any other proceedings
between the parties?

(v) Have the
mediation/ conciliation?

(viy Have the parties arrived at
genuine settlement which takes care of
alimony, custody of child or any other
pending issues between the parties?

15. The Court must be satisfied that
the parties were living separately for more
than the statutory period and all efforts at
mediation and reconciliation have been
tried and have failed and there is no
chance of reconciliation and further
waiting period will only prolong their
agony.

16. We have given due consideration
to the issue involved. Under the traditional
Hindu Law, as it stood prior to the
statutory law on the point, marriage is a
sacrament and cannot be dissolved by
consent. The Act enabled the court to
dissolve marriage on statutory grounds. By
way of amendment in the year 1976, the
concept of divorce by mutual consent was
introduced. However, Section 13-B(2)
contains a bar to divorce being granted
before six months of time elapsing after

parties  attended

filing of the divorce petition by mutual
consent. The said period was laid down to
enable the parties to have a rethink so that
the court grants divorce by mutual consent
only if there is no chance for
reconciliation.

17. The object of the provision is to
enable the parties to dissolve a marriage by
consent if the marriage has irretrievably
broken down and to enable them to
rehabilitate them as per available options.
The amendment was inspired by the
thought that forcible perpetuation of status
of matrimony between unwilling partners
did not serve any purpose. The object of the
cooling- off the period was to safeguard
against a hurried decision if there was
otherwise possibility of differences being
reconciled. The object was not to
perpetuate a purposeless marriage or to
prolong the agony of the parties when there
was no chance of reconciliation. Though
every effort has to be made to save a
marriage, if there are no chances of
reunion and there are chances of fresh
rehabilitation, the Court should not be
powerless in enabling the parties to have a
better option.

18. In determining the question
whether provision is mandatory or
directory, language alone is not always
decisive. The Court has to have the regard
to the context, the subject matter and the
object of the provision. This principle, as
formulated in Justice G.P. Singh's
"Principles of Statutory Interpretation™
(9th Edn., 2004), has been cited with
approval in Kailash versus Nanhkull. as
follows:(SCC pp. 496-97, para 34)

'34.....The study of numerous cases on
this topic does not lead to formulation of
any universal rule except this that language
alone most often is not decisive, and regard
must be had to the context, subject-matter
and object of the statutory provision in



6 All. Priyanka Chauhan Vs. Principal Judge, Family Court, G.B. Nagar & Anr. 111

question, in determining whether the same
is mandatory or directory. In an oft-quoted
passage Lord Campbell said: "No
universal rule can be laid down as to
whether mandatory enactments shall be
considered directory only or obligatory
with  an implied nullification  for
disobedience. It is the duty of courts of
justice to try to get at the real intention of
the legislature by carefully attending to the
whole scope of the statute to be
considered.' (p.338)

"For ascertaining the real intention of
the legislature’, points out Subbarao, J.
“the court may consider inter alia, the
nature and design of the statute, and the
consequences which would follow from
construing it the one way or the other; the
impact of other provisions whereby the
necessity of complying with the provisions
in question is avoided; the circumstances,
namely, that the statute provides for a
contingency of the non-compliance with the
provisions; the fact that the non-
compliance with the provisions is or is not
visited by some penalty; the serious or the
trivial consequences, that flow therefrom;
and above all, whether the object of the
legislation will be defeated or furthered'. If
object of the enactment will be defeated by
holding the same directory, it will be
construed as mandatory, whereas if by
holding it mandatory serious general
inconvenience will be created to innocent
persons without very much furthering the
object of enactment, the same will be
construed as directory."

19. Applying the above to the present
situation, we are of the view that where the
Court dealing with a matter is satisfied that
a case is made out to waive the statutory
period under Section 13-B(2), it can do so
after considering the following:

(i) the statutory period of six months
specified in Section 13-B(2), in addition to

the statutory period of one year under
Section 13-B(1) of separation of parties is
already over before the first motion itself;

(i) all efforts for mediation/conciliation
including efforts in terms of Order 32-A Rule
3 CPC/Section 23(2) of the Act/Section 9 of
the Family Courts Act to reunite the parties
have failed and there is no likelihood of
success in that direction by any further
efforts;

(iii) the parties have genuinely settled
their differences including alimony, custody
of child or any other pending issues between
the parties;

(iv) the waiting period will only prolong
their agony.

The waiver application can be filed one
week after the first motion giving reasons for
the prayer for waiver. If the above conditions
are satisfied, the waiver of the waiting period
for the second motion will be in the discretion
of the court concerned.”

19. In the aforesaid case, Hon'ble the
Apex Court has considered Section 13-B(2)
of the Act, divorce by mutual consent and
cooling off period of six months and held
that the said period is directory with certain
conditions under which the court concerned
may waive off the said period. The waiting
period enshrined under Section 13-B(2) of
the Act is directory and can be waived by
the court, where, proceedings are pending,
in exceptional situation. Hon'ble the Apex
Court in Amardeep Singh (Supra) has
considered the discretion to waive the
period, where, there is no chance of
reconciliation and parties were already
separated. In such situation it is paramount
responsibility to consider the basic issues,
which has been stipulated in para 14 of the
said judgment as under:-

"(i) How long parties have been
married?
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(if) How long litigation is pending?

(iif) How long they have been staying
apart?

(iv) Are there any other proceedings
between the parties?

(v) Have the
mediation/conciliation?

(vi) Have the parties arrived at
genuine settlement which takes care of
alimony, custody of child or any other
pending issues between the parties?"

parties attended

20. In R. Srinivas Kumar v.
Shamethal2 Hon'ble the Apex Court
considering the facts and circumstances of
the case on being satisfied that marriage
has irretrievably broken down has held that
such marital relationship can be dissolved
which is already dead, with a view to do
complete justice between the parties. For
ready reference, the relevant paragraphs 3.1
and 5.1 of the said judgment are quoted as
under:-

"3.1. In support of his alternative
submission to dissolve the marriage on the
ground of irretrievable breakdown of
marriage, learned Senior Advocate has
heavily relied upon the following decisions
of this Court, Durga Prasanna Tripathy v.
Arundathi Tripathy (2005) 7 SCC 353;
Naveen Kohli v. Neelu Kohli (2006) 4 SCC
558; Sanghamitra Ghosh v. Kajal Kumar
Ghosh (2007) 2 SCC 220; Samar Ghosh v.
Jaya Ghosh (2007) 4 SCC 511; K. Srinivas
Rao v. D.A. Deepa (2013) 5 SCC 226; and
Sukhendu Das v. Rita Mukherjee (2017) 9
SCC 632.....

5.1. At the outset, it is required to be
noted and does not seem to be in dispute
that since last 22 years both the appellat-
husband and the respondent-wife are
residing separately. It also appears that all
efforts to continue the marriage have failed
and there is no possibility of re-union

because of the strained relations between
the parties. Thus, it appears that marriage
between the appellant-husband and the
respondent-wife has irretrievably broken
down. In the case of Hitesh Bhatnagar
(supra), it is noted by this Court that
Courts can dissolve a marriage as
irretrievably broken down only when it is
impossible to save the marriage and all
efforts are made in that regard and when
the Court is convinced beyond any doubt
that there is actually no chance of the
marriage surviving and it is broken beyond
repair......."

21. In Archi Agarwal v. Principal
Judge, Family Court, Lucknowl3
Hon'ble the Apex Court while considering
the exemption of statutory period has held
that such application can be allowed in
cases of "exceptional hardship" or of
"exceptional depravity" as continuance of
litigation would cause mental and physical
harassment to both the parties.

22. Subject to the provisions of the
Act a petition for dissolution of marriage
by a decree of divorce may be presented to
the Principal Judge, Family Court by both
the parties together on the ground that they
have been living separately for a period of
one year or more, that they have not been
able to live together and that they have
been mutually agreed that the marriage
should be dissolved. For ready reference
Section 13B of the Act is quoted as under:-

"13B. Divorce by mutual consent.- (1)
Subject to the provisions of this Act a
petition for dissolution of marriage by a
decree of divorce may be presented to the
district court by both the parties to a
marriage together, whether such marriage
was solemnised before or after the
commencement of the Marriage Laws
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(Amendment) Act, 1976 (68 of 1976), on
the ground that they have been living
separately for a period of one year or
more, that they have not been able to live
together and that they have mutually
agreed that the marriage should be
dissolved.

(2) On the motion of both the parties
made not earlier than six months after the
date of the presentation of the petition
referred to in sub-section (1) and not later
than eighteen months after the said date, if
the petition is not withdrawn in the
meantime, the court shall, on being
satisfied, after hearing the parties and after
making such inquiry as it thinks fit, that a
marriage has been solemnised and that the
averments in the petition are true, pass a
decree of divorce declaring the marriage to
be dissolved with effect from the date of the
decree."”

23. Section 13-B itself provides for a
cooling period of six months on the first
motion being moved, in the event the
parties changed their minds during the said
period. Accordingly, after the initial motion
and the presentation of the petition for
mutual divorce, the parties are required to
wait for a period of six months before the
second motion can be moved, and at that
point of time, if the parties have made up
their minds that they would be unable to
live together, the Court, after making such
inquiry as it may consider fit, grant a
decree of divorce declaring the marriage to
be dissolved with effect from the date of
the decree.

24. 1t is also urged that the other
conditions contained in Section 13-B(1) of
the Act has also been satisfied as the parties
have been living separately for more than a
year and had mutually agreed that the
marriage should be dissolved. It was urged

that except for the formality of not having
made an application under Section 13-B,
the other criteria has been duly fulfilled and
having regard to the language of Section
13-B, a decree of dissolution of the
marriage by way of mutual divorce should
not be denied to the parties, since one
month out of waiting period of six months
contemplated under Section 13B had
already been completed.

25. Hon'ble the Apex Court in Anil
Kumar Jain v. Maya Jain14 had invoked
its power under Art. 142 of the Constitution
of India in the best interest of the parties as
it had been urged that technicality should
be tempered by pragmatism, if substantive
justice was to be done to the parties.

26. It is undoubetedly true that the
Legislature had in its wisdom stipulated a
cooling period of six months from the date
of filing of a petition for mutual divorce till
such divorce is actually granted, with the
intention that it would save the institution
of marriage. In such situation the intention
of the Legislature cannot be faulted with,
but there may be occasions when in order
to do complete justice to the parties it
becomes necessary for this Court to invoke
its discretion in an irreconcilable situation.

27. Hon'ble the Apex Court in
Devinder Singh Narula v. Meenakshi
Nangial5 has considered the cooling off
period of six months prior to filing of
second motion under Section 13-B in the
backdrop that the parties living separately
for more than one year, no formal ties of
marriage between the parties and the
marriage is subsisting by a tenuous thread
on account of the statutory cooling off
period, out of which four months have
already expired. The Supreme Court
observed that there is no reason to continue
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the agony of the parties for another two
months, when it is not possible for the
parties to live together and to discharge
their marital obligations towards each other
for more than one year. The relevant
portion of the said judgment is quoted as
under:-

"10. As will appear in the averments
made in this appeal, the appellant filed a
petition under Section 12 of the Hindu
Marriage Act on 1.6.2011 on the ground
that the marriage contracted on 26.3.2011,
was a nullity; that the parties had been
living separately since their marriage and
have not cohabitated with each other since
1.6.2011 and in future also they could
never live together under one roof.
According to the parties, they are residing
separately from each other for the last one
year and the respondent was presently
working overseas in Canada. It is with such
object in mind that during the pendency of
the proceedings under Section 12 of the Act
the parties agreed to mediation and during
mediation the parties agreed to dissolve
their marriage by filing a petition under
Section 13-B of the above Act for grant of
divorce by mutual consent.

11. In the proceedings before the
Mediator, the parties agreed to move
appropriate petitions under Section 13-
B(1) and 13-B(2) of the Act. A report was
submitted by the Mediator of the Mediation
Centre of the Tis Hazari Courts to the
Court in the pending HMA No.239 of 2011.
It is pursuant to such agreement during the
mediation proceedings that an application
was filed by the parties in the aforesaid
pending HMA on 15.12.2011 indicating
that they had settled the matter through the
mediation centre and that they would be
filing a petition for divorce by mutual
consent on or before 15.4.2012. On the
strength of the said petition, the HMA

proceedings were disposed of as
withdrawn. Subsequently, on 13.4.2012 the
parties filed a joint petition under Section
13-B of the Act on which the order came to
be passed by the learned Additional
District Judge -01, West Delhi, fixing the
date for the second motion on 15.10.2012.

12. It is quite clear from the materials
on record that although the marriage
between the parties was solemnized on
26.3.2011, within 3 months of the marriage
the petitioner filed a petition under Section
12 of the Hindu Marriage Act, 1955, for a
decree of nullity of the marriage.
Thereafter, they have not been able to live
together and lived separately for more than
1 year. In effect, there appears to be no
marital ties between the parties at all. It is
only the provisions of Section 13-B(2)of the
aforesaid Act which are keeping the formal
ties of marriage between the parties
subsisting in name only. At least the
condition indicated in Section 13-B for
grant of a decree of dissolution of marriage
by the mutual consent is present in the
instant case. It is only on account of the
statutory cooling off period of six months
that the parties have to wait for a decree of
dissolution of marriage to be passed.

13. In the above circumstances, in our
view, this is one of those cases where we
may invoke and exercise the powers vested
in the Supreme Court under Article 142 of
the Constitution. The marriage is subsisting
by a tenuous thread on account of the
statutory cooling off period, out of which
four months have already expired. When it
has not been possible for the parties to live
together and to discharge their marital
obligations towards each other for more
than one year, we see no reason to continue
the agony of the parties for another two
months.

14. We, accordingly, allow the appeal
and also convert the pending proceedings
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under Section 12 of the Hindu Marriage
Act, 1955, before the Additional District
Judge-1, West Delhi, into one underSection
13-B of the aforesaid Act and by invoking
our powers under Article 142 of the
Constitution, we grant a decree of mutual
divorce to the parties and direct that the
marriage between the parties shall stand
dissolved by mutual consent. The
proceedings before the Additional District
Judge-I, West Delhi, being HMA No.204 of
2012, is withdrawn to this Court on consent
of the parties and disposed of by this

28. In K. Thiruvengadam v. Nill6 it
was held that though it is obligatory for
courts to make last minute efforts to save
marriage, where there is no possibility of re-
union and when process of divorce by mutual
consent has been adopted it is open to court
to waive 6 months' period. Section 13-B is
only directory and not mandatory and if held
to be mandatory it would frustrate very
liberalised concept of divorce by mutual
consent.

29. In Miten v. Union of Indial7 it
was observed that three ingredients had to be
satisfied before the court to a relief under
Section 13-B to the parties: (i) the parties had
been living separately for a period of more
than a year, (ii) they had not been able to live
together and (iii) that they have mutually
agreed to dissolve the marriage. Once these
three statutory conditions are satisfied then it
gives jurisdiction to the court to entertain a
petition for divorce by mutual consent.
Purpose of introducing mutuality was not to
dissolve the marriage between the newly wed
at the drop of the hat without any reason/
jurisdiction.

30. The court on the very first date,
must satisfy itself that consent is not

obtained for divorce by force, fraud or
undue influence and must reveal it in order
of court. (vide: Sushama v. Pramod18).

31. In the present matter on the
second day of hearing both the parties were
present and separately they made a
categorical statement that within four days
of their solemnisation of marriage they
departed and even the marriage has not
been consummated. Both are literate and
decided with full conscious mind that they
have to be separated. We have also tried to
get an impression whether the said
statement is with free will or not. They had
no hesitation in responding that there is no
force, fraud or undue influence while
reaching to such decision.

32. Considering the facts and
circumstances of the case, we are of the
view that it will be open to the Court to
exercise its discretion in the facts and
circumstances of each case where there is
no possibility of parties resuming
cohabitation and there are chances of
alternative rehabilitation. In the present
matter the wife remained in her
matrimonial house only for four days and
for more than one year they are living
separately. The marriage has never been
consummated. They also make statement
before the Court that they do not want to
live together and there is no chance of
reconciliation and the waiting period will
only prolong their agony. They have made
statement that they have better future
prospects if divorce is allowed.

33. In view of the above and keeping in
mind the legal position, we are of the
considered opinion that learned Incharge
Principal Judge, Family Court rejected the
application 17/C without considering the
facts of the case as well as law laid down by
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the Apex Court, therefore, the order
impugned is set aside. The application 17/C
is allowed. The present first appeal allowed
accordingly. Learned Principal Judge, Family
Court is directed to decide the Original Suit
No. 592 of 2020 expeditiously or preferably
within 7 days after producing the
computerized copy of this judgment.

34. The party shall file computer
generated copy of such order downloaded
from the official website of High Court
Allahabad,  self  attested by  the
appellant/respondent along with a self
attested identity proof of the said person
(preferably Aadhar Card) mentioning the
mobile number to which the said Aadhar
Card is linked.

35. The concerned Court /Authority
[Official shall verify the authenticity of such
computerized copy of the order from the
official website of High Court Allahabad and
shall make a declaration of such verification
in writing.

(2021)06ILR A116
APPELLATE JURISDICTION
CIVIL SIDE
DATED: ALLAHABAD 04.07.2017

BEFORE

THE HON'BLE DILIP GUPTA, J.
THE HON'BLE AMAR SINGH CHAUHAN, J.

First Appeal (D) No. 200 of 2017

Upendra Singh @ Omiji ...Appellant
Versus
Abbyan Singh @ Kanhaiya & Ors.
...Respondents

Counsel for the Appellant:
Sri Mridul Kumar

Counsel for the Respondents:

A. Civil Law - Hindu Adoptions and
Maintenance Act, 1956 — Section 20 -
Father’s liability to maintain son -—
Expenses of treatment, claimed -
Maintenance — Scope and definition — Son
is suffering from heart disease — Held,
*‘Maintenance’ includes provision for food,
clothing, residence, education of the
children and medical attendance or
treatment — Appellant-father is able to
provide medical expenses and
maintenance — He cannot escape liability
by raising plea that son is living with his
mother. (Para 7 and 8)

First Appeal dismissed. (E-1)

Cases relied on :-

1. State of Haryana Vs Smt. Santra, AIR 2000
SC 1888

(Delivered by Hon'ble Amar Singh Chauhan, J.)

1. The appellant Upendra Singh @
Omiji, has preferred this First Appeal under
Section 19 of the Family Courts Act against
the judgment and order dated 26 September
2016 passed by the Principle Judge, Family
Court, Jalaun at Orai in Original Suit No.
26 of 2014 (Abbyan Singh and another vs.
Upendra Singh and another) whereby the
court below has awarded Rs. 3,000/- per
month for medical expenses and Rs.
1,000/- per month for maintenance to
Abbyan Singh (respondent no. 1).

2. The brief facts which are requisite
to be stated for the adjudication of the
present appeal are that a regular suit was
filed under Section 20 of the Hindu
Adoptions and Maintenance Act for getting
maintenance of their minor son (respondent
no. 1) claiming Rs. 7,000/- per month, who
is residing with respondent no. 2,Smt.
Poonam Raje. It is averred that marriage of
respondent no. 2, Smt. Poonam Raje was
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solemnized with appellant Upendra Singh
@ Omji on 17 November 2010 according
to Hindu rites and rituals, and out of the
said wedlock, one male issue namely
Abbyan Singh @ Kanhaiya was born, who
is 18 months old at present. Unfortunately,
he is suffering from heart disease and there
is shrinkage and hole in the valve of his
heart. The appellant did not provide him
the medical treatment. Respondent no. 2,
who is teacher in a school, however
managed to give treatment but the expenses
are very high and cannot be afforded by
her. The appellant is doing business and he
possesses Tractor, Scorpio, used taxi,
J.C.B. Machine and also agricultural land
from which his annual income is more than
Rs. 13 lakhs and, therefore, the respondents
seek relief for grant of maintenance and
lastly prayed that defendant be directed to
give Rs. 7,000/- per month in lieu of
maintenance, treatment and education of
their minor son.

3. The defendant filed a written
statement and pleaded inter alia that he has
paid Rs. 2,50,000/- for the medical
treatment of respondent no. 1; that
respondent no. 2 left his house without any
reason and also used to under estimate him;
that respondent no. 2 is teacher and earning
Rs. 35,000/- per month and her father is a
rich person and business-man who
possesses agricultural land also.

4. On the basis of the pleadings of the
parties, following issues were framed by
the Principal Judge, Family Court:-

a. Whether the respondent no. 1 is
entitled to get maintenance?

b. Whether the respondent no. 1 is
entitled to get some money for treatment
after creating charges of the property of the
appellant?

5. The Principle Judge, Family Court,
Jalaun at Orai, after hearing the parties and
perusing the records, partly decreed the
suit. The appellant was directed to give Rs.
3,000/- per month towards medical
expenses and Rs. 1,000/- per month in lieu
of maintenance and education of the minor
son i.e., respondent no. 1.

6. Before adverting to the claim of the
parties, it is necessary to reproduce Section
20 of the Hindu Adoptions and
Maintenance Act:-

"20. Maintenance of children and
aged parents- (i) Subject to the provisions
of this section a Hindu is bound, during his
or her lifetime, to maintain his or her
legitimate or illegitimate children and his
or her aged or infirm parents.

(if) A legitimate or illegitimate child
may claim maintenance from his or her
father or mother so long as the child is a
minor.

(ili) The obligation of a person to
maintain his or her aged infirm parent or a
daughter who is unmarried extends in so
far as the parent or the unmarried
daughter, as the case may be, is unable to
maintain himself or herself out of his or her
own earnings or other property.”

7. In this appeal, the main point of
determination is that whether the appellant
is under a legal obligation to maintain
respondent no. 1 who is the legitimate son
of appellant and suffering from heart
disease. It has come in the evidence that
appellant is a business-man who possesses
Tractor, Scorpio vehicle, J.C.B. Machine
and also agricultural land. Therefore, he is
able to provide medical expenses and
maintenance.  'Maintenance’  includes
provision for food, clothing, residence,
education of the children and medical
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attendance or treatment. The Supreme
Court in the case of State of Haryana vs.
Smt. Santra, AIR 2000 SC 1888 held that
a Hindu is under a legal obligation to
maintain his wife, minor son, unmarried
daughter and old aged parents, whether he
possesses any property or not. The
obligation to maintain these relations is
personal, legal and absolute that arises from
the very existence of the relationship of the
parties.

8. Section 20 of the Hindu Adoptions
and Maintenance Act gives statutory form
to the legal obligation of a Hindu also to
maintain his minor son and his aged or
infirm parents. The appellant cannot escape
liability by raising plea that respondent no.
1 is living with respondent no. 2.

9. The impugned judgement, which
has considered the various aspects in detail,
does not call for any interference.

10. The appeal, therefore, liable to be
dismissed and is dismissed.

(2021)06ILR A118
APPELLATE JURISDICTION
CIVIL SIDE
DATED: ALLAHABAD 06.11.2019

BEFORE

THE HON'BLE SUDHIR AGARWAL, J.
THE HON'BLE RAJEEV MISRA, J.

First Appeal No. 327 of 2017

Surendra Pratap Singh ...Appellant
Versus
Dr. Vishwaraj Singh ...Respondent

Counsel for the Appellant:
Sri Ganesh Shanker Srivastava

Counsel for the Respondent:

A. Civil Law - Hindu Marriage Act, 1955 —
Section 13 (ia) — Family Courts Act, 1984
— Section 19(1) — Matrimonial dispute —
Divorce on the ground of cruelty — Cruelty,
scope and application thereof — Cruelty
may be mental or physical, intentional or
unintentional — If it is physical, it is a
question of fact about degree. If it is
mental, the enquiry must begin as to the
nature of cruel treatment — Mental cruelty
is the conduct of other spouse which
causes mental suffering or fear to
matrimonial life of other. It postulates a
treatment of party to marriage with such
conduct as to cause a reasonable
apprehension in his or her mind that it
would be harmful or injurious to live with
other party — Held, plaint do not satisfy
pleadings needed for a case of divorce
founded on cruelty and that being so,
evidence also has not been led to prove
cruelty — Trial Court’s order holding that
plaintiff-appellant has failed to prove
cruelty, affirmed. (Para 26, 28 and 32)

B. Hindu Marriage Act, 1955 — Section 13
— Divorce — Ground of irretrievable break
down, application thereof — Parties are
living separately for the last one year —
Held, under Section 13 of Act, 1955,
divorce is not permitted on the ground
that marriage has become irretrievable —
Power of Supreme Court under Article 42
of the Constitution is not vested in High
Court. (Para 33 and 37)

First Appeal dismissed. (E-1)

Cases relied on :-

1. Samar Ghosh Vs Jaya Ghosh; (2007) 4 SCC
511

2. N.G. Dastane Vs S. Dastane; (1975) 2 SCC
326

3. Sirajmohmedkhan Janmohamadkhan Vs
Haizunnisa Yasinkhan & anr.; (1981) 4 SCC 250

4. Shobha Rani Vs Madhukar Reddi; (1988) 1
SCC 105
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5. V. Bhagat Vs D. Bhagat (Mrs.); (1994) 1 SCC
337

6. Savitri Pandey Vs Prem Chandra Panadey,
(2002) 2 scC 73

7. A. Jayachandra Vs Aneel Kaur; (2005) 2 SCC
22

8. Vinita Saxena Vs Pankaj Pandit; (2006) 3 SCC
778

9. First Appeal No. 525 of 2006; Smt. Kavita
Sharma Vs Neeraj Sharma decided by Allahabad
High Court on 7.2.2018

10. First Appeal No. 792 of 2008; Ashwani
Kumar Kohli Vs Smt. Anita decided by Allahabad
High Court on 17.11.2016

11. Chetan Dass Vs Kamla Devi; (2001) 4 SCC
250

12. Civil Appeal No0.4696 of 2013; R. Srinivas
Kumar Vs R. Shametha, decided by Supreme
Court on 04.10.2019

(Delivered by Hon'ble Sudhir Agarwal, J. &
Hon'ble Rajeev Misra, J.)

1. Heard Sri Ganesh Shanker
Srivastava, learned counsel for appellant.
None has appeared on behalf of respondent
though vide order dated 01.05.2017, notice
was issued to sole respondent. Vide order
dated 12.07.2018, service was deemed
sufficient. Hence, we proceed to hear and
decide this appeal exparte.

2. This is plaintiff's appeal under
Section 19(1) of Family Court Act, 1984
(hereinafter referred to as "Act, 1984")
arisen from judgement dated 22.03.2017
and decree dated 07.04.2017 passed by
Smt. Shaily Rai, Additional Principal
Judge/Additional District and Sessions
Judge/ Fast Track Court No. 1, Varanasi,
dismissing appellant's Matrimonial Petition
No. 189 of 2007 filed under Section 13 of
Hindu Marriage Act, 1955 (hereinafter
referred to as "Act, 1955") seeking divorce
on the ground of cruelty.

3. Plaintiff-appellant instituted
Matrimonial Petition No0.189 of 2007,
under Section 13 of Act, 1955 with a prayer
that matrimonial relations between plaintiff
and defendant be revoked by granting
decree of divorce.

4. The plaint case set up by appellant
vide plaint dated 10.08.2007 is that he is
resident of village Amar Lok Hospital,
Uska Road, Siddharthanagar, Tappa-
Dharauli, Pargana, Tehsil- Naugarh,
District Siddharthanagar while defendant-
respondent is resident of Varanasi.
Marriage between parties was solemnized
on 04.05.2003 according to Hindu Rituals.
Defendant after marriage came to her in-
laws house and started discharging her
matrimonial duties and both were living
happily. Both the parties are well educated.
Defendant by profession is Doctor.
Defendant's father Professor Daya Shanker
Singh has generally stayed abroad.
Defendant was also born at abroad and has
stayed with her father in different countries
like, South Africa, America etc. Defendant
is an expert Doctor, therefore, parties
jointly constructed Amar Lok Hospital for
medical practice of defendant. With the
passage of time, understanding between the
two got disturbed since defendant has
mostly lived abroad and enjoyed open
lifestyle. Misunderstanding between the
two resulted in some criminal cases also
which were pending at the time of filing of
matrimonial petition. Situation has come
where both the parties have lost confidence
among them and it is difficult to live
together. Further on account of criminal
cases, mental stress has reached a stage
where both cannot live together under a
single roof and causing mental and physical
harassment to plaintiff. Both have no
nuptial relations for the last one year.
Relations of husband and wife have ceased
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and defendant has also not discharged her
duties as wife. It has resulted in a hell like
life to the parties. It is impossible for both
to live together. Plaintiff repeatedly asked
defendant to have a mutual divorce but she
has not agreed. Cause of action arose in the
first week of August, 2007 when defendant
declined to cooperate for mutual divorce.

5. Matrimonial Petition was contested
by defendant by filing written statement
dated 13.11.2007 who stated that it is the
plaintiff who has been harassing defendant
mentally and physically throughout. He
induced defendant to marry him on the
pretext that he is a Doctor but later on, it
was revealed that he was not a Doctor and,
therefore, he has cheated defendant. For
construction of Amar Lok Hospital except
loan money, which was sanctioned by State
Bank of India, Siddharthanagar under
Doctor Plus Scheme, entire money was
arranged and invested by defendant and
plaintiff has not contributed any single
penny therefor. Allegation that foreign stay
of defendant has caused in marital
differences is incorrect and defendant has
not harassed plaintiff in any manner and it
is otherwise. Plaintiff has made dowry
demand time and again and also caused
physical and mental cruelty making her life
a hell.

6. Aforesaid petition was initially
filed in the Court of Civil Judge (Senior
Division), Siddharthanagar. Defendant filed
a Transfer Petition (Civil) No.142 of 2008
in Supreme Court and thereupon vide
judgement dated 03.01.2011, it was
transferred to the Court of competent
jurisdiction at Varanasi.

7. For expeditious disposal of the suit,
plaintiff filed Writ Petition N0.45971 of
2011 which was disposed of vide

judgement dated 12.08.2011 directing
Court below to decide suit expeditiously
without giving unnecessary adjournment to
the parties.

8. Defendant sought amendment in
written statement and sought to insert
following paras and schedule:-

“16Y. ¥g fb aidl §ga & w@ond T
FHEHITT 3T & Siiv ara] s79+ B SIaey llev
FYar o7 SN fored §igad &9 glaaied @&
"rar—9ar g Reder], aidl @ aral v quiey &
faeare @ve &4 Hiaarc @ wrE GrRI e/
I gande fewg eHaE 7 G Rara [ved)
F &g U @d awe B e FE §F
glaariadl @ Fa—Aar #rer G o gard
G4 89 glaaife @ 7 aidl / ar @ dre)
®UIT T GIGVIT § HICY BV T 3T GIHTT GYTHRT
faare &7 wlaanted 7 i @ RIr e Sremar
3P fAerfl & wHT &9 glaanad & ST W
PIHI YT BT H Qg o [orerer faaver
e fear 7T 8/

169 Jg I3 % [dare Foigy &4 Hlaaia!
g Il [/ aid & TEE BB YT T T 9
g7 &9 wlaane g ard / aidt 7 fAd ave
FYH OH YT AV AlF HaTHT TARY BT
f&ar;

164l T8 [ §I7 TG HoigY old EF &
glaaria+l @ g g & |l S ardl
FATHIZS SITCY 781 & I THP Ure Hofl 13T
g oiv vwd &7 gRaRsr @ Far-far
Rederd @I 4 gl@r & &Y o §a @ SV
gaT &7 Flaanc @ €EGr daY §9 glagna s &
TId) B forar & foraet e 819 UV qrdt
Jrfl g glaared! 4 F7gerg & AT S aiql
gt sy FH @ fourT @ [y EHET &H
giaara & ARYIC T SFTST BViIE HYT il X
TITTT 89 FIAana & GRYIC FXD FAIVaed!
gv & A1 faar sl &7 glaana @ wig areh
/ qrdl 7 wEvewd! 'Y W [F@er a9 aist
I 7§ mlaaned] Fage @ W STHET T
FUST TINE Gl [& &7 Hlaana & §7 Flaarc’
» FA-fgar 7 [@aE & qad _kar ey wHl
VAT 39T GIT VT fordT 3 ag rer it
J qI& & ure &/

1687 T8 [& 89 glogiet 7 w9 idt/
TJr W GFT STHYI TN Ol qvaad [daiE &9
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gfaaifet & @ar-faar 7 & 8§49 Flaaned &
fear o o 7T @9 @]l S gl 7 OV &7 @
BV BV [397 TT 1T §F glaaifa s ¥ el
F8GT P T YT AT/

17 § I8 & aid) / I 7 gaeHr sron H
o PR [Qars fdwee @7 U7 & g8 Toid d
g7raet & SV & A T AIge qoE T8
fear siv &I @R @97 8 @' dm— 13 fog
AT yae @ Fral @ qir T Hear & g 59
N gv ot grar e S I qg @vear &
@I 13T ST |

16 U, I8 & &9 glagnel 7 Jv—aN qrd)
/el & &8T5 98 §% agicav & 3T H [
T SleerfgT T forvre? BT
FalorT-37,50.000 wIT EiAl & FF Flane
HIFEY Bl &7 BY &4 IV JFT G F AT
&4 Flaana W e TEvv &V od fdg qre)
/Tl Sgs B &9 Flddre & ST STHEIT
I §SY Hd B TVT § FAT ST T AGTHA
T faqvor G i g7 77 8 @ 77 ' ot FHIY
Y [ear foradl gr BT FvdEd 9 EBEIN §F
glaate gorgy &/

W g8 & gieiaNy @ geandd avHd @
Nr—16 TE P FrE fFEleifaa Raver
f=TfeIRgT ®Y & g9TET 59T Gid—

/1 faavor e/
g [9qvor THT G gYgeT el d glaane )
@ a7 [9aT 1T 1397 T 8—

AT BT FAPT & TS 7T 20 T
@I BT el BT EY YF AT TAA 75 TTH
@I @ 39Sl & T IAAT 10 T
BV FIT B OF TT TTA 446 TIH
w7 @ ARG ST 5 TT 32 TH
wIT @ Niws] GYeTH o 266"
@I BT el BT EN WS Y T 87"
. I BT FADT VF IS 2 7T 18"

@I @ S V& T T 04"
0. FI7 T BT 3 HE 6 UivT 368"
11- eaxy lw= Iksus dk nks ihl out 78**
12. 9537 GI7 P 3 WIS 7T 120"

3

13. gl 817 @ AT Bl 12 TT 312"

NSO RN WN N

©

=

Hl AT 1 B0 842 TH
14, BT B DY 2 7 g9 3.00 BT,

15. YR T YTIS 8 -9 =191 3.00”
16. IR @1 fafar 6 ireT 42 fha.
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6.42 UTH

£31 5 M R o 4 s S o S ) S o
HaferT—35,00,000 WUAT

g TR B ARG AOIBR DI BIAT 2,50,000
HAT

H ANT 37,50,000 HUAT

st

9. Defendant, therefore, placed a
counter claim in respect of her Streedhan.

10. Counter claim of defendant was
contested and denied by plaintiff by filing
objection.

11. Trial Court formulated following
three issues:-

“1. R I AT TF B PAA B AR WX
YR & fawg fdare fawgs o1 a1 um
BT ARTPRY B?

2. T AE TH WA ® SAEER B
IR 7

3. 91 A fbdll o= gAY BT UK B
BT IffSHrr 8P

12.  In support of plaint, plaintiff
examined himself as PW-1, Laljee as PW-2,
Ram Lautan Singh as PW-3 who filed their
affidavit as a part of examination-in-chief and
thereafter cross-examined by defendant.

13. Oral evidence of defendant comprised
of her own statement as DW-1, statements of
Ritiraj Singh as DW-2, Pawan Kumar Singh as
DW-3 and Manoj Kumar Singh as DW-4.
Besides, documentary evidence was also filed
by defendant and detailed in the judgement of
Trial Court.

14. Trial Court found that virtually,
there was no pleading giving instances of
cruelty, mental or otherwise justifying
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decree of divorce on the ground of cruelty
under Section 13 of Act, 1955. Minor
differences between the parties did not
come within the ambit of 'cruelty’ justifying
divorce. Trial Court, therefore, answered
guestion-1  against  plaintiff-appellant
holding that he failed to prove its case by
pleadings and evidence.

15. Issue-2 was also answered against
plaintiff and, thereafter, issue-3 was also
answered against plaintiff.

16. Before this Court, learned counsel
for appellant contended that Trial Court has
committed manifest error in observing that
plaintiff failed to prove its case of ‘cruelty’
and secondly, contended that parties are not
residing together for the last 13 years and
marriage  has become irretrievable,
therefore, divorce should have been granted
in the present case.

17. Two points for determination has
arisen in this appeal which are:-

(i) Whether appellant has pleaded and
proved the incident of cruelty and Court
below has wrongly taken a view otherwise.

(if) Whether decree of judgement of
Court below can be reversed on the ground
that marital relations are irretrievable.

18. Before proceeding to consider
question-1, it would be appropriate to
reproduce Section 13 of Act, 1955:-

"13. Divorce. --(1) Any marriage
solemnized, whether before or after the
commencement of this Act, may, on a
petition presented by either the husband or
the wife, be dissolved by a decree of
divorce on the ground that the other party--

(i) has, after the solemnization of the
marriage, had voluntary sexual intercourse

with any person other than his or her
spouse; or

(ia) has, after the solemnization of the
marriage, treated the petitioner with
cruelty; or

(ib) has deserted the petitioner for a
continuous period of not less than two
years immediately  preceding the
presentation of the petition; or

(i) has ceased to be a Hindu by
conversion to another religion; or

(iii) has been incurably of unsound
mind, or has been suffering continuously or
intermittently from mental disorder of such
a kind and to such an extent that the
petitioner cannot reasonably be expected to
live with the respondent.

Explanation.--In this clause,--

(a) the expression "mental disorder"

means mental illness, arrested or
incomplete  development  of  mind,
psychopathic disorder or any other

disorder or disability of mind and includes
schizophrenia;

(b) the expression “psychopathic
disorder"” means a persistent disorder or
disability of mind (whether or not including
sub-normality of intelligence) which results
in abnormally aggressive or seriously
irresponsible conduct on the part of the
other party, and whether or not it requires
or is susceptible to medical treatment; or]

(iv) has, [***] been suffering from a
virulent and incurable form of leprosy; or

(v) has, [***] been suffering from
venereal disease in a communicable form;
or

(vi) has renounced the world by
entering any religious order; or

(vii) has not been heard of as being
alive for a period of seven years or more by
those persons who would naturally have
heard of it, had that party been alive;

Explanation. In this sub-section, the
expression "desertion™ means the desertion
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of the petitioner by the other party to the
marriage without reasonable cause and
without the consent or against the wish of
such party, and includes the wilful neglect
of the petitioner by the other party to the
marriage, and its grammatical variations
and cognate expressions shall be construed
accordingly.

(1-A) Either party to a marriage,
whether solemnised before or after the
commencement of this Act, may also
present a petition for the dissolution of the
marriage by a decree of divorce on the
ground--

(i) that there has been no resumption of
cohabitation as between the parties to the
marriage for a period of one year or upwards
after the passing of a decree for judicial
separation in a proceeding to which they
were parties; or

(i) that there has been no restitution of
conjugal rights as between the parties to the
marriage for a period of one year or upwards
after the passing of a decree for restitution of
conjugal rights in a proceeding to which they
were parties.

(2) A wife may also present a petition
for the dissolution of her marriage by a
decree of divorce on the ground,---

(i) in the case of any marriage
solemnised before the commencement of this
Act, that the husband had married again
before such commencement or that any other
wife of the husband married before such
commencement was alive at the time of the
solemnisation of the marriage of the
petitioner:

Provided that in either case the other
wife is alive at the time of the presentation of
the petition; or

(i) that the husband has, since the
solemnisation of the marriage, been guilty of
rape, sodomy or bestiality; or

(iii) that in a suit under section 18 of the
Hindu Adoptions and Maintenance Act, 1956

(78 of 1956), or in a proceeding under
section 125 of the Code of Criminal
Procedure, 1973 (2 of 1974) or under the
corresponding section 488 of the Code of
Criminal Procedure, 1898 (5 of 1898), a
decree or order, as the case may be, has been
passed against the husband awarding
maintenance to the wife notwithstanding that
she was living apart and that since the
passing of such decree or order, cohabitation
between the parties has not been resumed for
one year or upwards; or

(iv) that her marriage (whether
consummated or not) was solemnised before
she attained the age of fifteen years and she
has repudiated the marriage after attaining
that age but before attaining the age of
eighteen years.

Explanation. --This clause applies
whether the marriage was solemnised before
or after the commencement of the Marriage
Laws (Amendment) Act, 1976 (68 of 1976).

STATE AMENDMENT

Uttar Pradesh.-- In its application to
Hindus domiciled in Uttar Pradesh and
also when either party to the marriage was
not at the time of marriage a Hindu
domiciled in Uttar Pradesh, in Section 13--

(i) in sub-section (1), after clause (i)
insert and shall be deemed always to have
been inserted the following

"(1-a) has persistently or repeatedly
treated the petitioner with such cruelty as
to cause a reasonable apprehension in the
mind of the petitioner that it will be
harmful or injurious for the petitioner to
live with the other party; or", and

(ii) for clause (viii) (since repealed)
substituted and deem always to have been
so substituted for following.

" (viii) has not resumed cohabitation
after the passing of a decree for judicial
separation against that party and--
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(a) a period of two years has elapsed
since the passing of such decree, or

(b) the case is one of exceptional
hardship to the petitioner or of exceptional

depravity on the part of other party; or".

19. Section 13 (ia) of Act of 1955
clearly provides that a decree of divorce
can be granted, in case, after solemnization
of marriage, petitioner has been treated
with ‘cruelty’.

20. In Samar Ghosh vs. Jaya Ghosh
(2007) 4 SCC 511, Court considered the
concept of cruelty and referring to Oxford
Dictionary defines 'cruelty’ as 'the quality
of being cruel; disposition of inflicting
suffering; delight in or indifference to
another's  pain;  mercilessness;  hard-
heartedness'.

21. In Black's Law Dictionary, 8th
Edition, 2004, term "mental cruelty” has
been defined as, "a ground for divorce, one
spouse's course of conduct (not involving
actual violence) that creates such anguish
that it endangers the life, physical health, or
mental health of the other spouse.”

22. The concept of cruelty has been
summarized in Halsbury's Laws of
England, Vol.13, 4th Edition Para 1269, as
under:

"The general rule in all cases of
cruelty is that the entire matrimonial
relationship must be considered, and that
rule is of special value when the cruelty
consists not of violent acts but of injurious
reproaches, complaints, accusations or
taunts. In cases where no violence is
averred, it is undesirable to consider
judicial pronouncements with a view to
creating certain categories of acts or
conduct as having or lacking the nature or

quality which renders them capable or
incapable in all circumstances of
amounting to cruelty; for it is the effect of
the conduct rather than its nature which is
of paramount importance in assessing a
complaint of cruelty. Whether one spouse
has been guilty of cruelty to the other is
essentially a question of fact and previously
decided cases have little, if any, value. The
court should bear in mind the physical and
mental condition of the parties as well as
their social status, and should consider the
impact of the personality and conduct of
one spouse on the mind of the other,
weighing all incidents and quarrels
between the spouses from that point of
view; further, the conduct alleged must be
examined in the light of the complainant's
capacity for endurance and the extent to
which that capacity is known to the other
spouse. Malevolent intention is not
essential to cruelty but it is an important
element where it exits."

23. In 24 American Jurisprudence 2d,
the term "mental cruelty” has been defined
as under:

"Mental Cruelty as a course of
unprovoked conduct toward one's spouse
which causes embarrassment, humiliation,
and anguish so as to render the spouse's
life miserable and unendurable. The
plaintiff must show a course of conduct on
the part of the defendant which so
endangers the physical or mental health of
the plaintiff as to render continued
cohabitation unsafe or improper, although
the plaintiff need not establish actual
instances of physical abuse. "

24.  One of the earliest decision
considering "mental cruelty" we find is,
N.G. Dastane v. S. Dastane (1975) 2 SCC
326, wherein Court has said:
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"The enquiry therefore has to be
whether the conduct charged as cruelty is
of such a character as to cause in the mind
of the petitioner a reasonable apprehension
that it will be harmful or injurious for him
to live with the respondent. "

25. In Sirajmohmedkhan
Janmohamadkhan V. Haizunnisa
Yasinkhan and Anr. (1981) 4 SCC 250
Court said that concept of legal cruelty
changes according to the changes and
advancement of social concept and
standards of living. With the advancement
of our social conceptions, this feature has
obtained legislative recognition, that a
second marriage is a sufficient ground for
separate  residence and maintenance.
Moreover, to establish legal cruelty, it is
not necessary that physical violence should
be used. Continuous ill-treatment, cessation
of marital intercourse, studied neglect,
indifference on the part of the husband, and
an assertion on the part of the husband that
the wife is unchaste are all factors which
lead to mental or legal cruelty.

26. In Shobha Rani v. Madhukar
Reddi, (1988) 1 SCC 105 Court observed
that word 'cruelty' has not been defined in
Act, 1955 but legislature, making it a
ground for divorce under Section
13(1)(i)(a) of Act, 1955, has made it clear
that conduct of party in treatment of other
if amounts to cruelty actual, physical or
mental or legal, is a just reason for grant of
divorce. Cruelty may be mental or physical,
intentional or unintentional. If it is
physical, it is a question of fact about
degree. If it is mental, the enquiry must
begin as to the nature of cruel treatment
and then as to the impact of such treatment
on the mind of the spouse. Whether it
caused reasonable apprehension that it
would be harmful or injurious to live with

the other, ultimately, is a matter of
inference to be drawn by taking into
account the nature of conduct and its effect
on the complaining spouse. There may,
however, be cases where conduct
complained of itself is bad enough and per
se unlawful or illegal. Then the impact or
injurious effect on the other spouse need
not be enquired into or considered. In such
cases, cruelty will be established if conduct
itself is proved or admitted. The absence of
intention should not make any difference in
the case, if by ordinary sense in human
affairs, the act complained of could
otherwise be regarded as cruelty.

27. In V. Bhagat v. D. Bhagat
(Mrs.), (1994) 1 SCC 337 considering the
concept of "mental cruelty” in the context
of Section 13(1)(i)(a) of Act, 1984, Court
said that it can be defined as conduct which
inflicts upon the other party such mental
pain and suffering as would make it not
possible for that party to live with other. In
other words, mental cruelty must be of such
a nature that the parties cannot reasonably
be expected to live together. The situation
must be such that the wronged party cannot
reasonably be asked to put up with such
conduct and continue to live with other
party. It is not necessary to prove that
mental cruelty is such as to cause injury to
the health of other party. While arriving at
such conclusion, regard must be had to the
social status, educational level of parties,
the society they move in, the possibility or
otherwise of the parties ever living together
in case they are already living apart and all
other relevant facts and circumstances
which it is neither possible nor desirable to
set out exhaustively. What is cruelty in one
case may not amount to cruelty in another
case. It is thus has to be determined in each
case having regard to the facts and
circumstances of each case.
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28. In Savitri Pandey v. Prem
Chandra Panadey, (2002) 2 SCC 73, Court
held that mental cruelty is the conduct of
other spouse which causes mental suffering
or fear to matrimonial life of other. Cruelty
postulates a treatment of party to marriage
with such conduct as to cause a reasonable
apprehension in his or her mind that it would
be harmful or injurious to live with other
party. Cruelty has to be distinguished from
ordinary wear and tear of family life.

29. In A. Jayachandra v. Aneel Kaur,
(2005) 2 SCC 22, Court observed that
conduct of spouse, if established, an inference
can legitimately be drawn that treatment of
spouse is such that it causes an apprehension
in the mind of other spouse, about his or her
mental welfare then this conduct amounts to
cruelty. Court observed that when a petition
for divorce on the ground of cruelty is
considered, Court must bear in mind that the
problems before it are those of human beings
and psychological changes in a spouse's
conduct have to be borne in mind before
disposing of petition for divorce. Before a
conduct can be called cruelty, it must touch a
certain pitch of severity. Mere ftrivial
irritations, quarrels between spouses, which
happen in day-to-day married life, may also
not amount to cruelty.

30. In Vinita Saxena v. Pankaj
Pandit, (2006) 3 SCC 778 Court held that
complaints and reproaches, sometimes of
ordinary nature, may not be termed as
‘cruelty’ but their continuance or persistence
over a period of time may do so which would
depends on the facts of each case and have to
be considered carefully by the Court
concerned.

31. In Samar Ghosh vs. Jaya Ghosh
(supra), Court also said that though no
uniform standard can be laid down but there

are some instances which may constitute
mental cruelty and the same are illustrated as
under:

"(i) On consideration of complete
matrimonial life of the parties, acute mental
pain, agony and suffering as would not make
possible for the parties to live with each other
could come within the broad parameters of
mental cruelty.

(if) On comprehensive appraisal of the
entire matrimonial life of the parties, it
becomes abundantly clear that situation is
such that the wronged party cannot
reasonably be asked to put up with such
conduct and continue to live with other party.

(iii) Mere coldness or lack of affection
cannot amount to cruelty, frequent rudeness
of language, petulance of manner,
indifference and neglect may reach such a
degree that it makes the married life for the
other spouse absolutely intolerable.

(iv) Mental cruelty is a state of mind.
The feeling of  deep anguish,
disappointment, frustration in one spouse
caused by the conduct of other for a long
time may lead to mental cruelty.

(v) A sustained course of abusive and
humiliating treatment calculated to torture,
discommode or render miserable life of the
spouse.

(vi) Sustained unjustifiable conduct
and behavior of one spouse actually
affecting physical and mental health of the
other spouse. The treatment complained of
and the resultant danger or apprehension
must be very grave, substantial and weighty.

(vii) Sustained reprehensible conduct,
studied neglect, indifference or total
departure from the normal standard of
conjugal kindness causing injury to mental
health or deriving sadistic pleasure can
also amount to mental cruelty.

(viii) The conduct must be much more
than jealousy, selfishness, possessiveness,



6 All. Surendra Pratap Singh Vs. Dr. Vishwaraj Singh 127

which causes unhappiness and
dissatisfaction and emotional upset may not
be a ground for grant of divorce on the
ground of mental cruelty.

(ix) Mere trivial irritations, quarrels,
normal wear and tear of the married life
which happens in day to day life would
not be adequate for grant of divorce on
the ground of mental cruelty.

(x) The married life should be
reviewed as a whole and a few isolated
instances over a period of years will not
amount to cruelty. The ill-conduct must be
persistent for a fairly lengthy period, where
the relationship has deteriorated to an
extent that because of the acts and behavior
of a spouse, the wronged party finds it
extremely difficult to live with the other
party any longer, may amount to mental
cruelty.

(xi) If a husband submits himself for
an operation of sterilization without
medical reasons and without the consent or
knowledge of his wife and similarly if the
wife undergoes vasectomy or abortion
without medical reason or without the
consent or knowledge of her husband, such
an act of the spouse may lead to mental
cruelty.

(xii) Unilateral decision of refusal to
have intercourse for considerable period
without there being any physical incapacity
or valid reason may amount to mental
cruelty.

(xiii) Unilateral decision of either
husband or wife after marriage not to have
child from the marriage may amount to
cruelty.

(xiv) Where there has been a long
period of continuous separation, it may
fairly be concluded that the matrimonial
bond is beyond repair. The marriage
becomes a fiction though supported by a
legal tie. By refusing to sever that tie, the
law in such cases, does not serve the

sanctity of marriage; on the contrary, it
shows scant regard for the feelings and
emotions of the parties. In such like
situations, it may lead to mental cruelty."

32. Examining pleadings in present
case, we do not find that assertions in the
plaint do satisfy pleadings needed for a
case of divorce founded on cruelty and that
being so, evidence also has not been led to
prove cruelty, hence, Trial Court has
rightly held that plaintiff-appellant has
failed to prove cruelty. Therefore, question-
1 answered against plaintiff.

33. Now, coming to question-2. We
find that basically plaint is founded on
pleadings that marriage has become
irretrievable. Both are living separately for
the last one year and, therefore, divorce
must be granted. Unfortunately, under
Section 13 of Act, 1955, divorce is not
permitted on the ground that marriage has
become irretrievable.

34. The issue relating to irretrievable
break down of marriage has been
considered by a Division Bench of this
Court in First Appeal No. 525 of 2006
(Smt. Kavita Sharma Vs. Neeraj
Sharma) decided on 7.2.2018, wherein it
has been observed as follows in paragraph
28:-

"28. The above findings recorded by
Court below could not be shown perverse
or contrary to record. Having considered
the fact that parties are living separately
from decades, we are also of the view that
marriage between two is irretrievable and
has broken down completely. Irretrievable
breakdown of marriage is not a ground for
divorce under Act, 1955. But, where
marriage is beyond repair on account of
bitterness created by the acts of the



128 INDIAN LAW REPORTS ALLAHABAD SERIES

husband or the wife or of both, Courts have
always taken irretrievable breakdown of
marriage as a very weighty circumstance
amongst others necessitating severance of
marital tie. A marriage which is dead for
all purposes cannot be revived by the
Court's verdict, if the parties are not
willing. This is because marriage involves
human sentiments and emotions and if they
are dried-up there is hardly any chance of
their springing back to life on account of
artificial reunion created by the Court's
decree. On the ground of irretrievable
marriage, Courts have allowed decree of
divorce and reference may be made to
Naveen Kohli v. Neelu Kohli (2006) 4 SCC
558 and Rishikesh Sharma Vs. Saroj
Sharma, 2006(12) SCALE 282. It is also
noteworthy that in Naveen Kohli v. Neelu
Kohli (supra) Court made recommendation
to Union of India that Act, 1955 be
amended to incorporate irretrievable
breakdown of marriage as a ground for
grant of divorce. "

35. Similarly this Court in First
Appeal No. 792 of 2008 (Ashwani Kumar
Kohli Vs. Smt. Anita) decided on
17.11.2016 has also considered this
question and observed as follows in
paragraphs 7, 8, 10, 11, 12 and 13:-

"7. Therefore, point for adjudication
in this appeal is "whether a decree of
reversal can be passed by granting divorce
to the appellant on the ground which was
not subject matter of adjudication before
the Court below and is being raised for the
first time in appeal".

8. Under the provisions of Act, 1955
there is no ground like any "irretrievable
breakdown of marriage", justifying divorce.
It is a doctrine laid down by judicial
precedents, in particular, Supreme Court in
exercise of powers under Article 142 of the

Constitution has granted decree of divorce
on the ground of irretrievable breakdown
of marriage.

10. This aspect has been considered by
this Court in Ram Babu Babeley Vs. Smt.
Sandhya AIR 2006 (All) 12 = 2006 AWC
183 and it has laid down certain inferences
from various authorities of Supreme Court,
which read as under:-

"(i) The irretrievable break down of
marriage is not a ground for divorce by
itself. But while scrutinizing the evidence
on record to determine whether the
grounds on which divorce is sought are
made out, this circumstance can be taken
into consideration as laid down by Hon'ble
Apex Court in the case of Savitri Pandey v.
prem Chand Pandey, (2002) 2 SCC 73 and
V. Bhagat versus D. Bhagat, AIR 1994 SC
710.

(if) No divorce can be granted on the
ground of irretrievable break down of
marriage if the party seeking divorce on
this ground is himself or herself at fault for
the above break down as laid down in the
case of Chetan Dass Versus Kamla Devi,
AIR 2001 SC 1709, Savitri Pandey v. prem
Chand Pandey, (2002) 2 SCC 73 and
Shyam Sunder Kohli v. Sushma Kohli,
(2004) 7 SCC 7417.

(ili) The decree of divorce on the
ground that the marriage had been
irretrievably broken down can be granted
in those cases where both the parties have
levelled such allegations against each other
that the marriage appears to be practically
dead and the parties can not live together
as laid down in Chandra Kala Trivedi
versus Dr. SP Trivedi, (1993) 4 SCC 232.

(iv)The decree of divorce on the
ground that the marriage had been
irretrievably broken down can be granted
in those cases also where the conduct or
averments of one party have been so much
painful for the other party ( who is not at
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fault) that he cannot be expected to live
with the offending party as laid down in the
cases of V. Bhagat versus D. Bhagat,
(supra), Ramesh Chander versus Savitri,
(1995) 2 SCC 7, Ashok Hurra versus Rupa
Bipin Zaveri, 1997(3) AWC 1843 (SC),
1997(3) AW.C. 1843(SC) and A.
Jayachandra versus Aneel Kaur, (2005) 2
SCC 22.

(v) The power to grant divorce on the
ground of irretrievable break down of
marriage should be exercised with much
care and caution in  exceptional
circumstances only in the interest of both
the parties, as observed by Hon'ble Apex
Court at paragraph No. 21 of the judgment
in the case of V. Bhagat and Mrs. D.
Bhagat, AIR (supra) and at para 12 in the
case of Shyam Sunder Kohli versus Sushma
Kohli, (supra)."

11. The above authorities have been
followed by this Court in "Pradeep Kumar
Vs. Smt. Vijay Lakshmi' in 2015 (4) ALJ
667 wherein one of us (Hon'ble Sudhir
Agarwal,J.) was a member of the Bench.

12. In Vishnu Dutt Sharma Vs. Manju
Sharma, (2009) 6 SCC 379, it was held that
under Section 13 of Act 1955 there is no
ground of irretrievable breakdown of
marriage for granting decree of divorce.
Court said that it cannot add such a ground
to Section 13, as that would amount to
amendment of Act, which is the function of
legislature. It also referred to some
judgments of Supreme Court in which
dissolution of marriage was allowed on the
ground of irretrievable breakdown but held
that those judgments do not lay down any
precedent. Supreme Court very
categorically observed as under:-

"If we grant divorce on the ground of
irretrievable breakdown, then we shall by
judicial verdict be adding a clause to
Section 13 of the Act to the effect that
irretrievable breakdown of marriage is also

a ground for divorce. In our opinion, this
can only be done by the legislature and not
by the Court. It is for the Parliament to
enact or amend the law and not for the
Court. Hence, we do not find force in the
submission of learned counsel for the
appellant.”

13. The above view has been followed
in Darshan Gupta Vs. Radhika Gupta
(2013) 9 SCC 1. Similar view was
expressed in  'Gurubux  Singh Vs.
Harminder Kaur' (2010) 14 SCC 301. This
Court also has followed the above view in
Shailesh Kumari Vs. Amod Kumar Sachan
2016 (115) ALR 689."

36. In Chetan Dass v. Kamla Devi,
(2001) 4 SCC 250, Court observed that
matrimonial matters relates to delicate
human and emotional relationship. It
demands mutual trust, regard, respect, love
and affection with sufficient play for
reasonable adjustments with spouse. The
relationship has to conform to the social
norms as well. There is no scope of
applying the concept of “irretrievably
broken marriage” as a straitjacket formula
for grant of relief of divorce but it has to be
considered in the backdrop of facts and
circumstances of the case concerned.

37. In this regard, we may notice a
recent authority of Supreme Court in Civil
Appeal No0.4696 of 2013, R. Srinivas
Kumar Vs. R. Shametha, decided on
04.10.2019, wherein Court has observed
that once marriage has broken down
beyond repair, it would be unrealistic for
the law not to take notice of that fact, and it
would be harmful to Society and injurious
to the interest of the parties where marriage
becomes a fiction, though supported by a
legal tie. By refusing to sever that tie, the
law in such case, would not serve the
sanctity of marriage and it would show
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feelings and emotions of the parties.
However, aforesaid judgement shows that
since the ground that marriage has broken
down beyond repair or has become
irretrievable is not one of the ground on
which divorce can be granted under Section
13 of Act, 1955, therefore, Supreme Court
has exercised power under Article 142 of
Constitution of India which power is not
vested in this Court. Hence, second point is
also answered against appellant.

38. No other point has been argued.

39. Appeal lacks merit. Dismissed
with costs.

(2021)06ILR A130
APPELLATE JURISDICTION
CIVIL SIDE
DATED: ALLAHABAD 03.01.2020

BEFORE

THE HON'BLE BALA KRISHNA NARAYANA, J.
THE HON'BLE SHAMIM AHMED, J.

First Appeal No. 355 of 2017

Smt. Poonam ...Appellant
Versus
Rajiv Bariyani ...Respondent
Counsel for the Appellant:

Sri Santosh Kumar Srivastava

Counsel for the Opp. Party:
Sri Harindra Prasad

A. Civil Law - Hindu Marriage Act, 1955 —
Section 13-B — Family Courts Act, 1984 —
Section 19 - Matrimonial dispute -
Divorce petition by mutual consent -
Consent subsequently withdrawn by one
party, effect thereof — There is nothing in
Section 13-B of the Act which may
indicate that the consent once given by
either of the parties to a petition for
divorce by mutual consent, cannot be

withdrawn before a decree of divorce by
mutual consent is passed — Held, when the
consent by one of the parties is
withdrawn, the Court cannot pass a
decree of divorce by mutual consent —
Order of the Court below affirmed. (Para
10 and 13)

First Appeal dismissed. (E-1)

Cases relied on :-

1. Smt. Sureshta Devi Vs Om Prakash reported
in (1991) 2 SCC 25

2. Smruti Pahariya Vs Sanjay Pahariya, reported
in (2009) 13 SCC 338

(Delivered by Hon'ble Bala Krishna
Narayana, J. & Hon'ble Shamim Ahmed, J.)

1. Heard learned counsel for the
appellant and Sri Harindra Prasad, learned
counsel for the sole respondent.

2. This first appeal has been filed by the
appellant Smt. Poonam against the judgement
and order dated 28.1.2017 passed by Family
Court, Gorakhpur, by which Case No. 458 of
2014 (Rajiv Bariyani vs. Smt. Poonam) under
Section 13-B of Hindu Marriage Act, 1955
(hereinafter referred to as the "Act"), has
been dismissed on the ground that the
respondent Rajiv Bariyani has withdrawn his
consent.

3. Itis contended by learned counsel for
the appellant that since the parties have been
living separately for the past seven years and
the respondent, after giving his consent to
divorce by mutual consent, had withdrawn
the same after two and a half years, the
Family Judge was not at all legally justified
in dismissing the Case No. 458 of 2014
(Rajiv Bariyani vs. Smt. Poonam).

4. Per contra, Sri Harindra Prasad,
learned counsel for the sole respondent by
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placing reliance upon a judgement rendered
by the Apex Court in Smt. Sureshta Devi
vs. Om Prakash reported in 1991 2 SCC
25 submitted that consent can be
withdrawn by one of the parties any time
before the Court passes a decree of divorce
by mutual consent.

5. We have heard learned counsel for
the parties.

6. Since the facts of this case are not
in dispute, with the consent of the learned
counsel for the parties, we are deciding this
appeal finally at the admission stage itself
as per the High Court Rules.

7. In order to appreciate the
submissions made by learned counsel for
the parties, it would be useful to extract
Section 13-B of the Act.

Section 13B in The Hindu Marriage
Act, 1955

13B. Divorce by mutual consent

(1) Subject to the provisions of this
Act a petition for dissolution of marriage
by a decree of divorce may be presented
to the district court by both the parties to
a marriage together, whether such
marriage was solemnised before or after
the commencement of the Marriage Laws
(Amendment) Act, 1976 (68 of 1976)*,
on the ground that they have been living
separately for a period of one year or
more, that they have not been able to live
together and that they have mutually
agreed that the marriage should be
dissolved.

(2) On the motion of both the parties
made not earlier than six months after the
date of the presentation of the petition

referred to in sub-section (1) and not later
than eighteen months after the said date,
if the petition is not withdrawn in the
meantime, the court shall, on being
satisfied, after hearing the parties and
after making such inquiry as it thinks fit,
that a marriage has been solemnised and
that the averments in the petition are true,
pass a decree of divorce declaring the
marriage to be dissolved with effect from
the date of the decree.]

8. Even the most superficial reading
of sub-section (1) Section 13-B of the Act
indicates that subject to the provisions of
the Act, a petition for dissolution of
marriage by a decree of divorce may be
presented to the district court by both the
parties to a marriage together, on the
ground that they have been living
separately for a period of one year or
more, that they have not been able to live
together and that they have mutually
agreed that the marriage should be
dissolved.

9. Sub-section (2) of Section 13-B
of the Act further stipulates that on the
motion of both the parties made not
earlier than six months after the date of
the presentation of the petition referred to
in sub-section (1) and not later than 18
months after the said date and if the
petition is not withdrawn in the
meantime, the court shall, on being
satisfied, after hearing the parties and
after making such inquiry as it thinks fit,
that a marriage has been solemnized and
that the averments in the petition are true,
pass a decree of divorce declaring the
marriage to be dissolved with effect from
the date of the decree.

10. There is nothing in Section 13-B
of the Act which may indicate that the
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consent once given by either of the parties
to a petition for divorce by mutual consent,
cannot be withdrawn before a decree of
divorce by mutual consent is passed.

11. Section 13-B of the Act was
examined by the Apex Court in the case of
Smt. Sureshta Devi (supra). Paragraph
nos. 9, 10 and 13 of the aforesaid
judgement which are relevant for our
purpose are being reproduced hereinbelow

"'9. The “living separately' for a period
of one year should be immediately
preceding the presentation of the petition.
It is necessary that immediately preceding
the presentation of petition, the parties
must have been living separately. The
expression “living separately’, connotes to
our mind not living like husband and wife.
It has no reference to the place of living.
The parties may live under the same roof
by force of circumstances, and yet they may
not be living as husband and wife. The
parties may be living in different houses
and yet they could live as husband and
wife. What seems to be necessary is that
they have no desire to perform marital
obligations and with that mental attitude
they have been living separately for a
period of one year immediately preceding
the presentation of the petition. The second
requirement that they "have not been able
to live together' seems to indicate the
concept of broken down marriage and it
would not be possible to reconcile
themselves. The third requirement is that
they have mutually agreed that the
marriage should be dissolved.

10. Under sub-section (2) the parties
are required to make a joint motion not
earlier than six months after the date of
presentation of the petition and not later
than 18 months after the said date. This

motion enables the court to proceed with
the case in order to satisfy itself about the
genuineness of the averments in the petition
and also to find out whether the consent
was not obtained by force, fraud or undue
influence. The court may make such inquiry
as it thinks fit including the hearing or
examination of the parties for the purpose
of satisfying itself whether the averments in
the petition are true. If the court is satisfied
that the consent of parties was not obtained
by force, fraud or undue influence and they
have mutually agreed that the marriage
should be dissolved, it must pass a decree
of divorce."

13. From the analysis of the Section, it
will be apparent that the filing of the petition
with mutual consent does not authorise the
court to make a decree for divorce. There is a
period of waiting from 6 to 18 months. This
interregnum was obviously intended to give
time and opportunity to the parties to reflect
on their move and seek advice from relations
and friends. In this transitional period one of
the parties may have a second thought and
change the mind not to proceed with the
petition. The spouse may not be party to the
joint motion under sub-section (2). There is
nothing in the Section which prevents such
course. The Section does not provide that if
there is a change of mind it should not be by
one party alone, but by both. The High
Courts of Bombay and Delhi have proceeded
on the ground that the crucial time for giving
mutual consent for divorce is the time of
filing the petition and not the time when they
subsequently move for divorce decree. This
approach appears to be untenable. At the
time of the petition by mutual consent, the
parties are not unaware that their petition
does not by itself snap marital ties. They
know that they have to take a further step to
snap marital ties. Sub- section (2) of Section
13-B is clear on this point. It provides that
"on the motion of both the parties .... if the
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petition is not withdrawn in the meantime, the
Court shall pass a decree of divorce What is
significant in this provision is that there
should also be mutual consent when they
move the court with a request to pass a
decree of divorce. Secondly, the Court shall
be satisfied about the bonafides and the
consent of the parties. If there is no mutual
consent at the time of the enquiry, the court
gets no jurisdiction to make a decree for
divorce. If the view is otherwise, the Court
could make an enquiry and pass a divorce
decree even at the instance of one of the
parties and against the consent of the other.
Such a decree cannot be regarded as decree
by mutual consent.

12. A Bench of three learned Judges of
the Hon'ble Apex Court in the case of Smrulti
Pahariya v. Sanjay Pahariya, reported in
2009 13 SCC 338 while approving the ratio
laid down in the case of Smt. Sureshta Devi
(supra), took the following view :-

"40. In the Constitution Bench, decision
of this Court in Rupa Ashok Hurra (supra),
this Court did not express any view contrary
to the views of this Court in Sureshta Devi
(supra). We endorse the views taken by this
Court in Sureshta Devi (supra) as we find
that on a proper construction of the provision
in Section 13-B (1) and 13-B (2), there is no
scope of doubting the views taken in Shreshta
Devi (supra). In fact the decision which was
rendered by the two learned Judges of this
Court in Ashok Hurra (supra) has to be
treated to be one rendered in the facts of that
case and it is also clear by the observations
of the learned Judges in that case.

41. None of the counsel for the parties
argued for reconsideration of the ratio in
Sureshta Devi (supra).

42. We are of the view that it is only
on the continued mutual consent of the
parties that decree for divorce under

Section 13-B of the said Act can be passed
by the Court. If petition for divorce is not
formally withdrawn and is kept pending
then on the date when the Court grants the
decree, the Court has a statutory obligation
to hear the parties to ascertain their
consent. From the absence of one of the
parties for two to three days, the Court
cannot presume his/her consent as has
been done by the learned Family Court
Judge in the instant case and especially in
its facts situation, discussed above.

43. In our view it is only the mutual
consent of the parties which gives the Court
the jurisdiction to pass a decree for divorce
under Section 13-B. So in cases under
Section 13-B, mutual consent of the parties
is a jurisdictional fact. The Court while
passing its decree under Section 13-B
would be slow and circumspect before it
can infer the existence of such
jurisdictional fact. The Court has to be
satisfied about the existence of mutual
consent between the parties on some
tangible materials which demonstrably
disclose such consent.

13. Thus, in view of the ratio laid
down in the case of Smt. Sureshta Devi
(supra), we do not find that the Court
below committed any illegality or legal
infirmity in holding that consent given in a
divorce by mutual consent can be
withdrawn by one of the parties before a
Court grants a decree of divorce by mutual
consent and when the consent by one of the
parties is withdrawn, the Court cannot pass
a decree of divorce by mutual consent.
Since in this case the respondent has
withdrawn his consent before the passing
of a decree of divorce by mutual consent,
we do not find that the Court below
committed any error in dismissing the Case
No. 458 of 2014 (Rajiv Bariyani vs. Smt.
Poonam).



134 INDIAN LAW REPORTS ALLAHABAD SERIES

14. This appeal lacks merit and is
accordingly dismissed.

(2021)06ILR A134
APPELLATE JURISDICTION
CIVIL SIDE
DATED: ALLAHABAD 29.03.2019

BEFORE

THE HON'BLE SURYA PRAKASH
KESARWANI, J.

First Appeal 381 of 2018

Sresth Singh & Anr. ...Appellants
Versus
Virendra Kumar Singh & Ors.
...Respondents

Counsel for the Appellant:
Sri Vinay Kumar Khare, Sri Sharvesh Kumar
Pandey

Counsel for the Respondents:
Sri Vinod Singh

A. Civil Procedure Code, 1908 — O. XXI R.
97 and 11 — Decree on the basis of
compromise — Execution of decree -
Obstructions caused severally — Gross
abuse of process of Court — Exemplary
cost, when can be imposed — Successive
objections by the father, then by the
mother, and thereafter by the son and
daughter to obstruct the execution, which
were rejected up to High Court — Held,
while rejecting the objection the Court
below lawfully recorded a finding of abuse
of process of Court for moving the
application malafidely under Order XXI
Rules 97 and 101 C.P.C. so as to frustrate
the execution of decree — Exemplary cost
imposed on the appellants. (Para 10, 12
and 13)

First Appeal dismissed. (E-1)

Cases relied on :-

1. Punjab State Power Corporation Ltd. Vs Atma
Singh Grewal; (2014) 13 SCC 666

2. Dnyandeo Sabaji Naik Vs Pradnya Prakash
Khadekar; (2017) 5 SCC 496

3. Haryana State Co-op. L&C Federation Ltd. Vs
Unique Co-op. L&C Co-op. Society Ltd.; (2018)
14 SCC 248

(Delivered by Hon'ble Surya Prakash
Kesarwani, J.)

1. Heard Sri Sharvesh Kumar Pandey
holding brief of Sri Vinay Kumar Khare,
learned counsel for the objector/appellants
and Sri Vinod Singh, learned counsel for
decree holder/respondent No.1.

2. Learned counsel for the
objector/appellants submits as under:-

(i) Execution Application being
Execution Case No.1 of 2012 was not
maintainable since there was no decree for
eviction of the objector-appellants herein.

(if) Appellants are occupying the
disputed portion of the house since their
birth.

(iii) Appellants have inherited the
property as a Joint Hindu Property, as they
are grand children of Shobha Singh who
has three sons, namely, Virendra Singh,
Amit Singh and Anil Kumar Singh. The
appellants are son and daughter of Amit
Singh.

(iv) A suit for permanent injunction
being Original Suit No.136 of 2000 (Anil
Kumar Singh Vs. Shobha Singh and others)
was filed in which a compromise decree
was passed on 28.08.2003 whereby each
son of Shobha Singh, namely, Virendra
Singh, Amit Singh and Anil Kumar Singh
(Adopted son) each were given 1/3rd share.
At the time of aforesaid decree the
appellants were minor. They were not party
to the compromise decree. Therefore, they
lawfully filed objection in Execution Case
No.1 of 2012 under Order XXI Rule 97 and
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101 C.P.C. but court below has arbitrarily
rejected it.

3. Sri Vinod Singh, learned counsel
for respondent No.1 supports the impugned
order. He submits that firstly, father of the
appellants ~ filed various applications
/objections and after being unsuccessful he
had set up his wife and when she also
became unsuccessful then he has set up his
son and daughter, who are appellants
herein. He referred to order dated
25.09.2012 in Writ-C No0.48402 of 2012
(Amit Kumar Singh Vs. State of U.P. and
others), order dated 13.01.2014 in Writ-C
No.811 of 2014 (Amit Kumar Singh Vs.
Shobha Singh and 3 others) and order dated
11.08.2016 in First Appeal No.739 of 2013
(Smt. Pooja Vs. Virendra Kumar Singh and
4 others).

4. | have carefully considered the
submissions of learned counsel for the
parties and with their consent this appeal is
being finally heard.

FACTS

5. Briefly stated facts of the present
case are that the appellants have objected to
the execution of the decree of the disputed
house situate at Rajendra Nagar, Kasha Orai,
District Jalaun. The land of this house was
purchased by the grand father of the
appellants, namely, Sri Shobha Singh son of
Mukund Singh by registered sale deed dated
12.04.1944. In the year 1975 he took loan of
Rs.40,000/- from Orai Sahkari Grih Nirman
Samiti 470, Rajendra Nagar, Orai, for
construction of the house over the aforesaid
land purchased by him. He repaid the housing
loan taken by him. The aforesaid Shobha
Singh had huge immovable properties. He
had three sons, namely, Anil Kumar Singh,
Virendra Kumar Singh, and Amit Kumar

Singh. His aforesaid son, Anil Kumar Singh
filed injunction suit being O.S. No.136 of
2000 (Anil Kumar Singh Vs. Shobha Singh,
Smt. Shushila Devi wife of Shobha Singh,
Virendra Kumar Singh and Amit Kumar
Singh) for permanent injunction with respect
to the disputed house. In the said suit, a
compromise dated 11.08.2003 signed by all
the parties to the suit was jointly filed and
after verification the compromise was
accepted by the Court on 13.08.2003 and the
decree dated 28.08.2003 was passed in terms
of the compromise.

6. Thereafter Shobha Singh filed an
Execution Case No.61 of 2008 (Shobha
Singh Vs. Anil Kumar Singh) for execution
of the decree. In the execution case, Amit
Kumar Singh filed an objection to the
application 31-Ga 2 dated 21.05.2012
(Annexure No.7 to the Civil Misc. Writ
Petition No0.811 of 2014) Amit Kumar
Singh Vs. Shobha Singh and others and in
paragraph 2 thereof he stated that "= iz
a9 fdarfed wem @1 For ) FET FRmET o
e fay Readl 3 srfaE @ T 8 iR
T R o1 fanfed Jam @1 e | g9 8g
T FOT TN B FHEAE] BN UM B A
ST ETerd # Re dvr 44622 9 2009 T
Rz M we amp Jodlo e wRgd &I & S
o faemme= 21"

7. It appears that prior to the said
objection, the father of the appellants
herein, namely, Amit Kumar Singh filed
a Misc. Case No.1 of 2009 under Section
151 C.P.C. for setting aside the
compromise decree dated 13.08.2003
/28.08.2003 on the ground that although
Anil Kumar Singh is the natural son of
Shobha Singh but he was adopted by
Ranbir Singh and therefore, Anil Kumar
Singh had no right in the property of
Shobha Singh. This application being
Misc. Case No.01 of 2009 (Amit Kumar
Singh Vs. Anil Kumar Singh and others)
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was rejected by the court of Additional
District Judge, Jalaun at Orai by order
dated 27.08.2012. Against that order,
father of the appellants herein, namely, Sri
Amit Kumar Singh filed Writ-C
N0.48402 of 2012 which was dismissed
by this Court by order dated 25.09.2012,
as under:

"Challenging the said order only
submission advanced is that at the time of
passing of the compromise decree
petitioner had no knowledge that
respondent no. 2 was given in adoption.
The compromise is not disputed. It has
been signed by the petitioner. A decree on
the basis of the compromise has been
passed in his presence and upon hearing the
petitioner. Therefore, the said order
decreeing the suit no. 136 of 2000 on the
basis of compromise can not be recalled."

8.  Thereafter, the aforesaid Amit
Kumar Singh (father of the appellants
herein) filed another Misc. Case No.2 of
2009 (Amit Kumar Singh Vs. Shobha
Singh and others) under Section 47 C.P.C.
This Misc. Case No.2 of 2009 was
dismissed by the Court of Additional
District Judge, Jalaun at Orai by order
dated 19.03.2013. He again filed an Misc.
Case No0.10 of 2003 (Amit Kumar Singh
Vs. Shobha Singh and others) under
Section 47 C.P.C. which was rejected by
the court of Additional District Judge, Orai
by order dated 24.05.2013. He again filed
an application 25-Ga 2 in the aforesaid
Misc. Case No0.10 of 2003 (Amit Kumar
Singh Vs. Shobha Singh) which was
rejected by the court of Additional District
Judge, Orai by order dated 06.07.2013.
Again an application 3-Ga 2 was filed by
the aforesaid Amit Kumar Singh which
was rejected by the court below by order
dated 30.09.2013. In the mean time,

another son of Shobha Singh, namely,
Virendra Kumar Singh filed an
Execution Case No0.01 of 2012 in which
Amit Kumar Singh, the father of the
appellants herein, filed an application
27-Ga 2 which was rejected by the court
below by order dated 21.10.2013. All
these orders were challenged by Amit
Kumar Singh, the father of the
appellants herein in Writ Petition No.811
of 2014 which was dismissed by this Court
by order dated 13.01.2014.

9. After the father of the appellants
herein, namely, Amit Kumar Singh could
not succeed to obstruct the execution of the
decree passed in O.S. N0.136 of 2000, then
his wife Smt. Pooja Singh (mother of the
appellants herein) as a third party filed
an application 21-Ka in Execution Case
No.1 of 2012 which was rejected by the
court of Additional District Judge, Court
No.5, Jalaun at Orai by order dated
13.09.2013 observing that the application
is abuse of process of Court. Against this
order, the mother of the appellants
herein, namely, Smt. Pooja Singh filed
First Appeal No.739 of 2013 in which a
counter affidavit dated 15.02.2014 was
filed by grand father of the appellants
herein, namely, Sri Shobha Singh. In the
counter affidavit Shobha Singh denied
every allegations made by the mother of the
appellants herein. Shobha Singh mentioned
in paragraph 20 of his counter affidavit
that mother of the appellants Smt. Pooja
Singh has also filed an injunction suit in
0O.S. No.257 of 2013 in the court of Civil
Judge (Senior Division), Jalaun at Orai
in which 7-C application has been
rejected by a detailed order dated
30.10.2013 passed by the Civil Judge
(Senior Division). The aforesaid First
Appeal No.739 of 2013 was dismissed by
this Court by judgment dated 11.08.2016.
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10. Thus, after the mother and the
father of the appellants herein, namely,
Amit Kumar Singh and Smt. Pooja
Singh were unsuccessful to obstruct the
execution of decree passed in August,
2003, then they have set up their son and
daughter (appellants herein) who filed a
Misc. Case No.58 of 2017 (Km. Aishwarya
Singh and another Vs. Virendra Singh and
others) under Order XXI Rules 97 and 101
C.P.C. objecting the execution of decree of
0.S. No.136 of 2000. The application
No0.20-Ga 2 and 3-Ka 1 filed by the
appellants herein mainly on the ground that
they being co-parcener have a right in the
disputed property and therefore, the decree
cannot be executed against them were
rejected by the court of Additional District
Judge/Special Judge (SC/ST Act) Jalaun at
Orai by two separate orders both dated
26.02.2018. Aggrieved with these orders
dated 26.02.2018, the appellants herein
have filed the present appeal under
Section 96 C.P.C.

11. Facts of the case as briefly noted
above leaves no manner of doubt that as
per own case and also as established by
documentary evidences on record, the
grand father of the appellants herein,
namely, Shobha Singh purchased the
land of the disputed house by registered
sale deed on 02.04.1944 and he got
constructed the disputed house in the
year 1975 by taking loan from Orai
Sahkari Grih Nirman Samiti, Rajendra
Nagar, Orai. He subsequently defaulted in
repayment of housing loan, resulting in
recovery proceedings against him which
was challenged by him in Writ Petition
No0.44622 of 2019. It was admitted by the
father of the appellants herein in his
objection to the application 31-Ga 2 in
Execution Case No0.61 of 2008, Annexure
No.7 to the Writ Petition No.811 of 2014

(Amit Kumar Singh Vs. Shobha Singh and
another). Thus, the disputed property is
the self acquired property of Shobha
Singh which is subject matter of the
compromise decree dated 25.08.2003 in
0.S. N0.136 of 2000.

12. The facts of the case as noted
above clearly establish gross abuse of
process of Court by Amit Kumar Singh,
his wife Pooja Singh and now by their son
and daughter who are appellants herein. In
the impugned order dated 26.02.2018 the
court below while rejecting the application
of the appellants herein, briefly discussed
the facts and lawfully recorded a finding of
abuse of process of Court by the appellants
by moving the application 3-Ka 1
malafidely under Order XXI Rules 97 and
101 C.P.C. so as to frustrate the execution
of decree which has been rejected by the
impugned order.

13. In the light of the facts of the case
as briefly discussed above, | do not find
any infirmity or perversity in findings
recorded by the court below in the
impugned order. The abuse of process of
Court by the appellants is well evident on
record. Therefore, exemplary cost is
necessary to be imposed on the appellants
herein for filing this frivolous appeal and
abusing the process of Court, in view of the
law laid down by Hon'ble Supreme Court
in Punjab State Power Corporation Ltd.
Vs. Atma Singh Grewal (2014) 13 SCC
666 (para 14) and Dnyandeo Sabaji Naik
Vs. Pradnya Prakash Khadekar (2017) 5
SCC 496 (paras 9 to 14).

14. In Dnyandeo Sabaji Naik
(supra), Hon'ble Supreme Court has
observed that it is not merely a matter of
discretion but a duty and obligation cast
upon all courts to ensure that the legal
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system is not exploited by those who use
the forum of the law to defeat or delay

justice. Hon'ble Supreme Court
commended all courts to deal with
frivolous filings, firmly and impose

exemplary costs.

15. The principles laid down in the
case of Dnyandeo Sabaji Naik (supra),
have been reiterated by Hon'ble Supreme
Court in the case of Haryana State Co-op.
L&C Federation Ltd. vs. Unique Co-op.
L&C Co-op. Society Ltd., (2018) 14 SCC
248 (Paras 16 & 17) while dismissing the
appeal of the Haryana State Coop. L&C
Federation Ltd. (supra) with exemplary
cost of Rs.5 lacs.

16. In the case of Punjab State
Power Corporation Ltd. (supra), Hon'ble
Supreme Court emphasised that imposition
of exemplary costs should be in real terms
and not merely symbolic.

17. Facts of the case and the findings
recorded in paras 5 to 13 above leave no
manner of doubt that the process of Court
has been grossly abused by the appellants.
This Court must view with dis-favour the
attempt of litigants to abuse judicial
process and must deal with them firmly
otherwise sanctity of judicial process shall
be seriously eroded. In such cases
consequences must follow so that
unscrupulous to the detriment of the
legitimate may not misuse the process of
dispensing justice. The tendency of
repeated attempt to revive a stale issue,
needs to be curbed by Courts firmly by
imposing real time costs. It is necessary to
do so, so that on one hand access to Courts
may be available to people with genuine
grievances and on the other hand frivolous
and groundless filing of cases constituting
serious menace to the administration of

justice and consuming precious time of
Court and clogging the infrastructure, may
be discouraged and productive resources
may be deployed in handling genuine
cases.

18. For all the reasons aforestated, the
appeal is dismissed with cost of
Rs.1,00,000/-.

19. The cost shall be deposited by the
appellants with the court below within two
months and on deposit the respondent
Nos.1, 2 and 3 shall be entitled to withdraw
it in equal proportion.

(2021)06ILR A138
APPELLATE JURISDICTION
CIVIL SIDE
DATED: ALLAHABAD 18.07.2019

BEFORE

THE HON'BLE MANOJ MISRA, J.
THE HON'BLE VIRENDRA KUMAR
SRIVASTAVA, J.

First Appeal No. 525 of 2019

Shri Om Tiwari ...Appellant
Versus
Smt. Shikha Tiwari ...Respondent
Counsel for the Appellant:

Sri B.D. Shukla

Counsel for the Respondent:

A. Civil Law - Hindu Marriage Act, 1955 —
Sections 13 & 25 — Family Courts Act,
1984 — Section 10 — Divorce petition —
Permanent Alimony, claimed - No
pleading in written statement on the issue
of alimony — However, the Court framed
an addition issue on it — Validity -
Application to strike of additional issue,
filed — Held, mere framing of an issue does
not cause prejudice to any party, rather it
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enables a party to appropriately address
the issue and to lead evidence so that the
court could arrive at the truth — Framing
of such an issue by a Family Court is
within its power conferred upon it by
Section 10(3) of the Family Courts Act.
(Para 11)

B. Practice and procedure — Family Courts
Act, 1984 — Section 10 — Divorce petition —
Determination of procedure — Power of
Family Court — Sub-section (3) of Section
10 of the Act enables a Family Court to
determine its own procedure with a view
to arrive at a settlement in respect of the
subject matter of the suit or proceedings
or at the truth of the facts alleged by the
one party and denied by the other. (Para 8)

First Appeal dismissed. (E-1)

(Delivered by Hon'ble Manoj Misra, J. &
Hon'ble Virendra Kumar Srivastava, J.)

1. We have heard Sri B.D. Shukla for the
appellant and have perused the record.

2. The instant appeal has been filed under
Section 19 of the Family Courts Act, 1984
challenging the orders dated 02.05.2019 and
02.04.2019 passed by the Additional Principal
Judge, Family Court, Court No.2, Kanpur
Nagar in Matrimonial Case No0.1026 of 2008
filed under Section 13 of the Hindu Marriage
Act, 1955.

3. By order dated 02.04.2019, on
application of defendant-respondent, an
additional issue was framed, that is, "whether
the defendant is entitled to permanent alimony"'.

4. By order dated 02.05.2019, the
Application 73-Ga filed by the plaintiff-
appellant to strike off the aforesaid issue was
rejected.

5. Assailing the orders dated 02.04.2019
and 02.05.2019, the learned counsel for the

appellant has urged that the issue relating to
entitlement for permanent alimony does not
arise from the pleadings of the parties and is to
be considered at the time of final decision of the
case and, therefore, the same should not be
made an issue for adjudication at this stage. He
has invited attention of the Court to sub-section
(1) of Section 10 of the Family Courts Act,
1894 which provides that subject to the other
provisions of the Act and the rules, the
provisions of the Code of Civil Procedure, 1908
and of any other law for the time being in force
shall apply to the suits and proceedings [other
than the proceedings under Chapter IX of the
Code of Criminal Procedure, 1973 (2 of 1974)]
before a Family Court and for the purposes of
the said provisions of the Code, a Family Court
shall be deemed to be a civil court and shall
have all the powers of such court.

6. It has been urged that since the
issues are to be determined on the basis of
the pleadings of the parties, in absence of
any pleading in the written statement with
regard to permanent alimony, framing
additional issue in that regard is not legally
justified and, therefore, the court below
was not justified in rejecting the application
filed by the appellant to strike off the
additional issue.

7. We have perused the provisions of
the Family Courts Act, 1984 (for short the
Act). Sub-section (3) of Section 10 of the
Act is of relevance. Sub-section (3) of
Section 10 of the Act provides as follows:-

"(3) Nothing in sub-section (1) or sub-
section (2) shall prevent a Family Court
from laying down its own procedure with a
view to arrive at a settlement in respect of
the subject-matter of the suit or
proceedings or at the truth of the facts
alleged by the one party and denied by the
other."
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8. As noticed above, sub-section (3)
of Section 10 of the Act enables a Family
Court to determine its own procedure with
a view to arrive at a settlement in respect of
the subject matter of the suit or proceedings
or at the truth of the facts alleged by the
one party and denied by the other. This
power is notwithstanding the provisions
contained in sub-sections (1) and (2) of
Section 10.

9. As per Section 25 of the Hindu
Marriage Act, 1955, the prayer for
permanent alimony is to be accorded
consideration by the Court at the time of
passing any decree or at any time
subsequent thereto, on application made to
it for the purpose by either the wife or the
husband, as the case may be. There is
nothing in Section 25 of the Hindu
Marriage Act, 1955 which may suggest that
an application for permanent alimony
cannot be filed during the suit proceeding.
Though, once filed, it is to be addressed at
the time of passing the decree or at any
time subsequent thereto. Therefore, if any
such application is filed, framing an issue
in that regard is not prohibited. Though,
such issue would have to be addressed at
the time of final decision of the petition.
Thus, if any such issue has been framed in
a divorce petition, it is expected that the
Family Court would decide the same at the
time of deciding the petition or any time
thereafter.

10. In the instant case, the defendant-
respondent had filed an application under
Section 25 of the Hindu Marriage Act for
permanent alimony. Under the
circumstances, on her application, that
additional issue was framed.

11. As mere framing of an issue does
not cause prejudice to any party, rather it

enables a party to appropriately address the
issue and to lead evidence so that the court
could arrive at the truth and appropriately
settle the matter, we are of the view that
framing such an issue by a Family Court is
within its power conferred upon it by sub-
section (3) of Section 10 of the Family
Courts Act.

12. For the reasons recorded above,
we do not find any merit in the submission
made by learned counsel for the appellant.
The appeal is dismissed.

(2021)06ILR A140
APPELLATE JURISDICTION
CIVIL SIDE
DATED: ALLAHABAD 10.03.2021

BEFORE

THE HON'BLE DR. KAUSHAL JAYENDRA
THAKER, J.
THE HON'BLE AJIT SINGH, J.
First Appeal 815 of 2017
Deepak ...Appellant
Versus
Smt. Radha Rani ...Respondent

Counsel for the Appellant:
Sri Anurag Sharma

Counsel for the Respondents:

A. Civil Law - Hindu Marriage Act, 1955 —
Section 9 — Matrimonial dispute -
Conjugal right, claimed - Cruelty -
Acquittal in criminal litigation, it's effect —
Irretrievable break down - Mediation
between the parties failed — Held, If
criminal litigations are filed and if they
culminate into acquittal then it amounts
to cruelty — Wedlock come to irretrievable
breakdown as the parties are leaving
separately since 2015. (Para 18 and 19)

First Appeal allowed. (E-1)
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Cases relied on :-

1. Vidhyadhar Vs Manikrao; AIR 1999 SC page
1441

2. K. Srinivas Vs K. Sunita; 2014 0 Supreme
(SC) 819

3. Rani Narsimha Sastry Vs Rani Suneela Rani;
2019 0 Supreme (SC) 1301

4. Mangayakarasi Vs M. Yuvaraj;
Supreme (SC) 221

5. Ravindra Pyarelal Vidlan & ors. Vs St. of
Mah.; 1993 CrlJ 3019

6. K. Srinivas Vs K. Sunita; (2014) 16 SCC 34

7. Civil Appeal No. 8871 of 2019; Rani Narsimha
Sastry Vs Rani Suneela Rani, decided by
Supreme Court on 19.11.2019

2020 0

(Delivered by Hon'ble Ajit Singh, J.)

1. We had reserved the Judgment and
kept it for pronouncement on 8th March
2021 but as the advocates were on strike,
we did not pronounce the Judgment on that
day. We have kept the matter for
pronouncement today as it was made to
understand that the strike would be called
off today.

2. Heard Sri Anurag Sharma for the
appellant.

3. By way of this appeal, the appellant
has felt aggrieved by the judgment and
order dated 25.9.2017 passed by Additional
Principal Judge, Family Court, Meerut,
where he had instituted a Suit, being Case
No0.544 of 2015, for dissolution of his
marriage with the respondent.

4. The factual scenario as it goes to be
divulged before the learned Family Court
Judge is that the appellant/ applicant herein,
who shall be referred to as "the appellant"
and the respondent would be herein after

referred to as "the opponent™ as they appear
before the subordinate court.

5. The appellant got married with the
respondent on 10.12.2009 and on
25.10.2010 they were blessed with the son,
who is now 11 year of age and is in the
custody of the defendant. Most
unfortunately on 7.5.2012, the opponent
herein complained against the appellant
that he had perpetrated cruelty and had
demanded dowry and that is how he and his
parents had committed an offence under
Section 498 of the I.P. Code.

6. After waiting for 3 years, the
appellant herein filed a petition for
desolation and harassment. The said matter
was filed on 20.4.2015. Despite service of
notice, the opponent did not appear. The
appellant adduced documentary evidence
and filed his own Affidavit which came to
be numbered as 27 ka. His evidence and
examination-in-chief was in the form of an
Affidavit. Most  unfortunately  on
25.9.2017, the learned Judge dismissed the
matter.

7. In the petition, it was averred that
both the parties belong to a profess Hindu
religion and their marriage was solemnized
as per Hindu Rites and Ritual on
10.12.20009. It is averred that no dowry was
offered by the opponent or taken by the
appellant or his family members. This was
the first marriage of the appellant. As far as
the opponent is concerned, it was her first
marriage. The averment in the petition filed
before the Family Court went on to paint a
picture whereby it was brought on record
that it was the opponent, who was forcing
the appellant to stay separate from his
parents and she would use bad language.
She would colour in the house and try to
pressurize the appellant. It is alleged that
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she has threatened the appellant that if he
did not separate from his parents, she
would file false cases against him.

8. The appellant further contended
that it was the father and the daughter, who
pressurized him for staying separate from
his parents which he was not willing to do.
He even succumbed to pressure and started
staying separately. The appellant was
serving as a salesman with Mukesh Jain
Jewellers Private Limited and his time of
service was 09.30 a.m. to 08.00 p.m.

9. The respondent did not state any
pleadings in written statement is an
admitted position of fact and avoided
coming to the witness box so that she may
be put to examination-in-chief or cross-
examination. This itself is enough to come
to the conclusion that the averments made
in the Suit are unrebutted. A party must
state his or her own case on oath and if that
is done, a presumption would arise that the
case set out by the petitioner or the plaintiff
or the applicant as in our case is correct and
that she had filed an application under
Section 24 of the Hindu Marriage Act. A
copy of Affidavit on her behalf on
26.5.2015 was also filed to which reply was
filed by the present appellant herein.

10. The family court waited for 2
years and 2 months. The respondent
absented herself thereafter. In our case,
therefore, a situation is akined to the
decisions passed by the various High
Courts and Privy Council in the case of
Vidhyadhar Vs. Manikrao, AIR 1999 SC
page 1441 and also in Sardar Gurbaksh
Singh Vs. Gurdial Singh and another.
This was followed by the Lahore High
Court in Kripa Singh Vs. Ajaipal Singh
and others, AIR (1930) Lahore 1 and the
Bombay High Court in Martland

Pandharinath Chaudhari Vs. Radhabai
Krishnarao _Deshmukh AIR  (1931)
Bombay 97. The Madhya Pradesh High
Court in Gulla Kharagjit Carpenter Vs.
Narsingh Nandkishore Rawat also
followed the Privy Council decision in
Sardar Gurbakhsh Singh's case (supra).
The Allahabad High Court in Arjun Singh
Vs. Virender Nath and another, held that
if a party abstains from entering the witness
box, it would give rise to an inference
adverse against him. Similarly a Division
Bench of the Punjab & Haryana High Court
in Bhagwan Dass Vs. Bhishan Chand
and others, drew a presumption under
Section 114 of the Evidence Act against a
party who did not enter into the witness
box.

11. The genesis of the application
rather Suit which was filed for divorce was
on the basis of the perpetrated cruelty by
the wife.

12. Having considered the argument
advanced and on perusal of the record, it is
evident that the family court failed to
consider the cruelty pleaded by the
plaintiff-appellant in which the plaintiff's
wife illegally lodged the criminal case
under Sections 498A/323/504/506 of 1.P.C.
and % Dowry Prohibition Act, Police
Station - Lisadi Gate, Meerut, and in the
aforesaid case the appellant as well as his
father and mother were acquitted on merits
vide judgment and order dated 1.2.2016
passed by the A.C.J.M. Ist, Meerut. The
behaviour and action of the appellant's wife
with her husband/appellant was not
according to sacrament as per the Hindu
Marriage Act. The public interest as well as
social interest in the society demands not
only that the married status should, as far as
possible, and whenever possible, be
maintained. The appellant tried his level
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best to improve the relationship but the
wife and her relative at every stage did not
make any  endeavour to  settle
marriage/relationship and did not do any
act in welfare of the child.

13. It appears that the learned
Family Court Judge has given much
stress to deed of settlement dated
3.11.2014. The appellant herein had
preferred a petition for divorce which was
numbered as 39 of 2013 and respondent
had filed an application for maintenance
under Section 24 and on 3.11.2014 the
said litigations were to be withdrawn as
the party has decided to cohabit and the
application under Section 498A came to
be decided in favour of the appellant
herein and the learned Judge dismissed
the complaint vide order dated 1.2.2016.

14. The petitioner - appellant herein
instituted a Suit for divorce in the year
2015. Pursuant to the earlier litigations,
the parties started cohabiting on
6.11.2014. We may reconsider the factual
data as it emerges after the settlement.
The plaint divulges the fact that there was
a marriage in the house of the younger
sister of the respondent and the applicant
had to withdraw the litigation on
14.3.2015 but the complaints were not
withdrawn and it is alleged that the
respondent committed breach of trust and
did not withdraw the  criminal
proceedings. It was pleaded that the
brother-in-law  Sonu demanded Rs.
20,000/- on the marriage of his sister-in-
law dated 22.3.2015. After about 8 - 10
days, the respondent and her sister
demanded Rs. 15,000/- from the appellant
and he refused to oblige them thereafter
she re-started to harass them. The
appellant was staying with his wife in a
rented house. It is alleged that after the

appellant left for his job, the respondent
would go to her parental home and to
meet with her boy friends and spends
whole day with them. She forced the
appellant to leave Meerut and was forcing
him to move and take a job in Delhi,
which would be arranged by her uncle.
The appellant being the only child of his
parents did not wish to leave Meerut and
go to Delhi. It is stated that she had
severed all relations the day the appellant
withdrew the Suit for divorce. She had
stopped cooking, she had stopped
cohabiting. The appellant would cook
himself before leaving and after coming
back from the shop at night. The
respondent would harass him mentally to
such a level that he even tried to commit
suicide but could not succeed. There are
allegations in the plaint about the
character of the lady.

15. The police refused to lodge the
complaint which the appellant wanted to
lodge against the respondent and on
14.4.2015 she summoned her parents and
took all her belongings in a mini truck. It is
stated in the plaint that the relations has
become so strainedthat there is no chance
of reconciliation between the parties, which
has been recorded by the learned Judge that
the conciliator also failed in his efforts to
reconcile both the parties. The respondent
stopped coming to the Court and, therefore,
on 30.1.2017 the learned trial Judge
decided her matter ex-parte. The appellant
herein produced the following documents:-

() Application under Section 156 (3)
of Cr.P.C. dated 7.5.2012.

(1) Petition under Section 13 of the
Hindu Marriage Act dated 10.12.20009.

(11) Affidavit 27-Ka dated 2.3.2017.

(IV) Compromise Agreement dated
3.11.2014
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16. The learned Judge framed the
following 4 issues:-

() Whether the opposite party is
leading an adulterous life with Varun
Sharma?

(1) Whether Varun Sharma is a
necessary party in the petition?

(1) Whether the opposite party has
committed cruelty with the applicant?

(IV) Which relief, if any can be
granted, the applicant is entitled to get?

which we are also supposed to answer.

17. The learned Counsel has relied on
the following judgements:-

(D) K. Srinivas Vs. K. Sunita, 2014 0
Supreme (SC) 819;

(I Rani Narsimha Sastry Vs. Rani
Suneela Rani, 2019 0 Supreme (SC) 1301,

(1) Mangayakarasi Vs. M. Yuvaraj,
2020 0 Supreme (SC) 221.

18. We are convinced that the
appellant has been treated with cruelty. The
reasons are as follows. The appellant had
preferred a petition for claiming conjugal
rights under Section 9 of the Hindu
Marriage Act. Unfortunately, the same
came to be dismissed for non-prosecution
but the fact that the respondent did not
appear nor did she show any willingness to
cohabit with the petitioner is also one of the
grounds which can be said to be against the
respondent. The Apex Court and the High
Courts judgment relied upon by the learned
Advocate for the appellant have
categorically held that if criminal litigations
are filed and if they culminate into acquittal
then it amounts to cruelty.

19. May that as it may be after the
settlement also the wife did not co-habit
with the appellant is a matter of fact.

Further, in that view of the matter, we
allow this appeal. The wedlock is in our
view if come to irretrievable breakdown as
the parties are leaving separately since
2015.  Unfortunately, the mediation
between the parties failed. The respondent
herein refused to even withdraw the
criminal proceedings despite the fact that
post mediation in the matrimonial petition
no.39 of 2013. The parties cohabited for a
short period of 25 days. It appears that even
in the criminal complaint, the respondent
who was examined as PW-1. She has
conveyed to the Court that she wants what
can be said to be divorce. She has stated
"PARIVADINI DWARA 244 Cr.P.C. KE
ESTER PAR KI GAIl JIRAH ME KAHA
GAYA HAI KI MERE PATI NE TALAK
KA MUKADMA KIYA HUVA HAIL. MAI
USME UPASTHIT HUN. MAI BHI
TALAK  CHAHTI HUN.  JIRAH
ANTARGAT DHARA 246 Cr.P.C. ME
BHI IS SACHHI DWARA KAHA GAYA
Kl YADI DEEPAK AAJ MUJHE LE
JANA CHAHE TO MAI UNKE SATH
JANE KE LIYE TAIYAR NAHI HUN.
MAI USSE TALAK CHAHTI HUN."

20. The matter can also be looked into
from one another aspect. The learned Judge
has committed an error, which can be said
to be an error apparent on the face of the
record. We do not go into the premise of
break down of marriage as it is still now
recognized ground for granting divorce.
The principles of Civil Procedure Code are
applicable. The learned Judge did not place
reliance on the Judgment of Ravindra
Pyarelal Vidlan and others Vs. State of
Maharashtra, 1993 CrLJ 3019 wherein it
has been held that if a party fails to bring
home the charges under Section 498A, it
would amount to cruelty. The learned
Judge again did not place reliance on the
statement of the wife, who in a deposition
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in judicial proceedings, which is part of the
record before the Family Court, has
categorically mentioned that she also
showed her desire to live separately from
the appellant and bring an end to the
marriage. Learned Judge has come to the
conclusion that there was no cruelty
perpetrated by the respondent rather he has
come to the negative finding that cruelty
was perpetrated by the husband. The
evidence on record of the wife in other
matters has been made the main basis for
refusing grant of decree of divorce.

21. The matter had gone before the
mediator where both the parties rather the
appellant showed his desire to take the
respondent back to the matrimonial home
where also she has not showed any desire
in continuing the marriage which showed
that the learned Judge ought to have
pressed into service the provisions of Order
X1l Rule 6 of the Code of Civil Procedure
which are made applicable to the
proceedings before the Family Courts. As,
in our case, there is clear admission though
not in the Form No. 10 of the Appendix,
the admission of facts should have been
taken into consideration while passing the
judgment. The provisions of Order 12 Rule
6 reads as follows:-

[6. Judgment on admissions.-(1)
Where admissions of fact have been made
either in the pleading or otherwise, whether
orally or in writing, the Court may at any
stage of the suit, either on the application
of any party or of its own motion and
without waiting for the determination of
any other question between the parties,
make such order or give such judgment as
it may think fit, having regard to such
admissions.

(2) Whenever a judgment s
pronounced under sub-rule (1), a decree

shall be drawn up in accordance with the
judgment and the decree shall bear the date
on which the judgment was pronounced.]

22. Much emphasis has been placed
on record by the Counsel for the appellant.
The Hon'ble Supreme Court in the case of
K. Srinivas Vs. K. Sunita reported in
(2014) 16 SCC 34, has held that the
respondent wife filed a false criminal
complaint resultant acquittal of hushand
and his family members, such complaint is
sufficient to constitute matrimonial cruelty.

23. In an another matter, the Hon'ble
Supreme Court in the case of Rani
Narsimha Sastry Vs. Rani Suneela Rani,
civil Appeal No0.8871 of 2019, decided on
19.11.2019 held that when a person
undergoes a trial in which he is acquitted of
the allegation of offence under Section
498A of IPC, levelled by the wife against
the husband, it cannot be accepted that no
cruelty has meted out to the husband.

24. In that view of the matter, the
appeal is allowed. Unfortunately, as the
wife is not before us we do not pass any
orders for maintenance which she may
raise under the law as/if permitted to her.
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Counsel for the Opp. Party:

A. Civil Law - Hindu Marriage Act, 1955 —
Sections 13 & 24 — Matrimonial dispute —
Divorce — Expenses of proceeding, claimed
— Quantum of interim maintenance,
determination thereof — Principle laid
down — Defendant-appellant is working as
Headmistress in Primary School and
getting regular salary — Held, having due
regard to Section 24, the Court is required
to take into consideration the income of
the parties before deciding the quantum
of the interim maintenance — The Court
has to keep in view of the need of the
applicant-defendant and paying capacity
of the plaintiff-opposite party -
Defendant-appellant can maintain herself
and she can bear the expenses of
litigation and therefore, she is not entitled
for any relief under section 24. (Para 8, 10
and 14)

First Appeal dismissed. (E-1)

Cases relied on :-

1. Padmavathi Vs C. Lakshminarayana; AIR
2002 Kant 424

2. Neelam Kalia Vs Rajesh Kalia; AIR2013 HP 76

3. Captain Ramesh Chander Vs Veena Kaushal;
AIR 1978 SC 1807

4. Manokaram Vs Devaki; AIR 2003 Mad 212

(Delivered by Hon'ble Shamim Ahmed, J.)

1. Heard learned counsel for the
defendant-appellant and perused the
impugned judgment and order.

2. This appeal is directed against the
impugned judgment and order dated
21.11.2019 passed by the Principal Family
Judge, Jaunpur, by which, the application-

18ga moved by the defendant-appellant,
under Section 24 of the Hindu Marriage
Act, 1955 in Case N0.943 of 2015 ( Sushil
Kumar Yadav Vs. Geeta Devi) has been
rejected.

3. It is contended by the learned
counsel for the defendant-appellant that the
marriage of defendant-appellant  was
performed with plaintiff-opposite party on
27.11.2004 according to Hindu Rites and
Rituals and after the marriage, both of them
were living peacefully and from the
aforesaid wed-lock, two daughters namely,
Vishanavi and Pragati were born. It is
further contended that prior to the marriage,
both the parties were appointed on the post
of assistant teacher and they were posted in
different places.

4. It is further contended by the
learned counsel for the defendant-appellant
that the plaintiff/opposite party started
treating the defendant-appellant with
cruelty but the defendant-appellant kept
mum and tried to negotiate the matter but
plaintiff-opposite party did not pay any
heed and threw the defendant-appellant out
from his house, and thereafter, the
defendant-appellant and her two minor
daughters are living separately and the
plaintiff-opposite party is not taking care
and not paying any amount for their
expenditure.

5. Learned counsel for the defendant-
appellant  further contended that the
plaintiff-opposite party has filed a petition
before the learned Trial Court, under
Section 13 of the Hindu Marriage Act
bearing Case No0.943 of 2015 on
19.12.2015. Notices were issued and when
the defendant-appellant got the information
he was shocked by the conduct of the
plaintiff-opposite party and she tried to
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negotiate the matter but the plaintiff-
opposite party did not pay any heed and
refused to live jointly.

6. Learned counsel for the defendant-
appellant further contended that the
defendant-appellant's financial condition
was not good, therefore, she filed an
application under Section 24 of Hindu
Marriage Act with the prayer that she is
unable to maintain herself and her two
daughters, therefore, she needs an interim
maintenance for Rs.5,000/- per month for
herself and Rs.5,000/- for filing written
statement and Rs.500/- per month for
conveyance charges to attend the Court.

7. Learned counsel for the defendant-
appellant  further contended that the
plaintiff-opposite party filed his objection
19-Ga and submitted that the defendant-
appellant is working as Headmistress in
Primary School, Bara Deeh, Chhota Deeh,
Gyanpur and after deduction she is getting
a total sum of Rs.63,056/- per month and
she has already filed an application, under
Section 125 Cr.P.C, by which the Court
below vide its order dated 28.11.2017
declined to pay any amount to the
defendant-appellant and only directed to
pay Rs.4,000/- per month to each of the
daughters totalling to Rs.8,000/- per month
for their maintenance. In the objection 19-
ga, the plaintiff-opposite party further
submitted that defendant-appellant from his
income purchased a land on which a
boundary wall was constructed, therefore,
she is not in need to get any amount under
Section 24 of the Hindu Marriage Act as
prayed by her in application no.18ga. It is
also mentioned in the application that the
old parents are also living with the
plaintiff-opposite party and he is bearing all
expenses of their medicines and other
requirements and prayed that the

application 18-ga filed by the defendant-
appellant under Section 24 of the Hindu
Marriage Act may be dismissed.

8. Having heard learned counsel for
the defendant-appellant and perused the
impugned judgement and order dated
21.11.2019 as well as the other material
brought on record, we find that the Court
below after coming to the conclusion that
the defendant-appellant is working as
Headmistress in Primary School, Bara
Deeh, Chhota Deeh, Gyanpur, District
Bhadohi and getting regular salary and
further the plaintiff-opposite party is paying
Rs.4000/- each to the minor daughters for
their maintenance vide order dated
28.11.2017 rejected the application filed
under Section 125 Cr.P.C further observing
that the plaintiff/opposite party is also
maintaining his own parents, for which,
there is no denial on behalf of defendant-
appellant.

9. It is not out of place to mention
here that the provision of Section 24 of the
Hindu Marriage Act which provided as
under:-

"Where in any proceeding under this
Act it appears to the court that either the
wife or the husband, as the case may be,
has no independent income sufficient for
her or his support and the necessary
expenses of the proceeding, it may, on the
application of the wife or the husband,
order the respondent to pay to the
petitioner the expenses of the proceeding,
and monthly during the proceeding such
sum as, having regard to the petitioner's
own income and the income of the
respondent, it may seem to the court to be
reasonable.

[Provided that the application for the
payment of the expenses of the proceeding
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and such monthly sum during the
proceeding, shall, as far as possible, be
disposed of within sixty days from the date
of service of notice on the wife or the
husband, as the case may be.]"

10. Having due regard to the provision
of Section 24 of Hindu Marriage Act, the
Court is required to take into consideration
the income of the parties before deciding the
qguantum of the interim maintenance. The
Court has to keep in view of the need of the
applicant-defendant and paying capacity of
the plaintiff-opposite party, this view was
taken in the case of Padmavathi Vs. C.
Lakshminarayana, AIR 2002 Kant 424.
Further, the Himanchal Pradesh High Court
in the case of Neelam Kalia Vs. Rajesh
Kalia, AIR2013 HP 76 was pleased to
observe that if maintenance is being paid
under section 125 of the Code of Criminal
Procedure, 1973 , the same though can be
taken into consideration while granting
maintenance pendentelite under Section 24 of
the Hindu Marriage Act, 1955. The Hon'ble
Apex Court in the case of Captain Ramesh
Chander Vs. Veena Kaushal, AIR 1978 SC
1807 was pleased to observe that mere
divorce does not end the right to
maintenance. The Madras High Court in the
case of Manokaram Vs. Devaki, AIR 2003
Mad 212 was pleased to observe that during
the pendency of the divorce proceedings at
any point of time if the wife establishes that
she has no sufficient independent income for
her support, it is open to her to claim
maintenance pendente lite.

11. In our view the provisions of
Section 24 of the Hindu Marriage Act
provides for support to be given by the
earning spouse in favour of non earning
spouse during the pendency of proceedings
before the court.

12. But in the present case, the wife
(defendant-appellant) is a government
teacher and she is getting a handsome
salary which is sufficient for her to
maintain herself, therefore, she is not
entitled to get the benefit of maintenance as
provided under Section 24 of the Hindu
Marriage Act and the two children are also
getting an amount of Rs.4,000/- per month
for their maintenance vide order dated
28.11.2017 passed in an application filed
under Section 125 Cr.P.C. by defendant-
applicant.

13. Therefore, in the present case, the
defendant-appellant is not in need of any
amount as provided under the provisions of
Section 24 of the Hindu Marriage Act. She
is also working as Headmistress in the
Primary School and receiving handsome
salary for maintaining herself and she can
bear the expenses of the litigation without
any difficulty. Apart from this, the
plaintiff-opposite party is paying Rs.4,000/-
per month to each of the daughters
regularly (total of Rs.8000/-) for their
maintenance and there is no case set up by
the defendant-appellant that the plaintiff-
opposite party has committed default in
payment of the amount to the above minor
daughters.

14. In view of the observation made
above and the law laid down by the Hon'ble
Apex Court and the High Court in this
regard, we are of the view that there is no
dispute that the defendant-appellant is
earning good salary as she is the
government employee and working as
Headmistress in Primary School, therefore,
she can maintain herself and she can bear
the expenses of litigation and therefore, she
is not entitled for any relief under section
24 of the Hindu Marriage Act,1955.
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15. The Court below after considering
all the materials on record has rightly come
to the conclusion that the defendant-
appellant is not entitled for any relief,
under Section 24 of the Hindu Marriage
Act, 1955 and has rightly rejected the
application 18-ga filed by the defendant-
appellant.

16. However, considering the peculiar
facts and circumstances of the case, the
Principal Family Judge, Jaunpur is directed
to make every possible endeavour to decide
the Case No. 943 of 2015 (Sushil Kumar
Yadav Vs. Geeta Devi) filed u/s 13 of the
Hindu Marriage Act within a period of six
months from the date of filing of a certified
copy of this order.

17. Subject to the aforesaid direction,
this appeal is ,accordingly, dismissed.

18. No order as to cost.

(2021)06ILR A149
ORIGINAL JURISDICTION
CIVIL SIDE
DATED: LUCKNOW 25.06.2021

BEFORE

THE HON'BLE MRS. SANGEETA CHANDRA, J.
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Counsel for the Petitioner:
S.K. Upadhyay, Pradeep Kumar
Pramesh Kumar Jaiswal

Maurya,

Counsel for the Respondents:
C.S.C., Adnan Ahmad, B.K. Singh, Varun Pratap
Singh

(A) Civil Law - Uttar Pradesh Zamindari
Abolition and Land Reforms Act, 1950 -
Sections 171 (1), 172 (2) - Uttar Pradesh
Land Revenue Act, 1901 - Sections 34, 35
, 219 - Uttar Pradesh Revenue Code 2006
- Sections 34, 35 - Land Law - Excess
jurisdiction -Mutation proceedings being
summary proceedings, only decide the
question of liability to pay taxes/land
revenue to the Government - mostly
decided on the basis of possession - a
proclamation is made on the basis of
mutation application in favour of a person
who has obtained possession on his
having shown to the court evidence that
he was in possession, in support of his
objection. (Para - 15,27)

Petitioner (widow) - name recorded on the
basis of succession - Opposite Party No.3
(brother of Petitioners husband) initially filed an
application for mutation on the basis of forged
Will deed - dismissed for want of prosecution -
application for recall of the order - not pressed
by Opposite Party No.3 - after nearly ten years
moved another application for mutation of
property - ground - remarriage of the
petitioner - rejected by the Tehsildar - Appeal
before Sub Divisional Magistrate - allowed ex-
parte - Revision before Additional Commissioner
- rejected - observations being prejudicial to
the petitioner's interest - holding her to have
remarried - dis-entitled to inherit the property of
her late husband - petitioner filed Writ
Petition.(Para - 2,3,4,5)

HELD:- There is no finding recorded either by
the Appellate Court or by the Revisional Court
as to who was in actual possession of the
property in question and therefore liable to pay
revenue to the Government. The orders
impugned have placed reliance on the issue of
whether petitioner had remarried or not. The
evidence produced by either side being
inconclusive, still a finding was recorded that
the petitioner had remarried and therefore was
disentitled to the property of her late husband
as per Sections 171 and 172 of the U.P.Z.A. &
L.R. Act. The orders impugned being clearly in
excess of jurisdiction conferred on such
authorities, and also against the statutory
provisions of the U.P. Land Revenue Act, are set
aside. (Para - 29,30)
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Writ Petition allowed. (E-6)
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1. This writ petition has been filed by
the petitioner Hadisulnisha for quashing of
the order dated 23.01.2014 passed by the
Sub Divisional Magistrate Sultanpur, in
Appeal No. 89 of 2014, and for quashing of
the order dated 13.04.2015, rejecting the
petitioners' restoration/recall application as
also for quashing of the order dated
03.08.2015 passed by the Additional
Commissioner in Revision No. 2719 under
section 219 of the UP Land Revenue Act.

2. It is the case of the petitioner that
she is the widow of Late Kamaal Ahmad
son of Nazir Khan, the recorded tenure
holder of several plots of land situated in
village Seur Chamurkha, Pargana Bharosa,
Tehsil Sadar, District Sultanpur. Late Nazir
Khan had two sons, Late Kamaal Ahmad
and one Ansar Ahmad, who has been
arrayed as the opposite party no.3. Kamaal
Ahmad the husband of the petitioner died
in June 1999 and the petitioner"s name was
recorded under PA 11 by the Revenue
Inspector on the basis of succession. The
opposite party No.3being the real brother of
Kamaal Ahmad initially filed an
application for mutation on the basis of
forged Will deed which was dismissed for
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want of prosecution. An application was
moved for recall of the order which was
subsequently not pressedby Opposite Party
No.3.

3. The opposite party no.3 after nearly
ten years moved another application on
19.01.2009 for mutation of property of late
Kamaal Ahmad on the ground of
remarriage of the petitioner after the death
of his brother. It was alleged that the
petitioner had married one Atig Ahmad
resident of village Rethua, Pargana Haveli,
District Faizabad. The said mutation
application was rejected by the Tehsildar
on 08.11.2013. The opposite party No.3
preferred an Appeal before the Sub
Divisional Magistrate (hereinafter referred
to as "opposite party no.2") on 12.01.13,
registered as Appeal N0.89/13.

4. It is the case of the petitioner that
wrong address of the petitioner, showing
her to be resident of village Rethua District
Faizabad, was mentioned in the Appeal as a
result whereof no notice was ever served
upon the petitioner. The Appellate Court
presumed service upon the petitioner on the
ground that notice had been sent through
ordinary post, through registered post, and
then substituted service was adopted
through publication in the newspaper. The
appeal was allowed ex-parte on
23.01.2014. The petitioner having derived
knowledge of the said appellate order
through  village gossip moved an
application for restoration/recall of order
dated 23.01.2014 on 03.02.2014 but the
same was rejected by the Appellate Court
by observing that notice had been sent on
the address mentioned in the Appeal and
The Restoration application lacked details
of date of deriving knowledge of the order
passed in Appeal and the mode and manner
of deriving such knowledge.

5. The petitioner being aggrieved filed
a Revision before the Additional
Commissioner who rejected the same by
making certain observations also on the
merit of the case as set up by the parties.
Such observations being prejudicial to the
petitioner's interest and holding her to have
remarried and thus being dis-entitled to
inherit the property of her late husband, the
petitioner has approached this Court in
Writ Petition.

6. This Court has gone through the
pleadings on record. The petitioner in
paragraph 10 of the writ petition states
clearly that she is still living in the house
which had been left by her late husband
late Kamaal Ahmad and had not married
anyone after his death. It is her case that
she is still in possession over the entire
property left by her husband and to
substantiate her claim she has filed
photocopies of all relevant documents
including electricity bills, ration card, voter
ID card, Aadhaar card, Population Register,
Family Register and copy of receipt of Gas
connection and Bank passbook issued to
her showing her address as village Seur
Chamurkha, collectively as Annexure 8 to
the writ petition.

It has been submitted in paragraph 16
of the writ petition that the opposite party
no.3 had filed a Revision against an order
dated 14.02.2014 in a different proceeding
under section 210 of the Land Revenue
Act, where he had shown the address of the
petitioner as Seur Chamurkha, Pargana
Bharosa, Tehsil Sadar, district Sultanpur.
True copies of the memo of the Revision
and order passed on 03.06.2014 have been
filed Annexure 12 and 13 to the petition.

It has been further submitted that the
petitioner challenged the order dated
03.06.2014 before this Court where a
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direction was issued to the SDM to decide
the restoration application expeditiously.

There is reference of another Writ
Petition number 3340 (M/S) of 2015 where
in the Court directed the Revisional Court
to hear the matter positively on 26.06.2015,
and in case due to unavoidable reasons it
could not be heard on 26.06.2015, then it
may be taken up on the next working day
and so on and so forth till it was finally
decided. After service of the order passed
by this Court, the Revisional Court was not
deciding the Revision and therefore the
petitioner filed a Contempt Petition No.
1439 (C) of 2015:Hadisulnisa versus Dr.
Abha Gupta. This Court directed the CSC
to seek instructions. The  Addl
Commisioner Dr Abha Gupta, who was
under transfer, preponed the date of listing
of the Revision in the absence of the
counsel for the petitioner and decided the
same 3.8.2015 before leaving Sultanpur.
The petitioner came to know of the order
passed on 03.08.2015 only on 04.08.2015
when the petitioner reached the Court as
the date had been fixed in the Revision
earlier as 04.08.2015.

7. It has been submitted that the
Revision had been decided on 03.08.2015
without appreciating evidence produced by
the petitioner to show that she was still
living in Seur Chamurkha and was in
possession of the property in question. In
the order passed by the Revisional Court it
has observed that evidence existed both for
and against the petitioner, and that is it is
doubtful whether she had remarried or not
after the death of her late husband, yet,
while disposing of the Revision the
Additional Commissioner held that the
weight of evidence against the petitioner
was sufficient and therefore concluded that
she had indeed remarried, thus going
beyond jurisdiction and declaring the right

of the petitioner to claim succession having
been lost on remarriage of the petitioner,
which could only have been done by the
competent court of law in a suit for
declaration.

8. It has been further submitted that
the opposite party No.3 had filed a Caveat
in the Court of Commissioner Ayodhya,
showing the petitioner as resident of village
Seur Chamurkha ,Pargana Barosa,district
Faizabad whereas the village of the
petitioner falls in district Sultanpur.

9. It has been further argued by the
learned counsel for the petitioner that after
the order passed by the appellate court on
23.01.2014 the opposite party No.3 got his
name mutated in the revenue record on the
same day and then sold out the property in
dispute during the pendency of the
Revision on 24.05.2015.

10. In the counter affidavit filed on
behalf of the opposite party No.3, in reply
to paragraph 10 of the writ petition it has
been stated only that the petitioner never
moved any application for getting the
entries in the Parivar Register of village
Rethua District Faizabad deleted and that
the voter ID card and Aadhaar card etc.,
filed as evidence of residence in village
Seur Chamurkha District Sultanpur were
misleading and the petitioner was herself
responsible for not getting her details
corrected in the voter | card and Aadhaar
card etc. because while enjoying married
life with her second husband at the Rethua,
she wanted to retain the property of her
first husband in Seur Chamurkha.

In response to the specific pleadings in
the Writ petition that in two documents i.e.
a Caveat application and in a Revision the
opposite party No.3 had mentioned the
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address of the petitioner as village Seur
Chamurkha, it has been only stated that the
concurrent findings of fact recorded by the
learned three courts below should not be
interfered with in writ jurisdiction.

11.  With regard to the argument
raised by the learned counsel for the
petitioner that the Additional
Commissioner preponed the date of hearing
of Revision from 04.08.2015 to 03.08.2015
in the absence of the learned counsel for
the Revisionist, it has been submitted that it
is evident from the record that the counsel
for the petitioner had himself moved an
application on 26.06.2015 for summoning
lower court record while also providing
copy of the order dated 15.06.2015 passed
by this Court to the learned Revisional
Court. The Revisional Court summoned the
lower court file and fixed next date for
hearing as 04.08.2015 on the application
moved by the petitioner on 26.06.2015.
However, on 01.07.2015 the petitioner filed
a contempt petition and concealed the fact
that she had herself got the next date fixed
in the matter as 04.08.2015. When the
Revisional Court received Fax information
regarding filing of the contempt petition by
the petitioner, the Revisional Court called
the Advocates of both the parties and after
hearing them on 01.08.2015, fixed the date
for further hearing on 03.08.2015. Copies
of orders dated 01.08.2015, 03.08.2015,
and 04.08.2015 have been filed along with
the counter affidavit to show that there was
no malice on the part of the Revisional
Court in preponing the date for hearing of
the Revision. It has also been submitted
that on 01.08.2015 the news relating to
transfer of the Additional Commissioner
was published in the newspapers and on the
same day that is on 01.08.2015 Additional
Commissioner had preponed the date for
further hearing from 04.08.2015 to

03.08.2015 in the presence of the counsel
for both the parties.

12. The counsel for the opposite party
no.3 further argued on the merits of the
case that the petitioner solemnized a second
marriage on 25.12.2008, and when the
opposite party No.3 came to know of her
second marriage he filed an application
under Section 34 which was wrongly
rejected by the Tehsildar Sadar on
08.11.2013, without looking into evidence
produced by him. There were statements of
the Gram Pradhans of village Rethua and
village Hasanpur, (the parental village of
the petitioner), as well as the order of the
Additional Development Officer
(Panchayat) recording the name of the
petitioner in the Family Register of Rethua.
Also before the Additional Commissioner
was the report of the Tehsil authorities
dated 7.6.2014 submitted in pursuance of
the order passed by the Sub Divisional
Magistrate Sadar. Even the Investigating
Officer in the FIR lodged by the petitioner
regarding cheating and fraud allegedly
committed by the opposite party No.3, had
submitted a report on the basis of
statements taken by the him of several
villagers of village Rethua that the
petitioner had married Atig Khan of the
said village.

13. In the counter affidavit filed by
the respondent No.3 the contents of
paragraph 37 to 66 of the writ petition have
been denied altogether in one paragraph 14,
and it has been submitted that the
appropriate remedy for the petitioner is to
file a Regular Suit for declaration of rights
and the Writ Petition should not be
entertained.

14. The learned counsel for the
respondent No.3, Sri Adnan Ahmad, has
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also raised the preliminary objection
regarding the maintainability of the writ
petition against orders passed in mutation
proceedings. He has referred to several
judgements both by the Supreme Court and
by a Division Bench and by Coordinate
Benches of this Court to substantiate his
argument. The judgements cited by the
learned counsel are being listed here in
below:-

(i) Jaipal (Minor) versus Board of
Revenue, UP Allahabad, 1956 ALJ 807
(DB);

(if) Smt. Sawarni versus Inder Kaur
and others 1996 (6) SCC;

(iii) Lal Bachchan versus Board of
Revenue, 2002 (22) LCD 115;

(iv) Bindeshwari versus Board of
Revenue 2002 (1) AWC 498;

(v) Puran Singh versus Board of
Revenue, 2004 (1) AWC 853;

(vi) Jagdish Narain and others versus
Board of Revenue 2007 (1) ADJ 434;

(vii) Suraj Bhan and others versus
Financial Commissioner and others 2007
(6) SCC 186;

(viii) Buddh Pal Singh versus State
of U.P. and others 2012 (5)ADJ 216;

(ix) Vinod Kumar Rajbhar versus
State of UP and others 2012 (2) AWC
1982;

(x) Ashok Kumar versus Chairman
Board of Revenue UP Lucknow 2013(1)
ADJ 646;

(xi)  Mohammed Ismael@Kallu
versus Board of Revenue 2013 (4) AWC
3687;

(xii) Vijay  Shankar  versus
Additional Commissioner
(administration) Lucknow Division and
others 2015 (3) AWC3216;

(xiii) Tulsi Ram and others versus
Additional Commissioner Judicial
Lucknow and others 2016 (34) LCD 250;

(xiv)  Awadhesh  Singh  versus
Additional Commissioner and others
2017 (9) ADJ 378;

(xv) Gaj Ram versus State of UP and
others 2017 (5) AWC 5217,

(xvi) Birendra Kumar Singh and
others versus Commissioner, Devi Patan
Mandal, and others 2019 (12) ADJ 82;

15. The last two judgements have
been rendered by this Court after
considering the law laid down in various
judgements referred to hereinabove, to
observe that ordinarily Writ Petitions are
not entertained against orders passed in
mutation proceedings for the simple reason
that even if such orders are interfered with
and favourable order is granted to the writ
petitioner, it would not amount to settling
of rights of the parties. Mutation
proceedings being summary proceedings,
only decide the question of liability to pay
taxes/land revenue to the Government.
They are mostly decided on the basis of
possession and in case the Tehsildar is
unable to satisfy himself as to which party
is in possession, he has to ascertain in a
summary enquiry as to who is the person
best entitled to the property, and shall put
such person in possession. However for
determination/declaration of right, title and
interest to property the parties would still
have to approach the competent Revenue or
Civil Court, as has been observed by the
Supreme Court in Smt. Sawarni versus
Inder Kaur; in paragraph 7 - "mutation of
a property in the revenue record does not
create or extinguish title nor has it any
presumptive value on title. It only enables
the person in whose favour mutation is
ordered to pay the land revenue in
question".

16. The learned counsel for the
petitioner on the other hand has placed
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reliance upon judgements of this Court also
rendered by Coordinate Benches, where the
Courts have observed that despite the
settled position with regard to reluctance of
the Writ Court to interfere in orders passed
in mutation proceedings, there will be facts
and circumstances peculiar to a case, which
may justify interference in writ jurisdiction.
The learned counsel for the petitioner has
placed reliance upon Radhey Shyam and
others versus State of U.P. and others, 2016
(34) 4 LCD 1793, wherein this Court had
observed on the basis of observations made
by the Supreme Court in State of Madhya
Pradesh versus Babulal, AIR 1977
Supreme Court 1718, that a writ of
Certiorari should be issued where the
Lower Court acts illegally and there is error
on the face of the record. If the court
usurped jurisdiction, the record is corrected
by Certiorari. This becomes more
imperative where the Revisional Court has
failed to exercise its jurisdiction vested in
it, and such an order, even if passed in
mutation proceedings, cannot be sustained
in the eye of law and writ petition would be
maintainable against such an order.

17. Th